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FOREWORD

On May 24, 1960, the Committeo on Ioreign Relations met in ex-
ecutive segsion and, without objection, agreed to hold henrings with
regard to the recent summit conference and events incident thereto.

t was decided that Mombers of the Senate who were not members
of the commities would be permitied to attend the hearings but,
according to committes custom, not to question the witnesses, I’ur-
suant thoreto various Members of the Senate did attend the sessions
us observors.

It seomed to me that it might be useful to the committee members,
as well as to the othor Members of the Senate, to have the staff com-
pile a background document contnining materials relevant to the
planned inquiry. Such a compilation was published as a committee
print on May 27, 1960, and is also printed herein as appendix 1.

The committeo’s hearings commenced on May 27 when it heard
testimony, both morning and afternoon, from Secretary of State
Christian A. Herter. ‘The committee also heard Mr. Allen W. Dulles,
Director of the Central Intelligence Agency, on May 31; Dr. Hugh L.
Dryden, Deputy Administrator, National Aeronautics and Space Ad-
ministration, on June 1; and Secretary of Defense Thomas S. Gates
ondJune 2.

All of the above hearings were held in executive session. The testi-
mony, however, was subsequently released after the deletion by repre-
sentatives of the executive branch of that material the publication
of which the executive branch believed might jeopardize the na-
tional security of the United States. None of the Central Intelligence
Agency’s testimony is being published. Where the deletions occur is
noted in this volume by the designation “[Deleted]”.

J. W. Fursrigur, Chairman.
m






CONTENTS

Foroword. .. ceaeuncanas cmmmmmmane cnemedem—e————— vevmemecetaem—m e ————
Statement, by -~
Bohlen, Hon, Charles l‘é.r, Speein) Ansistunt to the Soeretary of State. ..
[

Dillon, ITon, Douglag, Under Soeretury of State. ... e
Drydon, Dre. Hugh L., Deputy Administeator, Nationnl Acronnuties

i SHpee AdMInSERUOn oo oo e e
Gutes, Hon, Thomns 8., Jr,, Soerotury of Defonse ... [
Haorter, Hon, Christinn A., Booretary of 8tato. oo ... ... ... ...

Insortions in the rocord -
Statemaents by Premier Khrimhehey sineo visit to tho United Stutes. .
Iixeerpts from National Security Act of 1047 relsting to Central
Intedligenee Ageney. . oo e m g
Departmoent of Stato stateinent on Intornational Court of Juntico con-
tontlm;u enses proposed by the United States ngainst Soviet bloe
COMNVICY . et rmt e cdcmcmrcrunarcmncm e
Chronology of U-2 incident propared by Chalmers M. Roberts, the
Washington Post_ .. .. .. . __....
Speach by Senntor Thomas J, Dodd - oo .o .. ...
Appondix 1: Background documents on events Incidont to the summit
conferenco:
1. Premier Khrushehev's remarks on UK. plane, Mu{ b, 1960____. .
2. Dopnrtmoent of Defense nows relense, Moy b, 1960 . ... ...
3. Excerpts from trmmm'}_pt of Departinent of Btato press and radio
news briofing, May 6, 1060..___ ... e e —————
4. National Acronauties and 8pace Administration news release,
Muy D, 1080 e e ccmecmcaemra——n
5. Department of State press relense, May 6, 1960 ... ... ...
6. lixcerpts from  Promier Khrushchev’s remarks on  U.8. plane
incident, May 7, 1900 . o o caiacana
7. Statement by the Department of State, Moy 7, 1060____ ... _. .-
8. ‘Text of Premior Khrushehev’s speech warning nations with bases
used by U8, planes, May 9, 1060 ______. SRS
0. Statement by the Seerotary of State, May 9, 1060_____________.
10. Text of Soviet. Union note to the U.8, Governinent, May 10, 1960.
1L, Pranseript of President Eisenhower's news conference, Muy 11,
1980 {exeerpls] . oo e e am e c—— i an
12, Accmulnsu(:)f Premior Khrushehev's informal news conference, May
1L, 1960 . et acccr e —ac——-
13. Text of U.S. note to the Soviet Government, May 12, 1960__ . _.
14, Transeript of “"ABC's College News Conference” with George
V. Allen, Director, U.8, Information Agency, May 15, 1960 __.
15. "Toxt of Premier Khrushchev’s statement at Paris summit con-
ference, Moy 16, 1960 - oL o e e e ceececaeeaan
16. Text of President isenhower's stutement following the Purig sum-
mit. conferenee meeting on May 16, 1960 .. ... ___....
17. Transeript of news briefing with James C. Hagerty, Press Secre-
tury to the President; Andrew . Berding, Assistant Secretary
of State for Public Affairs; and Charles I. Bobhlen, Special
Assistant to the Secretary of State; Paris, May 16, 1960._____
18. Communique, May 17, 1960____ ...
19. ’I‘ruémcr)i(y_)(t). of Premier Khrushehev’s news conference, Paris, May
18, 1900 . e e e ———————
20. Communique of the North Atlantic Council, Paris, May 19, 1960__
21. Remarks of President Eisenhower on his arrival at Andrews Field,
May 20, 1960 o emcececaaan-
22. Address of President Eisenhower, May 25, 1960_ ... ... .....
Appendix 2:
1. Questions raised by Scnator Lausche and answers prepared by the
Department of State. o - o cee o eceeeccmemecccec——aa
2, anlphlet on Soviet manpower prepared by the Central Intelligence
BONCY _ e e e e ccc e cmeccammcmmemmce—a————n=
Summary indexX . « o co e emmecececm—emee—————

Page
n

109
123
3
10
64

77
163
169
176
178
178

180
181

181
187

188
193
195
198

203
211

212
220
225

226
235

235
247

247
245






EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

FRIDAY, MAY 27, 1960

U.S. SeNATE,
Commrrirr oN ForelaN RELATIONS,
Washington, D.C.

Tho committee met at 10:07 a.m., pursuant to notice, Senator J. W.
Fulbright (chuirnmng presiding.

Presont : Senators Itulbright, Green, Humphrey, Mansfield, Mors
Long, Gore, Lausche, Wiley, Ilickenlooper, K’lken, Carlson an
Williams.

Also present: Hon., Douglas Dillon, Undoer Secretary of State;
Hon. Livingston Merchant, Under Secretary of Stato for Political
Afluirs; Hon, Willinm B. Macomber, Jr., Assistant Secretary of State
for Congressional Relations; Richard Helms, Central Intelligence
Agency ; Ilon, Charles K. Bohlen, Special Assistant to the Secretary
of State; Ion. Gerard C. Smith, Assistam. Secretary of State for
Policy Planning; Capt. L. P. Gray 111, USN, military assistant to
Chairman, Joint Chiofs of Stall'; Johm . White, Legislative Man-
agement Officer, Department of State. .

OPENING STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN

The Crrairaan, Mr, Secretary, we appreciate Your willingness to
como here today to discuss with the committee the events of recent
days and weeks which are related to the collapse of the long-planned
summit conference.

Chairman Khrushchev, who for months has promoted a summit
conference and invited people throughout the world to believe that an
ensing of tensions between the free world and the Communist world
might be possible, has now dashed those hopes. In a few short hours
he destroyed the atmosphere of negotiation which had been built up
over long months, .

Mr. Secretary, you and the President have been frequent in your
warnings in the past that our hopes must not rise too high lest they
be dashed to pieces, as they have been, by a swing of the Soviet
pendulum.

Despite the fact that there are few in the free world who doubt
that the principal onus for the destruction of summit hopes must be
borne by Chairman Khrushchev, there are many who helieve that our
conduct has not been without fault. They believe there are things
weo might have done, which were not done. They believe there were
things which we did, which might better have been left undone—or

delayed.
1



2 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

I have long believed that one of the basic strengths of our democrac
is found in our capacity of self-appraisal—our ability to be critical,
without destroying our unity.

At this particular juncture of history, this committee is confronted
with & most difficult task., Without furthering the objectives of the
Soviet Union, we must subject our own activities to careful scrutin
to ascertain whether we have conducted ourselves in a way best cal-
culated to promote the interests of this Nation and to preserve the
peace of the world.

I am sure there are some who will feel that any such scrutiny of
our own activities can serve no good purpose. As for myself, how-
ever, I believe that failure now to review and assess our conduct
would be to neglect our responsibility and to lose an opportunity to
imi)rove the procedures and the execution of our foreign policy.

take this oceasion, Mr. Secretary, to assure you once again that I
am certain there is no intention on the part of any member of this
committee to deal with this subject on a partisan basis. We are meet-
ing here not as Republicans or Democrats, but as Members of the
Senate who in taking their oaths of oflice swore, as did you, to uphold
the same Constitution.

We are concerned, as you are, that nothing that takes place here in
any way damage the conduct of our foreign policy. Above all, we
should strive to avoid bitter partisan debate which might prejudice
the reasonable and effective conduct of our foreign policy in the fu-
ture. The motives of participants in events of recent weeks are not
at issue. At the same time we seek, as I am sure you do, to conduct
this review in such a way that we may learn from the events of the
past weeks what we can do to improve our foreign policies and our
governmental procedures for their formulation and execution.

I know that the subjects which we will be discussing are most sen-
sitive and delicate. Indeed, we should acknowledge that there is one
vast area of executive branch activity which is not subject to the usual
type of congressional control, or to the check of public opinion—that
is, the operations of the Central Intelligence Agency. Its operations,
as similar activities of all great nations, are divorced and separate
from the normal standards and the usual restraints that are charac-
teristic of other governmental operations.

There is no point in our pretending that the black arts of intelli-
gence operations do not now, and have not. throughout recorded his-
tory, involved violations of every commandment. They do. Lying,
cheating, murder, stealing, seduction, and suicide are part of the un-
pleasant business in which all great nations participate—not because
they want to, not because they believe these acts are moral, but be-
cause they believe such activities are essential to their own self-pres-
ervation. This is one of the ugly facts of life in this world.

Acts of espionage are against the law of this Nation as of all other
nations. But these acts nevertheless take place, and it does not pro-
mote a clearer understanding of international relations to pretend they
do not.

COMMITTEE PROCEDURE

Every member appreciates these facts. 'We hope that the proce-
dures we have set up for the conduct of these hearings will make it
possible for representatives of the executive branch to be candid and
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complete because unless there is such candor it is most difficult for the
Senate to discharge its responsibilities in the field of foreign policy.

As you know, the committee has agreed that these sessions are to
be executive. Ilowever, in order to make the maximum amount of
information available to the publie, which must in the final analysis
understand our policies if they are to be supported by the people, we
have arranged for a high ranking oflicial of the executive branch to de-
lete from the executive transcript any statements or information
which might in any way jeopardize the national security. Should
any question arise as to whether such deletions go beyond those neces-
sary to protect the national security, I will appoint a bipartisan sub-
committee to consider such questions.

I have urged members to limit their questions to those directly
relevant to the recent summit conference and incidents related thereto.
Although the committee has not considered fully all witnesses it may
wish to hear, I have expressed the personal opinion that there is no
occasion for private witnesses to be heard on the matter before the
committee.

Finally, as you know, the committee has decided that members
should for the first time around, at least, limit their period of ques-
tioning to not to exceed 10 minutes each.

FOCUS Or STUDY

It is my hope, Mr. Secretary, that our study can be focused on four
principal areas: first, the events and decisions resulting from the U-2
incident; second, the effect of these events and decisions upon the
summit; third, the policy of our Government regarding the summit
meeting ; and fourth, the policy of the United States in the future and
possible improvement in the execution thereof.

INTEREST IN IIEARING

Mr. Secretary, we have some guests from the Senate who have
requested to come as observers. I wish to admonish them that this
is an executive session, and that they are not to disclose on their own
responsibility anything that takes place in these hearings. I might
also call to the attention of the committee that it was noted in the
press that Tass, the official governmental news agency of Soviet Rus-
sia, was the first applicant to purchase a copy of the transcript which
will be later released, so we might kee t]Ius in mind. The staff of
the committee has compiled a set of background documents on events
incident to the summit conference. Those documents will be printed
as an appendix to the hearings when they are published.

I suggest, Mr, Secretary, that you proceed with your statement for
the information of the committee. The Secretary has a statement
prepared which will be the presentation of his point of view.

STATEMENT OF HON. CHRISTIAN A. HERTER, SECRETARY OF
STATE, ACCOMPANIED BY HON. DOUGLAS DILLON, UNDER SEC-
RETARY, AND HON. CHARLES E. BOHLEN, SPECIAL ASSISTANT

Secretary Herrer. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee,
I appreciate very much your willingness to allow me to make this

statement.
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This statement is guided vory much as indiented by the chairman in
the remarks that he has just made in tho next to the last paragraph
with regard to divisions; namely, the genesis of the summit; the U-2
incident; the events in Paris and the future.

THE THREAT 10 BERLIN

1. The genesis of the summit

In order to understand what happened in Paris, we need to look
back over the preceding 18 months,

In November 1968, the U.S.S.R. began n new strategy dirocted
toward altering the situation in Borlin and Fast Germany in its favor,
If the Westorn Powers refused to give up their present position in
Berlin and make West Berlin a so-called free city, the Soviet Union
stated its intention to proceed unilaterally at the end of 6 months,
turning over full soveroignty to the so-called GDR and theroby con-
fronting the Allies with the alternative of capitulation or resort to
forco wﬁich would be met. by Communist force,

Though the strategy as it unfolded proved to be more flexible than
its oviginal statement, it is still the oflicial policy of the U.S.S.R. Its
forcee lies in tho Soviet ability to threaten Berlin, where we are morally
committed, but physieally exposed.

The Western Powers, of course, promptly rejected the Soviet pro-
posal and reaflirmed their determination to stand by Berlin.

In tho months that followed, while the U.S.S.R. elaborated and
ressed its strategy, the Western Powers concerted their plans to meot
it. They sought to engage the U.S.S.R. in negotiatious, therchy
clarifying its intentions and either attaining solutions acceptable to
the West, or as a minimum, convineing it that unilateral action against
Berlin would not be sound.

ENGAGING THE SOVIET UNION IN NEGOTIATION

It was by no means a foregone conclusion that the U.S.S.R. would

negotiate on an acceptable basis. In January 1959 the U.S.S.R. pro-
osed a conference to adopt a peace treaty with the two parts of an

indefinitely divided Germany.

The Western Powers continued to maintain that a peace treaty
could be negotiated and signed only with a united Germany, hence
that the reunification of Germany must be settled first.

They also maintained that the only proper solution for Berlin lay
in its becoming the capital of a unified Germany, and therefore, they
were unwilling to discuss Berlin as an isolated issue. But the USSR
had held for some time that reunification was solely the business of
the Germans and therefore refused to discuss it.

The West persisted during February and March in its efforts to
t%et the Russians talking somehow. It proposed a meeting of Foreign
Ministers, with the prospect of a possible summit meeting when due
preparations had been made. The U.S.S.R. had repeatedly indicated
a desire for that summit meeting since 1956. Finally, a compromise
agenda, which did not prejudice the substantive views of either side,
was adopted for a Foreign Ministers’ meeting and a date was set in
May shortly before the expiration of the original Soviet deadline for
meeting their arbitrary demands on Berlin.
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FORLIGN MINISTERS’ DEADLOCK

During the intonsive preparations for the mesting the Western
Powors developed & new version of their basic position regarding
Germany, whic'h was submitted at Geneva as tho V{’(mwrn pence plan,
1t consisted in np,)rotwhin the unification of Germany through a
gorics of stuges, therehy offering the U.S.S.R. a chance to adjust
ity pogition gradually to the eventunl loss of its hold on Iast Ger-
many which free elections would presumably bring,

The plan showed flexibility and imagination; it appenled to world
opinion; but its rejection by the U.S.S.R. was none the less flat.

The 1.S.S.R. stuck adamantly to its previously announced pro-
posuls for u pence treaty with a divided Germany. Thus, the busic
positions remained totally unreconciled.

Iinding no progress possible on Germany, the Western Powers and
the 1.S.S.R. explored the possibility of an interim agreement on
Borlin which, without contemplating a basic solution of Berlin as a
sepurate issue, would do something to mitigate difliculties which the
U.S.8.R. professed to find there. Though some progress was made
in this direction, the U.S.S.R. insisted on language which would have
imKlied the eventual erosion of the Western position in Berlin,

ccordingly, despite the labor of 8 months with only one short ad-
journment, the Foreign Ministers’ mesting ended in deadlock.

HIGH LEVElL, TRIPS

The failure of the Ioreign Ministers’ meeting did not
result in o war crisis, however, because a parallel train of events had
meanwhile brought hope in a different direction. We took the op-
portunity of Mikoyan’s visit to the Soviet Embassy here in January
to arrange informal exchanges of views between the Soviet leader
and top U.S. oflicials.

This was followed in June and July by further visits and ex-
changes of Kozlov to this country and the Vice President to the
U.S.S.R. The fact that these visits took place without public inci-
dent and made possible somewhat more realistic communication than
usual with the Soviet leadership seemed to offer a possibility—only
a possibility, of course—that means of avoiding war and eventually
gettin{.{)Soviet-Westem relations into somewhat less dangerous shape
might be found by developing these informal contacts.

Accordingly the President decided to go ahead with a move which
he and his advisers had long had in mind when the time seemed right.
He invited Chairman Khrushchev to visit this country, and the visit
was announced before the Foreign Ministers ended their Geneva
meeting.

During that visit no progress was made, or indeed expected, on
resolving outstanding problems, but a somewhat greater degree of
mutual understanding was seemingly attained, particularly on the
need to settle international questions by peaceful means rather than
by force. There was also a suspension, later publicly acknowledged,
of whatever was left of the Soviet ultimatum on Berlin.
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PREPARATION FOR THE SUMMIT

After the Khrushchev visit it was judged feasible and desirable by
the Western Powers to move toward renewed discussion, this time at
the summit. Some flicker of hope for progress on Berlin had ap-

ared at Camp David, whereas Geneva had ended in deadlock. Dur-
ing his American visit Khrushchev had also evinced an interest in the
equally vital field of disarmament, and even though disarmament talks
were to start in the Committes of Ten at Geneva it was felt that
Khrushchev might reserve his constructive moves, if any, for the
summit.

Accordingly, after due consultations among the Western heads of
government, an invitation to a summit was sent to Khrushchev and
accepted by him and after some difficulty over earlier dates the time
was finally set for May 16. This move found broad support in West-
ern ]public opinion.

There ensued an intensive and protracted series of preparations
on the Western side, involving repeated meetings not only of the
Foreign Ministers and of NATOQ but even of the heads of govern-
ment. Within our own Government we also studied most carefully
the possibilities of making progress not only on Berlin and Germany
but most particularly in disarmament, as well as other aspects of
general Soviet-Western relations,

At the December meeting of Western heads of government a con-
sensus emerged that the May summit might well be only one of a series
of such meetings, and that it would be largely exploratory. Some
modest progress was hoped for, but no major solutions on any front.
But if a beginning could be made, the series of talks, possible in a
gradually improving atmosphere over the years, might do substan-
tially more.

SUMMIT PROSPECTS DIMMED

In the first weeks after the Khrushchev American visit there was
a general improvement of atmosphere and people began talking, partly
in hope, partly in some confusion, about “detente.” There were com-
paratively conciliatory speeches on each side; there was progress in
the test ban talks at Geneva; a new Soviet-United States cultural
agreement was signed November 21, and on December 1 the United
States, the U.S.S.R., and other powers signed the Antarctic Treaty.

But clouds began to gather even then. One of the earliest signs
was the strong Soviet protest on November 11 against West German
plans to build a broadcasting station in West Berlin., Another was
the Khrushchev speech on November 14 which was harder in tone
boasted again of Soviet missile prowess, and began a concentrated
attack on Adenauer and the German Federal Republic which later
increased and seemed to be a central feature of Soviet presummit tac-
tics. The reason for this attack is still a matter for speculation.
Perhaps they thought it would undermine the Western position on
Berlin by helping to divide the Western Allies. It had no such effect
of coulll'se, but naturally rallied us to speak out in defense of our Ger-
man ally.

Khrushchev as early as December 1 also began repeating his
threats to sign a separate peace treaty with East Germany. He repeat-
ed these threats in his speech to the Supreme Soviet on January 14
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and in his remarks during his visit to Indonesia and other cvuntries
in January., On February 4, the Warsaw Pact powers issued the first
formal blocwide commitment to sign a separate GDR peace treaty.
Thus Khrushchev’s threatening Baku speech of April 25, though it
was the most sweeping since I'ebruary 1959, was only a harsher
version of what he had been saying for months before. I shall make
full documentation on his speeches available to the committee.

Not until April did we reply at length to this mounting crescendo of
Soviet statements. We did so in order to keep the record straight—
notably in the speeches of April 4 and 20, which Khrushchev attacked
for starting arguments that he in fact had begun.,

The unity of the four Western Powers on Berlin meanwhile pre-
sumably signaled to the U.S.S.R. that prospects for eroding the West-
ern position or obtaining Soviet_terms on Berlin remained slight.
President. de Gaulle and other leaders were quite firm in discouraging
expectations on this front. The NATO Council in Istanbul May 2-4
also reaffirmed the Western position on German reunification and re-
gretted Soviet refusal to discuss specific practical measures of dis-
armament. Thus as the summit drew near the prospects for important
agreement seemed slender, so long as the U.S.S.R. remained com-
mitted to driving the Western Powers out of Berlin and to dis-
cussing disarmament in terms of general principles rather than con-
crete steps.

The Western outlook consistently remained, however, that the sum-
mit would be worthwhile, It would afford an opportunity for an ex-
change of views which would clarify each side’s position ; it might con-
tribute to some reduction of tensions over Berlin and narrow some of
our differences on disarmament. It could be at least a small first step
in a long process of improving Soviet-Westein relations.

U-2 INCIDENT

I1I. The U-2 incident

On May 1 occurred the unfortunate failure of an intelligence mis-
sion. The U.S.S.R. at once seized on it to complicate the approach
to the summit. With regard to the role of the %.S. Government in
this matter, I cannot hope to improve on the lucid and straight-
forward account which the President gave to the Nation Wednesday
night. I will, therefore, not attempt to go into detail, although I am
of course rea(iy to answer questions concerning my responsibilities,

CENTRAL POINTS IN PRESIDENT’S ACCOUNT OF U—2 INCIDENT

Here I would only like to reemphasize four central points which
stood out in the President’s account:

1. The U-2 program was an important and efficient intelligence
effort. We knew that failure of any mission under this program would
have serious consequences, but we considered that the great benefit
derived justified the risks involved.

2. The decision not to suspend this program of flights, as the sura-
mit meeting approached, was a sound decision. Conditions at a later
season would have prevented obtaining very important information.
There is never a “good time” for a failure of an intelligence mis-
sion. Wae believe it unwise to lower our vigilance because of these
political negotiations,
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3. Initial statements by the U.S. Government properly sought first
of all to protect the pilot, his intelligence mission, and everything
connected with it that might still be kept secret. But when it be-
came clear that plane and pilot were in Soviet hands we believed
the Congress nm{) the American people should be given the facts.
Thus up to May 7 U.S. statements followed the general line of the
cover story, and thereafter were adjusted to the situation as it de-
veloped.

4. Since the U-2 system had been compromised, it was discontinued
as any other intelligence mission would be in such a case. An-
nouncement of its discontinuance was withheld until the President
could convey the fact personally in Paris.

Based on these fonr points, I believe most Americans will agree
that the main course of our actions, given_what we knew at any
particular time, was sound. In particular, I have doubts that any
alteration in the language of U.é. statements would have made any
differance in the arbitrary Soviet demands which followed.

KHNRUSHCHEV’S ARRIVAL IN PARIS

III. T'he eventsin Paris

I should like to give you an account of the major developments at
Paris. I shall be as brief as possible, since the details have been
widely publicized. But I would like to tell you of those events which
in my opinion had a determinant effect there, and particularly those
which influenced the decisions of the President.

On my arrival in Paris on Friday, May 13, there was already con-
siderable speculation at the news that Mr. Khrushchev was arviving
in Paris on Saturday rather than on Sunday, the day on which the
President and Mr. Macmillan were due to arrive,

Mr. Khrushchev’s statement on arrival at Orly Airport gave no
indication of his subsequent position. It was mild in character and
conveyed the distinet 1mpression that he would proceed with the
summit conforence despite the U-2 incident. Subsequent cvents
showed that this was deliberately designed to conceal his real purpose.

PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV'S CALLS ON PRESIDENT DE GAULLE AND PRIME
MINISTER MACMILLAN

On Sunday at 11 a.m., at his request, Mr. Khrushchev, accompanied
by Foreign Minister Gromyko and Marshal Malinovsky-—which is in
itself an unusual procedure which I shall revert to later—called on
President de Gaulle at the Elysee Palace.

During this meeting he left with President de Gaulle a memoran-
dum setting forth the conditions which would have to be met by the
United States before Khrushchev would be prepared to attend a
summit conference. The French delegation provided a copy of this
memorandum to the American delegation early that afternoon, The
memorandum was subsequently presented by Mr. Khrushchev, with-
-out change, as the opening part of his statement to the Four Power
.meeting on Monday morning, May 16.

After visiting President de Gaulle Sunday morning, Khrushchev
.called on Prime Minister Macmillan at 4:30 p.m. on the same day
and read the same statement of position to him.
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The copy of the statement received from the I'rench delegation was,
of course, the subject of immediate consultation with the President
and with members of the American delegation as to its significance
and meaning.

BINDING NATURE OF DECISIONS MADE PRIOR TO KIRUSIHCIEV’S DEPARTURE
FROM MOSCOW

It was our general conclusion, subsequently borne out by the facts,
that the position and totally unacceptable demands set forth in this
document had been drawn up in Moscow prior to Mr. Khrushchev’s
departure. In this sense it represented a fixed Soviet governmental
position from which even Mr. Khrushchev would not have the au-
thority to depart while in Paris.

I might digress here to observe that it had been our experience at
provious conferences with the Soviets, at least since the death of
Stalin, that the Soviet representative, no matter how highly placed
he might be, was bound by the collective decisions on basic policy
matters made prior to his departure from Moscow. Any substantive
changes in these positions apparently required reference back to Mos-
cow before they could be undertaken.

PRESIDENT’S POSITION AT FIRST CONFERENCE MEETING

I should like to emphasize the opinion which was thus unanimously
arrived at in the American delegation, since it bore directly upon the
position which the President took at the meceting on Monday morning.

It was out of the question, of course, that there should be any ac-
ceptance by the President of the humiliating and arrogant conditions
of Mr. Khrushchev. We had very much in mind, however, the im-
portance of showinF the world that it was Mr. Khrushchev, and no
one else, who was placing this summit conference in peril.

The President, therefore, decided before the Monday meeting that
the proper course of action, consonant with the great responsibility
which he bore and the seriousness of the issues which were to have
been discussed at the conference, was for him not to engage in vituper-
ation with Mr. Khrushchev but to demonstrate the restraint and
dignity which was incumbent upon the office he holds and which be-
fitted the leader of a great country.

FIRST MEETING OF SUMMIT CONFERENCE-—ANNOUNCEMENT OF
SUSPENSION OF U—-2 FLIGHTS

In connection with this decision, the President resolved to announce
to the conference his previously taken decision to suspend further
flights of U-2 aircraft over the Soviet Union.

Although the original intention had been to restrict the first meetin
of the conference at the summit to the chiefs of state and heads o
government and to their interpreters, the President, on learning
that Mr. Khrushchev wished to bring Foreign Minister Gromyko
and Marshal Malinovsky, asked Secretary Gates and myself to ac-
company him to this meeting, .

I do not need to describe this meeting in detail beyond saying that
Mr. Khrushchev read a statement which, with interpretation, took
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fully an hour. 1o read this entire statemont from a prepared text
before him.  "The first part of this statement was the memorandum
which ho had loft with President do Gaulle, plus certnin additions
which were in the same vein as regards the United States and which
referred to Soviet. willingness {o hold a summit. conference within
6 to 8 months, The major addition was the eancellation of the in-
vitation to the President. to visit. the Soviet. Union,

Apart from his statoment, which was made publie, the President
only oneo joined in the ensuing diseussion—in ovder to muke clear to
Mr. Khrushehev and his collongues that. the suspension of the U-2
flights was not. merely for the duration ol the confoerence, but. for as
long ns ho was in oflico.

The balance of the discussion at this meeting, which 1 should point
out. was the only one during the entive pm'imr in Paris at. which the
Soviets wore present, was largely devoted (o attempts by President do
Tnulle and Prime Minister Macmillan to (lissumllu Mr. Khrushehev
from the irrevocable step of publishing his abusive statement, whoso
nuaceeptable conditions would render impossible any conference at
the summit, and to Khrushehev's adamant insistence that. he would
publish this statement and do so at a time of his own choosing. ‘The
meeting broke up on the basis of a suggestion by President, de Gaulle
that the conferees should vefleet on this matter for 24 hours and then
examine thesituation,

BINDING NATURE OF DECISIONS MADE PRIOR TO KHRUSHCIHEV’S DEPARTURE
TROM MOSRCOW

This meeting completely confirmed our conclusion of the night
before that Mr. Khrushehev was operating within the fixed limits of
a policy set before his departure from Moscow, Tt is significant in
this connection that the statement ho issued later that day, Monday,
May 16, which was identical with the one he had made at the confer-
ence, took no cognizance whatsoever of the discussion at the conference,
and in particular of the President’s statement. concerning the suspen-
sion of UT-2 overflights,

FINAL PROCEEDINGS IN PARIS

Secretary ITerrer. The rest of the proceedings in Paris were anti-
climactic. It was apparent to all the Western representatives that
there was no possibility of a summit conference short of a changed
position on_Mr. Khrushchev’s part. On Monday, Mr. Macmillan
visited Mr. Khrushchev in a fruitless effort to persuade him to with-
draw his impossible demands.

On that same day, President de Gaulle decided, with the agreement
of the President and Prime Minister Macmillan, to call a session of
the summit conference for 3 p.m. on Tuesday, May 17, which was after
the 24-hour recess which he had proposed on Monday. He sent invi-
tations in writing to the three other participants.

The President, in accepting, made clear his view that acceptance by
the Soviet representative would mean that the Soviets had abandoned
the demands which the President had previously found completely
unacceptable,
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Mr. Khrushchov did nol show up at the appointed time for the
Tuesday meeting.,  After o greal, «Lml of felephoning hetween the
Soviet. Kmbassy and the French Foreign Oflice it heeame clenr that
ho was refusing to attend a summit conference and would only join
in what he termod o preliminary meeting to ascertain if conditions
could ho created for a summit conference. By this reference to “con-
ditions” he obviously meant, the neeeptance by the United States of all
of the conditions he had set forth previously, and indeed he so stated
in 0 written communication to President. de Ganlle later that same

day.
THE TRIPARTITE COMMUNIQUE

In the light of Mr., Khrushchev’s refusal to attend the summit,
conference, except. on terms which all three Western representatives
deemed unacceptable, the three Western heads of government met
briefly at 9:30 p.m., on May 17 to approve the lilmhmipurtite com-
munique, o copy of which I should like to insert in the record, at
this point,

The Criamman. Yes; it may be done,

(‘The tripartite communique referred to appears on p. 235 of ap-
pendix 1.)

TRIPARTITE MEETINGS TO ASSESS SITUATION

Secretary ITerrer. Thus the summit conference was ended by
Soviet intransigence before it began, without addressing the great
international issues with which it was supposed to deal.

The following day, Wednesday, May 18, was marked by tripartite
meetings of the Western heads of government and their foreign min-
isters to consider the situation. In these meetings we sought to
analyzo the reasons for the Soviet, attitude, prospects for the future,
and the measures that the three Western Powers might adopt.

PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S PARIS PRESS CONFERENCE

This day was also marked by Mr. Khrushchev’s press conference,
which was fully reported by press, television, and radio. It was
apparently an unparalleled performance of vituperation, abuse, and
loss of temper. It should be noted, however, that despite the appar-
ently uncontrolled nature of his remarks and actions at this press
conforence, Mr. Khrushchev was very careful not to commit himself to
any specific course of action in the international field.

ANALYSIS OF SOVIET ACTION

We have naturally given a great deal of thought to the reasons for
this extraordinary action by the Soviets in coming all the way from
Moscow to Paris for the sole purpose of sabotaging the conference.

I should like to say right off that there are many obscure aspects
of this Soviet behavior and that we do not know all considerations and
factors which went into its determination. Ve probably never shall.
I hardly need to emphasize here to the members of this committee
the complete secrecy in which decisions are arrived at in the Soviet
Government and in the hierarchy of the Communist Party, which is
the effective ruler of that country. It is only possible to try to deduce
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from Soviet, netions, after they are taken, the considerations which
bronght them about.  What L give you now, therefore, is at best. o
tontative ostimto of why the Soviet Union behaved as it did, an
cstimuto which may have (o bo rovised in the light. of further informa-
tion and future ovents,

DECISION '1'0 WRECK CON FERENCE MADE PRIOR'TO K HRUSHCHEV'S DEPARTURE
' FROM MOSCOW

There is one thing, however, that can be regarded as certain: This
is that the decision to wreek the conference was made prior to Khru-
shehev's departure from Moscow. At no point. during his stay in
I’:\riswm\i({u‘r when he diselosed his true intentions to General do
Gaulle at 11 aan, on Sunday the t5th nor subsequently—did Khru-
shehev deviate one inch from his demands that the United States (1)
denounce the overflights, (2) apologize to the Soviet Union, (3)
punish these flights.  Neither the statement mado by the President at
the one meeting held on Monday nor the serious and responsible efforts
of General de Gaulle and Mr, Macmillan in bilateral talks with Mr.
Khrushehev before and after the President’s announcement of sus-
ension of flights could persuado him to withdraw these unaceeptable
}iemands. Indeed, it is a logical deduction from his behavior in Paris
that he had no authority to modify his position to any significant,
degree.

SIGNIFICANCE OF GROMYKO AND MALINOVSKY ACCOMPANYING
KUHRURHCHEV

The fact that he was accompanied everywhere, and literally every-
where, by Foreign Minister Gromyko and Marshal Malinovsky is an
interesting sidelight on this point, There is much speculation as to
this change from his previous attitude during his visits both to the
United States and France, when he insisted upon having meetings
alone with the President and with President de Gaulle, with only
interpreters present. The best guess as to the significance of this new
factor is that (1) in view of the brutal and threatening attitude he
adopted at Parvis 1t was considered desirable to have some tangible evi-
dence of Soviet armed strength in the person of Marshal Malinovsky.
Secondly, Gromyko and Malinovsky would be able to testify upon
return to Moscow that he had stuck strictly to the agreed position.

DECISION TO CANCEL INVITATION TO PRESIDENT EISENHOWER} SOVIETS’
EXTREME POSITION

It also seems certain that the decision to cancel the invitation to the
President was made before Khrushchev left Moscow.

As to what led the Soviets to this extreme position, in regard to the
summit meeting which had previously appeared so much desired by
Mr. Khrushchev, we enter into the realm of pure speculation, as I
indicated earlier. The most we can hope to do in the absence of
reliable information is to evaluate the elements and factors which
ﬁppeéar to have entered into this decision. I shall try to list them

riefly.
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SIGNIFICANCE OF KHRUSBIICHEV’S DOUBTS OF SUMMIT 8UCCESS ON
BOVIET TERMS

1. There was considerable indication, particularly during April
that Mr. Khrushchev had concluded that there was little likelihood
of his having his way, particularly in regard to Berlin, at the summit.
Tividence of Western determination and unity on this point in specches
and statements by Western leaders appears to have brought him to
this conclusion, Thus in his Baku speech on April 25, he not only
reiterated with the utmost finality his position on Berlin, including his
intention to conclude a separate peace treaty with the Iiast German
rogime, but, he also began for the first time seriously to cast doubts
upon the success of the summit. By this of course he meant success on
Soviet terms.

BOVIET HIERARCUY'S VIEWS OF KITRUSIHCHEV'S FOREIGN POLICY AND U-2
INCIDENT

2. Although the evidence is highly inconclusive, there are a number
of indieations that Mr. Khrushchev’s conduct of Soviet foreign policy,
particilarly his overpersonalization and in Communist eves over-
commitment through personal visits to the United States and France,
wag arousing at least serious questioning if not opposition to the So-
viet hierarchy. It would seemn a logical deduction that some of the
opposition to his conduect of foreign relations which was openly
voiced by the Chinese Commnunists found a sympathetic response
among some of his associates, and very probably among the Soviet
military.

3. It was against this background that the U-2 incident occurred.

WEIGHING THE FACTORS RESULTING IN CONFERENCE DISRUPTION

A combination of these three factors in our judgment is what re-
sulted in the definite and brutal decision to disrupt the Paris con-
forence. ‘T'o determine how each of these factors should be weighed
is, for the moment, beyond our reach.

The U-2 incident was most certainly seized upon and magnified
beyond its true proportions as a justification for this decision. It is
debatable whether it would have been possible for Mr. Khrushchev
to devise another pretext for so radical and violent a position.

It might well be that a lack of success at the summit would have
confronted Khrushchev with a much more difficult choice, from his
Fomt of view, than no conference at all. He and his associates may
wve therefore much preferred to avoid facing the consequences of
failure of negotiation by the simple expedient of torpedoing the
conference.

BASIC MISCALCULATION IN SOVIET THINKING

It may seem incredible to you that responsible leaders of a great
power should have come all the way to Paris merely for the pu
of wrecking the conference, thereby incurring worldwide condem-
nation of the Soviet Union and enhancing the sense of unity and pur-
pose among not only the Western Powers represented there but also
the North Atlantic Treaty Organization and free nations everywhere,
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1 baliove the answer lies in a basie misealeulation in Me, Khru-
shehoev's and the Soviets thinking:,

Mr. Khrushehov wndoubtedly hoped- -and this explaing his early
arrival in Pavis. (o divide the alties and isolate the United States,
Io anticipated that the United States would refuse the demands ho
had sot forth and that the conference would- then collapse, with the
United States beaving vesponsibility for the rupture before world
opinion,

Iis plans misearried heenusa onr two allies stood solidly and loyally
with the United States and vefused to bo partics to Mr, Khroashehev’s
scheme, "The resulty as the wholo world knows, was that the position
which Mr, Khrushehev hrought to Paris resulted in the completo
isolation of the Soviet Union rather than the United States and in
placing tho vesponsibility for tho disruption of the conference squarely
whoere it belongs-—-on his own shoulders,

This estimato of the veasons for M. Khrushehev’s behavior is
strongly supported by the attack which ho mado at his press confer-
ence on General do Gaulle and Prime Minister Maemitlan for what. he
termed their lack of objeetivity, Inck of will and subservience to the al-
lied relationships--in other words, in plain nglish, for theiv solidarity
with the Unilu(ll States, theiv Toyalty to our common purpose, and their
refusal to play the Soviet game,

SIANS OF NO RADICATL AUTERNVTION EN SOVIET POLTCY

IV, The future

What conclusions should wo draw forthe future?

I believe the signs ave that thero has been as yel no radienl altern-
tion in Soviet poliey, though we ean expeet the continuanee of & propa-

anda effort (sosignod to split. off' the United States from ils allies.

‘his conelusion is supported by Mr, Ihrushehev's Paris statements,
including those at his press conference. It is supporied, somewhat
more specifically and definitely, by the statements which he made in
Berlin on his way home.

We must remember, however, that, given the nature of the Soviet
state, the men who run it can weet in seeret at any time and change
existing policy without public debate or even foreshadowing any such
change, It is for this reason that any statement about a phase of So-
viet policy must be regarded as qualified, with no certainty that it will
remain valid in the future.

Thus, though the world's hopes have been keenly disappointed by
the fact that the summit conference was not held as planned, the signs
so far are that the basic realities of the world situation have not, been
greatly changed. Whether this continues to be so depends, as I have
indicated, on actions of the leading Communist countries,

IMPLICATIONS FOR U.S. POLICY

Provisionally, however, I conclude that the implication for U.S.
policy is that the main lines of our policy remain sound and should be
continued. The lesson of Paris is that we should prosecute those lines
with renewed effort. Proponents within the Communist bloc of an
aggressive course must not be encouraged by signs of weakness on our
part. Proponents of a peaceful course should be encouraged by our



AR — o ———— WA AT L.

EVENTS INCIDEN'T TO TIE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 16

rondiness {o gol. on with outstanding internafional businesy in a sobor
and rational manner.

Wo must remain prepared to withstand aggressive pressures, not
only in Berlin but, nL«) elsowhoere, I trust that, our evident. rendinesy
will doter such prossures,

FRESH REALIZATION OF 'PHE DANGERS WE FACE

Among the lessons of Parig, the most, important, for the free world,
inelnding ourselves, it. seems to me, is fresh realization of the dangers
wo free and consequont. need for closing of ranks and moving ahead
with our own and our allies’ programs for strengthening the free world,
Wo cume baek from Paris with a keener sense of what. it means Lo have
allies, and 1 am sure that our allinnces will tnke new life from this ex-
pericnce.

At the sume time T would stress equally the need to expand imagi-
natively and generously our collaboration with the newly developing
countriod.

On both accounts, I hope the Congress will give wholehearted sup-
port to onr mutual security programs ag asuthorized by this committee,
which are now more important than ever.

BEEKING TO MAKE PROGRESS ON OUTSTANDING PROBLEMS WITIH THF BOVIET
UNION

‘Wo must continue, as the President hag said, to seek in a businesslike
way {0 make progress on outstanding problems with the Soviet Union,
Wao intend to zo nhead with existing negotiations, to stand by our com-
mitments, and to foster open communication and peaceful exchanges.
Above all, we shall not cease from the most determined, patient, re-
sourceful endeavor to find ways to bring the arins race under con-
trol and thus to meet. the nuelear menace that hangs over mankind.

MAINTAINING A VIGILANT, CALM, AND RESOLUTE POSTURE

I helieve in this period it is incumbent upon us, all of us, to keep
o ealm and steady gaze on the world scene and to avoid actions, state-
ments, and attitudes which might tend unnecessarily to increase inter-
national tension. If such an increase is to oceur, it. should be clearly
the fuult of the Soviets and we should not do them the favor of
providing pretext for action by them which would have this effect.

We should not define as “hard” or “soft” our attitude or policy
toward the Soviet Union. To do so is not, only to deflect our gaze
from the grim reality that confronts us, but even more to plunge us
inevitably into fruitless and damaging domestic recrimination. = We
must now, as in the future, maintain a vigilant, calm, and resolute
posture and, insofar as it lies in our power to do so, be accurate in
our estimates and effective in our actions.

I would close in expressing the hope that we will not become so
fixed in preoccupation with the Soviet challenge as to lose sight of
our own constructive purposes—which are larger and more im-
portant than merely resisting or reacting to external threats. We
have our own vision of the future toward which we want to see the
world evolve. We have our own programs for helping to bring that
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future about-~for holding high the light of frecdom, for sharing its
messago and rowards with emerging nations, for trymg to create an
international community in which the rule of lnw will replace the
rule of force. It is to thesa programs that our talents and energies
should be rededicated in the uncertain times that lie shead.

Thauk you, Mr, Chairman,

The Criamaran. Thank you, Mv, Secretary.

Mr. Reporter, I have the documentation mentioned by the Secretary
on page 4, which will bo inserted in the record at this point. They are
the various decuments and speeches.

('The documentation referred to is as follows:)

STATEMENTS BY KHRUSHCIEY SINCE VISIT TO UNITED STATES
{Compiled by the Department of State)

The following is a collection of public statetnents made by Khrushchev from
the time of his departure from the United States until May 6, 1960, which are
offensive or threatening in nature vis-a-vis the West, particularly the United
States. The statements arve arranged under tbe following headings: (1) Berlin-
Germany; (2) United States and Western policy; (3) the summit; (4) com-
ments on West during Asian tour. They have been extracted from the following
statements and speeches:

Speech in Moscow, upon return from United States, September 28, 1959,
Speech in Viadivostok, October 8, 1979,

Speech to Supreme Soviet, October 31, 1959,

Speech to Soviet journalists, November 14, 1959,

Speech at Hungarian Party Congress, December 1, 1059,
Speech to Supreme Soviet, January 14, 1060.

Letter to Chancellor Adenaver, January 28, 1060.

Speech to Indian Parliament, February 11, 1¢00.

Speech at Delhi civie reception, February 12, 1960.

Speech at Bhilai, February 15, 1960,

Speech at Caleutta dinner, February 15, 1060.

Speech at Jogjakarta, February 21, 1960.

Speech to Tndonesian Parliament, February 26, 1960.
Press conference at Jakarta, February 29, 1960.

Press conference at Jakarta, March 1, 1960.

Speech at press luncheon, March 265, 1960.

Speech in Rheims, Mareh 29, 1960.

Press conference at Rambouillet, April 2, 1960.

Speech in Moscow, upon return from France, April 4, 1960.
Speech in Baku, April 25, 1900.

It should be noted that this collection does not include private statements and
criticisms of West Germany. On oceasion, Khrushchev has been especially
offensive and threatening in private talks. The Federal Republic and Chancel-
lor Adenauer personally were the chief targets of offensive public statements on
Khrushchev's part during this period. Beginning with his November 14 speech
to Soviet journalists, Khrushchev launched a vigorous campaign of slander
against the FRG and Adenauer designed to discredit them and isolate the FRG
from the West. At times these public statements were truly scurrilous, liken-
ing the Chancellor to Nazis, to Hitler, calling hin senile, ete.

It is also important to note that in his December 1 speech in Budapest, after
a lapse of 34 months, Khrushchev renewed his threat of a separate peace
treaty without any provocation on the part of the West. Apparently Khru-
shehev then concluded that the West would go ahead with a summit conference
and that it was therefore timely to begin exerting pressure on the West on the
key issue of Berlin. Moreover, Khrushchev's threat of a separate treaty, in
terms of the consequences for the allied position in Berlin, became more explicit
and menacing with each succeeding major speech after the December 1 speech,
culminating in his April 25 Baku speech threat that the allies would thereby
not only be deprived of a legal basis for maintaining access, but would have
no right to maintain troops in Berlin.




EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 17

BERLIN-GFRMANY

“The ouly way [to settle the Berlin problem] is to sign a peace treaty with
Germany, and we have submitted a proposal to that effect. There is no evading
a peace treaty for anyone, if the other countries on whom the signing of a peace
treaty depends stund for peace and coexistence. 'I'he vestiges of World War 11
must at long last be removed, since they constitute a source that nourishes the
instigators of a third world war. We are not forcing a solution of the West
Berlin problem in point of time; we are setting no deadlines, issuing no ultima-
tums; but at the same time we shall not slacken our efforts to come to terms
with our allies.

“If we try all means and they do not lead to the desired results, we shall have
no other way out except signing a peace treaty with whichever of the two Ger-
man states wants it. And in such a case we shall bear no responsibility for the
refusal to sign the peace treaty. It will be borne by those who had an unrea-
sonable approach to the solution of this problem, who did not take the road of
easing tension in relattons between states but, on the contrary, wanted to
preserve the dangerous source threatening the outbreak of a third world
war * % 8

“We are doing our utmost to make the Soviet proposals acceptable. We do
not impose them, but wish to reach agreement through negotiations, though we
have every right to sign a peace treaty with the GDR if the Government of
the Federal Republic of Germany does not wish to sign a peace treaty.

‘“We have before our eyes the example of the United States of America, which
has signed a peace treaty with Japan without us. However, it cannot be held
that one side can unilaterally sign treaties while the other cannot, though a
peace treaty with Japan was signed earlier to its detriment, * * *

“The Hquidation of the occupation regime in West Berlin will undoubtedly be
condducive to this [improving relations]. We wish to reach agreement with all
our former allies. This {8 why we do not fix any time limits. We want the
golution of this question to improve, not worsen, our relations. The Soviet
Government is ready to try out any conceivable peaceful means to secure a
reasonable solution of the German problem, to promote the improvement of the
international atmosphere, and to create conditions for disarmament and the
establishment of eternal peace on earth for the snke of mankind’s happiness.

“But if we do not meet with understanding, if the forces backing Chancellor
Adenauer obstinately insist on the ‘positions of strength’ policy, we shall have
no other choice left but to sign a peace treaty with the GDR. The Soviet Union
does not intend to connive with those who are for the continuation of the
‘positions of strength’ policy. We and our allles would readily sign a treaty
with West Germany, but if we do not succeed in this, we shall he compelled to
sign a unilateral treaty with the GDR.” (Speech at Hungarian Party Con-
gress, December 1, 1939. Khrushchev’s first public threat to sign a separate
peace treaty with the GDR after his U.S. visit.)

“The Soviet Government considers that a peaceful settlement with Germany
is an urgent international question, a question of the very foremost importance.
We shall make every effort to have this question solved at last. We sincerely
strive to find a solution for the German question together with our allies in
the struggle against Hitler Germany. We consider that along with this the
question of West Berlin too will be settled on an agreed basis. If, however,
all our efforts to conclude a peace treaty with the two German states fail
to be crowned with success after all, the Soviet Union, and other willing states,
will sign a peace treaty with the GDR with all the consequences proceeding
from this.” (Khrushchev Supreme Soviet speech, January 14, 1960.)

“But what if we do not meet understanding? Could it be that we should live
forever without a peace treaty, and forever resign ourselves to an abnormal
situation in West Berlin?

‘“Of course, we cannot reconcile ourselves to such a situation. If the Soviet
Union does not meet understanding it will have no other recourse but to sign
a peace treaty with the GDR with all the ensuing consequences, including those
for West Berlin, That treaty would settle the frontier questions of Germany
with the Polish People’s Republic and the Czechoslovak Republic. With the
signing of a peace treaty it would be clear to all that to strive to alter the exist-
ing frontiers means nothing else but to bring matters to a war, We shall not
abet aggressive forces which cherish the dream of pushing German frontiers
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to the east, If some states refuse to sign a peace treaty it will also be clear
to all what they stand for: peace or war, for relaxation of tension and friendly
relations or for cold war,” (Letter to Adenauer, January 28, 1960.)

“AD CorresronpeNT. Did you actually say that you will insist on a Western
withdeawal from West Berlin regardless of the concessions they may make
to Russia’s position on disarmament? DId you make this statement to P’resi-
dent Gronehi of Italy?

“Kunrusucuev. 1'he question is put in a not too correct way. The Western
powers are allegedly to make concessions to the Soviet Unlon on questions
of safeguarding peace, while we are to make concessions to the West with
regard to Berlin. This is incorrect. These are two independent questions,
cach of which requires a separate solution.

“Is it only the Soviet Union and the socialist countries that are interested in
disarmament, in safeguarding peace? All the peoples are interested in safe-
guarding peace. 'This is why it is necessary to consider the disarmament ques-
tion and solve it in a way beneficial for all countries, for all the peoples, for
the cause of peace.

“The question of West Berlin is entirely different. This is a question whose
solution has been dragged out for 186 years since the end of the war., How
much longer can we wait? A summit conference will meet shortly to strengthen
peace, but the leftovers of the last war have not been done awny with yet.
This situation contradicts commonsense. This is why we shall strive to wipe
out the hangovers of war, shall try to convince our allles of the last war to
sign a peace treaty with the two existing Germnan states. If they fail to under-
stand this need or if they realize it but refuse to agree, then we shall sign a
peace treaty with the GDIR.

“When a peace treaty with the GDR is signed, all the consequences of the
war against Germany will cease to exist on the territory of the GDR and with
regard to West Berlin as well. West Berlin is on the territory of the GDR.”
(Djakarta press conference, February 29, 1960.)

“Question of FRANCE-SOIR correspondent MIcHEL GoORDET. ‘You are regarded
as an advocate of peaceful coexistence and territorial status quo between Iiast
and West. If this really is so, why do you question the status quo in Berlin
where the military positions of the Western powers are weak?

‘* * * JIf all our possibilities are exhausted and our aspirations not under-
stood, we shall unilaterally sign a peace treaty with the GDR. This will settle
the problems connected with the liquidation of the remnants of the war in the
territory of the GDR which will sign the peace treaty with us; the problem
of liquidating the occupation regime in West Berlin will also be settled.’'”
(Diplomatie Press Association luncheon in Paris, March 235, 1960.)

“We are doing and shall continue to do our utmost to achieve understanding
for our policy and to secure the conclusion of a peace treaty with Germany.
I repeat, we shall do our utmost to this end. If the Western powers do not
understand our peace-loving position, we shall have to conclude a peace treaty
with the GDR.” (Rheims luncheon, March 29, 1960.)

“KFontaine of LLE Mo~NDE. Mr. Chairman, you more than once intimated that the
Soviet Union would sign a separnte treaty with the GDR if the summit meeting
did not lead to the conclusion of a German peace treaty. Could you say more
precisely to what extent such a treaty would affeet the communications between
the Western garrisons in Berlin and West Germany?

“Knrusicuey. If we do not meet with understanding on the part of the lead-
ers of those countries with which the Soviet Union fought against Iitler Ger-
many, we shall have to conclude a peace treaty with the GDR alone. However,
this is very undesirable for us; we should not like to do so. But if there is no
other way out, we-—-and not only we but a number of other countries that fought
against Nnzi Germany-—will be impelled to sign a peace treaty with the GDR
alone, and all rights arising from the surrender of Nazi Germany would then
become invalid on the entire territory under the sovereignty of the GDR. Hence,
all countries now having garrisons in West Berlin on the basis of the surrender
-and defeat of Nazi Germany, would lose all rights connected with the occupation
of the city. We have declared this more than once and we also reaffirm this
today.” (Rambouillet press conference, April 2, 1960.)
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“Wo shall do everything to solve this question [German peace treaty] on a
basls acceptable to the Western powers. But if our efforts are fraitless, then
the Soviet Union will conclude a peace treaty with the GDR. And we are sure
that all those who understand the necessity of removing the abnormal situation
in the center of I3urope will sign it along with the Soviet Union,

“We are also convinced that, despite the efforts of Chancellor Adenauer, the
Western powers, sooner or later, will arrive at the same conclusion we have.
Life itself will compel them to understand that the conclusion of a peace treaty
with the two German states is the only correct solution insuring normal condi-
tions of peace and tranquility in Kurope.” (Lenin Stadium speech on return
from I‘rance, April 4, 1960.)

“So that nobody should have any illusions, I would like to state sincerely
and directly: those who think this, and those who are going to follow such a
policy, are going to be disappointed. The Soviet Government, for its part, will
do everything to make our position elear, and will spare no effort to convince
our partners of the need to conclude a peace treaty and set up a free city in
West Berlin. But if, in spite of all our efforts, the Western powers show them-
selves unwilling to seek together with the Soviet Union an agreed solution of the
question of a peace treaty, and, contrary to common sense, ignore this question,
then we shall of course go our own way and will conclude a peace treaty with
the German Democratic Republie.

“I think that the Soviet Union will not be alone in concluding this peace treaty.
Along with us, it will be signed by many other states which are also convinced
of the need for a peaceful settlement with Germany.

“The supporters of an aggressive course where the socialist countries are
concerned often reason that allegedly even affer the signing of a peace treaty with
the GDR, the three Western powers would retain the right as before to the main-
tenance of their troops in West Berlin. I must say that this is an incorrect
interpretation, and a policy which is based on such calculations is doomed
to failure.

“It is generally known that the signing of a peace treaty will put an end to
those conditions which were brought about by the eapitulation of the country.
Therefore, when a peace treaty is signed with the GDR, on the whole territory
which is controlled by the government of this state, the conditions brought
about by the surrender will no longer obtain. Thus in relation to this territory,
the rights which the Western powers obtained as a result of the surrender of
Hitlerite Germany will also lose effect, including the right to the further main.
tenance of the occupation regime in West Berlin.

“Some politicinns say that they, allegedly, do not recognize the GDR, and
therefore they do not want to have anything to do with it. It even gets to the
point where they call for insuring the stay of the troops of the three powers
In West Berlin, and their rights in relation to that city, as based on the sur-
render and with the aid of force.

“I must warn such hotheads, that when appeal is not made to right and
law, when force is invoked, it is natural that force should be opposed by the
force of the other side, a force which will rest on law, on right, and will conse-
quently win the moral support of al) countries. It cannot be otherwise.

“Our policy is based on concrete conditions. The Soviet Government is
guided by the good intentions of liquidating the remnants of World War II,
of removing the occupation regime in West Berlin, and of giving West Berlin
the status of a free city. Contrary to the assertions of unserupulous propaganda
in the West, nobody intends to encroach upon the freedom, property, and rights
of the inhabitants of West Berlin. They will be given every opportunity and
every condition for a free choice of the political and social system they desire.

“But West Berlin lies within the territory of the GDR, and obviously when
a peace treaty is signed, the GDR will exercise sovereign rights over its entire
state territory. If, therefore, the Western powers should not wish to sign a
peace treaty with the GDR, that would not preserve for them the rights on
whose preservation they insist, They would then obviously lose the right of
access to West Berlin by land, water, or air.,” (Khrushchev speech at meeting
in Baku, April 25, 1960.)

U.8. AND WESTERN POLICY

“There are forces in the U.S. which are acting against us, against the easing
of tension, and for the continuation of the cold war., To shut one's eyes to this
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would mean showing weakness in the struggle against these evil forces, against
these evil spirits,

‘¢ ¢ ¢+ | have galned the Impression that theve are forces in the United States
which act not In the same direction as the President, These forces want a
continuntion of the cold war nand the armaments race.  Whether these forces
are big or small, influential or not influential, whether the forces which support
the President ean win—and he is supported by the absolute majority of the
U.S. people--nare questions to which 1 would not hasten to give a linal answer.”
(Speech in Moscow, upon return from U.N. visit, September 28, 10560.)

“Some militant Ameriecan generals are trying to frighten us. They are
making many speeches with thrents against us * * *, 1 have already said many
times that to make militant speeches In our day, when terrible menns of de-
struction have been created, I8 an extremely dangerous business.” (Speech in
Vladivostok, October 8, 1059.)

“However, the most bellicose leaders in tho West cannot in any way give
up the old methods, Fehoes of the past are still heard here and there. T'nko
for example the lnmentable decision of the U.S. Congress to hold a so-called
‘captive nations week’ and to offer prayers for their liberation.”

“* ¢ ¢ JHerter and Assistant Secretary of State Dillon in speeclies began
something in the nature of psychologienl attuck against the Soviet Unlon, trying
deliberately to distort the character of relations between our country and China

* ¢+ I donot know how it sounds in English, but in Russian attempts of this
kind may be called ‘bovine logic!” (Speech to Supreme Soviet, October 31,

1059.)

“Our policy is not a position of strength policy * * *, By the way, I shall
roveal-—and let people abroad know it, I am making no secret of {t—that in one
year 230 rockets with hydrogen warheads came off the assembly line in a factory
wo visited, This represents millions of tons in terms of conventional explosives.
You can well imagine that if this lothal weapon is exploded over some country
there will be nothing loft there at all.”  (Speech to Soviet journalists, November

14, 1939.)

“During our talks in Washington I told Mr. Eisenhower that his position
differed from mine, of course. I was authorized by the Soviet Government, in
conformity with the desire of our people, to immedintely slgn an agreement on
disarmament * * * I believe that the President also wants this, but apparently
he cannot do it beeause there are still strong qua *lers in the U.S. that oppose
disarmament. We must not be deceived in this respect, Yesterday 1 rend Mr.
Nelson Rockefeller's statement * * *. But Messra, Imperialists, 1f you try to
return to the positions of the cold war, Rockefeller will not save yon, just as
Dulles could not save you.” (Speech to Soviet journalists, November 14, 1959.)

“Even now the enemies of socialism are not abandoning their plans for
smashing the socialist camp and are, of course, 1ooking for the weak links in it.
They want to rout the soclalist countries one hy one.  We must bear this in mind,
because it is real, and we must do everything to deprive our enemies of these
;m;lvgi.q t;) thwart these hopes.” (Speech to Hungarian Party Congress, December

» 1939,

“Thirst for profit is pushing some imperialistic circles toward continuing the
arms race and maintaining the cold war. These circles are sufficiently influential
to harm the cause of easing international tension in certain conditions. Those
political leaders who have joined thelr interests with the policy of the arms race
are afraid of the easing of international tension and regard it as unthinkable
that this easing could become a fact * * *, It is clear that the imperialists wil
try again to rally the forces of the advoeates of cold war.” (Speech to Supreme
Soviet, January 14, 1960.)

“As to the questions to be discussed at the conference of the heads of govern-
mentg, I should like to express some reservations. The nearer May 16, the day
of the meeting of the heads of government, approaches, the more one-sided be-
comes the approach of some statesmen of the Western powers to the problems
the participants of the conference will have to face. They talk about and fan
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those aspects of thig or that problem which, if attention is focused on them,
cannot further the search for mutually accepted solutions, It goes without
snying that such an attitude does not help the scarch for ways of solving fm-
portant infernational Issues. On the contrary, it leads to a maintenance of
tension nnd consequently hinders the normalization of relations hetween states.

“Phere 18 no need to look far to find an example. Let us take a speech,
recently mado by the U.8. under secretary of state, Dilon, and offered as n
summary of U.S, pollcy before the suinmlt conference. ‘This speech pogitively
smelled of the spirlt, of the cold war. Ditllon’s speech reminds usg, if anything,
of a collection of prefabricated arguments, against the USSR and soclallst
countries, rather than of a responsible political statement., He kicked up a
hullabaloo about the coustant communist threat to peace, proposed that the
conception of peaceful coexistence be thrown overboard, and crassly distorted
the Sovletl proposals on disarmament, the conclusion of a German pegace treaty,
and on West Berlin’s transformation into n free eity.

“Dilon trled to introduce a stream of unfriendliness and mistrust on the
very eve of the summit conference, when it is so important to he counsistent,
to create and support an atmosphere of trust hetween states. Dillon deseribed
the summit conference ns n check on the sincerity of the intentions of the
USSR, e tried to make out that the outeome of the conference depends entirely
on the USSR and not on all the participants,  But nobody will succeed in
undermining the trust in the good will of the USSR, the policy of which is
clenr, is permented by love of peace and has gained the firm sympathy of the
peoples,

“In the eyes of the peoples, the summit conference is truly a serious testing
of the policies of the states represented at that conference, perhaps, most of
all, of the policy of the United States itself, The peoples will judge sincerity
of intention on what ench of the four powers brings with it to the conference,
and what, contribution ench power ig ready to make to the cause of the lessening
of international tension.

“IBut if one goes by the statement of Mr. Dillon, who understandably is not
an outsider to government circles In the United States, it turns out that the
U.8. Government 18 ready to come to an agreement on the disarmament qnes-
tion and on the improvement of relations between the states of last and West
only if its own viewpoint is accepted on the Berlin question.

“Why did Dillon have to make a statement which is obviously out of harmony
with the atmosphere established between the Soviet Union and the United
States after my talks with President Elsenhower at Camp David? Mayhe this
Is simply a manifestation of pugnacity by a diplomat who has got it stuck in
his head that if one attacks the other side hefore talks begin, the other side
will hecome more yielding? One would like to say to Mr. Dillon, and to those
who may share his opinion, that such methods are most unsufitable in dealing
wirh the Soviet Union.” (Speech in Baku, April 25, 1960.)

THE S8UMMIT

“Some in the West claim that the Soviet Union has changed its policy and,
therefore, it has become easier to talk with us. This is wrong, of course. We
were born Communists, we live as Communists, and will not die, but will con-
tinue to march onward as Communists.” (Khrushchev speech at Soviet journal-
ists’ meeting, November 14, 1959 (referring to a de Gaulle statement made at a
November 10 press conference).)

“We have recently reached an ngreement * * * on convening a conference
of heads of government on May 16 in Paris. It is envisaged that this conference
will be followed by a number of summit meetings. It would be improvident to
try to guess beforehand the possible results of the forthcoming conference * * *
(B hrushchev speech to Supreme Soviet, January 14, 1960.)

“As for the imminent summit meeting * * * naturally we must not think that
all controversial issues can be regulated in one or two meetings between the
leaders of Western and Eastern powers.” (Khrushchev speech at Paris press
luncheon, March 25, 1960.)

Norr.—For Khrushchev's last public statement on the summit before May 1, see his
comments of April 25 in Baku quoted under “U.8. and Western Policy."”
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COMMENTS ON WEST DURING ASIAN TOUR

“liveryone sees how the plans of the reactionary eircles of certain Western
powers which pursued a foreign policy ‘from positions of strength’ are coming
to grief, Common sense and the understanding that the policy of ‘brinkmanship’
ig o fatal policy under present conditions are beginning to gain ground.

“It 13 known that there are cireles in the West who are unwilling to reconclle
themselves to the beginning of the relaxation of international tension and seck
to reverse the march of time and revert the world to cold war thmes. Ispecially
dangerous in this respect are the activities of the mfilitary bloes of NATO,
SEATO, and CINTO, the holding of military maneuvers in various parts of the
world and the establishment of new bases, including those for nuclear-tipped
rockets. In this connection it is fmpossible to overlook the actions of the
Japanese ruling circles, which are a danger to the cause of peace.

“The question of peace s the main question of our time. Closely conneeted
with it is the question of the abolition of the coloninl system, The sooner the
coloninl powers are deprived of their colonies—and the colonialists will then be
unable to plunder and oppress other nations—the quicker peace on earth will be
established * * *,

“In our time, the coloniallsts cannot act as they did in the past when the
destinies of people throughout the world were decided in Buropean capitals,
They are casting about for new ways and means of enslaving countries which
recently achieved independence * * *

“Ispecially dangerous to the people of Asia, Africa and Latin America are
various forms of collective coloninlism, 1t I8 impossible not to mention such
manifestations of colonialism as military-politieal bloes.

“Provocations against Indonesia, Cambodia and TLaos are but a few of
the shameful deeds of the SEATO bloe¢ operating in your area.” (Speech to
Indonesian Parliament, February 26, 1960.)

“Phe struggle for strengthening peace is not an easy job, for still active in
some countries are influential forces interested in the continued arms race,
and in wrecking the prospeet now in evidence of a decrease in Internationa)
tension and in rekindling the cold war.

“Some of the Western countries are advanced just beeause thoso of Asia,
Africa and Latin America are underdeveloped, It would be only fair for the
Western nations to repay at least a portion of the looted wealth to the peoples
whom they held in bondage” (Khrushchev speech to Indian Parliament,
February 11, 1860.)

‘“Whereas all the peace-loving peoples want a further relaxation of inter-
national tension, the cold and hot war advocates continue galvanizing such
aggressive blocs as NATO, SEATO and CENTO,” (Khrushchev speech at Civie
Reception in Delhi, February 12, 1960.)

“The Soviet Union and the West have two different approaches to aid. The
Soviet Union strives to achieve economic aid which promotes economic inde-
pendence. But some people in the West utilize assistance as a weapon of new
colonial policy.” (Khrushchev speech at Bhilai, February 15, 1960.)

“I do not think all of you understand when we show bitterness toward colonial-
ists. For some ages you have been oppressed by colonialists, but still you do
not feel as strongly as we do, though we have never in the strictest sense heen
a colony.” (Khrushchev speech at a dinner in Calcutta, February 15, 1960.)

“Peace is also sought by the greater part of the peoples of the capitalist
states in Europe and North Ameriea, even in the United States of America
whose people for long have been influenced by the propaganda of those on the
side of the cold war, where expressions of agreement with peace are considered
almost akin to traitorous acts towards the interest of the state. * * *” (Khru-
glllclig‘éos)peech at Jogjakarta (State University of Gadjah Mada) IFebruary

’ 3

“The European colonialists implanted their so-called civilization in Asia by
the sword and the gun and for centuries they held up the development of the
cg&r)\trles they enslaved.” (Statement at Press Conference, Djakarta, March 1,
1960.)

.
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“ITowever, to be frank, one must say that the Western countries, having
pumped out incalculable wealth from the colonies as a result of centuries of
plunder and are continuing to pump out wealth in one way or another * * *
might be fair enough to allocate at least a portion of this wealth for ald to
underdeveloped countries.” (Khrushchev speech to Indonesian parliament,
February 26, 1960.)

“[Afro-Asian countries] are lmportant suppliers of raw materials for the
Western powers. The supporters of aggression understund that when the
majority of Afro-Asian countrles follow a peace-loving policy, they are unable
to count on the use of the rich resources of Afro-Asinn countries in their ag-
grﬁss;vo plang,” (Khrushchev speech to Jogjakarta University, IPebruary 22,
1960,

“T'he capitalist states are guided by the law of their society—no cheating, no
sales—in other words help the weak today so that tomorrow the weak will again
come to you for assistance. * * * This i8 not assistance, but striving to hook
by the ear and drag Into slavery, to make one or another country the object
of exploitation by a state or group of persons.” (Khrushchev press conference,
Djakarta, February 20, 1060.)

ADDITIONAL KHRUSHOHEV STATEMENTS

The following Khrushchev statements all made after his return from the US,
do not fit easlily into the four categories listed ahove. They serve, however, to
illustrate his interpretation of “peaceful coexistence,” “detente,” “capitalism,”
“exchange of ideas,” ete.

“I'here were very good things [in the US], but we must not forget the bad
things. ‘I'his little worm, or, rather, glant worm is still alive, and can display
ity vitality in the future as well,” (Moscow Speech on return from US, September
28, 1059.)

“Wo must realize clearly that the struggle for the consolidation of peace will
be a long one. DPeaceful coexistence must be understood correctly. Coexistence
means the continuation of the struggle between two social systems, but of a
struggle by peaceful means, without war, without the interference of one state
into the domestic affairs of another state. One should not be afraid, We must
struggle resolutely and conslistently for our ideas, for our way of life, for our
soclalist system. The partisans of capitalism too will not, of course, abandon
their way of life, their ideology, they will fight. We hold that this struggle must
be economie, political, and ideological, but not military.” (Novosibirsk speech,
October 10, 1959.)

“He who does not recognize peaceful coexistence wittingly or unwittingly slips
down into the positions of the cold war and the armaments race, of deciding
international problems by force of arms and not by way of peaceful negotiations.
Hence it is clear that it is essential to tear off the masks from all those who
wish to embellish the policy of the imperialist state who continue the arms race.
Things must be called by their names. The aggressive circles of these countries
are striving to decide disputed international questions by means of war. All the
pacts and alliances set up by the imperialist states are camouflaged by false
statements to the effect that they are allegedly defensive, against the threat of
communism. But such statements are not new and have been repeatedly exposed
by life itself.” (Novosibirsk speech, October 10, 1959.)

“The supporters of capitalism are trying to put a new coat on the decrepit
capitalist system, but nothing will come of it; just like a horse, you know, that
is getting old and is unable to keep its tail up like a young spirited horse, So,
the moribund capitalist system will not see a new surge of energy.” (Viadivostok
speech, October 8, 1959.)

“In the course of these talks [during the Khrushchev US visit] certain Ameri-
can representatives repeatedly spoke about the so-called free dissemination of
ideas. They tried to convince me of the need for wider dissemination in our
country of books and fllms especially selected by them, and of the need for free
broadcasting. They want to foist upon us all kinds of trash that would poison
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the minds of Noviet people.  Can we ngree to this?  Of courae not.  Our m‘upl::
do not want to conaime bad food polsoned with the venow of bourgeols ldeas,
(Kvansoyarsk specch, October 9, 1051,)

In his October 31, 1060 speech to the Supreme Soviof, Kheaslichey assessed
the rvelative relnxation of international tenston and gave his interpretation of
the cnuses for it Mhese remarks were not divectly linked to s US teip, bt
1t wan elear that this was hin intention,

“Onty recently, the foreign potley of gome Western powers wan bhuilt on openly
agrresstve calenlutons, on the ‘positionn of strength® polley.  ''he lnnpirers of
thid polley wanted to tmpoge thelr will on the peace-loving peoples™ - -Le, the
communist bloe comntries,  “Somoetimes this appronch to internationnl atYairs
wis styled a ‘poliey of pushing biek' or ‘volting bonek,' but the essence remained
the snme * * ** Phie advoeates of this polley “meant diveet mititary Inferven-
tion in the affnlrs of the xoclalist and other penceable staten,  Krom thig stemmed
the poliey of a continnousr avmy race, fllusory hopes of bullding up ‘nuclear
supremney,’ ote * * * Now thimes have changed.  Hven some of the active
oxponents of thoe ‘position of strength’ polley see its futility * * * At the prosent
time a more sober evaluation of the situntion, 8 morve reasgonuble undevstanding
of the halanee of forces on the internatlonanl geeno s gaining ascendaney in the
West" 'Uhis “Inevitably leads (o the conclusion that plans involving the use of
armed forens against. the soctalist world should ba relegnted to oblivion,  Life
ftself demands that the states with diterent soctal wystoms should know how
fo ¢ * * coexist pencefully ¢ * * the mnin reason [for these vecent changes)
lies in the growing might and internationnl influence of the Soviet Unlon, of all
countries of the world systom of soeialtsm,”

Khrughehev's vemarks made clear that Moxcow vegarded the detente (and
prospective high-level Kast-West talks) as n cousequence, and not o vepudintlon
of {ta position of atvength poltey,  Warthermora, by elniming that the fmproved
fnternational atmogphere was due mainly to the West's necommadation to grow-
fng Roviet power, Khrushehev implied that there would be further fimprovement
only if the West made further coneessions,

WHEN WAS DECISION MADE 1O SUSPEND OVERFLIGHTS?

Tho Cramman, Proceeding, Mr, Secrotary, under our agreed regu-
lations, can you tell the committes when the decision to suspend any
further flights over Russian tervitory was taken ¥

Secrvetary Hewrer, My impression is that it was tnken on the Thurs-
day before the President went to Pavis,

The Cuaryan. That would bo Thursday, is that it, the 12th ¢

Secvotary Herrer. Yes,

The Cnamyax, What were the considerations which led to the
decision taken on Thursday, tho 12th of May, that there should be no
further flights over the—

Secretary Herrer. Mr., Chairman, T think I answered that in my
own statement, in which I said that since the U-2 system had been
coms»mmiscd, 1t was discontinued as any other intefligoncc mission
would bo in such a case.

The CuairmavN. It had been compromised sometime bofore the 12th,
hadn’t it.?

Secretary Herter. No, sir.

(Subsequently the Department of State informed the Committee
that the reporter had misunderstood the Secretary’s answer to this
question, which had been “Yes, sir.”)

QUESTION OF A MORATORIUM ON FLIGHTS

The Cramryax. Was a moratorium on flights agreed upon prior to
May 1 to be effective at any time after May 11 o

e s 5, e g
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Seeratary Hewrer, Not that T know of,

The Ciiamestan. You would know of it if it had been takon, wouldn’t
yout
© Seerotary Hueren, T am sorry 1 couldn’t. honr the question, Mr.
Chuirmnn,

The Cuamsan, Was nny morntorium on the flights agrecd upon
priorto May Liohe offeetive nt. nny timeafter May 17

Seceretnrey Hewrvew, T have henrd voports to that effect, but of my
own knowledgo I do not know,

The Cuaneman, Was sueh o moratorinm ever discussed or consid-
ored by anyone in the State Department.?

Seeretary Tewren. Not by Me. Dillon nor myself,

Tho Cramman. Ornnyone?

Seerelury Hewren, [ don’t know of anyone,

Tho Cuamsman. Do you know whether the CIA congidered such o
moratorinm¢

Seeretary Hewreen, 1 do not, sir.

The Cuamesan. Did Mr. Dalles or anyone elso ordor a suspension
of lights nlter the loss of the planeon May 17

Seeretnry Herrver, That, giv, he will bo able to testify to. I can’t
toll you ng of what dute he did that,

PREVIOUR U--2 FLIGITTS

The Coamman. Were any other planes lost, on these same ventures
priortoMay 1 ¢

Secrolary Hewrer, [ Deleted.] Not over Soviet terrvitory.,

The Crammsan. None had been shot. down or lost, over Soviet
torritory ¢

Secrotary Hewrsr, No,

The Cuamnman, The flight referred to, that Chairman Khrushchev
reforred to on April 9, you were aware of that, were yon?

Secretary Herren., Yes,

The Cuamsan, T4 was a suceessful overflight?

Sceretary Hewrer, It was,

DELAY IN ANNOUNCING BUSPENSION OF OVERFLIGHTH

The Cramaan., If the President decided to suspend the flights
prior to Monday, May 16, which you stated he did on the 12th, why
was this announcement delayed until the meeting with Chairman
Khrushehov on the 16th?

Secrotary Herrer, Because the President reserved that decision to
make the announcement in Paris.

The Cniamaan, What was the reasoning for doing that?

Secretary Herrer. I cannot give you the answer, sir.

EFFECT OF U-2 INCIDENT ON SOVIET WRECKING OF CONFERENCE

The Ciairman. I believe you stated very convincingly that Chair-
man IKChrushchev came to the conference determined to wreck it. Do
you believe that the U-2 incident contributed to this determination
on the part of Chairman Khrushchev ¢
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Seevetary Hewesr, Might 1 sny heeause 1 have got o little cold and
can’t. hear too welly can that question bo vepeated

Tho Cuiamaran. You have said that Chaieman Khrushehev enmo
to the conference determined to wreek it. Do you believe the U-2
incident contributed to this detormination ¢

Seeretary Herrer. Yes; I believe it did, 1t was one of the factors
as 1 tried to explain in my statoment.

The Cnamwaran. Do you think—--

DELAY IN ANNOUNCING SUSPENSION O OVERFLIGINI'S

Seevetary Hewrer, Mre. Chaivman, might 1 for a moment. go back
to the previous question you had asked as to the Presidont’s delay in
announcing the suspension of the flights?

You may recall that hoe at. the sunmmit or at. the so-called meoting
in Parig coupled that with the offer of bringing into the United Na-
tions a proposal for general overllight. program superintended by the
United Nations and wanted to couple those two things togethor,

WY DIDN'T PRESIDENT DISCLAIM RESPONSIBILITY FFOR U-2 FLIGIIT?

Tho Cuamaan. Mr. Seeretary, why do you think Chairman Khru-
shehov left o way out. for the President by suggesting in one of his
envlier statoments that ho believed the President. did not. know about
theso flights?

Secretary Ierrver. T ean therve, of course, only speculato that he
had committed himself vory strongly in Russin with regard to his
friendship for the President, and wished to in that way continue the
mr\iaibility of the President disclaiming any responsibility for the
flight.

'he Cramrman. What was the reason for not nccepting this way
out on our part? Why didn’t we accept that suggestion?

Secretary Herter. Mr. Chairman, that was a question, as you knov,
of judgment.

The Cuamaran, That was what ?

Secretary HERTER. 1t was a question of judgment. As to when the
essential facts had been revealed by the capture of the pilot and the
plano with all its instrumentation intact, the U.S. Government should
admit the fact that this overflight had taken place, that it was an intel-
ligenco overflight, and that decision was made, of course, by the
President himself.

QUESTION OF WISDOM OF THE HEAD OF A STATE ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY
FOR ESPIONAGE

The Cuarryan. Mr. Secretary, you are a longtime devotee of in-
ternational relations and thoroughly familiar with precedents in this
field. Is the public assumption of responsibility for espionage by the
head of a state the usual and customary practice among nations

Secretary Herrer. No; the general practice has been, I think, for a
long period of time to deny any responsibility whatever.

The Crramryax. Do you know of any precedent in our history or in
the history of any great nation in which the head of state has assumed
personal responsibility for espionage activities?
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Secretary Herrer, Noj Ido not know of any firsthand. 1t may bo
(hat thero have bheen some,  On the other hand, T would point out,
Mr, Chairman, that this purticular incident was of o very unusual
nature,

The Cuamaran, As a general policy, do you believe it is wise for
tho hend of stato to assume responsibility for espionage activities?

Seerotury Hewese, Well, very frankly, I don't think it mukes a
great denl of differenco from the public point of view.

On tho other hand I helieve in a ense of this kind the telling of the
truth wag the better course than getting deeper into fabricating
excuses or disnvowing responsibility.

CIRCUMKTANCES LEADING TO PRESIDENT'S ASSUMPPION 01 RESPONSIBILITY
FOR ESPIONAUY

Tho Chamman, What precisely were the reasons that persunded
you to depart. from precedent. in this ease?  What were the unusual
cireumstanees you referred to?

Seevetary Hewrse, The unusual cireumstances were the faets that,
the materiel and the statement. of the pilot, not every bit of which was
neenrate, but o great. part, of which was ncenrate, had bheen revenled,
and could hava been presented to impartinl (ribunals for examination,

Under those cirenmstanees, which was very different. from the
ordinary espionnge ease 1 think it would have become extremely
evident and was extremely evident that this incident, had taken place,

Tho Cuamsan, Welly in our spy eases, isn’t it a faet that the
ovidenea of the particular person being a spy, of some of those we had,
was notin question,  The difference is in whether or not. the head of
stata (akes responsibility for it, not that it was convineingly evident
ho wasuspy. - Lsn't that the difference ?

Seeretury Hewren, That is a difference.

The Crnamyan. We often cateh a spy. We have ourselves, it has
been related, and there is no doubt. he is a spy with all the parapher-
nalin which usually accompanies a spy, but. the point I thought that
wonld be very interesting to the committee {o know is why in this
yrticular ease, in spite of the convineing nature of the evidence that
10 was a <py, that the President. and the head of state should assume
responsibility for it.

Secretary ITerrer. The first was inac it was obvious from the facts
as to what had oceurred.  Second was that the situation which had
led to this entire activity was the one which is probably disturbing
the peaco of the world the most, and leads to the greatest tensions
in the world; namely the danger of surprise attack, and the secrecy
behifid the Soviet Union.

SOVIET DELETION IN MAGAZINB OF REFERENCES TO PRESIDENT’S EXPECTED
VISIT TO RUSSIA

The Cuamryan, Was it not after the President said that he did
know and took full responsibility for these flights that Cha rman
Khrushchev became completely intransigent and wrecked the confer-
ence ?
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Secretary Herrer, That is very diflicull. to determine, If T may, 1
would like to eite at this point. just. one picco of ovidence that 1
montioned yesterday bofore the House Foreign A ffnirs Committes,

On May 6 the Soviet. Fmbassy in Washington, bofore any statement
had been made aecepting any degree of responsibility, before the
Presidont. had made any statement, this was on May 6, eanceled from
tho magazine which is published in the United States similar to the
magnzine which is published by the United States in Russin, called
the ULR.S.R,, stopped o press run of that. magazine and took out. of
it all references (o the coming visit. of the President. to Soviet. Russin,
The magazine had in it a weleome {o the President in his visit. to
Russin, pictures of tha places that he was going to, and a good many
shotographs indieating what a great. success his visit was going 1o
o That was ennceled and taken out. of the magazine entirely.

The Ciamman. My time is up.  Senntor Green, 1 recognize you
for 10 minutes,

EXECUTIVE BRANCH COORDINATION ON U2 INCIDEN'I'

Senator Green, May 1 ask a few more questions about the sume
matter beeause T do not understand, and perhaps it is my fault, how
far the President acted nlone and how fur the State Department
acted alone before they eame together and agreed on the situation?

Sceretary Herrer, Welly, T would say that there was consultation
right. through this period.

Semator GreeN. I didn’t understand.

Seeretary Herrer. T would sny there was consultation vight through
N 9 ~ N . <
in this period. May T make this observation, Mr, Chairman? From
tho point of view of firsthand knowledge on these mattors, 1 asked
My, Dillon to come up with me because until May 6, I was out. of tho
United States. 1Te was acting Secretary of State and some of the
questions that may be directed to that period when I was out of the
country he can answer from firsthand information, whereas I would
have to do it only from secondhand information,

The Ciairman. We would be very glad to have Mr. Dillon sup-
plement the statement whenever you would like.

Senator Green. Mr, Dillon, then will you take up the answer to
my question?

Mr. Dinron. AN I can say is that in the period that I had responsi-
bility we were in contact regularly with the President with full
coordination.

Senator GreeN, Well, the division of authority seems to have re-
sulted in a great many understandings which have been spread well
in the press, and the people are anxious to be informed on how it
happened; what was the ]uck in organization or otherwise that was
responsible. If you can explain it, T would be glad to have you do so.

ISSUANCE OF COVER STORY ON OVERFLIGIIT
Mr. Dirrox. If it would be helpful, I will be glad to explain

briefly the course of events in the few days after the plane was
missing.
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Woe first received news that this plane was missing, was overdue
at, its home base on Sunday, which was the day that the Soviet, Union
later said the plane was shot down,

At that time, it was determined that a cover story would be used
as was stated by the President the other night, which had been pre-
viously prepared for such instance.

There was full coordination on this, I knew that the cover story
was (o bo issued and it was discussed (hat. it would be issued as usunl
when a plane was lost. al. the base from which the plane was Jost,
There would be no statement. from Washington, and this information
was given (o the people who would be in charge of the flight at the
baso where it. flew from in Turkey, [ Deleted,] In due course, the
stalement. was put, out. there that a plane was missing,  The general
content, of that statement. by the base commander at Adana at Tur-
koy was that n U-2 airerafl on the weather mission originating at
Adana, Turkey, was missing; that the purpose of the plane’s flight
had been a study of clear air turbulence; that during the flight in
southeast. Turkey the pilot reported he had oxygen difliculties; that
the last. word heard from MDDB at 7 o’clock éreonwich times {hat
the aireraft did not Iand at Adana, as planned ; and that it could only
bo assumed that. it was now down.

A search effort, he said, was underway in the Lake Van area and
that the pilot’s name was being withheld pending notification of the
next. of kin,

After that statement. was made no further action was taken here
beeause wo did not know the circumstances of how the plane had been
lost, where it had been lost, whether it had been actually lost over
Soviet, territory or not, although the presumption was that it had
been lost over Soviet. territory, beeause that was apparently wherve it
was going (o be the greater part of the time in the light.

EVENTS LEADING TO STATE DEPARTMENT MAY § STATEMENT ON MISSING
PLANE

The next incident occurred on the morning of Thursday, the 5th
of May when we heard of the first speech %y Mr, Khrushehev in
which it was stated that they had shot down a plane. They didn’t
suy where the plane had been shot. down, but. they said that an Ameri-
can plane was shot down., This required action and statements on
our part. The news of that was received by me during the course of
a meeting, o regular meeting of the National Security Council which
was being held that day as you will remember, somewhere out of
Washington, as a part of a civil defense exercise,

A series of civil (ﬁefense exercises were underway at that time which
had been long scheduled. When we heard that news, it was decided
that the State Department would handle all questions regarding it
and taking part in the discussion at. that time, present at that timo
wore myself, Secrotary Gates, and Mr. Allen Dulles. So we were all
three aware of this decision.

Meanwhile, back in Washington, members of the State Department
were meeting with members of the Central Intelligence Agency to
try and work out a proper statement.

. Assoon as we returned to Washington, that statement was finalized
in agreement with the Central Intelligence Agency and the White
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ITouse was obviously kept. informed of the contents of the stntement,
and the statement. was then put out at 12:4H in the State Department.
Tha text of that statement. was this:

The Depavtiment. has been Informed by NASA that as announced May 3 an
unarn s plane, n U-2 wenther vesearceh pline based at Adann, Turkey, piloted
by o civilian has been missing stnee May to Durving the light. of this plane, the
pilot. reported ditheulty with his oxyzen equipment,  Mr, Khnushehey has an-
nounced that a U8, plane has been shot down over the USSR on (hat date.
It wmny be that thisx was the missing plane. 1t is entively possible that having
a fallure in the oxygen equipment. which could vesult fn the pilot losing con-
Nefousnesy, the plane continued on automatie pilot. for n constderable distnnee and
necldentally violuted Soviet atespaee, he United States 18 taking this matter
up with the Soviet. Government, with pareticular voference {o the fate of tho
pllot,

PREPARNTION OF GUIDELINES ON MISSING PLANE

Meanwhile, prior to that, in the days immediately before that, there
had also been conversations between the State Department. and the
Contral Intelligence Ageney vegarding information that might. be
given to NASN in ease there were further questions of them in Wash-
imgton, for conlirmation of statements regarding where the plane
was down, something of that nature,

Goneral guidelines on this were prepured,  This was prior to the
Hth, in tha period of the 2d and dth, and these, T understand, were
transmitted to NASA by the Centeal Intelligence Ageney,

The State Department. at. no time worked divecetly with NASA on
any of (his(uuhlivily oranything vegnrding these flights,

Sennfor Gore, Did yow sny did, or did not.?

Mr. Ditrown. Did not.  This is part of the cover operation.

[ Deleted.]

NASA STATEMENT OF MAY 6

So then the next item on this was that shortly after this statement,
NASA was asked n ot of questions about the plane and they, follow-
ing the cover story that had been prepared eavlier, put out. the state-
ment. which appeared in the press that sume day. } think that eame
out. about. three-quarters of an hour after our statement.  They ap-
parvently utilized the general gnidelines which they had heen given,
to answer questions and put them together into o statement. whieh was
then put out.

Senator TTesenrey, What was the date of that 2

Mr, Dinron. This was done on May &, This was vight after M.
Khrushehev's first speech in which he said a plane was down some-
where and this was—you will reeall also at. that fime the Soviets
printed a photograph of a plane that was supposedly a wreck and we
very rapidly learned, T would sny witliin 24 hours, that this photo-
rraph was a fraudulent photograph and was not a photograph of {he

T-2 wreekage, but was o photograph of some Soviet {ype plane,

Senator TTuarenrey. Mr. Chairman, may 1 get a corrvection?

The Cramyrax, The time of the Senator from Rhode Tsland has
expirved,

Senator ITeypenrey. Just a technieal point, T couldn't follow the
sequence. T was wondering about the background documents we have
before us and the sequence of reluys,

The Cuamyan. You will have an opportunity.
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Senator GureeN. T would like to have the witness proceed and finish
his statement,
Mvr, Dinrox. Yes; could 1 finish this statement ?

EVENTS LEADING U TO STATE DEPARTMENT STATEMENT O MAY 7

Almost immediately, T wonld say on Ifriday the 6th, we were awaro
that. this was o fraudulent picture, and so that gave us some concern
that. the Soviets might. have a greater knowledgo regarding the nir-
ernft. than wo had previously suspected, and that maybe they had in
their possession more of the aireraft and possibly had the pilot in
their possession,  So this was then followed on Saturday morning, the
Tth by Khrushehev’s speech in which he staded that they did have
tho pilot, and gave for the first time actunl information as to where it
was shot. down and so forth,

Tha Seeretary returned to Washington on the afternoon of Friduy,
May 6, from Istanbul and Greeee, and 1 reported to him on the situa-
tion as of that time, and at that time he naturally took over. ‘There-
fore, on Saturday morning, wo met. with him to determine what to do
next, and at. that moment. as wo met, we were faced with this new
Soviet. statement. saying that they had the pilot, and a new situation
had arisen, and his action at. that. time the Secretary has expluined,
But. that was when the decision was made to reveal the faet that this
was an Ameriean plane.

Senntor Green, 1€ I understand you correctly——-

Tho Cuamaran. The Senator has run considerably over his time,

Nenator GreeN. May I ask one more question?

The Crramaran, We are under a time limitation,

Senator Green. T thank you for what you have said.  As T under-
stand ity your explanation is that too many cooks spoil the broth,

The Criamesan, The Senator from Wisconsin,

TIMING O SOVIET DECISION TO WRECK CONFERENCE

Senantor Wiy, T want to congratulate yvou, gentlemen,

It seems to me that the faets as developed this morning, plus the
President’s address, give us what. we have practieally all known from
the newspapers as deseriptive of this situation. T want to ask just a
fow questions, Mr. Seeretary.

In your opinion, do you think that when Khrushehey went to Paris
he had already made up his mind to blow up the conference?

Seeretary Hewre, 1 q(]n, siry and T think that the bulk of the evi-
dence indicates that he was under instructions to do so,

Senator Winky, In your opinion, is the matter of using what wo
have used in the past, the U-2% for a mere period of years, all in
the interest. of preserving the integrity of the United States and the
integrity of the West

Seerotary Huerer, T do indeed.

Senator WiLey., And, in your opinion, if the U-22 incident hadn’t
happened—this is sort. of a duplication of the question but I want to
get to the main question-——would Khrushehev llm\'v had an adequate
excuse or would he have drummed up one?

Seeretary ITerrer. That can only be n matter of speculation. I
think that Mv. Khrushchev, as indicated by his Baku speech, felt
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that. from his l)()int of view tho summit would not. turn out satis-
factorily, and that the U-2 incident was o convenient. handle for him
to use to torpedo the conference.

SOVIFT KNOWLEIXIE OF U-2 OVERFLIGITS

Sonntor Winey, Isn’t it a fact that from his remarks that he made
in his tallk in Berlin he knew that we were using what has been
called spy planes, and had been using the snme for some time?

Secvetary Herrenr. 1t cortainly does, and that was repeated yester-
day by Mr., Gromyko in the statement. that he made at the United
Nations in which he said they had known of this for some time, that
they had known of it at the time that Mr, Khrushchev was at (hnnp
David. [ Deleted. ]|

PRIOR EXVECTATIONS OIF ACCOMPLISITMENTS Al SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator Wingy, Then beenuse of previous conferences, as you have
outlined in your remarks, it is very clear that there was no real
reason to think that a conforence could have anccomplished anything,
beeause isn't it o faet. that both parties wore udmnunté

Seeretary lewrew. That is true, siv, insofur as Berlin and the
German situation was concerned. It might have been possible to
work out. some interim agreement. for Berlin, T am rather doubit ful
whether it would have been, There was some hope that in the field
of disnrmament, the Kast and the West could have agreed on direc-
tives to those who were negotiating in Geneva to get down to specific
disarmament measures to make n start, and to break away from the
deadlock that had occurred over pure generalities, That is a hope
that we had, that something of that kind might come out of the Paris
conference. But, as you may recall, in our public statements we had
made it very clear that people should not expect, not have too great
hopes of what might come out of it. But as the President has himself
said, he had hoped perhaps from this and perhaps from succeeding
summit conferences there might be some easing of the overall at-
mosphere, which in time would lead to a solution of some of these
problems,

KHRUSHCHEY STATEMENT ON A FUITURE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator WirLey. What do you think is the reason that if Khrushchev
was as heated up as he claims he was, that he said in 6 or 8 months
there would be another opportunity for a conference?

_Secretary IHerrer. I think with the admonition that we have been
given earlier in the day with regard to not bringing political matters
mto this discussion, the inference would have to be drawn by each
individual for himself on that.

PRESIDENT'S SPEECII OF MAY 205

Senator Wrey. Mr. Chairman, I don’t want to take more time
except I do believe that into the minutes of this meeting should go
the address of the President of May 25, which is already attached to
this surnmation of these background documents. But in view of the
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fuct that we are asking ourselves cerfnin questions nbout, let us say,
where do wo go from here, and that is my last question, I ask that
this be incorporated in the minutes of this meeting,.

The Ciamnran. 'Without objection, it is so ordered.

(The speech referred to appears on p. 249 of appendix 1.)

FUTURE U.S, RELATIONS WI'TTIL 'THE SOVIET UNION

Senator Wirey., Now where do we go from here?

Secretary Herrer, Sivy L tried to indicate that in the last. part of
my statement.  As the President has said, we hope to continue to do
business on a businesslike basis with the Soviet, Government, We
intend to continue with the negotiations that are now underway. We
intend to continue with our exchange agreements, One thing I might
put in the record at this point.  Ifrom such information as we have
recoived from our embassies in Moscow, and from our missions in
other Soviet, bloe countries, the attitude toward our people has re-
mained unchanged. There has been no indieation of hostility on a
seoplo to people busis that has been evidenced in any way from what
wppened m Paris,

Thoe Citamaran, The Senator from Minnesota,

SOVIET FEAR OF SPREAD OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS I'0 WEST GERMANY

Senator ITusrrnrey. Mr. Sceretary, on page 4 of your statement,
you indicate under the subtitle “Summit ’rospects Dimmed,” a series
of developments that you believe indicated a change in the position or
a possibility of a change in the position of the Soviet representatives,
particularly Mr, Xhrushchev, about the summit.

In the third paragraph you say “But clouds began to gather even
then,” referring to some developments in the Soviet Union,

If you will recall that period, isn’t this about the same time that
the United States was considering offering nuclear weapons again to
West. Germany ?

Secretary Herrer. I can’t recall that we have ever done that.

Senator Huasriirey, Well, there has been considerable talk about
the offering of nuclear weapons to our allies,

Secretary Herrer. We have not been offering them to our allies——

Senator Humenrey. I know you have not been offering them,

Secretary Herrer. Under the law we cannot do that.

Senator Hunmpurey. I understand that. There has been consider-
able discussion here in the United States of changing the law and
offering weapons to our NATO allies.

Secretary Herter. There may have been discussions on that subject,
Senator, but. we never made any specific proposal on that point.

Senator Huomrnrey. Are you denying there has been any discussion
of it, Mr, Secretary ?

Secretary Herter., Oh, no; I said there was some discussion.

Senator Hunmrarey. In official circles.

Soalc;'egary HertEr. We have never made any specific proposals of
any kind.

enator Husmpnrey. There was enough talk about it so that resolu-
tions have been introduced into the Congress, and the House of Repre-
sentatives, as you know, to make sure that this didn’t happen.
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My question relutes to this: Is there not a great fear in the Soviet
Union of the possibility of the spread of nuelenr wenpons to Western
Germany?

Seeretney e o Hihink that is fraes Tam pot sure that i is con-
fined to Western Germany. 1 think that it applies to the spread of
nuelear weapons in other nations and it might well inelude Communist
China,

Senator THesenuey, Yes; indeed,

PROPAGANDA NATURE OF KHRUSHCIIEY'S SEAVTEMENTS  PRECEDING
SUMMUEPLE CONPFERENCE

Is it not possible that during this period of the dimming of the
stummit prospeets that. you referred to that you ave saying here was n
little conntoroffensive on the propaganda level by the Soviet /

Seevetary Hewrer, Yes: that is possible. On the other hand, may
T say this: The summit conferencn itself was not agreed upon until
December after the President, Messes, Maemillan, do Goulle, and
Adennner had met. in Paris and a note was sent to the Soviet. Govern-
ment. suggesting that. o snmmil conference e held and the date was
not agreed upon until lnter than that, the date of May 186,

Senator Hoesenusy. Me. Secretavy, T want it quite elear 1 happen
to believe, as you indicated, that the Soviets made up their minds to
seuttle this conference in light of cortnin developments, such as the
visit. of Mv. Khrushehev to President do Guulle: and when he found
out. that the Amerienns, the French, and the British were not. going
to back out on Berling and were not. going {o agree to a separate
settlement. in Germany, T think that. Mr. Khrushehev did come to
the conclusion, as you have indieated, that the swmmit. conference
could not ba a suceess and therefore, he wanted to get out of it,

Bat the point that. T am raising in light of your statement. is, wounld
weo not expeet Mr, Khrushehev to blast off, so to speak, on such subjects
as Berlin and a separvate tveaty with Germany?  Isn't this and hasn’t
this been a part of his general line for a considerable period of time?

Seeretary IMewrer, Yes: it is not. confined to Mr, Khrushehev, Tt
has been almost a standarvd technique, before any conference, to take
a very adamant position before the conference.

Senator Husrenrey., Yes,

Well, T only bring this up beeause while T recognize there was evi-
dence of what you say, possibly a shift of opinton in the Kremlin,
there was always a reason for this and there may very well have been
the reason that the Soviet leaders constantly want to wage the
propaganda waron this nuelear-weapons distribution problem.

STATE DEPARTMENT PRESS AND NEWS BRIEFING OIF MAY §

I want just to correct the record here, I am sorry to have inter-
rupted Senator Green, but Secretary Dillon, when you were discuss-
ing for us the sequence of events relating to the U7-2 incident, you
talked about a press release of the Department of State on May 5;
whereisit?

Mr. Dirox. I noticed T received this document after I made my
statement, and I noticed that it was not included in this document.
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I have here o Full fext of the on-the-record press and radio news
briefing hy the State Department spokesiman on May & at 12:45 pan.
I will he glud to submit this record whiel ineludes not. only the stafe-
ment but also on-the-record questions and nnswers which he made, and
that. shonld bo inserted hefore (he Nationnd Neronnuties and Space
Administention news release which was given ont before (hat,

('Ihe excerpt. from the press and radio news bricling appears on
p. 178 of appendix 1)

DEFENSE DEPARTMEN] 'SONEWS RELEASE OF MAY 5

Senator Hesenney., Did the Departient of Defense give oul 2
relense hefore you didy that is, the State Department.?

Mr. Duaos, 'The Department of Delense’s news relense was veally
only conlirmmtion and vepetition of the release that had been given
out. hy the airbase conmander at. Adana, Turkey, and added nothing
to that, Tt merely repeated that that, was aceurate and that. was the
one that is in this doeument.

WHO HAS RESPONSIBILEEY FOR U 2 FLIGIHVIS?

Senator Husenrey, Mr. Seeretary, what agency o who is the per-
son in, the official in, this Governnent, who is in charge of these flights,
such as the U 2 flights?

Seeretary Huwrer, The Central Tntelligenee Ageney.,

Senator Husenrey, Do you have constunt. information, do yon have
conbinuing infornuttion, in the State Departinent, as to the number
of these flights, the course of these flights, the prrpose of these flights ¢

Seeretary Hewren, The general programs had been gone over with
the Departinent, ()l)vi«mstv it is impossible to tell when these flights
are going to take plice because they arve so dependent, on the season
of the year and on weather conditions.

The Ageney has to plan numbers of alternatives so we never know
at, any particular time or any particular flight.  But, the general ap-
proval of the program had been received from the State Department,
of course, as one of the advisers to the President. in this matter.

Senator Husrenrey, Did you know of this specific flight. ahead of
time?

Secretary ITerrer. I did not; no. I didn’t know it was in the air
even when I was overseas nor do I think any of us did until it came
down,

Senator ITuareneey, Is that your understanding, Mr. Dillon?

Mr, Duron. I was not aware that it was in the air until I was
informed thot it was—it was overdue as I stated previously.

WHO HAS RESPONSIBILITY FOR COVER STORY ?

Senator TTusrnrey, When something goes wrong on one of these
flights, who is responsible for giving the cover story, the coverup
story, so to spealk ?

Mr, Dinrox. Central Intelligence Agency, but we are also responsi-
ble for agreeing with them that this is a reasonable story, and it is
proper in the circumstances, but they have the responsibility for
executing it.

[Deleted].
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POSSIBILITY OF UN IDENTIFIED AIRCRAFT FLYING OVER THE UNITED S8TATES

Senator Huareurey., Mr. Seeretary, what do you think would hap-
pen in the United States if on our radar screen wo should discover
& plane flying at high altitude over our territory in this age of the
fear of surprise attack?

Secrotary Herrer., I think we would do everything we could do to
identify it right away.

Sonator Husrenrey. Just identify it?

Seerctary Ierrer, Yes, identify it.  We have the wherewithal, I
think to do that.

Senator IHumrnrey, In other words, would we dispateh inter-
ceptors?

Seeretary uwrer, I think so.

Soenator ITumeurey, What would be our view of such a flight ?

Secretary Herrer. Certainly there is very little that such w flight
could ascertain that would worry us much, "Every bit of information
that we have got in this country seems to be available through public
means to anyone who wishes o collect documents, In fact in the
whole Russian espionage system they have collected maps, documents,
and photographs of every part of the United States.

Senator ITuareiey. I realize this, but in light of the danger of
surprise attack this is what I am getting at. This is a little ditforent,
may I sy, from a spy working in the railrond yard or taking photo-
graphs or even a submarine off our coast. even though this gets to be
a little sevious, too. But in the light of danger of surprise attack
by air power, there is some difference, is there not ?

Secretary IHerrer. There is some difference. On the other hand I
think we could identify it very quickly. This is the type of plane
that no one could possibly mistake for a bomber when you get close
cx]mugh to look at it. This is entirely an unarmed gfider type of

ane.

P Senator Humrnrey. Have we ever shot down any Soviet planes
over American territory or over any friendly territory in which we
have bases or alliances?

Secretary Herrer., Not that I am aware of.

Senator Humphrey. Have we ever intercepted any Soviet planes,
in Korea, for example

Secretary Herrer, I think we have been able to identify them from
time to time. Whether we could say that they were deliberate espio-
nage planes or whether they wandered over the line from the border
or not I can't tell you.

Senator Humrurey., Have we ever shot any down ¢

The Cuzatrman. The Senator’s time is up.

Senator Huareurey. Thank you.

The CuarryaN. The Senator from Iowa,

WHAT HAPPENED TO THE U~2 AIRPLANE?

Senator HickENLoOPER. Mr. Secretary, we hear a great many state-
ments about this plane being shot down. What is the best evidence
on that? Was it shot down from its maximum height or did they
consider that it had a flameout at that height and then came down
to a lower altitude or what?
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Secretary Herrer, Senator, there has been a good deal of specu-
lation on that point. I think that we are very skeptical as to whether
it was shot down from a very high altitude. [Deleted.]

Senator Hickenroorer, Well, I think there is considerable differ-
ence in a situation where this plane might have been shot down at
60,000 or 70,000 feet, or whether it was shot down or shot at at 5,000
or 7,000 feet.

Secretary Herrer, We are very skeptical and there are certain
evidences that it was not shot down from that altitude. [Deleted.]

BOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF U-2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator HickenrooreEr. Now, I think it has been quite well-estab-
lished from My, Khrushchev’s statements, that the Russians were
aware for some time in the past that flights of this kind had gone
over their territory.

I say I think it is quite evident that Mr. IChrushchev was aware or
the Russians were aware that flights of this kind had gone on over
their territory. At least they claim they were, Did they ever file a
protest with the U.S. Government.?

Secretary IEerTer. Yes, but not with respect to this type of flight.

WILL THE UNITED STATES BE PERMITTED T0 INTERVIEW THE PILOT?

Senator Hickenvoorer. I understand that we have requested in
Moscow that representatives of this Government be permitted to inter-
view the pilot. Flave we had any replies from those requests?

Secretary HrrTER. As Ket they have not given us that permission.
They have said that “When we have finished interrogating him we
will give consideration to it.”

HEALTH AND PLACE OF IMPRISONMENT OF PILOT

Senator HickeENLoorER. Do we have a reasonable idea as to where
he is being held ¢

Secretary HerTeEr. That I can’t tell you. We have been assured
that he is 1n ﬁood health, and beyond that I can’t tell you whether we
know where he is held or not. Perhaps one of my colleagues knows
that. I don’t think we have any information on that.

DEFENSIVE VALUE TO UNITED STATES OF U—2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Hickenroorer. Would you care to give an opinion on the
value to this country, in our defensive posture, of these flights, this
series of flights which have gone on overli{ussian territory for the last
several years?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, sir, I will give you this opinion. It is a
layman’s opinion rather than an expert’s opinion, but I think they
were of very great value to us.

Senator HrckenLoorer., Isn’t it a fact that these flights have en-
abled us, through the knowledge that we have acquired, to reorient our
defensive posture and our equipment and attitudes from time to time
because we have been able to find out exactly, in many instances, what
the Russians were apparently doing or proposing to do by way of
armaments and weapons and installations?
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Seceretary ewrer. 1 think that they have heen of very greal, value
to us,
BEFECT OF SOVIET INABILIPY 'TO H10P U-2 FLIGITS

Senator Hickunroorer, Mre, Seerelary, have you had any opporiu-
nity to got a rolinblo eross seetion reading on what. other nations of the
world think about the valnerability of Russinn dofenses; in othor
words, on the theory that. perhaps a paret. of Mre, Khreushehov's and the
Kramlin's infurintion about. this matier is an exposition to the world
that they know about thesa flights and that they could not. H“T them
from going over the Russinn territory with any consisteney

Seevetary Henvew. T think that undonbtedly that played a con-
siderablo part in his own state of mind with regnrd to the whole
incident, the feeling of frusteatioh that they had not heen ablo to stop
these during a period of 4 years,

Senator Hierexvoorkr, And that that exposure fo the Russinn
people and (o many other nations of the workd that had heen
propagandized perhaps into thinking that the Russinng were in-
vulnerablo may very well have had somae effeet on the attitudes within
the Kremlin?

Secvetavy Hurreer, It may well have had very rveal effeets,

Senator Thexextoorer. 1 think that is all, Mr, Chairman,

Thank you,

The Ciamemax, The Senator from Oregon.

DOES RUSSEA HAVE A LAND-AIR MISSILE?

Senator Monrse, Mr, Seeretary, do our experts believe that Russia
hasa land-air missilo?

Secvetary Herrer, 1 think you ave having both the Secretary of
Defenze and the Central Intelligenco Ageney that can testify to that
better than I could.

Senator Morse, ITave they ever informed you as to what their
opinion is as to whether or not Russin has a land-air missile?

Seeretary Hewrer, We, I think, assume that they do.

Senator Morse. We assume that they do.  Is it on the basis of that
assumption that they have been asking Congress for some time for
a speedup in our land-air missile program, because of the assumption
that Russia may have one? :

Secretary Herrew. Yes, siv. I am being purposely cautious for
security reasons as you understand.

Senator Morse. I understand,

Secretary Herrer. And possibly in executive session when you have
talked to Mr. Dulles you could get further information on that point.

Senator Morse. And yet, I think from the standpoint of our own
security, it is rather important that we have some information as to
the possibility, on the line of Senator Hickenlooper’s question, the
possibility of whether or not this was shot down by a land-air missile.

Senator Lavscue. A\ little louder, if the Senator please,

[Deleted].

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE OF U-2 OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Morse., [Deleted.] :
What evidence do we have, Mr, Secretary, that Russia knew of
previous American spy plane flights over Russian territory?



EVENTS INCIDENT 1O THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 39

Seeretary Hewrer, Only the statements of Me, Khrushehev and Mr.
Gromyko.

Senntor Monse, When?

Seerelury Hewesno Me, Khenshehey made it o monber of times,
Mo did so in his statements in Paris, He did so, 1 think, in his stale-
ments that. he made 1o the Central Connittee of the Presidinm in
Moscow hefore he left,

Mr, Gromyko made that, siatement. aguin yesterday.,

RIGITTS OVER CAITURE O RPLES

Senator Monse, What international Jaw vights do we have, Mr.
Seeretary, over enpture of Amerienn spies by foreign governments?

Seeretnry Hewrse, I9xeuse me, sir?

Senntor Monse. T orepeat. it Whato infernational law rights do we
have over Ameriean spies that. have heen captured by a foreign
government, ?

Seeretary Hewrer, We have no vights over them that are in con-
travention of domestic law,  We have no international right.,

Senator Morse. 'Fhevefore, Russin is under no international law
requirement. to make this American spy aceessible to American Gov-
ernment oflicials in Moscow,

Seeretavy Herrkr. 1 donot think so,

COMMUNIST PROPAGANDA ON THE U2 OVERFLIGIHTS

Nenator Monse, Mr, Seeretary, do you think the public knowledge
now of these Xmeriean spy plane flights over Russin has played into
the hands of Communist. propaganda with the Russian people themn-
selves by increasing the fear, no matter how unfoundwl we know it
is, the fear of the Russinn people that, onur real objective is to make
war against Russia?

Seeretary Herree, T think that the Russian Government will do
its very hest. (o work along that Jine in its propaganda,

As T said earlier, the evidence we have so far is that the attitude
of the Russian people toward our officials, whether in Moscow or in
our missions in the Soviet bloe countries, has shown no change.

[ Deleted.]

TOSSIBLE GENERAL ASSEMBLY CONSIDERATION OF U-2 INCIDENT

Senator Moxrse. Mr. Secretary, what plans, if any, does the adminis-
tration have of carrying on a peace offensive against Khrushehev
now in a meeting of the General Assembly of the United Nations?

Secretary Herrir., What the situation may be at the time of th»
General Assembly meeting is a matter of speculation, The fact tha,
as I indicated in my prepared statement, he had gone through this
extraordinary press conference in Paris using very extreme language,
but. that he did not make any threats of any specific action: that he
then went to Ilast Berlin and called off a mass meeting there, and
only invited people to a meeting on the following day and then made
a statement with regard to the Berlin situation indieating that there
would be no action taken for some time, may well indicate that his
position on specific things has not changed. However, anly time will
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tall.  What his attitude will bo and what the whole attitude will he
at the time ol the meeting of the Assembly, of course, we can only
speeulate,

It is vory possible that he may want at that time to make a more
concilintory gesture, | Deleted.)

RED CHINA’S INFLUENCE ON SOVIET ACPION

Senantor Morse, To what extent, if any, do you think Red China
has put pressure on the Russian leaders to follow this admmant
course of aetion?

Seeretary Herrer, That again, sir, is 2 matter of speculation,

Senator Morse. You have no evidenco?

Seervetavy Hewrrer. But thoe articles which have appeared in the Red
Star magazine, which is their oflicial publication, have been of such
a highly eritieal nature of the whols policy of so-called peaceful co-
existence, the whole detente policy that Mr. Khrushchev seemed to
have been following, that they may well have had a considerable
influence.

RED CHINA’S MILITARY ACTIVITIES

Senator Morsu, Do you have any reason to believe that we may be
confronted with a diversionary movement. now in Asia by Red China
stepping up nmilitary aciivities in Asin seeking to embarrass us?

Secretary Iewrkr. I think we should be very alert to that.

Senator Morse, Do we havoe any late information as to any progress
Red Ching is making in the development of nuclear weapons, either
on their own or assisted by Russin?

Secretary ITerrer. No, wo do not.

The Cirairman. Senator, your time is up,

The Senator from Vermont.

EFFORTS TO INTERVIEW PILOT

Senator Aixen. Mr. Secretary, one of the missing links in that
chain of information seems to be the circumstances surrounding the
capture of the U-2 or parts of it and the pilot.

Tas every effort been made on our part to see the pilot of the U-2
to interview him?

Secretary Herrer. Yes.

Senator Aigen. Has the United Nations taken steps to interview
him in view of the Russian resolution or demand now being made
in the Security Council ¢

Secretary Herrer. No, not that I know of.

Senator A1xen. Have they any right to?

Secretary Herter., Not that I would know of.

HEALTH OF THE PILOT

Sendtor A1kex. Have you any information at all regarding the
condition of the pilot? o

Secretary Herter. Only what we have been told; he is in good
health. :

Senator A1ken. That was Mr. Khrushchev’s statement ?

Secretary Herter. That was——
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SBOVIET PHOTOGRAPHIC EVIDENCE

Senator Auxen. But Mr. KKhrushchev very evidently, very obvi-
ously, undertook to substantiate his first stutement, with a false photo-
graph, and then, as T understand it, he later showed another fake
photograph to the Russians, claiming that was taken from films de-
veloped from the camera in the U-2 plane.

Secretary ITewrer,. 1 am not quite so sure that second one was a fako.

Senator AikeN., You are not so sure—well, I am not referring to
tho supposed remains of the U-2, but to the photograph of the planes
lined up on the ground and claimed to be photographs of Russian
plunes.

Seeretary ITerrer. Even so, that could have been a genuine develop-
meont of {ilm from the plane.

Senator AIKEN, Al} right,

PREVIOUS RUSSIAN ATTEMPIS 'TO DOWN A U—2 PLANE

Isn't it a fact that the Russians had previously undertaken to se-
curoa U-2, both by interceptors and rockets?

Sceretary Herrer. I can’t tell you about that.

Senator AikeN. Don't you know anything about that, or don’t you
want to tall?

Secretary ITerrer. I can’t tell you about rockets. I think there
probably have been oceasions when they might have tried by inter-
ceptor planes, but they couldn’t reach that altitude.

UNLIKELIHOOD THAT U-2 WAS BROUGIHT DOWN BY A ROCKET

Senator Amxex. Than you have no comment to make about an un-
dertaking to get one by rockets?

Secretary Herrer. No, I think I can point out one bit of evidence
that perhaps will be supplemented when Mr. Dulles testifies here,
and caat is that the picture of what seemed to be the genuine U-2
E]mm had bullet holes in the wings and they are not likely to have

ullet holes from any rocket.

Senator Aiken. No.

Does it seem unlikely to you that the U-2 was brought down with
a one-shot rocket ?

Secretary Herrer. It seems to us very unlikely,

Senator A1ken. Leaving the pilot and much of the equipment intact
as hasbeen claimed ?

Secrotary HerTER. It seems to us very unlikely.

Senator A1xen. Wasn’t the list of equipment which was given out
by Mr. Khrushchev such equipment as would have been naturally
zﬁyried 01?1 any plane that was undertaking to secure information of

1s type

Sec):'gtm-y Herrer. That is right.

Senator A1ken. Of any country?

Secretary Herter. That is correct.

KIRUSHCIIEV’S POSITION ON BERLIN AND EAST GERMANY

Senator Arxen. Didn’t Mr. Khrushchev get himself into a rather
untenable position relative to Berlin and ISast Germany, in fact a
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spot. so untenable that. he found it vivtually neeessiey (o seuttle the
summit conference one way or the othey?

Seeretnry Thavrer, Thaty of course, ngain is a mnlter of specula-
tion, o ?uul committed himselt so strongly on these subjects that
cortainly under cireumstanees in most. free countreies, il the ehiel
exeeutive had committed himselt to that extent it would have been
very hard for him to retreat from that position,  Whether or not. he
has a free enough hand in Soviet. Russin to ho able (o say one thing
and aeCditferently the nest day or not, eouldn't tell you.

Senator Aunex, T view of his previows speeches, wasn't he in a
position where he was in trouble regardless ol what happened at the
st confevenve !

Secrvtary Heweew, Hoe had committed himselE very Gemly,

Senator \kes, Yes,

VIEAWS OF PRANCE AND GRENT BRUPAIN

Arve the United States, Franee, add Great Britain now in necord
with, lets say, the tuture policy as et forth hy the President. the night
betore last £

Seervetary Hewven, They have expressed great satisfaetion with
that,

I beg your pavdon. T haven't seen any comment of (heirs with
vegard (o his statement the night before last. 1 am speaking of his
statement in Parvis,

Senator \keN, Yes,

Seeretary Hewvenr, The position that he took in Paris, they ex-
pressed complete accord with that.

Senator Akes, Have we veeeived any reprimand or any statement
in the nature of a veprimand from Britain or France?

Seeretary Herrer, None whatever,

VR0 AND USRER, SPY SYSTEMS

Senator Amex (continming). Sinee the incidents of recent weeks.

Yesterday, 1 got a letter from a lady who 1 thought. was somewhat.
misinformed, probably not indoetrinated, just misinformed, stating
that it was the U8R, spy system that foreed Russia to maintain a spy
system, Do you go along with that theory? 1t seems to be shared
by a good many people, and seems to be a theory which is quite
generally distributed though not believed in certain quarters.

Seeretary Herrer. 1 would think, sir, that going back into history
that Russia has had a much longer history than the United States and
a spy svstem has been an integral part of Russia’s history. [Deleted.]

Senator AikeN. It is my impression that Russia had an effective
svstem before wa did.

Secretary Herter. Long before.

Senator A1kex. And that we were very apologetic about our lack
of a system up until now,

‘Well, that 15 about all.
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BEFPECT OF UNTLATERAL DISARMAMEN'T

One other thing that, seems to hother some people is this:

Would you agree with anyone who stated that if the United States
would disnrem anilnterally Russin would promptly follow suit?

Seerenry Heerse, Howe disnemed unilaterally 2

Senator Avgen. TF the United States would disnem unilnferally as
an exnmple (o the world, Russia would promptly follow suit.4

Seeretary Huerew, 1 do not,

Senntor Atcen, That isall,

The Ciateyan. Sendor Long?

PLANS IN EVENT OF SOVIET DOWNING OF (-2

Sentor Lona, Mre. Seeretary, | believe that U-2 flights should have
heen made. T have said that publicly and I have stayed by that
stutenment.

I wondered if the Department. and those responsible had not
planned well in advanee just. what we were going to do when the
Soviets ultimately got one of these U-2. Had there been such plang
made?

Seeretarvy Hewren. 1 helieve they had. [ Deleted. |

Semitor Lona, Yes,  But that also involves your responsibility be-
ennse you would bo the one who would give the explanation,

Seeretarvy Hewerenr. That s correet,

ESPIONAGE AND INTERNATIONAL LAW

Senator Loxa, While T don™t see how the great powers can avoid
condueting espionage and military intelligence, as a practical matter
as long as it is conduceted on the other person’s soil, isn’t that a viola-
tion of international law ?

Secretnry Herrer, Al espionage is a violation of sovereignty, all
forms of espionage,

| Deleted. |

However, the Chicago Convention, which is the principal conven-
tion dealing with this, has never been accepted by the Russians nor
have they accepted any bilateral agreement with regard to airspace
over their country.

[ Deleted. |

DEVICES CARRIED BY PILOT

Senator Lona. Arve these statements about this poison needle and
the self-destruction devices correct ?

Secrvetary Herrer., I think so, but there, again, I think that the
testimony of Mr. Dulles would be more accurate than anything I
could give,

[ Deleted.]

EFFECTIVENESS OF U.S. INTELLIGENCE-GATHERING

Senator Lona. Might I ask this question, also: What is your im-
pression of the present condition of our intelligence behind the Iron
56412--60—4
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Curtain? Do you believe that. we have adequato information, or do
you bolieve it is far from adequate as to what we feel we need to know
about a potential opponent ?

Seerotavy Huwrsr,. Well, I think T can answer that in only one way.
T think that wo arve deing the best. we ean to secure such information
as wo consider vital,  No intelligenco servico is over considered por-
fect. No intelligonce servico is ever considered completoly adequaide.

I think we are doing, as I snid in conneetion with this particular
operation 1 folt wa wers doing, & prudent and eflicient. job.

ADMISSION OF ESPIONAGE FLIGILT

Senator Loxa, Well, I beliove T had some information about these
U-2 flights prior to this time, not as & member of this commilteo,
but. this is informution I have run across from time to time as a
Senator of the United States. 1 did not. seek to be informed oflicially
and did not want to know directly any more than the hearsny infor-
mation 1 had on the subject.

But the thought that occurs to me is this: Would it not be the
original plan that this Nation would not under any circumstances
admit. that it was sending those planes behind the Iron Curtain in the
event, that one of those planes was captured ¢

Secretary Henrrer. I'think that, as Mr. Dillon has explained, a cover
story was prepared for that contingency. 1 think the actual circum-
stances turnm} out. to be rather ditfferent from anything that had been
anticipated in the preparatory work that had been done.

Senator Lona, Woll, the previous planning had been that we would
not. admit it.; is that correct.?

Secretary Herrer., Yes,

Senator Lona. Now, of course, the Russians are in no position to
put us on trial. They won’t go before the World Court on anything
with us, will they?

Secretary Hurrer. They have not.

Senator Lova. As a matter of fact, have we not previously tried
t(; got athmn before the World Court on the shooting down of our

anes
P Secretary Herter. We have tried to get Bulgaria before the World
Court and have offered to take one of the cases, the border cases, to
court, and they have refused.

Senator Loxa. And they have declined ?

Secretary Herrer, They have declined.

Senator Loxa. In the absence of any admission on the part of this
Government, how could they have possibly placed us in o position to
force us to admit that that plane was deliberately sent there?

Secretary Herrer, Well, the other cases were all borderline cases
of incursions over the edge of the border. This particular case, the
plane was shot down in the very center of Russia, some 2,000
kilometers inside of Russia.

Senator Loxae. But the point I have in mind, Mr, Scecrotary, is that
I don’t see how they can force you to take the fifth amendment be-
cause they wouldn't get you before a tribunal to do it because they
wouldn’t go before it themselves. And I don’t see how they could
have forced you to concedo that that was an authorized mission un-
less somebody, the President or you, elected to make that admission.
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BRINGING INNTANCES OF ESPIONAGE BEFORE THE UNITED NATIONS

But do you see any way tha the Soviets conld have compelled you
to admit that that. osyi(mugu mission was o caleulnted plan and de-
liberately undortaken ?

Seevetary Hewrer. Noy sivy the alternative for us was {o continue
donying any responsibility whatsoever for it, ‘They wonld undoubt-
edly as they sni(ll they wonld do, take it before the United Nations,
submit, all the evidence (o the United Nations, and we would have dug
ourselves in deeper and deeper in a deninl of something which was
porfectly self-evident. ‘That was the choico that we were faced with,

Senantor Lona, Well, o denial of espionage; but you also would have
considerable indieation that they would be denying ospionui,;o on their
part. that you are in position to fairly well prove, couI(Nyou not?
Could you not. try your espionnge cases before the United Nations as
woll as they could ?

Seerotary Herrer, Wo ean. But espionage eases wo try before our
own courls,

Sonator Loxa. Yes, but if they wanted fo try this case before tho
United Nations, couldn’t you just as well have msisted on trying the
cases of thoir espionnge in the United Nations simultaneously ?

Seeretary Herrer,  Yes, wo could, but in that. particular case the
isstio was a rather different one.

EFFECT O PLEADING GUILTY OF ESPIONAGE

Sentor Loxa, THere is the thought that occurs to me, Under the
Russinn system if the leader admits he made o mistake he has to
resign more or less as Malenkov did or more or less throw himself
on the mercy of the party. But when we Flead guilty to espionage
in this case, how can we plead guilty on the one hand and contend
that there is no punishment in order when we plead guilty to violating
international law ?

Secrotary ITerrer. Wo have said we admitted it entirely on the
ground that for ourselves and for the free world it was essential for
us to get information with regard to dangers of surprise attack or
aggression,

enator I.ong. The thought that occurs to me is that; and I am not
sure that wo are in a position to be completely self-righteous ahout
passing judgment. on ourselves in our own case; that is what your
own people have said, that we judge our own case and do not. let. the
World Court decide these mattors. T, for one, have been holding
back because I am not sure we have a fair court. But how do you
throw yourselves on the mercy of the Court and deny the Court the
right more or less to judge what the penalty should be?

%ccrot.m'y Herrer, Senator, the cases to which you are referring,
of which there have been quite a number, have all been border cases
whero there was no espionage involved, where it was a question of a
border patrol or weather patrol or something of that kind where the
issue was as to whether or not there was an intentional overflight or
not which is entirely different from this particular case.

Senator Lowna. Yes, but the thought that occurs to me is that we
didn’t have to plead guilty to anything. I know lawyers ropre-
sent. guilty clients. Now, as with the lawyer, when you plead guilty,
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aren’t you move or less in a position that you do lave either to apolo-
wize or (ake corrective netion, or ever under aur system of law more
or less offer to (ake your punishment if you are going (o plead guilty ?

Secvetary Herree, As you may reeall the President had stated that
ho haed taken corvectiva action, Heo Las characterized this as a re
grottable incident. When o demand was made on him, these other
demands on hin T don't. think you, siv, or anyone elxe could have
aecepted those demands,

Nenator Loxa, Udon’c vequive my part of your examination be made
a part of the publie record, Me, Seevetary. 1 don’t insist on it all,
but T don’t very well sea how we ean (ake the attitude that. we are
going (o plead guilty in the matter and then (ake the attitude that
no apology is forthcoming,

Seeretary Theeeer, 1 think thisy sivy the civenmstanees which re-
quired our admission are (ha most. important thing of all.

Senator Gore, Would you restate that, please, sir?

Seevetary Huwver, That the eivenmstances which required our tak-
ing this action of espionage, namely the tremendous importance (o
the whole free world and {o ourselves of having some knowledge as
to whether a sudden surprise attack is going to hit us or what. form
of aggression was likely to be perpeteated, justified the netion,

Senator Loxe, [ Deleted,] My time is up.,

The Ciiarmax, The Senator from IKansas,

INFLUENCE O RHRUSHCIIEY ACTIONS ON FUTURE US, INTELLIGENCE-
GATHERING ACTIVITLES

Senator Caresox. Mr, Seeretavy, T want {o ask questions on {wo
items that T have seleeted from the mail I have veceived on the summit
conference.

Tha first is that people that write me are concerned beeanse of the
fact that Mr, Khrushehev hurled such epithets at us, our President
and the Nation, as they have-—a coward, & bandit, and aggressor,

Will that influence our course of action in getting information that
is necessary for our secuvity ? '

Secrvetary Merrer, T think we will do whatever we feel is essential
for our security. T am not saying in that respect that we are going
to deliberately utilize the U-2 again, I have never said that,

Senator Caresox, That is one of the questions that concerns our
people at the present time. :

I was wondering—can we assure the .\merican people that despite
all this tirade, there will be no slackening in our efforts to secure, by
any measures or meang, the information that is necessary for the
security of this Nation?

Secretary Herter. I think both the President—I think the Presi-
dent in particular, has made that very clear.

QUESTION OF MAINTAINING THE STATUS QUO IN BERLIN

Senator Carrsox. I have selected from the mail this question:
Can Mr. Khrushchev be counted on to keep his word on maintaining-
the status quo in Berlin until another summit meeting?
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Secretary Hewreer, ‘Toat is one, siv, that T eannot answer.

Senator Canesoxs, That is one of the quesiions that. we are getting.

Now, we are treaty-bound to protect. Berlin,  IFurthermore, we have
in recent. »onths assured West Berlin that. we will never forsako
them.  Mr. Khrushehey has said plainly that, he would meet. foree
with force in Berlin,

Can the Ameriean people he assured that the United States has
the full cooperation of owr allies in maintaining onr position on the
Berlin status/?

Seeretary Hexrer, Senator, one of the most. impressive things that,
I have ever seen was the meeting of NATO that took place after the
aborted, so-called summit. conference, 1 have never seen such una-
nimity, sieh firmness, such determination ns exhibited af. that meeting,

senator Cantson, That statement should be at least encournging
to those of us who are concerned about, the situation.

CONTINUED EFFORTS TOWARD DISARMAMENT AND SUSPENSBION OF
NUCLEAR TESTS

Another thing that I have picked from my mail is this matter that
the peopleare concerned ahout.,

Will the United States continue to press for controlled disarma-
ment. and nuelear test. suspension

Seeretary Hewrer, Yes, sir. T have indicated in my prepared
statement that. we will continue to do this.

As you know, however, the conditions that we have always adhered
to is that the controls have got to be controls that one can rely upon,
In other words, relinble controls on both sides.

I think that with the very real danger that exists in the world
today of accidental events that may lead to a nuclear war, that we
should pursue the course of doing whatever we can to minimize that
danger, within the bonnds that we have stated; namely, that of re-
ciproceal and effective control.

Senator CarrsoN, Mr. Secretary, do you feel that we are making
any progress on these nuclear test suspensions at the Geneva Cenfer-
ence and other places?

Secretary Ilerrer. During the last few weeks, really the last few
days, they have been meeting in Geneva examining a coordinated
program of research for improving instrumentation so that small
shots can be detected underground.

Those conferences have moved, I think, pretty satisfactorily. They
are halted at this moment, awaiting some instructions from Moscow.

In the next few days we should know better whether or not there
has been any radical change of position on the part of the Russians
or not. There is some chance of reaching agreement. It will be a
limited agreement at best, but that again depends on full agreement
with regard to the control mechanisms,

As you know, those talks have been going for a long time. Until
they are shown to be hopeless, I think we will continue with them.

Ssenatm' Carrson, That is all, Mr. Chairman.

The Ciraryan. The Senator from Tennessee,
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TIIRFYE CRUOCIAL QUESTIONS

Senator Gore. Mr. Secretary, it seems to me that three crucial
questions here are theso:

One. Was there a failure in policy ¢

Two. Who,if anyone, was in charge?

Three. Was there a lack of coordination and a breakdown in ad-
ministrative vrocedure?

Senator W ey, A little louder, please.

Senator G re. Would you like me to repeat all of them?

I said that there were three questions, it seemed to me, three crucial
questions,

One, was there a failure of policy ¢

‘T'wo, who, if anyone, was in charge?

Three, was there n lack of coordination and breakdown in adininis-
trative procedure?

I should like to explore these threo questions in inverse order.

RECEIPT OF IFIRST INIFORMATION THAT U—-2 PLANE WAS DOWN IN RUSSIA

When did the Department first receive information that the U-2
ﬂi{ht. was down in Russia?

My, Dirron. Senator, since I was Acting Secretary at that time, I
think it is proper for me to answer that.

That information was received in the Department during the day,
on Sunday, the st of May, at about the middle of the day, our time.

Senator Gore. What was the nature o that information?

Mr. DinroN. The nature of the information as conveyed to me,
which had been received in the Department through the Central Intel-
ligence Agency, was that this plane was overdue at its destination,
and that the time beyond which its fuel supply would carry it had run
out; and so, therefore, it was presumed down somewhere.

Senator Gore. The question I ask is, When did you first have some
notice, some information, some hint that the plane was actually dowa
in Russian territory? I was not referring to your presumption that
because of its flight pattern and the amount of fuel that it must
be down,

When did you actually receive some intelligence, some hint, that the
Soviets had the plane?

Mr. Dinron. That the Soviets had the plane—I think the first in-
formation we received on that was at the time Mr. Khrushchev made
his statement on Thursday morning before the—I think it was the
Supreme Soviet—on the 5& day of May.

Senator Gore. Are you sure you received no hint, no information,
no report from either your Embassy in Russia or the Central Intelli-
gence Agency that the plane might actually be down in Russia?

Mr. DiLrox. Since most of the flight pattern of the plane, its mis-
sion, was to spend most of its time over the Soviet Union, it was our
assumption, right from the first word, that when the plane did not
return that it was most likely that it was down in the Soviet Union.
But we did not receive any specific information that it was down
in the Soviet Union, that the Russians had either the plane, the pilot,
or any parts of it, until Mr. Khrushchev made the statement on
Thursday morning.
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RECEIPT OF IFIRST INFORMATION TIHAT PILOT HAD BEEN CAPTURED

Senator Gore. When did you first receive some hint, some informa-
tion, some indication that tKe Soviets might have the pilot. alive?

Mvr. Dinron, The first information we received on that was received
in the Department in the afternoon of the 5th day of May, after we
had put out our first statements,

This was in the form of a report from our Embassy in Moscow
saying that various other foreign diplomats had heard at cocktail
parties or receptions from various Soviet officials that this plane was
down and at one time, to one of these foreign diplomats, a Soviet
oflicial snid that they had the pilot and that report reached us,

We didn’t know whether it was accurate or not, but it ;]gave us
pause. That renched us the afternoon of Thursday, and I think it was
on Friday that we identified the fact that a photograph of the wreck-
ago as put out by the Soviets was a fraud and so then at that time
wo assumed, we acted on the assumption from then on, that they
p;'obub]y had the pilot and that they possibly had a good deal of the

ane.

P Senator Gore. A member of your Department informed me in the
offices of the committee on Friday morning of the 6th that the De-
partment did, in fact, have information indicating that the Soviets
might have this pilot alive.

Mr. Ditron. That was probably reporting the information which
I said was received the afternoon of the 5th regarding that.

BASIS FOR STATEMENT OF STATE DEPARTMENT’S NEWS DIRECTOR
LINCOLN WHITE

Senator Gore. Yes. Now you say that you knew of the flight, you
knew of the flight pattern, and you assumed that the plane was down
in Russia.

You say now that on the 5th you received this information that
the pilot was probably alive and yet, on the afternoon of the 6th
t%ﬁs r. Lincoln White, official spokesman for the Department, said
this:

There was absolutely no—N-O, no deliberate attempt to violate Soviet air-
space. There has never beeu.

Did you authorize that statement.?

Mr. Diron. No, not specifically. Mr. White was not one of those
in the Department of State that had any knowledge of these
operations.

'The statement which we authorized the day before, which is in the
record, was not that categoric. But I don’t think that there was
any reason why he shouldn’t have made such a statement. He drew
that conclusion from the NASA statement of the day before and
when he was asked questions—he didn’t volunteer this statement.
He was being questioned apparently in a press conference and he
made that statement.

We did not authorize a statement, specifically. He did not ask
us for it, but he thought he was carrying out the NASA story.
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QUESTION O COORDINATION REGARDING MR, WIHITE'S SEATEMENT

Senator Gonre, Is Mr. White authorized to speak to the U.S. press
on behialf of the Department of State?

Mr. Dinos, Yes, heis,

Senator Gorek. .Are you now saying that he was making statements
about this, but.that he was not. informed on the subjeet ?

Mr, Dinton. 1 am stating that he was not- informed as to the facts
of this intelligence operation any more than the people who made
tho press statements for NASNA were informed of the facts of it

Senator Gore. Do you eall that responsible and coordinated per-
formance?

Mr, Diox, Wo are getting at this stage, Senator, into another
question, the key question of intelligence.  When you have something
as important and seeret as this, it is important. to limit the knowledgo
to the minimum nwuber of people and (his was strietly limited
thronghout. the Government. and we did limit it in the State Depart-
ment,

We did not think it was proper to inform our press people,  There
was a special procedure for people who were informed of this, and
the press people were not so informed.

Senator Gore, Mr, Seeretary, 1 am not questioning you about the
initial cover statement issue you had in Turkey. T am asking you
about an oflicial falsehood on May 6, after you say the Department
knew of the flight. pattern, assumed the plane was down, a whole day
after you veceived information that the pilot. was probably alive and
in the afternoon of the day after even I had been informed. T ask
you again if you think this is an example of the coordination which
youearlier told us the Department had.

My, Dinox, Senator, 1 will answer that. T think it took a major
affort. which was reached the following day that we were going to
abandon our cover story and tell the truth. That decision could not
ba reached rapidly and quickly. It was reached after long svssions
with the Seeretary on Saturday and until that was reached, we saw
no reason to inform our press officer of anything but the cover story
which is what we were standing by up until that time,

BASIS FOR MR, WHITE'S STATEMENT

The Crramryan. Senator, may I interrupt? I didn’t understand
why Mr. White wasn't required to clear his statement at this time
with you.

Mr. Dirox. I am glad to answer that. Mr. White sees the press
every day. and he does not know in advance necessarily the detailed
-questions that he may be asked.

If a question comes that he thinks he does not know the answer to,
he does clear it with us.

Now, tho day before, when we put out our statement, it was given to
him and he followed exactly what he had been told. He did not make
any statement. that was quite as categoric as this statement he made
the following day.

]Tlm Cnamryay. Why didn’t he stand on the one that had been
cleared?
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Mr, Dinron, This was just an answer to a question.  Why he did it,
he thought he was telling the trath, I think he acted perfectly all
right. o did not think that this was a new question. He thought
ho was following the cover story, which he was.  So he made this
statement. It wasn't a statement ; it. was in answer (o a question. I
want {o emphasize that.

The Cnamman. 1t was a very categorical statement. that went. far
beyond the other statement.  That is what hegins to complieate your
situation, doesn’t it ?

Mr. Dinron. Possibly to some extent, yes.

The Ciamyax. The Senator from Ohio.

IMPORTANCE O INTELLIGENCE-GATHERING ACTIVITIES

Senator Lavsens, First. of all, T want to pursue this question.
Shall we abandon or modify our efforts of guthering intojligencc,
covering tho military activities of potential aggressors?

First, I ask Mr. Herter this question. At any time during the ap-
pearance of Mr. Dulles, the Central Intelligence Agency Director,
befora this committee, do you know of him at any time being chal-
lenged or asked about how he acquired intelligence ?

Secretary Hereer, That 1 eannot answer at firsthand. My impres-
sion is that there was a very small group in the Senate with whom he
conferred. Ie has got this responsibility under the law, which was
written by the Congress.

Senator Lauvscur. Youwhave answered my question.  Have you ever
heard of any member of this committee or any member of the (Yon-
gress asking the Central Intelligence Agency to discontinue acquiring
itelligence or to modify its methods?

Secretary Hurrer. No, I do not.

May I qualify that to this extent? I think that Senator Mansfield
had int.m({uced a measure which would provide for a diflerent method
of coordinating with the Congress. That is the only thing I do
know of,

Senator Lauscnr. Would it be right to assume that at this very
moment, there is great probability that there are Soviet intelligence
agents operating in our country ?

Secretary Herrer. 1 would assume so.

Senator Lauscie. Do you know of any member of our Defense De-
partment in a responsible position, or any person in any government
who is responsible for security, taking the position that intelligence
of a potential enemy’s conduct. is not essential for the proper develop-
ment of a nation’s own defense ?

Secretary Herrer. I do not.

Senator Lauscie. Do I understand that you subseribe to the state-
ment made by the President that for the protection of the security
of our country it is essential that intelligence of potential enemies’
conduct be acquired ?

Secretary IerteR. I do,

Senator Lauscie. Now then, this question: Do you feel that it
would be wise for our Government in the face of the discussions about
peace and disarmament and banning of nuclear tests to discontinue
our intelligence activities?
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Secretary Herrer. T do not.

Senator Lauscur. Would it bo a danger to our country if at this
moment. while we are discussing disnrmament and banning of nuclear
tests wo scuttle the Central Intelligence Ageney ¢

Seeretary Herrer, I eortainly would not advoento anything of the
kind.

Senator Lauvsens, What is it historieally concorning mon in a ve-
sponsible position for the protection of a country, beginning from the
earliest. days of recorded {mttlos about. the use of scouts und intelli-
geneo ngents, so as to properly guide o country in what it ought to do?

Seeretary Herren. llt, is n custom, sir, that has grown up, I imagine,
evorsinee warfare began,

KHRUSHCHEV'S DECISION NOT TO PARTICIPATE IN SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senator Tausene, Now then, the second question: Ts it your con-
sidored opinion that when Khrushehov came to Paris he had alveady
decided not to participato in the summit conferencoe?

Seeretary Herrer, That is our best judgmont.

Senator Lauvscne. And that judgment is formulated notf. upon
what he has said but what he has done; is that correct

Seeretary Herrew. 1t is o combination of both. But it is mostly
in what he has snid, and the assumption is that he had received his
orders before ho went to Paris,

Senator Lauvscue, Is it a fact that beginning in Decembor 1959
and going down into April, he has made statements indieating that
the probability was that there would never be a conforence?

Seeretary Hewver, Not the probability that there would never be
a conforenco but that if & conforence were held it would not turn out
to his satisfaction,

KHRUSHCHEV'S MEETINGS WEPII DE GAULLE AND MACMILLAN

Senator Lavscur., He was scheduled to arrive in Paris on Sunday,
May 15 is that correct.?

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

Senator Lavuscnr., But instead of coming there on Sunday, May
15, he came there on Saturday, May 14,

Secretary Herter. That is right.

Senator Lauvscrie. And on §unda.y morning he, with Malinovsky,
at the early hour of 11 o’clock already had made an appointment to
see de Gaulle.

Secretary Herrer, That is correct.

Senator Lauscue. And at that meeting this vigorous statement
about what they expected of Eisenhower 1f Khrushchev were to at-
tend the conference was read.

Secretary HErTER., Yes; that was not only read but a copy of it was
given to General de Gaulle.

Senator LauvscHe. Why do you think that he came there before his
scheduled visit of Sunday and made it Saturday ?

Secretary HerTEr. Why he came to Paris at all is the real question.
That is a question that General de Gaulle asked him at the time of
the one meeting when the four were present and to which the answer
was completely unsatisfactory.
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Senator Lausone. So that at 11 o’clock in the morning he met with
do Gaulle and lnid down these four demands upon Eisenhower.

Secretary IHereer. That is vight.

Senator Lauscie, Then at the hour of 4:30 in the afternoon he went
to Macmillan and to Macmillan repeated thosa demands, that, unless
they were met he would not. attend the conference,

Secretary IHerrenr. 'That is vight,

Sonator Lauscus, Did anything happen between hig arvival on
Saturday, his action nt L1 o’clock in the morning on Sunday, and 4:30
on Sunday, that would have caused him to change his mind from
what ho was thinking when he left. Moscow ?

Secrotary Herrer, Not o thing.

PREMIER KIRUSHCIIEV'S DEMANDS

Senator Lavsene, Now then, Mr. Secretary, getting down to these
demands that. he made; that is, he demanded that isenhower de-
nounce the overflights; is that correct; and two, that he apologize to
the Soviet. Union.

Secretary Hewrse, Yes,

Senator Lauscir. And three, that he punish those directly respon-
sible,

Secretary Tewrer, Yes.

Senator Lavscue. And four, that Eisenhower promise not to repeat
theso flights.

Scerefary Herrer, Yes, may T add there, siv, that the demand for
the apology was added; it was not, in the original document. It was
one that was ndded by him while he was in Paris as a fourth condition.

Sonator Lavscme. Can wo assume that Khrushchev honestly ex-
pected that these demands that he made upon Eisenhower would be
complied with ?

Secretary Herrer, He could not have possibly.

Senator Lavscne. That is additional proof confirming the assump-
tion that when he left. Moscow he never intended to participate in the
conforence,

Secretary IHerrer. You arve quite right, sir.

WHY DID KHRUSIHHCHEY GO TO TARIS?

Senator Lauvscie. Why conldn’t he have issued this statement whilo
lio was in Moscow, and why did he go to Paris instead of making the
stantement in Moscow ?

Secretary ITenrer. There it is a matter of speculation but I think
that the desire to dramatize himself, the fact that there wonld be 3,000
correspondents in Paris, that he would have a larger andience in that
place, led him to take this particular route,

SOVIET MISDEEDS

Senator Lavscur. Was anything said anywhere about his train of
misdeeds, of the Communist Reds’, beginning from the very day that
they were established as a country, in breaking treaties, in mass mur-
dering of people, including our American boys
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Secretary ITewrer, ‘That was not in the brief meeting of the four.
The only statements that were made by the President. were the state-
ments which were publicized, plus another statement with regard to
the U-2 not being ngain used for this purpose.  That. connitment.
of the President. could Inst, of course, only so long as he was President.,

Senator Lavscue. You have seen ecertnin questions about which
T suid 1 would like to get information. To the extent that it ean he
done, T would like answers to those questions prepured and put into the
record.  One, broken treaties. T'wo, prrticipation-—not. of Red Russin
but. Red communism——in the Red Chinese-Soviet. provoeation of
trouble throughout. the world, their activities in the Katyn Forest, in
Quemoy and Matsu, in South Kovea where thousands of our Ameri-
can boys were killed, in Red Hungary, Tast. Germany, and in Poland
when the liberty fighters rose to procure liberty for themselves,

Secretary Hewrer, Senator, T saw those questions as they arve in-
corporated in the Clongressional Record and we will be prepared to
answer them,

('The questions and answers referred to above appear in appendix 2,

Senator Lavscue, T want to say 1T am not prepared to put. a halo
of honesty and holiness on Khrushehev and one 0} seorn and disgrace
upon my country, not in this hearving or any other place. That is all
T have to say.

The Cianyran. Mre, Seeretary, the time is a quarter to 1. T think
it would be a proper time to adjourn until 2:30

SELI-PRESERVATION

Senntor WiLky., May T ask one question, Mr, Chairman?

The Ciramwrax. All right, the Senator from Wisconsin is recog-
nized for a question.

Senator Wirky, We say that the first law of human nature is the
law of self-preservation. You have heavd that said, have you not?

Seeretarvy TTerrir, Yes, sir.

Senator Wiey, That applies to nations as well as individuals:
does it not.?

Seevetary TTerren. Tt does,

Senator Wirky. And in wartime we speak of what we have ealled
spying heve; it is called spying, but in peacetime it is espionage:
isitnot?

Seevetary TTerrer. Yes, sir.

Senator Wirey. But there arve different rules that apply, too, are
there not.?  Tn wartime then it generally means the penalty is death.
Tn peaceful times like we have now, {he penalty depends entirvely
more or less unon the court administering it ¢ is that vight?

Secretary Hunrer, Yes,

Senator Wirey. Ts it generally conceded that the Kremlin has heen
engaging in espionage not only in onr own country but in virtually
all the countries on enrth and is still doing it? That is correet, is
it not.?

Seeretary TTerrven. That iscorrect,

Senator Wirky. As demonstrated by Ambassador Lodge in the
United Nations the other day, they even tried to pull a stunt on our
Fmbassy in Russin: did you see that ?

Secretary ITerrer. Yes, sir. [Deleted].
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Senator Wy, Just this one thing. Now, then, if the first law of
human nature is the law of self-preservation, then the hest. means
that we can use to preserve the freedom of Ameriea, the CIA has
heen using when it has been using the overflight, the U-£2 means; is
that right?

Secretary Hewrer, Yes, sir,

Senator Winky., Thank you,

The Cnamaan, Thank you very much, Mr, Secretary, We will
return here at 2:30,

Secretary Herrenr, 2:30,

The Coamyan, Yes, siv, T may say to the committee that the
Secretary has very kindly agreed to go on today and, if the ques-
tioning is not. completed, to come back in the morning. We will
determine that at the end of today’s session,

I hope we ean make progress,

(Whercupon, at 12:45 pan the hearing was recessed, to reconvene
at 2:30 pan, of the same duy.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

Present.: Senators Fulbright, ITnmphrey, Mansfield, Gore, Lausche,
Wiley, Ilickenlooper, Aiken, Carlson and Williams,

The Cnamraan. The committee will come to order,

My, Seeretary, there are one or two statements in your own state-
ment. I would like to have developed a bit for clarvification,

COURSE FOLLOWED BY PREMIER KHRUSHCHEY

On page 12, at the bottom of the page of the mimeographed state-
ment you say as follows:
Proponents within the Communist bloe of an aggressive course must not be
encouraged by slgns of wenkness on our part. DProponents of a peaceful course

should be encouraged by our readiness to got on with outstanding international
business in n sober and rational manner,

In which of these groups do you inelude My, Khrushehev?

STATEMENT OF HON. CHRISITIAN A. HERTER, SECRETARY OF
STATE—Resumed

Secrvetary Herrer, That I think would be very diflienlt to answer
categorieally.

There have been a good many estimates made as to whether or not
he really means some of the things that he has said with regard to
peaceful coexistence, with regard to disarmament and other matters.
There is another group that feels that this is a front for the snme
power line that Stalin used to take.

T don't. think it is possible yet to answer that eategovically.

I think that events are likely to show which of those groups he
belongs to,

The Ciaryan, Who did you have in mind when you wrote that?
Maybe you can’t categorvieally for all time designate him, but what
has been your view and the view of the Department. as to which group
he belongs in? I think that is rather important as to how we treat
him, lIs it in our interest to discourage him? If he were a member
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of the aggressive course group, T suppose it. would be. If he is o
moember of the group who nre proponents of the peaceful course, then
it. would be to our advantage to encourage or be cooperative within
limits. T wondered why you put. that in there if you didn’t have
some idea of who does belong to these groups or how they are
constituted.

Secretary ITewrer, What T was trying to deseribe here was in effect:
o middle course, Insofar as Mr. IChrushehev is concorned, T think
those who have dealt. with him divectly were convineed that he was
gonuinely in favor of a disarmament. program, that he genuinely
wanted, for the sake of developing the economy of Russia, a reduction
both in expense from a monetary point of view and from a human
point of view, of the great burden of armaments,

Certainly there I would put him in the second category. ITis more
recent. behavior, however, has shaken my belief that this is entirely
genuine, and, as I say, I think that only the events of the next few
months and possibly even of the next few years can give a final
answer to what you have asked.

IDENTIFICATION WITI TRENDS IN TIHE SOVIET UNTON

The Cuamraan. Can you identify any other members or any people
you had in mind in citing these groups?

Secrotary Herrer. No. I would rather have those who are real
Russian experts do that kind of identification, those who are familiar
with the individuals, more familiar than T am.

There is no question but what there aro still

The Ciamman., Would you care to have Mr, Bohlen comment on
this question ?

Secretary Herrer. I would be very glad to have him, if you wish
to.

The Cramaan. It would be very good to have him comment. He
is recognized, is he not, as one of our best Russian experts?

Would you care to comment on this, Mr. Bohlen?

Mr. BourLeN, Mr. Chairman, my experience has been that it is not
always possible to identify a trend in the Soviet Union with individ-
uals. As the Secretary said earlier we literally know nothing of what
goes on in the hierarchy. My impression of the statement the Secre-
tary made is that it is possible to detect trends. = You cannot identify

eople with them. My experience with the Soviet officials is that they

ollow whatever the agreed line is, whether it is hard or whether it is
soft, with great consistency, and they just do not reveal sufficiently to
any foreigner what their inner thoughts are to identify one individual
with one trend or another. But I think the indications are that both
trends exist.

COURSE FOLLOWED BY PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV

The Cuamryan, Well, don’t you think we know more about Mr.
Khrushchev than any other Soviet leader? More of us have seen him.
He has been around more than any other. Don’t you have any view
as to which of these groups Mr, Khrushchev would be identified with ¢-

Mr. Bouren. Well, my acquaintanceship with Mr. Khrushchev was'
when I was in there as Ambassador when he was not quite as promi--
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nent s he is now. 1 would merely say that he, along with all of them
are oxcellent. actors [deleted | and are able to maintain whatever the
common line is in their dealings with foreigners. 1 think also thero
is o question of time. I think, as the events of DParis showed, that
there have been certain shifts of emphasis inside the Soviel, Union
which were manifested in part by what they did in Pavis,

Therefore, it is concuivnﬂ»le that Mr, Khrushehev counld have been
entirely serious in the line he was pursuing prior to Paris, and he
equally serious in pursuing one dinmetrically opposite to it.

The Cramyan. If 1 may interpolate, do you mean that prior to
the U-2 incident Mr. Khrushchev may have been identified with the
second group ; that is, proponents of a peaceful course?

Mr. Bournen. 1 would not segregate out the U-2 incident alone,
Mr. Chairman. I think, as outlined in the Secretary’s statement,
there seemed to us to be three elements involved in this matter, and
I think it is diflicult, to assess the value of each. But, certainly, I
would say his doubt as to the success from his point of view of the
summit. conference, 1hat some of the views voiced by the Chinese
Communists had probably supporters within the Soviet hierarchy,
and the U-2 inci({cnt together brought about this change,

I have no difliculty——

IDENTIFICATION WITH TRENDS IN THE SOVIET UNION

The Criamyan. I didn’t wish to make you review all that was
said there. I was merely trying to find the inner meaning of this
particular statement. I thought that I could elicit some clarifica-
tion since many of us don’t know about these proponents of these
courses or about any of these groups of people.

Mr. Bouren. The answer, Mr. Chairman, 1s that I think we don’t
know. That you cannot, tell whether X, Y, or Z in the Soviet hierar-
chy, what particular line he advocates, because he never reveals any
difference, even a shade of difference publicly, with what is the
agreed line. It is quite impossible, I believe, for anybody to tell who
within the leading group stands for one trend or the other. You
can only detect from external evidence that there appear to be cer-
tain divergent trends and the individuals may not remain the same.

WAS THERE A DECISION NOT TO SUSPEND FLIGHTS AS SUMMIT MEETING
APPROACIIED?

The Cuamryan. Thank you very much. One other statement, Mr.
Secretary, on page 5, point 2:

The decision not to suspend this program of flights, as the summit meeting
approached, was a sound decision.

Can you tell us who made that decision, and when, and of the
circumstances ?

Secretary HerTer, That is a decision that I think has been earried
over the whole 4-year period. Here, sir, we get into certain technical
aspects of when these flights would properly be conducted and could
not be conducted, but I think the technical reasons had better be kept
in executive session,

The finding of a good time for a flight of this kind in relation to
current events is almost impossible if you had known in advance that
it is going to fail,
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The real issue was how urgent. was the information and is there
any one time that is more favorable than another?  Ifroin atectimienl
oint of view the time was more favorable at that time than another,
“‘rnm a diplomatie point. of view, it seemed (o me that with the
President scheduled to go to Russin later, there would have heen the
sumo difliculty: when Khrashehey was hore there was the same difli-
culty, in effect. one wonld vun into one time after another where
diplomatically it would have been o bad time,

The Ciamsan, 1 don't. think I make myself elear. T understood
from your previous statement. and others that- the program was agreed
upon, and it was running along without. being suspended.  But this
statement seems to leave the impliention that a speeilie decision was
taken not to suspend them in view of the conference appronching.

Was such a deeision taken?

Seervetary Hewrer, That Tean't tell you. T was not. o party to that.

The Cianearan. Well, this says:

e decision not to suspend this program of flights, as the summit wmeeting
approached, was a sound declsion.

Was there any decision taker not to suspend it ?

Seeretary Theerer, 1 know that when the matter came before me,
which was some time previous from the point of view of the continua-
tion of the program, when conditions wereapproprinte, T did not. inter-
pose uny objection to it beenuse of any diplomatic event. that. was com-
ing up,

The Ciraraan. Is it faiv to say then that no specifie decision not.
to suspend them was taken? It was allowed to go along without any
decision being taken to suspend them.

Seeretary ITerrer. I think that is correet.

The Cramaran. Therefore, the other way arvound is that no positive
decision was taken not. to suspend them; is that corveet 2

Secretary Hewrer, That is right.,

The Cuiamyax. That statement, T think, needs clavification, I
think, to me, it means that at some point prior to May 1 a specific
decision was taken not to suspend them in view of the summit, Isn't
that a legitimate interpretation of that sentence?

Secretary Ierter. T think that is correet. May I read what the
President snid on that subject.? ITesaid:

As to the timing, the question was really whether to halt the program and thus
forego the gathering of important information that was essential and that was
likely to be unavailable at a Inter date.

The program went forward.

The CrairmMan. Then that decision was made by the President,

Secretary Herter. Oh, he was certainly consulted with regard to
the continuation of the program.

The CuairMan. Do you know when that decision was made?

Secretary HerTeR. No.

The Cramyan. Was it prior to May 1?

Secretary Herter. I couldn’t tell you.

QUESTION OF MORATORIUM ON FLIGIITS DURING CAMP DAVID TALKS

The Cuairyax. Mr. Secretary, do you know whether there was a
moratorium on these flights during the meeting at Camp David?
Secretary Herter. No. As far as I know, that question never arose.
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Tho Cuamnan. So that thero was not, as far as you know ¢
Sceretary ITerrer, As far as I know, there was not.

PRESS SECRETARY HAGERTY’S KNOWLEDUE

The Cuamaran. I refer to this matter that Mr, Lincoln White did
not. know that Powers might. he alive, the last. question before we
rew&q;ad. Did My, Hagerty know whether or not he was at that
»oint.?

. Secretary Tereer, That T will have to ask Mr. Dillon to answer,
I have no direet information,

My, Duon. I have no way of knowing whether Mr, Hagerty knew
or not, In the ordinary course of business, a telegram such as the one
which informed us of this rumor—it’s only a rumor that we had
received through other diplomats in Moscow—such a telegram would
have been transmitted for information {o the White House staff,

Whether Mr. Hagerty knew about it or not, I don’t know.

QUESTION O SOUNDING OUT PREMIER KURUSHCHEV'S FEELINGS

Thoe Cuamaran. Mr. Secretary, was any effort. made on the part of
our Ambassadors or anyone from the Department, after the incident,
to pursuo Mr, Khrashehev’s feelings?

Was anyone instracted to appronch him and express any regret or
in any way to reconcile him to forgive or overlook this incident ?

Secretary Hewrir, No, I don’t know of any such thing.

Tho Cramyran. No approach was made?

Secretary Herrer. No.

IMPLICATION THAT FIIGHTS WOULD CONTINUE

The Cuamaran. Mr. Secretary, what were the considerations which
led to the decision, not only to assume responsibility for the flight, but
to imply that the flights would continue in the future?

Secretary IHrrrenr, I have to take responsibility for the statement
that was interpreted and if I may, I would like to read you exactly
what was said on that score,

This is a statement that was interpreted that we were going to con-
tinue the flights:

The Government of the United States would be derelict to its responsibility
not only to the American people hut to free peoples everywhere if it did not, in
the absence of Soviet cooperation, take such measures as are possible unilaterally
to lessen angd to overcome this danger of surprise attack. In fact the United
States has not and does not shirk this responsibility.

That is the statement that was interpreted that we were going to
continue the flights, and it seems to me it was a pretty far-fetched
interpretation,

The Cuamrman. Then do you mean in that statement you did not
intend to convey the view or the possibility that the flights would be
continued ; is that correct ?

Secretary Henrrer. No; what I was saying there was just what I
have testified to today; that from the point of view of our own in-
terests and that of the whole free world, it is essential for us to do
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whatever wo properly ean in order to aequire information to avoid
surpriso attack ov to bo propared for it.

The Cuamsman. But in view of that statemoent, do you think that
My, Khrushehov could aceopt, it and continue the conforonco?

Seeretary Hewesw, Yes; [ eortainly do, if he had wanted to.

The Cnamman, Do you think our President would accopt such a
statomont from any other power

Secrotavy Herrer, 1f ho wanted to go to & conference?  Cortainly,

Tho Cnamman, My time is up.

Sonator Wiley ¥

KHRUSUOUEV'S KNOWLEDUB OF FLIGI'TS

Senator Wiky, Now in relation to that last. question, the President
}m&; suggested timo and timo again an open skies arrangement, hasn’t
0\

Secrotavy ITerrer, Yeos,

Senator Winky, That means that planes would be flying over our
country and over evory othor country whero it is necessary. Again
I go to thesubject that I think is most important, beeauso some ¢ woted
and 1 quo‘ed on the floor of the Senate the other day the Biblieal vorse
that a little child shall lead them, 1 had a group of childron from
Oshkosh, Wis,, that. I was talking to. Aftor I talked to them, I opened
myself to questions,  One of these givls said, “Senator, if we stop
taking theso flights, how are we going to get tho information that is
going on baek of the Tron Curtain?”

Waell, 1 think all America is asking that question, and 1 am sutisfied
that if wo are realists, as 1 think we are becoming more and more, that.
wo are not going to @o up a lot of blind alleys about this and that, and
about what was or what wasu’t snid.  We are going to face the situ-
ation head on and simply sny we want defensively to bo adequately
bropared and alert and we want. the Kremlin to know the facts as they
l‘mvo been now for, I think, about 314 years, that we have been sending
theso planes over.  Khrushehey knew it at the time that he was up
at Camp David, and certainly having the knowledge then could have
interfered with his interest in holding the meeting if he hnd wanted
it to. Do you think my conclusions are correct in that respect?

Secrotary Herrer. I do. :

.

SOVIET REFUSAL TO PERMIT PRESIDENT EISENHOWER’S TRIP

Senator Wirey. I didn’t get the import of the questions when I
came in that apparently referred to some different groups. What is
the nume of the young man who defected the other day? I guess
that is what you call it. e testified on—- '

Senator LavscHE. Meet the Press. : -

Senator WiLEyY. Meet the Press. It isa long, Russian name. I put
what he said into the record today. But one of the important things
he brought out, and I would like to get the former Ambassador’s at-
tention on this, was that there is a group of young people growing u
in Russia who have different ideas, and he was about to go into detai
on it when time ran out. But among other things, he is the one who
said—and this is important—he said some months ago that Khru-
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shchev and the powers in being would not. permit the President to
come to Russin, |lhut. they would find some excuse,

Now, that is all in what he said over the radio hers a couple of
weoks ngo.  ‘Thut confirms, I presume, your own iden that when
Khrusghchev came to Paris, he had alrendy decided that he was

oing 1o throw the bombshell, and ho would refuse to invite the

residont, and so forth; is that right ?

Secrotary Henrer, That is right.

Senator WiLry. So this is something that didn’t result from the
downing of the plane.

WIIAT HAPPENED TO THE U-2 PLANE?

T want to ask you a question. ITave you any definite information
as to whother or not. this young Powers is alive?

Seerotary Hewrenr, No, sit, We have no information other than
that which the Russians have furnished to us.

Senator WiLey, If that plane had been shot down, do you think the
instruments that he had with him would have remained intact ?

Secretary Herrer, There, siv, 1 am not skilled enough in the tech-
nique of shooting down planes. But. T shonld think it is very doubtful
if ho was hit by a rocket whether either he or the plane would have.
como down intacet,

Senator Wirey. Ts there any thought that perhaps they have the
plane? They claim they have the instruments and they have shown
something which wasn’t the plane. Do you think they have that
intact?

Secretary Ierrer. They have shown a lnter photograph of a plane
which those who built. the plane feel is the plane itself. They have
also shown picces of the plane in Gorky Park in Moscow when they
invited all the diplomats to come and look at it, and I think our people
feel that that is a genuine part of the plane,

INTERNAL CONDITIONS IN RUSSIA

Senator Wiy, I want to ask the former Ambassador if it is true
that the youth in Russia, the new class of youth, is growing up like
this fellow said. Someone said if he had been privileged to carry on
his answer he would have said they are not satisfied with their standard
of living, that they are not satisfied with the little opportunity they
have to express themselves in the political life of I?ussia. Do you
know whether that would be true or not?

Mr. Bouren, I think it is a fair assumption, Senator. Of course
as you know, the possibilities for contacts in there during the perio
I was there were considerably less than they are now. The country
is still totally controlled by the mechanism of the Communist Party.
of the Soviet Union. They control all modes of expression by press,
meetings, or anything else, so it is very difficult to get any overt signs
of the ?eelings of the youth or any other section of the population.

But there are certain indieations that the youth are looking forward:
at some time in the future to considerably different circumstances.
They hope for better material conditions and also undoubtedly hope
for a period when they will have more freedom of expression and:
more ability to participate in the political life of their country.
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But. thix is very hard to document. heeauso people do not. talk openly
and freely in the Soviet. Union, ‘

Senator Waey., Well, you know that. forment. generally is all ovor
this world.  You know that the President of ‘T'urkey has been kicked
out. Yousaw that today, and you know what is happening elsewhere,
Ls there any reason why that yeast or ferment. slmu“ not. he opernting
in Russin among the yonugsters?

Mr. Bomes, "Pheve is no veason why it should not. heoand it s n
lTogical assumption it is,  But I should nlso sny that the controls in a
socty ke the Sovied Union ave very tight indeed and T have seon
no sigh that those controls are brenking down or wenkening (o the
wint. where the pavty is not in complete control of the situntion,
Phey ave able to stifle, if you will, or hold in cheek this ferment dus
to the nature of theiv system,

Senator Wiaey, Out of the 200 million Russiang, how many of them
do you think belong to the Communist Papty ?

Mr, Boneen, ©think the latest figure is somowhers in the neighbor-
hood of 815 million,

Senntor Wingy, ‘Thank you, ‘That isall.

The Ciiamaran, The Senator from Montana ?

QUESTION OF INDICATIONS THAT KNRUSHCHEY WOULD 8CUTLY SUMMIT
CONPBRENCE

Senator Maxseirin, Me, Seeretavy, it has heen reported that at. the
ouse henvings, you said therve were indieations that. even bofore
May 6 the Russians planned toseuttle the conference,

Now, it. seams to mae if we ave going to estimato the importance of
the U-2 incident in tha collapse of the summit, we need to fix the date
when these indications in any significant. fashion began to appear. I
would appreciato, then, in the interest of suving time, yes or no answers
to cevtain questions which T.am about to ask unless there is n need of
an elaboration,

The first question: Are you aware whether any member of the
Cabinet. or the President had any reason to believe before May 15
when Khrushchev made his demands for an a%)ology and so forth,
that he would come to Paris and leave as he did

Secrvetary Herrer, No,

Senator MansrieLp, Were there any indications that Khrushchev
planned to scuttle the conference before the UU-2 plane was shot down
on May 1¢

Secretary HerTeR. No.

UNDER SECRETARY DILLON’S SPEECH

Senator Maxsrierp. Did Khrushehev's Baku speech precede or fol-
low Mr. Dillon’s speech to the AFL-CIO convention ?

Secretary Herter. It followed it.

Senator Mansrierp. Would you classify Mr. Dillon’s speech as ver
much in the spirit of Camp David or would you say it was an excel-
lent, forthright and anti-Communist statement somewhat oblivious
to the spirit of Camp David, the kind of speech which any official of
the State Department might have made before that historic meeting?
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Seeretarvy eween, That [ can’t qualify with a yes or no answer,
Senntor,

Senntor Manseieed, You enn go into detail there,

Seeretnry Hewrer. T would say this, that. My, Dillon’s speech wag
almost 1 requirement. as an answer fo the allegations that had been
wade by Mr. Khreushehev aguinst. Adennuer and the Germns and
his continued rvepetition which T have given the chronology of, of the
faet. that they were going to take this unilateral position sooner ov
Inter without its being an absolute ultimatim on the subject of Berlin,
Germany.

Senntor Manseieen, In other words, Mr. Seerelary, speeches which
you and Mr, Dillon made were a counternetion (o the gradual harden-
ing of Mr. Khrushehev's speeehes in the period preceding that?

Seeretnry ewreee, Fntively,

QUESTION OF STATE DEPARTMENT KNOWLEDUE OF U-2 FLIGITT

Senntor Manseiern, Did Seeretary Dillon propose that a -2
flight. be undertaken prior to the summit conference?

‘Rh‘. Dition, No,

Senator Mansriern, Mr, Dillon, as neting Secrelary, were you
aware heforchand of the scheduling of the U- 2 flight over the Soviet
Union on May 17

Mr. DiaoN, No, I was not nware of it.

I was aware that there was a program of flights that might, take

laco at some time when the weather was right but [ think I was
imformed of that maybe 1 month or two before this actual time, and
I had nothing to do with it afterward because I didn’t in the ordinary
conrse of my duties,

Senntor Mansreieid, Your knowledge was, in effect, general
knowledge?

Mr. Dinron, Yes.

Senator Maxsrnn, My, Ierter happening to be out of the country
at the time was, I assume, unawnre of any specific flight but per-
haps had general knowledge that these flights were being undertaken
and had been over a period of years,

Secretary Herrer, 1 didn’t know there was a flight underway. The
first, knowledge T received was when T was in Ankara, Al I heard
was this same report that a plane was down,

PRESIDENT’S ASSUMPIION OF RESPONSIBILITY IOR FLIGIIT

Senator MansrieLp. Now, both of you have had general knowledge
of this: Would it be a fair assumption to say, despite the fuet that
the President undertook, in a certain sense, personal responsibility for
this particular flight, that he, too, likewise, had only general knowl-
edge but that becntuse of his position as the Chief of State. he would
be held responsible under any circumstances because of his position
of responsibility?

Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

Might 1 just qualify one thing? When you say he was familiar
with this particular flight and his timing, so far as I know all of us
were familiar with alternate possibilities of flights but not this par-
ticular flight as such,
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Scenator Mansrienp, That would apply to the Department of State
and thoe President.
Secretary Herrer. That is correct.

STATUTORY AUTHORILY FOR FLIGII'TS

Senator Mansrierp, From what legislation or Iixecutive orders, or
both, was the authority for these fli hts of deep penetration derived ¢

Secretary ITerrer. ' Well, presumably from the fact that I have here
before me—I am told that this applied to two specific acts, The one
that I am particularly familiar with, that T had & moment ago, is the
one creating the Central Intelligence Agency. The other is the Na-
tional Sceurity Act.

Senator Mansriern. Would it be possible to have copies for the
record at this point?

Seeretary Ierrer, Yes.

Scenator Mansrern, Mr, Chairman, I ask that they be included in
the record at this point.

The Crramaan. Without objection it is so ordered.

('The provisions in the National Security Act relating to the Cen-
tral Intelligence Agency follow:)

Excerrt IFROM NATIONAL SECURITY AcT OF 1047
("ublic Law 263, 80th Cong., July 26, 1047 ; 61 Stat. 498)
CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY?!

Skc. 102. (a) There ig hereby established under the National Security Council
a Central Intelligence Agency with a Director of Central Intelligence who shall
be the lhiead thereof, and with a Deputy Director of Central Intelligence who
shall act for, and exercise the powers of, the Director during his absence or
disability. The Director and the Deputy Director shall be appointed by the
President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate, from among the
commissioned officers of the armed services, whether in an active or retired
status, or from among individunls in civilian life: Provided, hotwever, That at
no time shall the two positions of the Director and Deputy Director be occupied
simultaneously by commissioned oflicers of the armed services, whether in an
active or retived status.

(b) (1) If a commissioned oflicer of the armed services is appointed as Di-
rector, or Deputy Director, then-—

(A) in the performance of his duties as Director, or Deputy Director, he
shall be subject to no supervision, control, restriction, or prohibition (mili-
tary or otherwise) other than would be operative with respect to him If he
were a civilian in no way connected with the Department of the Army, the
Department of the Navy, the Department of the Air Force, or the armed
services or any component thereof : and

(B) he shall not possess or exercise any supervision, control, powers, or
functions (other than such as he possesses, or is authorized or directed to
exercise, as Director, or Deputy Director) with respect to the armed services
or any component thereof, the Department of the Army, the Department of
the Navy, or the Department of the Air Force, or any branch, bureau, unit,
or division thereof, or with respect to any of the personnel (military or
civilian) of any of the foregoing.

(2) Except as provided in paragraph (1), the appointment to the office of
Director, or Deputy Director, of a commissioned officer of the armed services,
and his acceptance of and service in such office, shall in no way affect any status,
office, rank, or grade he may occupy or hold in the armed services, or any emolu-
ment, perquisite, right, privilege, or benefit incident to or arising out of any such
status, office, rank, or grade. Any such commissioned officer shall, while serving

1 Section 102 (a) and (b) amended by Public Law 15, 88 Congress (67 Stat. 19, 20).
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in the office of Director, or Deputy Director, continue to hold rank and grade not
lower than that in which serving at the time of his appointment and to receive
the military pay and allowances (active or retired, as the case may be, including
personal money allowance) payable to a commisstioned officer of his grade and
length of service for which the appropriate department shall be reimbursed from
any funds avallable to defray the expensey of the Central Intelligence Agency.
He also shall be paid by the Central Intelligence Agency from such funds an
annual compensation at a rate equal to the amount by which the compensation
established for such position exceeds the amount of his annual military pay and
allowances.®

(8) The rank or grade of any such commissioned officer shall, during the
period in which such commissioned officer occupies the oftice of Director of
Central Intelligence, or Deputy Director of Central Intelligence, be in addition
*0 the numbers und percentages otherwise authorized and appropriated for the
armed service of which he 1s a member.®

(¢) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 6 of the Act of August 24, 1912
(87 Stat. 65565), or the provisions of any other law, the Director of Central Intelli-
gence may, in his discretion, termminate the employment of any officer or employee
of the Agency whenever he shall deem such termination necessary or advisable in
the interests of the United States, but such termnination shall not affect the
right of such officer or employee to seek or accept employment of any other
department or agency of the Government if declared eligible for such employment
by the United States Clvil S8ervice Commission,

(d) TFor the purpose of coordinating the Intelligence activities of the several
Government departments and agencles in the interest of natlonal security, it
shall be the duty of the Agency, under the direction of the National Security
Council—

(1) to advise the Nationa! Security Council in matters concerning such
intelligence activities of the Government departments and agencies us relate
to nationnl security ;

(2) to make recommendations to the National Security Council for the
coordination of such intelligence activities of the departments and agencies
of the Government as relate to the national securlty ;

(3) to correlate and evaluate intelligence relating to the national security,
and provide for the appropriate disseminaticn of such fntelligence within
the Government using where appropriate, existing agencies and facilities:
Provided, That the Agency shall have no police, subpena, law-enforcement
powers, or internal-security functions: Provided further, That the depart-
ments and other agencies of the Government shall continue to collect,
evaluate, correlate, and disseminate departmental intelligence: And provided
further, That the Director of Central Intelligence shall be responsible for
protecting intelligence sources and methods from unauthorized disclosure;

(4) to perform, for the benefit of the existing intelligence agencies, such
additional services of common concern as the National Security Council
determines can be more efficiently accomplished centrally ;

(5) to perform such other functions and duties related to intelligence
affecting the national security as the National Security Council may from
time to time direct.

(e) To the extent recommended by the National Security Council and approved
by the President, such intelligence of the departments and agencies of the Gov-
ernment, except as hereinafter provided, relating to the national security shall
be open to the inspection of the Director of Central Intelligence, and such intel-
ligence as relates to the national security and is possessed by such departments
and other agencies of the Government, except as hereinafter provided, shall be
made available to the Director of Central Intelligence for correlation, evaluation,
and dissemination: Provided, hotwcever, That upon the written request of the
Director of Central Intelligence, the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation shall make available to the Director of Central Intelligence such infox-
mation for correlation, evaluation, and dissemination as may be essential to the
national security,

2 Civillan Compensation—Subsections aa) and (b) supplemented by section 4, Public
Luw 309, 81st Confress. October 15, 1949 (63 Stat. 880{ increased annual compenmuon
to 316,06 for the Director and Deput, rector. respectlvely per annum ;
snbsectlons (c). ( Y, (e), and (f) from section 102, Public Law 253, §0th Conmss, July
26, 1947 (61 Stat, 495) Sections 104(a) (2) and 105(26), Publlc Law 854, h Cone
gress, July 81, 1956, Increased the annual compensation to $21,000 and $20.50 nzapeq.~
tlvely. for the ‘Director and Deputy Director.
8 As amended by Public Law 15, 83d Congress (67 Stat. 20).
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m(l?) Biective when the Divector first appolnted under subsection (n) has taken
office-—
(1) tho National Intelligenco Authorlty (11 I'ed. Reg. 11337, 1330, I'ebruary
B, 10:4Q) shall cease to exisl; and
(2) 'I'he personnel, property, and vecords of the Central Intelllgence Group
are transferved to the Central Intelligence Agency, and such group shall
conse to exist,  Auy unexpended balanees of appropriations, allocations, or
other funds avatlable or authorized to be mnde avatlable for such Group
shall be available and shall be authorized to be mado available in like manner
for expenditure by the Ageney.
. . » . . . .

ORAT DIRECTIVE S8USPENDING VIIGOTS

Senator Mawnsviein, Mr, Secretary, by what. anthority have these
flights now been suspended ?

Seeretary Herrer, Senator, T have now got. before me the Nutional
Security Act of 1947, and if you wish we to read the pertinent. para-
graph T will be #lad to do so.

Senator Manstirrn, No: T would just like to have the pertinent
partsincorporated in the executive record,

Secvotary Herrer, Right.

Senator Mansrirtn, Now the question, to repeat, is by what au-
thority have these flights now been snspm\dod?1

Secretary Herrer, By divection of the President.

Senator Mansrieep, By a Presidential divective. Conld we have a
cogy of that for the vecord ?

Seerotary Herrer., Yes: Tassumoso, I don’t know whether it was
given in writing or whether it was done by word of mouth.

Senator Mansrirrn, Well, will you look into it and see what you
can do to comply with the request?

Secretary Herter., Yes.

(Tt was later reported by the Department of State that the directive
was oral.)

DURATION OF ORDER SUSPENDING FLIGHTS

Senator Maxsriern. Will this order suspending the flights auto-
matically remain in force after President Iisenhower leaves office
and until it is superseded by another order of some future President ?

Secretary Herrer. It could he. Thoe President’s responsibility as
Commander in Chief which gives him the right to give an order of
this kind would, of course, expire with him. It would only be
through some treaty obligation that there would be a binding commit-
ment. on the part. of the United States to carry beyond his term.

Senator Maxsriern. Do I understand you correctly, then, to state
that this order would automatically die with the leaving of office by
President Eisenhower, and to become effective again would have to be
once again initiated by the next President ?

Secretary Herter. I believe another President would be free to do
as he sees fit.

EFFECT OF U—2 INCIDENT ON KHRUSHCHEV’S POSITION IN RUSSIA

Senator Maxsrietp. Have Russian experts in the executive branch
stiggested the possibility that Khrushchev’s position at home may have
me seriously undermined? ,
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Secrotary Herrer, Yes.

Senntor Mansrizn, Do you belisve that the U-2 may have heen o
contributing fuctor to this undermining ¢

Secretury Huwver, It may have been, May [ elaborate on that ?

It may have been in the sense that it must have heen a great shock
to both the military und to the civilinn leaders in Russia to find that
they had heen ns open as they were for such a Jong period of time,

Sonator Mansterp, And o him as well,

Secretnry Hewrer. "To him as well,

POSSIBILITIES O CHANGE IN SOVIET LEADERSHIP

Senntor Mansrienn, If Khrushehev should be forced out of power,
is it the thinking of the Russian experts in the Department that his
suecessor is likely to o o man more amenable to friendly and peaceful
dealings with the West?

Secrotary Iewrsn, Thaty siv, T cannot answer calegorically, I
think that that is a pure matter of guesswork.

Senator Mansrigin, All right.

What, in the view of our Russian experts, is the most probable
coalition of influential forces in the Soviet Union and in world com-
munistn that could bring about Khrushchev’s down{all?

Secretary Hewrer, There, sir, I am afraid of my own knowledge I
could not answer that, 1f you would like Mr, Bohlen to answer that,
he is as good an authority as we have on the subject.

Senanfor MANSFIELD, lyf you will, Mr, Bohlen. But before you do,
T would like to throw out indications that perhaps the military, the
Chinesa Communists and forces of that kind, might be considered.

Mr. Bonren. Senator, I honestly in all sincerity think it is not

ossible to answer that question. I think in dealing with the Soviet

Jnion in view of the general secrecy prevailing in the Communist
bloc it is only after the event that you can hope to trace them back
and see what particular influences have seemed to have brought about
given decisions. There is literally no way in which a foreigner can
ascertain what the varying degrees of influence of all factors which
go into the making of any particular event. If I might I will give
you one illustration of secrecy. I was not there but in June 1957 for
10 days the Presidium of the Central Committee and the Central
Committee itself met in a violent inner row which resulted in the
expulsion from both of those bodies of Molotov, Kaganovich, Malen-
kov, and several others,

This went on for 10 days in Moscow and no foreigner in the capital
and mighty few Russians knew anything about it.

We had trained observers there. There was an extremely alert
U.S. press corps and not one of them got any inkling of this major
development. This I merely cite to show the degree of secrecy and
if you are trying to get these things you are in truth looking into a
erystal ball and a very cloudy one at that.

Senator MansrieLp. What you have said, Mr. Bohlen, is a reinforce-
ment of thoughts you have previously stated in response to questions
propounded to you by the Senator from Wisconsin.

r. BonLen. That’sright, sir.
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Sonator Mansrieep. And, once agnin, that secrecy is go greut there
that it is impossible for n westorner to find out what goes on in many
instances until after the fact is accomplished. ,

POSSIBILITY OF SOVIEL RETURN 1O DEPTIS O THE COLD WAR

Sonator MaNsrierp, Is it the view of the experts in the Dopartment,
the Russian experts, that Xhrushchev, even 1f ho remains in power,
will now take a harder line, a reversion to cold war type tactics in
dealing with tho Western nations?

Mr. Bonren. The indications at presont are, and I am speaking at
present, that this will not necessarily be so.

I think we can expect a propaganda campaign. The indication
from his own statements mul from such information as we have re-
ceived from Moscow, is that there seoms to be no determined policy to
return to the depths of the cold war at this time,

Senator Mansrierp. Would you say that if that reversion does take
place, taking the opposite tack from what you have just said, and is
pushed by the Kremlin or Khrushchev or his successor, that it will
make more difficult the maintenance of peaco?

Mr. Bouren. 1t would if it returns to a line that we would call
the lowest phase of the cold war, it most certainly would, Senator.
However, there are degrees in this thing of return to the cold war sit-
uation which are impossible to assess and which might not materially
increase the danger of war. DBut if it went all out, sealed off the
Soviet Union and the Communist. bloc from contact with the outside
world, attempted to exert pressures wherever they thought they could
do so, I think undoubtedly a much more dangerous world situation
would bo created.

Senator Mansrmrp, Mr. Chairman, I have other questions but I
dow’t want to take too much time,

The CuARMAN. Senator Hickenlooper ¢

Senator Hickexroorer. I don’t have any questions at this time.

The CraryMaN. Senator Humphrey, did I overlook you?

Senator HumMrurey. I camein late, Senator. If any other Senator
wants to go ahead, it is all right.

The CratryMAN. Senator Morse, are you ready ?

Senator Morsk. I will yield to Senator Humphrey.

SECRETARY HERTER’S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGIITS

Senator Huspnreyr, If the question I ask, Mr. Secretary, has al-
ready been asked, just brush it aside. I don’t want to take any of
your time on that. ‘

Did anyone ask as to whether or not you had any personal knowledge
of the U-2 flight ?

Secretary HerTeR. Of the program ¢

Senator HuarpaREY. No, of the particular flight.

Secretary Herter. It was included, I said it was included—I am
sure it was included in a group of flights that I had been asked
whether I had any objections to them. '

Senator Huypurey. If you wanted to, could you have effectively
vetoed such a policy ? . :

Secretary Herrer. No; I could only have given my advice to the
President.
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VICH PRESIDENT'S KNOWLEDGR OF FLIGH'TS

Senator Humrmrey, Would the Vice President be aware of these
decisions?

Secretury Herrer, I think that as a member of the National Secu-
rity Council, he was aware of the program in the larger sense. I doubt
if he was familiar with any of the mdividual flights as such, but he
may have been,

Sonutor Humenny. The reason I asked that question was that the
Vice President intimated on a television program, I believe the day
before the President’s announcement in Paris, that the flights should
centinue. 'T'he next duy the President announced that he had already
canceled them,

The Vice President said they would continue, and the next day the
President, announced that they had been suspended.

What I am asking is, would the Vice President, as a member of the
Security Council, have any opportunity of knowing the decision that
had been made by the President?

Secretary Ilenrer. There, the days followed so quickly one on an-
other that I just couldn’t angwer that, whether that opportunity would
have beon oftered or not.

Senator Humpurey. What I am trying to get at is the policy-
making machinery.

We gmve a subcommittee, as you know, that is studying the policy-
making machinery of the Government, the Jackson subcommittee.

I am a member of that subcommittee. 'We had recently before the
subcommittee Mr. Kennan. We have had many of the prominent
officinls of Government and former officials of Government,

The program of the reconnaisance flights was an established pro-
gram, and apparently was agreed upon by the Security Council; is
that correct{

Secretery Henter, The Security Council was aware of it, yes.

Senator Humpurey. The Vice President is a member of the Secur-
ity Council?

Secretary HerTer. Yes.

Senator HumpHrey. If the Vice President states on a television
Brogram that he understood that the flights would continue, yet the

resident annourced the next day in Paris that as of the previous
Thursday they had already been suspended, do you think there was
any lack of communication between the responsibile officials of this
(Government ¢

Secretary HerTeR., There, sir, I am trying to think of the dates.

The Thursday on which the President gave that order was the day
that I went to Paris. I wentto Paristhat night.

The President followed 2 nights later and whether or not in that
2-day interval anything had been distributed with regard to that
order, I just don’t know.

IMPACT ON SUMMIT DIPLOMACY OF RECENT EVENTS

Senator Humerrey. Do you have any changed views, Mr. Sec-
retary, as to the value of the so-called summitry diplomacy as a
result of this recent meeting ¢
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Socrotary TTerrer, T think as o method of carrying out negotintions
it has taken a hard knock,

Senator Huareney, Have you any iden as to how we are going o
proceod in the months ahead? T heard the President’s address. Tt
was a good address, Ho gavo a good neeounting, o talked about. the
necessity of maintaining-—T beliove the word was businesslike relation-
ships—or at least normal velationships insofar as we can with the
Soviet TTnion,

Ts there any projected plan as to how we will procesd with our
contacts with the Soviet Union?

For examplo, we have the Geneva Conference still in session on
the nuelear testing. I supposo the Disnrmament Conference is still
areality,

Is there to bo any adjustment in these conferences, any changes?
Are they to proceed according to the past ¢

Secvetary Hunrer, Yes, the President, T think, made that, very elear
in his statement.

Senator TTomrenrey. Ave there any plans for any type of a high
level Foreign Ministers’ conference or conference of sub-Cabinet
officers?

Secretary Hrrrer, As of now, there is not. T may add this with
regard to the summit; that the four nations that were invelved in the
summit were the four nations who, as a result of the decisions and
agreements reached aftor the war, were the four nations that have
the responsibility for Rerlin and for the final settlement of the whola
GGorman question, and that is the reason for those four, essentially,
getting together.

Tt is possible that again they will have to get together. Whether
normal diplomatic changes would make progress or Foreign Ministors’
meotings in udvance would make a program so that it wounld he worth-
while for them to come together, T just can’t tell you. That is alwavs n
possibility, But almost any other subject, there nre many other nntions
that ave involved beside those four, and it is a great question in my
mind whether or not. that methoed of coming together for the resolution
of nroblems would be fruitful in the future,

Senator Husrenrry. Tn other words, what vou nre indieating is that
a summit conference merely onght to be the vatifieation, essenfinlly the
ratification, of decisions that have been tentutively arrived at, at the
normal diplomatic levels,

Secretary Herrer, In my opinion, that is the most desirable thing.

CONTRADICTORY SOVIET ACTIONS

Senator TTowenkey. T agree. Flow do you explain, or is there any
explanation for what appears to ba a contradictory bit of evidence of
Gromyko's blustering up at the United Nations on the Soviet resolu-
tion and, vet, of the apparent conciliatory behavior of the Soviets
in recent. davs with respect to the quick release of our plane and flvers
who strayved into East Germany and the recent broadening of Soviet-
American exchange projects?

Secretary Herrer. There again, you have got one of those contradie-
tions. AsT wassaying earlier, the fact that the attitude of the people
in Moscow and even the officials with whom our Embassy officials have
to deal, have heen entirely normal since this incident,
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It is very hard to reconcile with the very harsh words that, hoth
Khrushehov and Gromyko have uttered,

ROVIET OBIECTIVES

Senntor Husenuey, Do you lny nny evedencs to the doctrine or
at lonst. an observation that has heen made, that while the Soviel,
tneties mny change for awhile, that insofar as their general {wm'ul‘l
stratogy is concornad, it will remnin pretty much the snme as it hns?

Seeretnry Hegesw, Cortainly as fare as their objectives are con-
corned.  1think it was quite elenr from some of this documentation
that. will bo put into the record, that is the speeches that. were mndo
by My, Khrushehey, that ho had Inid greater and greater (sm{)hnsm
on the eventual trivmph of communism over the world, and that he
put. partienlnr emphasis on that in recent. months before the summit,

PREDIOTIONS OF SOVIEI' ACTTONS

Senator Tlusenuwey, [ have a letter from a gentlenmn who is n pro-
fossor emoritus of nowniversity, up at. Bennington College, who has
had an uneanny vecord in my yenrs of nequaintanceship with him in
understanding what goes on in the Soviet Union, Ilis nume s Dr.
Bornard ‘Tauer,  Hais n former Socind Demoernt of some 35 years
ago from Austrin, n professor of politien] economy, now retived,  Ife
monitors Soviet. hrondensts, Hl.mllivs Soviet. literadure, particalarly
photographs and what-have-yon, Just to give you a little back-

round, ha predicted to me some 3 weeks, 1 guess it was, beforo it
wppened, the removal of Bevin, T have a letter here from him right
bu}m-u me, and it is a letter tetling how Mr. Khrushehev was going
to seuftle the summit. conference, written on April 25, this letter is,
And 1 also have a letter from him here in which he says:

The Soviet leader will now do everything possible to prove that Elsenhower
Is 0 warmonger and an imperallst aggressor and not a man of peace, In action
not. merely in words,  We must, therefore, prepare ourselves for all kinds of
provoeations all around the world,

His thesis is that. Khrushehev had been selling the Soviel people
upon the idea that President Eisenhower was a man of peace and
a man with whom he could deal. T don’t mean deal, in the sense of
tho crudeness of that word, but. one with whom he conld conduct.
reasonnbly good negotintions, and that when the President accepted
the responsibility for the flights and didn't neeept the opportunity,
at least, what some people sny was an opportunity of removing himself
from that responsibility, that Mr., Khrushehev took this as a very
porsonal matter, since he had staked his reputation in the Kremlin
and in the councils of the Communist Party upon the fact that he
conld work with Eisenhower. Then Mr. Khrushehey felt. that isen-
hower had not. only upset the diplomatie appleeart, but, more impor-
tantly, from a subjective point of vicw———uhrushvhm"s~put K}xru-
shehev in o very diflicult position with the Communist Chinese, with
the rightwing Stalinists in the Soviet Union, so that Khrushchev is
now making a personal crusade out of attacking the President.

What is your view of this? 1 am going to give you this letter. I
llmvo a whole series of these, and this is a very remarkable man, muy

sny.
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Tror exnmple, T have a lotter from him 2 weeks before the rvecent
shakeup in the Soviet Union which was not too fundamental, but indi-
cating some of the changes that. were going to be made, by a very enve-
ful annlysis of broadensts and meetings and literatwre, 1 had thig
man down to sea the late Senator Walter (George, some of you may
recall, and ho was vory holpful at one time.  What is your view of Mr,
Khrushehev’s venctions lately to the President, the personal venom
that he seems to exhibit?

Secretary Huwrer, I am particularly interested in two things, Sen-
atory in the letter that yon have just vead; one, the fact that it was
written before the U-2 incident.

Senator Huamenney, Yes,

Seervetary Hewrenr, In which this authority eites the facet that Mr,
Khrushehey was going o seuttle the conference,

Senator Teaenwey, Ithink that substantintes essentinlly what you
were saying this morning, your own observations on this,

Seevetary Hewrer. Yes, ‘The second has to do with the fact that
the President. didn’t accept the way out. which Mr. Khrushehev ap-
peared to offer him. My own feeling with regard to that second mat-
tor is that it was very much of a trap. That what Mr. Khrushehev
thought might happen is that the President would disclaim personal
responsibility and that then Mr., I hrushehev wonld say, “The situa-
tion is aven more dangerous than 1 thought, because this means that
that same little frantic group in the Pentagon”—and that is the phrase
that he used in his press conference—¥is running the Government. of
the United States without the President knowing about. it, and that
makes our situntion even worse” and he would have inveighed in
exactly the same terms and asked the President for exactly the same
apologies and punishments which he asked for later.

T think that the element of personal pique certainly played a part in
the whole show.

The Cuamaman. The Senator’s time is up.

The Senator from Kansas.

Senator CarrsoN. Senator Aiken——

OTHFR COUNTRIES’ REACTIONS T0 SUMMIT CONFERENCE COLLAPSE

The Citamyan. T am sorry, the Senator from Vermont.

Senator Argen, I won’t take long.

Speaking of the reaction of the rest of the world, have you made
any analysis of the reaction of the other countries of the world rela-
tive to the collapse of the summit meeting ¢

Secretary Herrer. Yes, I think we have, Tt isn’t, of course, com-
plete. This will mean a study from a great many nations and bring
this altogether in one place. .

I think that, perhaps, the best indication has been the attitude
among the representatives at the United Nations where you have got
a cross section from the rest of the world. From the very outset of
the Russian complaint there it was very obvious they weren’t going
to be able to get any votes from their calling this an aggression,
except Soviet bloc votes. . .

Some of the smaller countries, two of them, abstained in the final
vote for reasons that were of a rather different nature.
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But, by and large, we have heard no sympathy from the point of
view of what you might call the uncommitted nations or the free
uations of the world for the attitude that Mr, Khrushchev took.

Senator AwkeN. Are you satisfied we have not lost. prestige
throughout the world as a resulty or lost. more than Russin hag?

Secvotary IHerrer, May T osay, siv, that in my opinion our alli-
ances nre firmer than they have ever been,

BOVIET ITIERARCITY

Senator Arken. What was the signifieance of the shakeup in the
Russian Government prior to the U-2 incident, I believe lnst April,
was it not, when Mr. Kozlov was promoted; and coupled with that
question, why don’t wo hear anything about Mr. Mikoyan any more?t
Ifas ho been isolated or just gotten out of the news, or what has hap-
pened with him?

Seerelary Herrer, Mr. Bohlen, who is our expert, is also the cen-
sor of the document, so T am afraid he hag gone out of the room at
the moment.

With regard to the disappearance of Mr, Mikoyan, we have been
told this is just a normal vacation he has taken down to the Black
Sea. It is troe in years F,ono by he had taken rather extended vaca-
tions there, and whether this is true or not we can’t say.

With respeet to the shakeup, 1 think the only significance that it
had were that two of the strongest members of the central commitiee
were sent. to other responsibilities and this may have been a personal
strongthening of Mr, Khrushchev’s power within the committee
itself,  But 1t was not considered very highly significant.

Senator Aiken. That is, Mr, Kozlov's promotion is not significant ?

Secrotary Henrer. 1 don’t think so. 1 didn't know that he as such
had been promoted.

[Deleted.]

A long timo ago, T think when Mr. Averill Harriman was visiting
in Russia he reported that Mr, Kozlov had been pointed out to him by
Mr. Khrushchev as his successor, saying that he and Mikoyan were
too old to carry on and that Kozlov was the No. 2 man. gut there
was no tolling whether he was saying that seriously or whether he was
being flattering about it hecanse Mr, Kozlov was there at the time.

Senator Aiken. I thought he made the best impression of any of
our Russian visitors last summer. At least when he came before this
committee, I thought he did.

I have no further questions.

Tho Crramraran. The Senator from Oregon,

FUNCTION OF NATIONAL AFRONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

Senator Morsp, Mr, Secrotary, I think it would be helpful for this
record if you made a statement in regard to the functions of NASA,
and the part that NASA played in connection with the U-2 flirzht.

I don’t think the record is very clear as to what are the functions of
NASA, and what jurisdiction, if any, the State Department has over
NASA and what the relationship between NASA and the National
Security Council is, and the State Department.



74 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Seevetary ITerrer, NASA, as you know, is an agency devoted en-
tirely to the penceful development of satellites and outer space ve-
hicles of one kind or another,

Its operntions have now been separated out. from what were called
purely military operations, although it is always inevitable in the
development. of hoosters that there should be an interrelationship
between the two, beenuse the military vehicle and the peaceful vehicle
have got. the samae problems of propulsion to get. up into the aiv. The
witnesses of NASA, of conrse, will be hefore the committee,

[Deleted.] Most of the U-2's are used by NASA in connection
with purely scientific work, meteorologieal work. Actually, the
Japanese Government. found them tremendously valuable in tracing
tho course of tornadoes last. year, and T think that NASA put out at
least three publications on their findings from the U-2 weather
obszervations.

[Deleted. ]
NASa’S ROLE IN TUE U-2 INCIDENT

With vespeet to the actual development of events in relation to
NASA, I am sorry to say that T can't give you firsthand information.

Perhaps My, Dillon can supplement that as it occurred while I
was oversens and when Mur. Dillon was in charge,

Mr. Dicton, All T can say is as far as T know the State Depart-
ment didn’t have any direct. velationships with NASA on this matter,
and the relationships that there were, were handled by the Central
Intelligence Agency {deleted], so either Mr, Dulles or the NASA
witnesses themselves will be able to inform you on that,

Senator Morse. Why would NASA make a statement in regard to
this plane if it was under the jurvisdiction of CIA?

Mr. DinroN. On the cover story it was in the open, the plane was
under the jurisdiction of NASA. Actually for this operation it was
under the jurisdiction of CIA. [Deleted.]

Senator Morsk. Therefore, NAS.\, in your opinion, was acting
within the proprieties when it issued the statement that it issued.

Mr. Diron. T think so; yes. ,

Senator Morse. You think it had cleared that statement with CI
or had authority from CIA to issue it.

Secretary Herrer. I think so.

Mr. DicroN. They should have; as T understood the matter, these
guidelines to answer questions were prepared by CIA. They were
gone over with State Department people a day or two before. We
had thought that NASA was going to handle this in the way of an-
swering questions, which we knew they would get, because this was a
NASA plane, and they apparently chose instead to forestall the
questions_just by putting it all out in the form of a statement.
[Deleted.]

QUESTION OF EXECUTIVE BRANCH COORDINATION ON U—2 STATEMENTS

Senator Morse. T raise the question becnuse I want to do what I
can in order to clarify the record in regard to the allegation made
that there is not the best of coordination between the State Depart-
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ment, CTA, Pentagon Building, and now NASA, and that there may
be a need for a centralization in the State Department of the authority
to authorize any statement by any of these agencies in regard to a
situation such as this, beenuse of some possible reason to believe that
if this had been centralized more we would not have been having
different stutements coming from different agencies.

Mr. Dinron. We were not aware, actually, of the fact that NASA
wasg going to make ag formal a statement as this, and it was somewhat
of a surprise,

The Cnammaan. T could not hear that answer.

Mr. Dmron. T say we were not aware of the fact that NASA was
going to make such a formal statement as this, and I am not sure
that the Central Intelligence Agency was either.

Al the relationships—as I said in my original statement, there was
coordination, there was a decision that the statements were going to
be made by the State Department.

That decision was taken and made known to the other agencies
concerned, which were the Department of Defense, and the Central
Intelligence Agency then on the morning of May 5.

The Central Intelligence Agency had the relationships with NASA
and undertook to pass that on. We had no relationships with NASA.
They didn’t know we were in this thing, and somehow this statement
was put out by NASA somewhat more complete than we expected
but it was along the lines of tho material that they had been furnished.

VICE PRESIDENT’S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGTS

Senator Morse. Turning to a question that Senator Humphrey

asked—and may I assure you that I am quite nonpolitical in raising
that—I am only seeking to find out who had knowledge of what in
regard to the matter. I refer to the May 27 issue of the Washington
Post, in an article by Mr. Chalmers Roberts in the course of which
hesaid:
Nowhere in the 3%-hour television program did Nixon refer to any Presidential
direction in the U-2 crisis, other than his approval of the flights some years
earlier. Nor was there any reference to his own part in the affair. Nixon, of
course, sits in the National Security Council. Nixon did say that he was
“privy” to the U-2 reconnaissance policy “and I do endorse it.” He also said
that “I knew about this flight.”

Now, my interpretation, Mr. Secretary, of your testimony is that
neither you nor the President knew this specific flight was going to be
taken at the time that it was taken, but that you did know that there
was a general program for such flights and that this flight could be
considered as a part of that program.

Now I ask you, do you have any reason to believe that Nixon knew
anything that you and the President did not know and that maybe it
is just an unfortunate use of language when he says “I knew about this
flight,” and that he probably means that he knew about the general
program of reconnaissance?

Secretary HrrreEr. I would assume it was about the general pro-
gram rather than about the particular flight.

56412—60—6
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NATIONAL RECURITY COUNCII’S KNOWLEDGE OF FLIGHTS

Senator Monse. But as far as you know, the National Security
Council did not brief its members i regard to any particular flights
without also notifying the President in regard to specilic (lights,

Secretary Herrrr, No, 1 think the National Security Council was
only aware of the general program,

Senator Morse. Are you a member of the National Security
Council?

Secretary Ierrer, Yes, T am.

NUCLFAR ARMAMENT RACE

Senator Morse. One final question at this round, Mr. Secretary: As
you know I, along with everyone else, I think, who has the interest of
peace at henrt, am very much concerned about long continuation of
this nuclear armament race.

Do you think that the United States and the Western Powers on the
one hand and Russia on the other can continue this nuclenr armament
raco with its constant increase and acceleration for another 10 years
and not crente the great probability of war ¢

Secretary Herrer, I don’t know about the great probability of war,
Senator, but I would say certainly increase the chances of war,

Senator Morse. I know we are of one mind but I want the record to
show this particular one mind : Do you agres with me that our genera-
tion simply has the responsibility in history to find some honorable
way to end this nuclear armament race?

Secretary Herter. I agree with you completely on that.

Senator Morse. Do you think that we ought to do everything that
we can to try to get the United Nations to exercise greater jurisdic-
tional authority in connection with this whole matter of armament
race than we have been able to get it to do so far?

Secretary Herrer. Senator, some time ago I made a speech in con-
nection with disarmament in which I stated my views as to the great
necessity in the following years to finding some answer to this, and
at the same time finding an answer within the framework of the
United Nations of an authority which could maintain the peace with
lIaw, and I still feel that just as strongly as I did at the time I made

that speech.
RECORD OF THE WORLD COURT

Senator Mc+ £. Mr. Chairman, my time is up and I want to make
a request for data if I may.

The Cuarraan. Certainly.

Senator Morse. This morning we talked about the cases that we had
offered to take to the World Court.

Senator Wirey. A little louder, Senator.

Senator Morse. This morning you talked about the cases that we
were willing to take to the World Court. T wonder if the State De-
partment can compile for the committee the record in regard to the
World Court’s operation, both on the cases it has handled and the
cases that we have offered to have it handle that have been rejected
by Russia or any other power.
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Secretary Ierrer. Yes; we will be very glad to do that.
('The following information was subsequently furnished for the
record :)

STATEMENT BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE: INTERNATIONAL COURT OF JURTICH—
CONTENTIOUS CASES DPROPOSED BY THE UNITED STATES AGAINST SOVIET-ILoo
COUNTRIES

1, 'The Unlited States has proposed to the Soviet Union the adjudication of four
sgeparate cases concerning aerial incldents,  In each of these cases, the United
States has flled with the Registry of the Imternational Court of Justice an
application fnstituting proceedings, These were the following cases: (a) Treat-
ment in Hungary of aireraft aud crew of United States of Ameriea (United
States v, US.S.0.) ;5 (b) aerial incident of October 7, 1052 (United States v,
U.S.8.18.) ; (¢) aerial Incident of September 4, 1954 (United States v. U.S.S.1R.)
and (d) aerlal incident of November 7, 1954 (United States v, U888y, Lach
of these four cases has been dismissed by the Court for lack of Jurisdiction,
The Court lacked jurisdiction because the Soviet Union has never accepted the
compulsory jurisdiction of the Court under article 36(2) of ity statute nor
agreed to jurisdiction specially in any case.

2, The United States also instituted proceedings before the International Court
of Justice In cases against Hungary and Czechoslovakia, These were: (e)
Treatment in Hungary of alreraft and erew of United States of Amerlen (United
States v. Hungarian Pcoplc’s Republic) ; and (f) aerial Incident of March 10,
19538 (United Statcs v. Ozechoslovakia)., Each of these cases was also dis-
missed by the Court for lack of jurlsdiction. Agailn, the reason was that nelther
Hungary nor Czechoslovakia has ever accepted the jurisdiction of the Court in
any way.

3. I'he United States also instituted proceedings hefore the International Court
of Justice in a case against Bulgarla, the aerial incident of July 27, 1055 (United
Statces v. Bulgaria). This case differed from those above in that Bulgaria had
accepted the compulsory jurisdiction of the former Permanent Court of Inter-
national Justice in 1921, and it was the contention of the United States that
Bu'garia was subject to the compulsory jurisdiction of the present International
Court of Justice by virtue of article 36(5) of this Court’s statute. Bulgaria
challenged the jurisdiction of the Court on several grounds, including a decision
of the Court in another case arining out of the same aerial incident that Bulgaria
is not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, and a reciprocal invocation of the
United States domestic jurisdiction reservation. The United States has moved
to discontinue the case,

The CriairmaN. The Senator from Kansas.

DEVALUATION OF S8OVIET CURRENCY

Senator CarLson. Mr. Secretary, recently one of our Nation’s finan-
cial writers, writing on the conditions in Russia, wrote that Mr.
Khrushchev was proposing a devaluation of the currency as of Janu-
ary 1, and he stated that no nation tampers with its currency unless
it 1s in financial difficulty.

What do we know about the financial and economic condition of
Russia that would lead us to believe or know that he is planning on
devaluating the currency ?

Secretary Herter., This I hadn’t heard at all. I hadn’t seen that
particular statement and I have seen nowhere in any report any indi-
cations that they were planning to devalue their currency.

There is no question but that their foreign exchange rate, their
official rate, doesn’t correspond with reality. They have two rates,
one an official rate and one a tourist rate. They are very far apart.
One is 4 rubles to the dollar and one is 10 rubles to the dollar. But
from the point of view of their internal financial situation, I have
heard no reports they were planning to devalue the ruble.
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INTERNAL CONDITIONS IN SOVIET UNION

Senator CarrsoN. We have had evidence that there is social unrest
among the people, that they ave thinking that they are entitled to
better living conditions, better homes and housing.

Do we have any evidence of that?

Seeretary Herrer. Yes; I think there is. But this is a matter that
Mr. Bohlen testified to a few moments ago.

Senator Caruson. That there is?

Secretary Herrer. There is evidence of that. As Mr. Bolhlen said,
it is impossible to get documentary evidence, as such, because of the
secrecy and the discipline in their society, but I think that every
visitor to Russin who has had a chance to tallk with the workmen or
;ho students at the university and so on, has come back with that

eeling.

After all, Mr. Khrushchev has made a good many statements about
the necessity of increasing the standard of living of their people.

In their incentives that they offer from the point of view of their
workers, better living conditions in these housing projects is one of
the principal incentives that they have been offering in the past,
giving people priority if their particular sections of a plant do par-
ticularly well from the point of view of production, they wilT be
advanced to better living quarters,

T think that the urge for better living quarters and a better stand-
ard of living, more consumer goods, is a very real one.

- SOVIET REDUCTION IN ARMED FORCES AND LABOR SHORTAGE

Senator Carrson. Does the State Department have any evidence of
a labor shortage in Russia based on a statement that was recently
made that Mr. Khrushchev reduced his military strength because 1t
was necessary to get some of the people back into the labor market?

Secretary Herrer, Yes. Very recently there has been a study that
I think will be made available to you, made on the whole question of
the Iabor problem in Russia.

(The study referred to appears on p. 283 in appendix 2.)

It is an extremely interesting one from the point of view of the
present situation and the relationship of women at work compared
with men and the very large excess number of women over men that
exists in Russia today. '

There is certainly -every reason to believe that Mr. Khrushchev’s
announced reduction of the armed forces was an effort to increase the
male labor force by taking the extra men out of the armed services
when he said he was planning to reduce from some 3,600,000 down to
2,400,000: that the principal purpose of that was to get a larger
working force. '

EFFECT ON SUMMIT CONFERENCE OF KITRUSHCIIEV’S INTERNAL PROBLEMS

Senator Carrson. Is it not reasonable to assume, then, that Mr.
Khrushchev does have some problems, internal problems, and that
that may have some effect on his actions and his decision at Paris?

Secretary Herter. That undoubtedly is true. He 'has had some
other internal difficulty that you undoubtedly know about, Senator, in
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connection with the new land that was planted, an area that has not
been too successful and this was something on which he had banked
very heavily to increase the food supply of Russia and I think he had
-been rather heavily criticized because it hadn’t worked out as planned.
Senator Carwson. That is all, Mr, Chairman.
The Cuairman. Senator Gore?

ISSUANCE OF PRESIDENT’S ORDER SUSPENDING U-2 FLIGIITS

Senator Gore. Returning, Mr. Secretary, to the examination of
whether there was a breakdown in coordination and administrative
procedure, I would like to inquire when you personally first learned of
the President’s order that the U-2 flights would be discontinued ?

Secretary Herrer. At the time that he gave it.

Senator Goke. When did he give it?

Secretary Herrer, My recollection is that it was immediately after
meeting at the White House on Thursday morning at about noon.

Senator Gore. Did he give the order to you?

Secretary Herter., No, he did not give the order to me. I think it
‘was through General Goodpaster, but I am not quite certain.

Senator Gore. How did you know that it was given?

Secretary Herter. I heard him.

Senator Gore. You heard him give the order?

Secretary HurTER., Yes.

Senator Gorp. And this was on Thursday?

Secretary Herter. This was on Thursday.

Senator Gore. Then you do not know whether this information
was communicated to the Vice President?

Secretary Herrer. I have no idea,

Senator Gore. He was not present ?

" Secretary Herter. He was not present.

Senator Gore. Was this at a meeting of the Security Council ?

Secretary Herter. No, I don’t think it was the Security Council.
I think it was at the meeting immediately after the Security Council
-at which there were three of us present. Allen Dulles was not present
and I have forgotten—I think Gates was present—after a Cabinet
meeting it was.

Senator Gore. I don’t understand.

Secretary Herter. After the Cabinet meeting.

Senator Gore, After the Cabinet mesting?

Secretary HertErR. Right.

Senator Gore. That settles that. You heard the order issued, and
I will have no further question as to where it was issued and to whom.
If you heard it issued to Secretary Gates, that settles one question
definitely and finally.

But 'you do not inow whether the Vice President was informed
about it ¢

Secretary HerTER. Excuse me——

Senator Gore. Did you wish to add something ¢

Secretary Herter. No, no.

Senator Gore. You do not know then whether the Vice President
was informed about it.?

Seoretary Herter. No, I do not.
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QUESTION OF PRESS BKCRETARY HAGERTY’S KNOWLEDGE OF SUSPENSION OF
FLIGH'T8

Senator Gore, On this question of coordination or lack thereof, in
addition to NASA and the State Department, to which Senntor Morse
reforved, there is the State Departiment, CIA, NASA, Mr, Hagerty,
and oflicials within the Doepartment and perhaps others,

Did Mr. Hagerty operate in this field strictly as press secretary or
did ho undertake some lixecutive function ?

Secretary IIerrer. 1 know of no Iixecutive function that he
assumed.

ISSUANCE OF BTA'IE DEPARTMENT AND NASA BTATEMENTS OF MAY 8

Senator Gore. Mr. Dillon, on May 5 Mr. Hagerty, I understand,
told o press conference that the State Department and NASA would
issuo statements.  Weore you aware of this')

Mr. Diton. T have very recently lenrned that he indicated that
NASA would issue a statement as such.

It was decided that the State Department would issue a statement.
T hadn't been aware that he had said we were. But it had been de-
cided and he knew it had been decided that we were going to do it,

Seni\tgr Gore. You say you very recently learned this. IHow
rocently

Mr. Dinron. T think a day ago or 2 days ago that. someone from the

ress said that he had told the press when they were there that
&ASA would issue a statement, so that they could get their infor-
mation from NASA.

Senator Gore. Did Mr. Hagerty suggest to you that the State De-
partment issue a statement

My, Dion, No, it was decided when we first heard of this, this
news, as I said earlier this morning, at this National Security Council
meeting or right after it that was held outside of Washington, that
the State Dernrtment would handle the gublicit.y on this, and that
we would make any statement that would be made, and it was known
at that time that we would make a statement,

Now Mr. Hagerty was not at the Security Council meeting, but
he was at that area out there where this exercise was taking place
and so he was aware of the fact that the State Department would
be making a statement at noon that day at our regular press con-
ference time.

Actually, the statement was delayed 45 minutes. It was made at
12:45 when our regular daily &)x‘ess conference took place.

Senator Gore. Was it decided there that NASA would make a
statement also?

Mr. DiLroN. It was not to my knowledge, no. It was not decided
there that NASA would make a statement.

Senator Gore. Who made that decision

Mr. Diroxn. I think that you have to ask NASA, I don’t know
who made any such decision.

The fact is, as I have said earlier, I thought that NASA would
answer questions.

I didn’t know they were going to make a statement until I saw it.
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Senator Gore, You don’t know whether NASA or whether Mr.
Hagorty made that decision?

Mr. Dinron. I have no iden, no, T would assume NASA made it
bocause wo did know that NASA would have to answer questions
becnusio this wus o NASA f)lmm that was lost and the reporters were
going to find out how high the plane flew, what kind of a plane it
was, anything they knew about it, and we had given them—the Intel-
ligence Agoncy had given them good answers on how to answer such
questions,

Senator Gorr, Yousay you assume this. You did not know itt

Mr. Dinron, T knew they had given them that materinl, I knew
that as a fact, but we did not know that they were foing to use that
and put in into the form of a statement as it actunlly came out.

Senator Gore, But Mr. Iagerty did know that a statement by
NASA would be made?

Mr, Dinron. I don’t know that what he said meant that he knew
they were going to make a formal statement or whether he was just
using that as a phrase, indicating that they would answer (uestions.

He may have thought they were going to make a statement. I just
don’t know that. Ie may have called them up and asked them. I
don’t know,

Senator Gore. Did, in fact, both the State Department and NASA
make statements subject to Mr, ITagerty’s notice to the press that they
would doso?

Mr, Diuion. The State Department made its statement and NASA
made one about three quarters of an hour later, yes.

gDeleted .

enator Gore. My time is up, Mr. Chairman.

The Cuairman. Senator Williams ¢

Senator WirLrLiams. No questions.

The CuairaraN, The Senator from Ohio.

PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S KNOWLEDGE OF OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Lavscue. When did the Camp David meeting take place
with Khrushchev ¢

Secretary Herrer. Iam terribly sorry

Senator Liauscue. When did the Camp David meeting take place
with Xhrushchev ¢

Secretarillmm‘m. That was in September as I recall it.

Senator Lavscue. Did Khrushchev, before May 1, make any state-
ments indicating that the Soviet had knowledge of American recon-
naissance planes over their territory ¢

Secretary HerTer. None.

Senator LauschHe. Based upon his statements and upon the knowl-
edge which he claims the Soviet possess, what day was it that he
understood the first American plane flew over the Soviet ?

Secretary HerTEr. I can’t identify that. My recollection is that
when he was in Paris he made the statement that he knew about these
overflights at the time that he was at Camp David and that he thought
there was something fishy about President Eisenhower at that time,

Senator Lausciie. Well, then at Camp David he did state that at
that time he knew that our planes were flying over the Soviet.
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Secretary ITerrer. That is what he said later when he got to Paris,

Senator Lauvscur, When he got.to Paris?

Seerotary Hurrer, When he got to Paris.  ITe never mentioned it
at Camp David or at any time between Camp David and Pavis.

Senator Lavscni Well, if he knew at Camp David that our recon-
naissanco planes were flying over the Soviet, and he said nothing about
it, can you give any reason for his remaining silent on the subject?

Secretary IHerrer, Ile was asked that question in a press confor-
ence in Paris.

I haven’t got here tha exact words of response but I think wo could
dig them out. for you, and tell you just what he said in answer to that
himself, but. as I recollect, he said he felt that this was an inappro-
printe moment to bring it up but that he did think there was some-
thing fishy about the President at that time.

Senator Lauvscene. Then at Camp David, when he knew that our
planes were flying over his land, he was discussing what was to be
the summit conference; is that correct ?

Secretary Herrrr. What he hoped would be the summit conforence.

Senator Lavscne. And if we take him at his word, at that time he
hoped to have a summit conference although he knew then that we
wml'e supposedly committing o flagrant transgression against his
rights,

Secretary Herrer, That is correct, from his own later testimony.

Senator Lauscue. Can you reconcile those two positions as both
being true, one that he honestly intended to attend a summit confer-
onco and, two, that he knew our planes were flying over his land ¢

Secretary Herrer., No, it would be very diflicult to reconcile the two.
It is very diflicult particularly to reconcile the tremendous issue that
he made of it later when he knew about it all the time, according to
his own statement.

Senator Aixen. Will the Senator yield? You will find on page 16
of the Background Documents IXhrushehev’s statement that Twining,
the then Chief of Staff, sent a plane over Russia which went over
Kiev the day after he left Russia. It is the third paragraph on page
16.  (See appendix 1, p. 191.)

Senator Lavscne. Yes, Your recollection is that the meeting took
place last September,

Secretary HerteR, Yes, sir.

Senator Lauscue. Now then, from September to May 14, was that
the day he came to Paris, he said nothing about this knowfedge that
he had, was supposed to have had while he was at Camp David.

Secretary Herter., That is my recollection. I would want to check
on that, It is possible that he may have said something at the Presi-
dium meeting before he left Moscow. My expert here tells me he did
not, and that was my recollection that he had never mentioned it until
he got to Paris.

Senator Lauscite, Can one rationalize the furor of his resentment
in May of 1960 compared to his admitted silence at Camp David about
similar flights?

Secretary Herrer. No: one eannot.
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INFORMATION GATHERING OI'PORTUNITIES IN THE UNITED 8TATES AND IN
TILE U.8.8.1R.

Senator Lauscure. Now then, last January 18, Allen Dulles ap-
poared before our committee, and at that time he merely scratched on
the surface what T thought was a very vital question: the compara-
tiva enso with which the Soviet gets information in the United States
and the impregnable wall that bars us from getting news in the Seviet,

I ask you the question, Mr. Herter, to give your understandirg of
the facility with which we get information out of the Soviet, and that
which they get out of the United States.

Secretary Henrrer, Senator, as you know, we have what we call an
open sgociety, Wao are very proud of it in which we have completo
freedom of the press, in which, except for matters of highest security,
very freely talked about, and a great deal is published.

(g,ur technical magazines publish a great deal from the point of view
of vital military information. Our installations in this country, while
no direct overflights are permitted, can be photographed with com-
parative ease from an angle of one side,

Generally speaking we have had no restrictions at all on travel
in the United Iétutes except for a few very small circumseribed areas,
like the Atomic Energy Agency plants, and we have had restrictions
on Soviet citizens traveling in tﬁis country which have been taken
entirely as a retalintory measure because of the limitations put on the
travel of Americans in Russia.

Senator Lauscue. Right.

Secretary Hurrer. The Soviet society, as you know, is a closed
society, where one moves and goes ohly where they tell you you can
go or when they tell you you can go.

Senator Lauscnre., This morning in answer to a question, assumin
that a Soviet plane was over the United States and what we woul
do about it, you said that theve is no need of them sending planes for
reconnaissance purposes because they can get the information without
going throngh that effort.

Secretary Herrer. That is quite so,

Senator Lauscne. That is, they can go to Cape Canaveral and
pretty simply see what is going on there.

Secretary Herrer. Well, sir, thero are newspaper men down at Cape
Canaveral all the time and a good many visitors,

Senator Lavuscue. Now the fact is that:

The Soviets still consider that secrecy and the security of everything relating
to their military operations is one of their great assets, and they have no
intention whatever of changing that. Moreover they have no intention of letting
us into areas of miltary importance.

Those are the words of Dulles,

That is, there is a difference between the Soviet getting information
here and our getting it in the Soviet.

Secretary Herter, Oh, & very great difference. It is the whole
difference between an open and a closed society.
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PROPOSED PASSPORT LEGISLATION

Senator Lauscne. You have been asking for this Congress to pass
a bill that would give the State Department some limited control
over Communists going to the Soviet Union. Isthat correct?

Secretary IurTeR. 'flmt is correct.,

Senator Lauscne. And why have you asked that?

Secretary Herter, Because we felt that we ought to have some
control—these are American citizens traveling abrond——that we ought
to have some control over those who may be going to various parts of
the world in interest inimieal to those of the United States.

Senator Lauscue. And you asked that because you have in mind
the grave dangers that lie in the ability of a Communist to distribute
information in the Soviet Union when he makes the visit, if he so
desires,

Secretary Herrer. Yes, sir.

Senator Lavscur. That bill has not been acted upon ; is that correct ¢

Secretary Herter, That is correct.

POWERS OF THE CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Senator Liauscur. Is there any type of legislation that you feel that
we ought to pass with respect to the curtailment of the duties and the
?[owers of the Central Intelligence Agency or the expansion of them.

f you have Igivon that subject no thought, you can state it.

Secretary Herter. I have given it no thought. I hope there would
be no change so far as the activities are concerned. [Deleted.]

Senator Lauscue. That is all T have.

ALLEGED FRENCH NEWSPAPER ACCOUNT OF OVERFLIGHTS

The Cuairman. Mr. Secretary, there was one statement that I was
told when I was in Paris that an account of overflights of the Russian
territory had been carried in a French newspaper some 30 to 60 days
prior to that.

Have you ever heard of such account ?

Secretary Herter. I think I heard the same reports in Paris but I
never saw any documentary proof of it.

The Cnairman. Have any of your people tried to confirm it?

Secretary HerTer. Yes, but I have not heard it mentioned by any-
one except when I was over in Paris, too. I had not heard a word
before that.

KIRUSHCHEV'S MAY § REFERENCE TO OVERFLIGHTS

The Cuamraan. [Deleted.]

In his speech of May 5, Mr. Khrushchev referred to the U.S. over-
flights of July 2, 1956, April 9, 1960, and May 1, 1960. He said that
the April 9 flight caused concern within the Soviet Government and
resulted in admonishments to the Soviet military not to let it happen
again.

[Deleted.]
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KHRUSBHCHEV’S INTERPRETATION REGARDING CONTINUANCE
OF OVERFLIGHTS

The Cuamman. This, again, raises this point that puzzles me very
much. The evidence is quite clear that Mr. Khrushchev, if he didn’t
know positively, certainly suspected that it wag our planes that were
going ucross his territory, didn’t he?

Secretary Ierrer. That is what I assume.

The Cuairman. And it comes back to this point that he hadn’t
raised such a terrible fuss about it until this one, that is, the May 1
flight, which was shot down. And, you said you couldn’t reconcile
the difference in his attitude toward the prior flights to the attitude
toward the May 1 flight. But doesn’t the reconciliation, if it is ex-
plainable at all—1I am just asking you if there is one—does it not lie in
the fact that our Government did take the position regarding the May
1 flight and this program, that this is a deliberate program which we,
the President, tukes responsibility for, and which we intend to
-continue?

Secretary Herrer. Not which we intend to continue. That has
never been said.

The Cuamman. He interpreted it as such., Mr., Khrushchev in his
statement, which I have a copy of here—this is his language. He
says—this is a quote from part of our Background Documents (see
p. 204, appendix 1) which says:

At his press conference, Herter made an outrageous statement. Far from
feeling guilty and ashamed of aggressive actions, he justifies them and says
that this will continue in the future. Only countries which are in a state of
war can act in this way. * * * Herter's statement has made us doubt the cor-
rectness of our earlier conclusions that the President, the American Government,
did not know about the flights. Herter's statement says that this intelligence
plan was endorsed by the Government.

At least that is the way he inter?reted it,and, as we said before——

Senator Lauscie. Who is “he”? Who interpreted it?

The Cuairman. This is a quote from Mr, Khrushchev’s statement.
He is interpreting what Mr. Herter said as speaking for the Govern-
ment. But is this not at least a possible reconciliation of the differ-
ence in attitude hetween the prior flights and the May 1 flight ?

Secretary Herrer. It might be if one wanted to interpret the words
that Is ofz’e that way. Tﬁere was no need of his interpreting those
words that way. Certainly from what I said, that is a very far-
fetched interpretation. I think he was interpreting it for his own

urposes that way. I think that the one reconcilable feature between
those two things 1s that in one case he had specific evidence and in the
other case he did not.

The Cuamyan. Then it is your position that neither your state-
ment nor the President’s press conference can legitimately be inter-
preted as an endorsement and justification of the flights and a policy
of pursuing them in the future?

ecretary Herrer. Certainly not the policies of pursuing them in
the future. The President’s statement that was made in Paris said
it was perfectly clear from what I had said and from what he had said
that there was nothing that allowed that inference.

The Cramraan. Did you in your background news conference in
Paris on Sunday, May 15, repeat the same statement that you had
made prior thereto in Washington ¢
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Seervetary Herrer, T was asked at that background press conference
whether or not. T had made o statement. that. we would continue doing
this, 1 vepeated the very words that 1 had used in my statement. 1
said T stood on those.  That did not imply that. we would continue.

The Cramearan, Prior to that second statement, My, Khrushehov
had so interpreted it. - Wore you aware that he had so interpreted it
in his statement to the Presidinm?

Secrvetmry Herrver, 1 think T may have been, but if one took cog-
nizanco of ‘overy interpretation of his of everything that happens in
this conntry one would be spending all one's time trying to correct
his statemonts,

The Cnamaran, You believe that it is an unreasonable and far-
fotehed interpretation of your statement or the Presidont’s in his press
conferonce that these wonld be continued; is that corrveet.?

Secretavy ITerrer. Yes, T do,

The Ciararan, Isit or is it not a fact that the press in this country
interpreted it in that samo fashion?

Secevetary Herrer. Tam told that some did and some did not.

The Crramaran, Tt might have been wise for us to clarify at that
tima so that we interpreted it properly ; don’t. you think?

Secrvetary ITewrer. That, as T think T have indieated earlior, vo-
ferred to the cessation of the flights and not resuming the flights,
Tha President had resorved to state in Paris in conjunction with the
fact. that ho was going to offer at the United Nations his plan for
aerinl supoervision of all nations that would ho willing to submit. to it.

The Craraan, Do you believe that any head of state, of any
important. nation at least, could proceed with negotintions at a con-
forence under the situation, at least as he interpreted it, that is, that
we intended to continue such flights?

Seeretary Thereer. After all, Mr, Kheashehev arvived in Paris and
nade an arvival statement there the Saturday before the conference
saying that he expected to proceed and have fraitful resulis,

The Crarman. For the record, in ovder that it is clear what is
involved here, T would like to vend one sentence, the one that is
reforred to by Mr. Khrushchev, which T think you elavified. 1 quote
from the statement that was made by the Department of State on
May 7 (seo p. 187, appondix 1) ;

The necessity for such activities as measurves for legitimate national defense
is enhanced by the excessive secrecy practiced by the Soviet Union in contrast
to the free world,

I think that is the statement that. led to the interpretation, don’t
you?

Seeretary Hewrsr. T am sorry, siv, I have got. befors me now the
statement of May 7. Which were those words?

The Cuamman. It appears on page 12 of the background docu-
ments prepared by the stafl, the first paragraph at the top of page 12.

Secretary Herrer. That does not in any way intimate that they
would go on.

The Cuamrman. You do not believe that that could reasonably be
interpreted as meaning that they will continue?

Secretary Herrer, No.

The CriatrMan. My titne is up.

Senator Wiley ¢
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KHRUSHCHEV'S BPEECH AT BAKU

Senator WiLey. My, Secretary, 1 have listened to this examination
and us you brought out, Mr, Chairman, 1 think that what we lnul
better do is got down to what I think is the basic issue, not what
was snid or particularly done, but let’s see what Khrushehov did.

On April 28, in what has been ealled the speech at. Buku, an exam-
ination of that speech shows clearly that the Soviet Government had
come to the conclusion that it would get nowhere at the summit

conforence. Now, listen to this:

Overnight all the Government-controlled radio gtatfong--
and get the date, May 25—

all the controlled radio stations and newspapers In the Soviet Unfon begnn
to prepare the people for a summit faflure, and flatly blamed the West, The
saino bitter tones which Khrushehey used In Parls is to be noted in what he
suld at Bakn,

And Baku was days before.

In o violent attack in Baku on Bocretary Herter nud Under Secretary Dilon,

con thut same day, the Soviet Premier inthuated that he planned to use military

power to enforee the prospective sefzure in the West,
I quote IChrushehev:

If, therefore, the Western Powers should not wish to slgn a peace treaty
with the German Democratic Republie, that would not preserve for them the
rights on whose preservation they Insist. They would then obviously lose the
right of access to West Berlin by lund, water, or air.

In another ‘)ox'tion of his speech, the Soviet Premier practically
admitted that he had no hope of reaching any agreement at the sum-
mit conference.

He said;

The neaver May 16, the day of the meeting of the heads of Government, ap-
proaches, the more one-sided becomes the approach of certain statesmen of
the Western Powers to the problems the participants of the conference will
have to face.

'llihon he goes ahead and gives examples attacking Herter and
Dillon,

KHRUSHCHEV’S DECIBION 10 BCUTILLE OONFERENCE

Now I want te quote this. This morning I ealled your attention to
this young Russian that stepped out from the intelligence department

-of the Russian Government, who was heard on the radio. He said,

and I quote:
The Soviet Communist regime is in no way interested in allowing 8o popular

.o man as the American President to cowme to the Soviet Union. They are
-definitely afraid.of the impact such a visit can make oun the people.

Now if the issue is what caused Khrushchev to shoot his wad, so
to spauak, I think it is very clear that when he found out, one, that he

.couldn’t make an impression upon his associates who were to be at

the conference; two, that Mao Tse-tung and the Chinese were un-
happy and Mao Tse-tung laced him up and down about this confer-

-otice, as the record shows, whan he found out that they didn’t want it ;

three, that he was having trouble with his own gang in Russia; and,

four, that the youth of Russin were simply getting all fed up—he
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decided beforo he went to Paris that he was going to lot the balloon
ro up.

. Itlwasn’t. the question of U-2. That may have given him the os-
tensible opportunity to blow his top, but, as a matter of fact, he was
all ready to go days before,

PROCEDURAL DISCUSSION

Now if that is the fact, and I think it is sustained by the people
who weigh the evidence, then there is no need of our inquiring into
what somo folks feel. The may be a little remiss hither and yon in
our own public service. ’Fhey were laboring under deop pressure.
When you put yourself in the President’s boots and go over there
and see what he took, you have to say, “God bless him. He held his
temper and he hnndleg himself so that he made all America and all
the world proud,” and the result was as suggested, as the record now
shows. Look at the U.N,, look at Britain, what they say about it.
And the answer, I think, is that we should just about stop our in-
vestigation and not try to ball up further the issue.

The Cwramraan. For the record I will say that the President, yes-
terday morning, heartily endorsed this inquiry.

Senator Wirky. That what$

The Cizameman. The President himself said in my presence that
he heartily endorsed this inquiry, and if the Senator wishes to take
issue with the President, Wth I suggest he talk to him about it.

Senator Wirky. Oh,no, T heard him say that. T am not disputing
his sz;ying it. I am just simply saying that where do we go from here
now .
Are we going further, are we going to try to ball up the agency
that gets the information, that has done such a tremendous job, that
for 314 years has given us information,

[Deleted.]

The CramraaN. I think the Senator misunderstands the purpose of
this meeting. It is not to ball up anything. It is to try to clarify a
situntion for the benefit of the committes and the Senate and the
country. And I know of no one who has the slightest purpose of ball-
ing up anything,

Has the Senator completed his questions?

Senator WirLey. Yes, I am sorry that.I used that expression. What
I meant was “confuse,” and if there is going to be further evidence,
would you mind telling me who the next witness is?

The Cratrman. There will be no other witnesses this afternoon.

Senator Wirey. Well, do you expect to call some later on?

The CHAamMAN. Yes, Mr. Dulles is coming on Tuesday.

Senator Mansfield—is the Senator through?

Senator WiLey. No, that is the point I am making. I want to state
in all sincerity, gentlemen, it is your responsibility if you want to call
this man who has created this agency under the mandate of the Con-
gress, that we have appropriated money for, and have not tied his
hands and he is the one who brought about this; let us be frank.

{ Discussion off the record.)

The CrHamrman. The Senator is misinformed if he thinks that type
of testimony is going to go in the public record. There was no inten-
tion at any time of putting this in the public record. '
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Senator Wnry. Did you hear yesterday when the distinguished
Senator from Ohio very plainly and bluntly talked about the leaks.
I belong to a committeo where I have seen them go right from the
committeo room right out in front of the fellows who have the mech-
anisms for giving the news. This is the first time 1 have blown m
top, but 1 am simply telling you in the interests of my country, I think
you should not. cnh in this other agency. I think that these gentlemen
have told what the public knows now, but to bring in this other
agency, I think would be a mistale.

The Cnairaman. Does the Senator say that he knows Senators who
have gone out of executive sessions before the microphone and re-
pcute«f what has been snid here?

Senator Wirey. I am not putting my finger on any Senators, If
you want to know what is going on what have they got the television
out there for and you are quoted every day as appearing before it,

Iet’s be frank. This is not the onl);r committee where they spill the
beans. But I am talking about the Central Intelligence Agency,

entlemen. I happen to know something about it, and I know what
1t means, and people over in the Flouse know what it means, and I
sincerely hope that you will not bring Dulles before you. That is all
I have tosay.
The CiairmMan. Senator Mansfield.

JURISDICTION OVER THE AIRSPACE AND THE HIGH SEAS

Senator MansrreLv. Mr. Secretary, in an attempt to clarify some
of the confusion which exists in some of our minds I would like to ask
some questions:

What is your present official interpretation of international law as
regards the extension of national sovereignty skyward ?

Secretary Herrer. I don’t think we have any.

S?onator MaxnsrieLp. We have no international law in that field as
yet.

Secretary Herter. That I know of. There is no definition as to
what is considered the atmosphere above the air. There is no ac-
cepted interpretation or verbiage when they are talking about the
atmosphere.

Senator MansreLp, Would you think it advisable to have an inter-
national conference or conferences to decide the question of sover-
eignty in the air over a country and also the possibility of regulating
the seas in a more orderly fashion ¢

Secretary Herter. Well, as you know, we have tried for over a
year to (?et the United Nations to get the outer space committee
organized and underway.

enator MANSFIELD. At our suggestion?

Secretary HertER. At our urging. We have been urging that this
be done. We have been pressing it. We have not been able to make
any headway because the Russians refused to go along. There have
been further discussions of this proposal but we have been unable to
agree on who should carry it out. I think we are making progress
but it is still one of those things where there is a constant dispute as
to what should be done. :

Not only that but we had hoped to get it adjusted in time so that
this year there could be a great international scientific congress be-
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cause you're dealing with new matters that the scientists are expert
in that the layman 1s not, and the Soviets were unable even to allow
the canlling of that congress.

Senator Mansrierp. No. In other words, as yet there is no clari-
fication of this particular matter.

Getting back to my statement concerning regulation of the seas,
we, of course, operate under the doctrine of freedom of the seas,
But what I have in mind is the fact that it is my understanding that
the Soviet Union can launch missiles anywhere it wants to up within,
say, three miles of our constline if it is in our vicinity, and we have
the smine right under international law to fire missiles up to 3 miles,
say of Vladivostok. Isthat correct?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, and it depends again on what one takes as
the territorinl waters. Three miles have been the generally accepted
territorial limit. The Soviet Government has clnimed 12 miles and,
as you know, the recent. Geneva Conference failed in reaching agree-
ment among the nations as to what should constituts the territorial
water of different nations.

Some nations have gone much farther than that, particularly
with regard to fishing rights.

Senator Mansrmern, That’s vight, but what I have in mind is that
times have changed considerably, even in our generation.

Myr. Chairman, may we have order in the committee ?

The Citaraan. Tt isdiflicult to have order.

Senator Mansrrenp. The fact is that we have these satellites going
skyward hundreds of miles and we have these missiles going thousands
of miles into the ocean. It was because of these new factors that I
offered the suggestion that it might be well to have international con-
ferences to take heed of changed conditions in this modern day.

We have also advocated, as you are aware, peaceful uses of outer
space, and we have made no headway.

[Deleted.]

The Citatraan. Senator Gore ¢

Senator Gorr. Mr. Chairman, the first question I wish to pursue
leads to a question of Mr. Bohlen. Since others have asked him ques-
tions, I wonder if I might ask that he return.

STATE DEPARTMENT’S KNOWLEDGE OF U—2 FLIGHTS

Mr. Secretary, Secretary Dillon testified this morning that he
did not know of this particular flight, and to the best of my memory
%‘mul said you were away &t the time and did not know of this particular

ight.

Secretary Hrrter. I knew of the program. I made that clear in
which the flight was included but not that particular flight.

Senator Gorr. I was specifying this particular flight. Did I cor-
rectly understand both of you ?

Mr. Diton. Yes, Senator. I had heard about 6 weeks earlier that
a series of flights would bs undertaken and I had not heard anything
since that time but it was not in my regular order of bysiness.

Se{mtor Gork: Wonld you repeat what yousaid? I did not under-
stand it.

Mr. Dirron. T said I was informed about 6 weeks before the date
of this flight, T say, that there was a program of particular flights
of which this one could have been a part, and I did——
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Senator Gore. It could have been but you did not know of this
particular one.

Mr. Dinron. Noj; I did not know any more than that of this par-
ticular flight.

QUESTION OF DECISION NOT' TO HALYT PROGRAM OF U-2 FLIGHTS

Senator Gonre. The President, in his statement to the American
people, the other night, snid this:

As to the timing, the question was really whether to halt the program and
thus forego the gathering of fmportant information that was essential and
that was likely to be unavailable at a later date. The decision was that the
program should not be halted.

Now, as 1 understand your reply to the chairinan of the committee,
?rou did not participate in the making of a decision to halt or not to

wlt this particular flight.

Secretary Hrrres. had approved of it.

Senator GGore. On this particular program.

Secretary Hrrrer. And nppl‘ove(ﬁ of it as a part of the program.
The question of the halting of it was not in issue at that time although
1 knew that the summit conference was coming,

Senator Gore. Well, my specific question is this: Did you partici-
pate in a conference or were you aware of a decision; did you make
a decision? What is the full extent of your knowledge of a decision
that the flight would not be discontinued ?

Secretary Herrer. I know of no conference at which that matter
was discussed.

Senator Gore. Then would it have properly been

Secretary Herter. The only matter that came before me was the
approval of this program. .

Senator Gore. How long ago did you approve the program?

Secretary Herter. I can’t tell you exactly, but it was some time
prior to the time I went abroad.

Senator Gore. Is it a matter of weeks?

Secretary Herter. A matter of weeks.

Senator Gore. Would such a decision have been properly within the
province of the State Department ?

Secretary HerTer. No. The State Department would not have a
final decision in the matter. The State Department would have an
advisory position in the matter, and the CIA did consult with us
about it.

[Deleted.]

PROCEDURAL DISCUSSION

Senator Gorrk. I understood the purpose of this hearing was to de-
velop the facts insofar as we were capable of doing so, and to the extent
that security would permit, to make available the facts to the Ameri-
can people.

Do I correctly understand the purpose of the hearing ?

The Crairman. The Senator from Tennessee understands it as I
understand it in spite of the opinion of the Senator from Wisconsin,

Senator Lauscae. May I ask, isit——

Senator WiLey. You might as well just now.

A6412—60——7
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Senator Lavsong. Is it confined to what our Government has done
or are we concerned about what the Soviet has done?

The Cuarman, I certainly am concorned about what the Soviet has
done,

Senator Lauscik. It hasn’t been manifested here today.

(Procoedural discussion,)

The Cuawaran, The Senator from Tennessee has the floor.

Senator Winey. May 1 just suy one thing?

The Cuamnman, Does the Senator yield to the Senator from Wis-
consin ¢

Senator Wirey. I realize when I hit the ceiling before that I was
probably not as coherent as I should be. T want to say to you with the
conviction of & man who has lived long, that the business of a comn-
mittee like ours is to develop facts é:n' legislation, facts that are
necessary to bring out curative legislation, or if ?'pu please, if you
want to investigate an individual, that is another thing. We had the
McCarthy hearings. Wo know what that did, but here is another
angle.

ft is not the business of this committee to expose to the people of
this country a mechanism that is so important to preserve the life and
integrity of this country, and I mean the CIA, I know what it means.
I happen to know something about what it has done [deleted] and to
me, at least, and as I suy, as a young man of past 70 summers, please
remember that when you go into this thing, ns you are going into it,
you are going to expose a mechanism that 1s as vital to the life of this
country #s anvthing you can think of,

Tt is that mechanism that made possible this series of three and a
half vears of exploratory missions over the Soviet Union [deleted].

If that is what you are going into, just count your words.

Senator Gore. Mr, Chairman?

The CrairyaN. The Senator from Tennessee.

Senator Gore. Dealing with the CTA is not a new experience for me.
I happen to have handled in the House of Representatives the ap-
propriation bill for the Atomic Energy Commission for 5 years before
I was elected to the U.S. Senate.

I was party to the appropriation for the atomic energy program
when the atomic bomb was being built in my State. No one ever heard
those secrets from my lips. Every year for the past 14 I have listened
to the testimony of the CIA from one to two or three or more times.
I don’t think that it is necessnry that we violate the security of this
country in order to hear Mr. Allen Dulles’ testimony.

The Cramryan, Will the Senator yield? Mr. Dulles said to this
committee when he was asked if he would appear, that he would be
very pleased to appear. He thought it would serve a useful purpose.
He had no objection,

Senator Gore. I am aware that T am pursuing very important
questions that reflect upon the effectiveness of our country and the

restige of our country. That is all the more reason why they should
e pursued.

I thought this was the purpose of the hearing, to develop the facts,
and insofar as they could be revealed to the public, to do so.

The Cramman. The Senator is quite right.
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QUBSTION Ol' DECISION NOT TO IALT PROURAM OF U-2 FLIGII'TS

Senator Gorp, To return to the question, insofar as either of you
know, or any official of the Department, no actual decision to proceed
with the flight or not to proceed with the flight was made.

If such o decision was made, it was beyond your knowledge, Is
that a correct statement ?

Secrotary Henrrer. Yes; I think that T ought to say this. When the
matier cane before me, I had an opportunity of disapproving it and
did not doso. Not it, but the program.

Senator Gore. But this particular flight did not come before you?

Secretary Herrer, It cane as one of a group.

[Deleted. ]

NOTICE T0O SECRETARY IIERTER OF PLANE’S MISFORTUNE

Senator Gore. When did you first learn of the plane’s misfortune?

Secretary Herrer. I received word in Ankara, Turkey, that a plane
was down.  Thatisall.

Senator Gore. From whom did you receive it ?

Secretary Herrer. It was handed to me from a slip of paper that
Mzr. Livingston Merchant had. e was sitting behind me at a NATO
meeting and he handed me a slip of paper, “word has come that
[deleted ] a plane is missing.”

I don’t think he said in Russia. I didn’t know which one of the
flights it was.

Senator Gore. It is your presumption that this was a communica-
tion within the Department?

Secretary Henrrer, Oh, yes. T assume it was either in the Depart-
ment or from CIA sources with whom we are constantly in touch
oversens.

Senator Gore. I believe my time is up. I will return to this.

[Deleted. ]

PARIS PRESS BRIEFING BY AMBASSADOR BOHLEN

The Ciammman. You had one question of Mr, Bohlen. He was
called back at your request.

Senutor Gore, Yes, If I may digress a moment, I have been told
several times, Mr. Bohlen, that in your press briefing at Paris, I
believe on this 16th, you expressed the view that except for the U-2
plane, there would have been a summit conference.

Will you relate to us what you said at this briefing in this regard?

Mr. Bouren. I don’t recaﬁ, Senator, honestly that I made that
statement——

Senator WiLey. A little louder, please.

Mr. Bouren. I don’t recall that I made that statement, The press
briefing that I held on the 16th was an open press conference on the
record, and I do not recall any statement of that kind because my
view then as now is that the U-2 was one of the factors that m:y have
led to the particular Soviet behavior at Paris,

I really do not recall any such statement of that kind. It’s all on
the record. This was an open press conference.
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Senntor Gore. You did not hold an off-the-record background
briefing ¢ " T

My, Bouren. 1 held a background later in which 1 outlined at. that
conforenca the three factors that 1 helieved and still do entered into
the formulation of the Soviet. position, o

Senator Gore. Was o transeript. made of that background briefing?

Mr. Bounen, L would have to check on thaty sir, 1 think thero
probably was, ) . .

Senntor Gore. Would you supply it. to the committee if there was?

My, Bonwgn. If thera is one, T would have no views on it,

Secvetary Herver. 1 would have no objection, .

('The transeript. veferved to was subsequently furnished for the con-
fidential use of tha committes.)

Mv, Bowgkn, I theve is a transeript of ity but. T reeall the cireum-
stances very well in this, in that. three factors that. I mentioned eavlier,
the Soviet pessimism as regnrds the outcomo of the summit. from their
point. of view: the possibla opposition or questioning of its conduet.
and the U-2 matters were the three factors that appeared to me to
have entered into Soviet decision to torpedo the conference,

1 might. add, Senator, for cln_l‘lhmt.mn on this, we have used the
words “senttle the conference” quite often,

There are various ways of seuttling a conference. You can scuttle
a conference before it begins or you ean sabotage it from within
| deleted]. )

| Subsequently, Mr. Bohlen made available to the Committee the
following statement. of views he held in Paris af the time the Sum-
mit Contference came toan end: |

1 would like to Just briefly note—this is a personal opinfon—that there
ware three elements in this situation:

One, 1 think, was the situntion in Moscow, whereby there were some people
who were a little bit coucerned about the manner in which Khrushchey was
conducting the foreign relations of the Soviet Union, for reasons already
touched on.

The second was that I believe that he came to think—or the Soviet Qov-
ernment came to think—that the prespects for any agreement at the sum-
mit, on RBerlin particularly, which is one that he had committed himself so
deeply to, were very dim indeed. Before the plane incident, they were visibly
preparing the usual tactie of placing the onus in advance upon the Western
Powers for any expected fallure. But had there been no plane ineident, 1
believe the conference would have run its full course. There would have
been discussions.  There would have been the normal, if you want to call it
that, the normal type conference with the Russians, of which we have had
many in the last 15 years, but without results,

The plane incident, the whole development connecting with that, moved
things into a totally new dimension. And I think that the evidence is con-
clusive, that he came here to Paris with the idea of either torpedoing the
conference or conceivably—because you cannot read their full minds—the
hope that somehow or other that the pressure from our Allles would force the
United States to capitulate. I think he makes this very plain. And this ix
where he made his major miscaleculation. Our Allies stood with us solidly—
wonderfully well,

Of course, it is easier to say that now than it was before,

Mr. DrypeN. I was told that these statements had been cleared by

Mr. Drypex, The CIA people with whom we were dealing, sir.

Senator Gore. Off the record.

( Discussion off the record.)

The Ciamyan. Does the Senator from Ohio have any further
questions?
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DUTIES OF 'THE CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Senator Lavsene, Mre, Herter, 1 have in my hund the National
Seeurity Act of 1947, und | have read from page b that l]mrt of the
materinl which deals with the duties of the Central Intelligence
Apgeney,

Arethe duties enumerated in this seetion complete?

Sceretnry Hewrer, Yes; I othink those are enumerated in that
seefion,

Senutor Lavscne, This seetion didn’t place any directions on how
intelligence isto be obtained,

Seeretary Hewrer, No,

[ Deloted.]

PREBIDENT'S ASSUMPPION OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR G-2 FLIGHT

Senator Lavscne. Based upon the questions that have been asked
here today, one set implied that the President. should not have told
the truth.  The next set. implied that one of the men lied. And the
third set. implied that there was an inability to coordinate the views,

Now, my question is—ofl the record. “

The Cuamman, Take it off the vecord.

We will make n specinl dispensation, whatever the Senator wishes,
Does he wish it onor off?

Senator Lauvsenr. Let it be on,  1lns anyone given any thought
about. the peculine pogition that the President of the United States
is placed in in connection with the paradoxieal situntion that he is
supposed to be a man of trath, and moral character, and yet requested
to lie ubout. these matters, if they are within his knowledge?

Secretary Herrer., 1T am not sure whether that is a rhetorical ques-
tion or whether you are asking me that question,

1 . . .

Senator Lavscie, Well, take it both ways., [ Laughter. |

Senator Gone, Rhetorieal or oratorical, | Laughter. |

Senator Lavscur, Welly let's assume that, you were the President,
Mr, Hertery, and you were faced with the dilemma of telling a lie
about. what happened or telling the truth. In either event you are
hooked. What conrse would you follow ?

Secretary Herrer, LI can answer that one so far as I myself am
concerned,

The Cuairman. He followed both,

Senator Lauscie., Idon't know. I am beginning to wonder if what
the Central Intelligence Agency is doing ought not to be a matter
left with them and without the knowledge of the President.

I have no other questions,

The Cuamman, Mr. Secretary, T just want to make a comment,
The Senator from Ohio has put his finger on the very point that
perhaps I didn’t make clear to him earlier in my inquiry. This is, in
my opinion, a central important question about this whole matter,
the wisdom of the policy of involving the President in this kind of
business, that is, espionage, which traditionally involves lying and
cheating and murdering and violating the sovereignty of countries
with which a country is not at war and all of this. And what the Sen-
ator has said is—perhaps I didn’t make it clear—is exactly the point
that I was seeking to raise and to elucidate in the first line of questions
that T asked. And I agree with him this presents a very difficult
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dilemma, and the question is the wisdom of departing from the tra-
ditional historieal practice of not involving the head of the state in
anly espionage responsibilities that he is above and apart from. We
follow that in the Congress, as you have just stated. }EDelebed.] We
treat it differently, ang I was suggesting and raising the question of
whether it is wise to depart from the traditional practice that all
Important states throughout history, without exception in accordance
with the Secretary’s testimony, have followed. That is the very point.
I don’t think the Senator understood what my point was.

Senator LauscHE. I knew if I were President——

Senator WiLey. You would {~11 the truth.

Senator Lauscue. I would tell the truth.

Senator WiLey. So did he.

The CHarMaN. He did and this is the answer.

Senator Lauscne. And could you expect him to do anything else?

Senator Wirey. That is right.

Senator LauscHE. And the only way you could enable him to per-
form his duty to his country was not by having him know what was
done and if he didn’t know the question would be pursued why
didn’t he know.

Senator WiLey. He taught the world a lesson in 1960, new diplo-
nllacy, by telling the truth, and I think thac it will echo down through
the years.

Sznator LauscHE, SoIdon’t know which group to follow.

The Cuairyan. It is echeing down the years already. This is the
principal echo that has arisen from this whole matter.

Senator Lauscue. The tragedy is that this is made the principal
echo but all of the misdeeds of the Soviet are looked upon as incon-
sequential.

he Crairaman. Well, the Senator is entirely incorrect in that
statement. He draws conclusions that are not justified by the record
or any statement that I have heard before the committee.

Senator Lauscue. Well, I can—

Senator MansrieLp, Can I ask a question ?

[Deleted.]

USIA’S DIRECTOR’S RADIO PROGRAM APPEARANCE

The Cuairaan. Do I understand Mr. Allen’s statement on the tele-
vision program was not approved by you or by the Acting Secretary ?

Secretary Herrer. No. As I understand it, this was In answer to
a question on a TV program.

Senator Mansrierp. Yes. I think we have the program here. But
could somebody on the staff find it right away so that I could read it
just asitis? (See p. 212, app. 1.)

The CHAIRMAN. {)Ve]l, Mr. Secretary, while they are looking for it,
is it or is it not the policy of the f)epm‘tment. of State that its
employees clear public statements with regard to delicate interna-
tional relations before they make them?

Secretary Hexrer., Yes, sir.

The Ciramaan. It is the policy ¢

Secretary Herter. It is. Any statement dealing with foreign af-
fairs should be cleared with the State Department.

The Cuamaean, Then when they are made in this fashion without
clearance, it is not in accord with your policy; is that correct?
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Secretary Herrer, Well, as I say, this had not been cleared with us.

The Ciramrman. He is an employee———

Secretary Herrer. I think it is very possible that a prepared state-
ment had been cleared, but not an answer to a question, There is no
way of clearing that, until one knows what question is asked.

'i{he Crairman, What I asked this for is because later on it seems
to me one of the important things that might come out of this commit-
tee hearing is a tig itening of the policy which gives the Department
of State and the Secretary of State a much closer control over public
statements by other agencies. 1t strikes me that we would get in
much less trouble if all these people would clear with you or with
whoever is Secretary of State of the Department, we wilfysay. Don’t
you think that would minimize the chances of inconsistent state-
ments being made by members of the Government.?

Secretary HErTER. Yes, that is so. But I think that anything that
he may have said in a prepared statement on that TV program at that
time had been cleareg. Insofar as answers to questions are con-
cerned, there is no way of clearing them without knowing the ques-
tions and in that way he was s hisown.

The Cuairman. It is his responsibility, then, when he goes br.yond
an%thing that had been cleared ?

ecretary HerTER. Yes.

Senator MansrieLp. Mr. Chairman, on page 35 of the Background
Documents on the summit conference, about 7 or 8 lines up from the
bottom of the page, Mr. Allen, in response to a question from Miss
Dodd, states the following:

There are a lot of different definitions of “spying” and I don’t want to try to
quibble, but I do think I ought to point this out and that more people ought to
recall it: When he went down he told exactly what his mission was and exactly
what he was expected to do, and he was under instruction to do that.

Now, the answer to the question, I just thought ought to be in the
record, because there was some confusion about this statement in view
of information which had been given to a group previously in the
Capitol. Again, I want to say, Mr. Chairman, that I am through
with my questions of Mr. Herter, but I want to express my thanks
to Secretary Herter, to Secretary Dillon and to AmBassador Bohlen
for their candor and frankness today and to assure them that I, for
one, appreciate what they had to say, and I think they have made a
real contribution to clearing up a confused situation which confronted
the committee as a whole.

Secretary Herrsr. We are very grateful for that, Senator.

Senator WiLpy. Of course, on this side of the aisle, I have praised
your statement ir ‘the beginning and I will praise your conduct in
the conclusion. Yoa all d%d very well,

Senator Gore, M1, Chairman?

The CHAIRMAN. {Senator Gore.

Senator Gore. I do not wish to unduly tire the Secretary, but I am
l{oerfect]y willing to come back after dinner or to come back tomorrow.

do have many more questions.

The Cnamyan. Well, it is my understanding the Secretary—he
looks very well to me—would prefer to go on tonight. He does not
wish to 1un over to next week.

Secretary Hrrrer, I prefer to go on, Mr, Chairman.,

Senator Gore. I don’t think it will take very long tonight.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR DECISION '1I'0 DISCONTINUE FLIGHTS

The Cnamyan. The Senator may proceed.

Senator Gore, Fine,

1 wish to resume my inquiry with respect to this particular flight,
1 am perturbed that you say it would not be within the province of
the Department of State to make the decision to discontinue these
flights; that this would be a decision for Mr. Dulles to make.

Secretary ITerier. No, 1 never said that at all,

Senator Gore. 1 beg your pardon?

Seeretary Iewrer, 1 never said that at all. I said he was the opera-
tional man who had to plan things, and then submit them for approval.

Senator Gore. Well, what would be the proper agency to consider
whether these flights should or should not. be discontinued ?

Secretary Herrer, If the question of discontinuance had come up,
if that was a decision to be made, we would have been asked advice on
it. We were not asked for advice on it, We gave approval to carry
on with the routine planning that had been done from the point of
view of flight. '

Senator Gore. Some weeks prior?

Secretary ITerrer. Yes, and had given that approval,

Senator Gore. Did that approval

Secretary Herrer. That approval, as I say, is advice.

Senator Gore. Was advice?

Secretary Herrer. Is advice. The President himself took the re-
sponzibility for any final decision.

Senator Gore. Did your approval involve continuation of the flight
through and during t?m period of the summit conference?

Secretary Herrer. Not. specifieally as such. The approval con-
stituted going ahead when conditions were appropriate for carrying
them out.

Senator Gore. Did you give no consideration to discontinuance at a
time prior to the summit meeting or during the summit conference?

Secretary Hrerrer., Senator, T answered that question before when I
said that there is no good time for a failure, that if the summit con-
ference had debarred carrying out these flights the President’s visit to
Russia may have been the next thing that might have debarred them.

It may have been debarred when Khrushchey was at Camp David;
it may have been debarred when Mr. Khrushchev was visiting in
France.

There may have been any number of diplomatic reasons why they
shouldn’t be conducted at a given period of time.

In my opinion, the value of the information and the necessity of
carrying out these flights under given conditions warranted their
going ahead.

Senator Gore. I am trying to be specific in my questions, and T am
trying to elicit from you whether at the time you gave your approval
for the general program some weeks prior to this particular flight,
you gave specific consideration to the question of continuance or dis-
continuance during or near the time of the summit conference,

Secretary Herter. Certainly. The summit conference was very
much on my mind as it was on everybody’s mind, at that time.

Senator Gore. And you gave your approval then?

Secretary HerTer, 1 did.
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Senator Gore. To  their continuation throughout the summit
conference?

Secretary Herrer, That was never specified as such,

Senator Gore. In other words, you are saying, then, that there was
no decision to discontinue?

Secretary Herrer. That is right.

Senator Gone, Then if any decision to discontinue or if any deci-
si;m ?wns made not to continue, to use the words, you are not aware
of it?

Secretary IMerrer. No, The only decision that I know of at any
stuge of the game was to go nhead,

[ Deleted.

COMPARISON OF STATEMENTS MADE BY PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF STATE

Senator Gore. Another statement which the President made, I
would like to read:

Of course we had no indlcation or thought that basie Soviet policies had
turned about. But when there is even the slightest chance of strengthening
peace, there could be no higher obligation than to pursue it,

Now, on page 4 of your statement here today, I would like to read.
This is on page 4, beginning “Summit prospects dimmed.”

Mr. Chairman, Ié ask unanimous consent that the second, third,
fourth, and fifth paragraphs on page 4 be reprinted at this point in
the record.

The C'namyan., Without objection it is so ordered.

(‘'The paragraphs referred to follow:)

In the first weeks after the Khrushchev American visit there was a general
improvement of atmosphere and people began talking, partly in hope, partly in
gome confusion, about “detente.” There were comparatively conciliatory
speeciies on each side; there was progress in the test-ban talks at Geneva; a
new Soviet-United States cultural agreement was signed November 21, and
on December 1 the United States, the U.S.S.R., and other powers signed the
Antaratic treaty.

But clouds began to gather even then, One of the earliest signs was the
strong Soviet protest on November 11 against West German plans to build a
broadcasting station in West Berlin. Another wan the Khrushchev speech on
November 14 which was harder in tone, boasted again of Soviet missile prowess,
and began a concentrated attack on Adenauer and the German Federal Republic
which later increased and seemed to be a central feature of Soviet presummit
tactics. The reason for this attack is still a matter for speculation. Perhaps
they thought it would undermine the Western position on Berlin by helping to
divide the Western Allies. It had no such effeet of course, but naturally
rallied us to speak out in defense of our German ally.

Khrushchev as early as December 1 also began repeating his threats to sign
a separate peace treaty with East Germany. He repeated these threats in his
speech to the Supreme Soviet on January 14 and in his remarks during his visit
to Indonesia and other countries in January. On February 4, the Warsaw
Pact powers issued the first formal bloewide commitment to sign a separate GDR
peace treaty. Thus Khrushchev's threatening Baku speech of April 23, though
it was the most sweeping since February 1959, was only a harsher version of
what he had been saying for months before. I shall make full documentation
on his speeches available to the committee.

Not until April did we reply at length to this mounting crescendo of Soviet
statements. We did so in order to keep the record straight—notably in the
speeches of April 4 and 20, which Khrushchev attacked for starting arguments
that he in fact had begun.
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Senator Gors. You will see from this statement, Mr. Secretary,
that you contradict the President’s statement, do you not?
The President snys:

We had no indicatlion or thought that basic Soviet policies had tﬁrned about.

From what I have just read, you list one, two, three, four occasions
whore the Soviet policy had, in fact, changed.

Do you wish to comument?

Secretary Herrer. Yes, I would be very glad to comment.

I don’t think that there is any essential disngreemont in the two
points of view.

I am talking primarily in my statement in regard to Berlin and
Germany.

The President was talking about a series of things in which he spoke
of disarmament, mutual inspection, atomic control, and then he added
Germany and Berlin.

As I testified earlier in the day, I think we all had hopes that there
might bo a possibility of making some progress, even though not in
the German-Berlin situation, but in the disarmament field, and as a
covollary possibly in the nuclear testing field where it was not a sum-
mit problem, but it would have been a three-power problem that could
have been discussed in Paris,

For instance, so long as there was any hope of making any progress,
the President was willmg to go.

Senator Gore. I didn’t question the President being willing to go
so long as there was any hope of progress.

What I was asking you to comment on was what appears to me to
be o contrast between the President’s statement that tEere is no indi-
cation that basic Soviet policies had turned about, and where you give
almost a full page indicating that they had turned about. But you
have finished your comment on that.

Secretary Hrrrer. Yes, there was some talk here about basic policy
and tactics in connection with the summit. I don’t think the President
felt events such as T cited necessarily mean that Soviet basic policy
had changed.

I think as he said after Camp David, he hoped that there was a
mutuality of interest, particularly in the disarmament field, which
would allow the great powers getting together in order to make prog-
ress in disarmament.

That had always been the area in which he hoped, because of the
mutuality of interest, that we might make progress.

I don’t think that there is anything fundamentally opposed in these
two statements.

EXTENT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV'S POWER

Senator Gore. Now, I want to ask a few questions which relate to
the first of the three questions on which I wish to examine your opin-
ion; that is, whether the diplomatic failure in Paris represented a
failure in policy.

You recall that I submitted certain questions to you here on March
22. At that time I asked you:

Do you think it would have been more prudent to have had an understanding
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about the subjects to be considered at a summit conference before agreeing to
have one, or do you think this is the proper way to keep the store?

Secretary HEerTER, It isa gamble. I don’t know.

Senator Gore. You are gambling with high stakes, and it seems to me fn a
reckless manner. I am disturbed to have the Sccretary of State make the
statements that you have made today about the summit conference; that there
is no plan, no purpose, no understanding as to what will be discussed and what
we hope to at{ain there.

Secretary HerTer. Mr. Senator, I view this as essentially a matter of ex-
ploration. We have the situation where an individual, Mr. Krushchev, is the
man who makes the decislons so far as we know, for the Russians.

Later on, L asked you:

Is there any reason why the Russian dictator could not delegate the same
power to his Forelign Minister as President Eisenhower should or does delegate
to you?

Senator UERTER. None,

Senator Gore. Then isn’t that a fallacious argument?

Secretary IIertTrR, Not necessarily, because you are dealing with an indi-
vidual persona;ity who many believe wants to be the negotiator.

Now, I read those things because one of the principal, if not the
principal, justifications for going to the summit and for the exchange
of visits was that Mr. Khrushchev and he alone spoke for the Russian
people, but today you tell us on page 7:

I might digress here to observe that it had been our experience at previous
conferences with the Soviets, at least since the death of Stalin, that the Soviet
representative, no matter how highly placed he might be, was bound by the
collective decisions on basic policy matters made prior to his departure from
Moscow. Any substantive changes in those positions apparently required refer-
ence back to Moscow before they could be undertaken.

And then on page 8, yousay:

This meeting completely confirmed our conclusion of the night hefore that
Mr. Khrushchev was operating within the fixed limits of a policy set before his
departure from Moscow,

Secretary IHerrer, There appears to be an inconsistency in those
two statements. :

When I was testifying here before, the visits of Mr. Khrushchev in
which sometimes he flad an important person with him and sometimes
he did not—

Senator Gore. In which what, sir?

Secretary Herrer. Sometimes in which he had an important person
with him and sometimes he did not, indicated that his situation at
home was such that he had a great deal more leeway than had pre-
viously been the case.

When he went to Paris, and I think this has been brought out, he
had with him Gromyko and Malinovsky, General Malinovsky,
Marshal Malinovsky, who never left him for one moment at any time.
This was a departure from previous occasions. This is why we said
};hey had gone back to their standard policy of taking directions from
home,

Prior to that time I had believed he had greater leeway than was
clearly indicated here in Paris.

Senator Gore. So the assumption proved to be erroncous.

Secretary Herter. It is.

R R W S NI T
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URUAL DIPLOMAEIC PROCEDURES VERSUS SUMMEEI CONFERENCES

Senator Goue, I believe you testified before the House, necording
to press reports yesterday, that summitry as a diplomatic method
had had some hard knocks,

Seevetary Heweer, Yes, Ldid,

In answor to a question from Senator Hnmphrey, 1 repeated the
samo thing today.

Soenator Gone, And in recommonding, which T certainly endorse,
continuing businesslike negotiation with the Soviets, you have in mind
the more usunl processes and procedures of diplomacy.

Socretary Herrew, That. is corveet,

Senator Gone, Negotintions,

Seeretary Hewrer, The one thing that 1 did peint. out, however,
is that. with regard to the Berlin situntion, Great. Britnin, IFrance,
tho United States and the Soviet. Union have responsibility.  This is
the carryover from the war.

Senator Gore, Yes,

Secretary Hewrur, And that there, there must bo ngreement.  This
ig & thing we have been fighting all the time, that. unilateral action b
the Russtans ennnot take away those rights and obligations whie?:
they as well as onrselves had nequired as n resnlt of the war.

That it must be done by the consent. of the four.

So that whether or not in the future the discussions to reach agree-
ment. mmong the four should take place through diplomatic channels,
through ambassadorial level, through foreign minister or not, I would
not suy which would be the level, but. [ think that it is much better
to see 1f we cannot, as we did in the foreign ministers’ conference, and
failed, try to reach a lavge measure of agreement prior to the meeting
of u summit conference so that there might be one or two small un-
resolved issues that could be resolved there rather than trying to
negotinte when you know that you are very far apart at a summit
conference.

Senator Gore. Well, T hope that you will persist, and that. the
President will persist in the businesslike undertakings. I will not
ask you to say that summitry apart from diplomacy failed. T am
content. with your statement in that regard. f am sorry that T think
it did fail.

Secretary, Herrer, I would differ with you, sir, on the question of
personal dipomacy as against swmmitry, 1 think that visits ave, on
the whole, useful things.

I wouldn’t say that that was something that should be discarded
completely. T think it is particularly true that visits of ministers
of foreign affairs, and visits of heads of state from time to time can
accomplish o great deal of good. But I believe very strongly that
insofar as heads of state are concerned that is not the place to begin
negotiations. It is the place perhaps where there should be the
culmination of negotiations.

Senator Gore. I will agree with you in that statement. The ex-
change of visits offers opportunities. But the formalization of a head
of state conference, where severe international tensions are involved,
without precise planning, without assurance that at least limited
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agreements enn bo veached, s, in my view, a dangerous process, and
n policy upon which wo should never have embarked.

OFf course, it is ensier to suy that now than it was before,

Hindsight, of course, wo learned o long time ago, is better than
foresight,

The Cnamsax. Would the Senator yield for o moment? T have
one or two questions and then he may come back to it.

Senator Gore, Good,

AUTHORIZATION FOR U -2 FLIQH'TS

Tho Cramatan. These T think have been covered but. for elarifica-
tion, [ might ask them again. - Was there ever a time when the Pregi-
dent. authorized each flight in this program; that’s never been the
practice,

Seeretnry Tlerrerr, I has never come up to the President.

The Cuamsan, Nor of the National Security Couneil,

Seevetary Hervsr, No,

Tho Cramsan, It has always been under a blanket authority
understood ?

Secerotary Hewrer, That is my impression,

The Cuatmas. Is this blanket authorization under review, cither
constant. or periodic review ¢

Secrotary Terrer, Tn my experience the CTA has planned & num-
ber of alternate flights at.a time. [ Deleted.]

BACKGROUND OFF NASA STATEMENT

The Cramsman, When the Department, brought Mr. Bohlen back
from Manila, and he was well-known as an expert on Soviet. behavior,
and this was, 1 thought, in anticipation of these summit meetings
which had been discussed a long time, did he or any other of our
Russinn experts advise you or the President to wait and see what Mr,
Khrushchev knew about the U-2 flight before making the NASA
statement ?

Mvr, Dinron. The people in the Department. who were familiar with
Soviet. policy took part in discussions with the CIA which led to the
coordination and the agreement on the guidelines which were given
to NASA, and those included the people who were familiar with all
aspects of our policy.

However, as we said hefore, we did not know that there was going
to be a full statement by NASA.

The Crairman. Mr. Bohlen was not consulted about the NASA
statement,

Mr. DiLron. Nobody in the State Department was consulted about
the statement as a statement.

The Cuairman. Nobody.

What puzzles me about this is why was there such compulsion, if
there was, to make such an immediate reaction? I have wondered
why there was any necessity for immediately reacting to the first
Khrushchev statement.

It would seem to me much more normal to wait a while and see
what developed.

Was there anything that was compelling you to answer almost
immediately ?

s MR S S PSR Ty
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Mr. DittoN. Yes, I would say so. It was such an unusual and re-
markable statement when Mr, Khrushchev said that American plane
had been shot down over the Soviet Union, that we were not in the
position to not make any comment whatsoever.

As a result we had to make some comment, and we made the very
bland statement which was put out on the 5th,

The Cuamman. I didn’t mean that. You misunderstood me. I
accept the necessity for the cover story, the statement.

Mr, Ditron. Yes.

The Ciramrman, It is the second one that went into such detail. It
would seem to me that it would be commonsense not to follow up too
quickly in the matter of timing. What was the reason for that?

Mr. Driuron. The State Department’s second statement was innocu-
oustoo. It didn’t go into any detail, any more detail than the original
cover story did. There was great—if any detail, that was the state-
ment that was put out by NASA.

The Cramaan. TIs it not true that the NASA statement itself is
what put you in & position of having to make a further statement?

Isthat true?

Mr. Dinton. The further statement, I think, was the next state-
ment in this series, was the one that was put out on Saturday which
was made only at the time when we knew that the Soviets probably
had the pilot, which was new information, and then the Soviets had
already said they had him, and had said where he was shot down,
and the probability was that they had certain parts of the airplane
beeause the picture which they had first put out turned out to be a

fraudulent picture,
BACKGROUND OF DEPARTMENT OF STATE'S STATEMENT OF MAY 7

The Cuarrman. Perhaps I don’t understand the timing of it.

It seems to me, if I do understand it, that you could have stood
upon the cover story for some time before the necessity of any further
statement, awaiting developments,

Mr, Dinron. You mean, your question is why we made the state-
ment on Saturday, May 7, which was the first time we departed from
the cover story.

The Crarman. Yes,sir.

Secretary Herrer. That, as I think I have testified before, was a

decision that was made in the light of the very full revelation of
Mr. Khrushchev in giving out, both as to the pilot’s testimony, and
as to the parts and equipment that had been recovered. That was
when we had to make the decision were we going to keep on lying
about this or were we going to tell the truth ?

The CHARMAN. Why there wasn’t a third alternative is what I
am trying to get at?

Why didn’t you just be quiet and say nothing? You don’t have
just the alternatives of either continuing to lie or to tell the truth?

You could have said nothing. I was just curious. Was it ever
considered that you didn’t have to react?

Secretary HerTErR. A good many statements were already being
made in Congress, a good many statements were already being made
or required of us almost.
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The press was hounding everybody, “What do_you say now after
what Mr. Khrushchev had said,” it was & very difficult time in our
society, our form of society to have said nothing. ) )

The Cnamman, I believe that was the statement in which you
said “it has been established that insofar as the authorities are con-
corned, there was no authorization for any such flights.” Is that
correct ?

Secretary ITerrer. That is right. )

The Cuairman. Which was not a truthful statement at that point,
was it ?

Secretary Herrer. No, this was still partly cover.

The Ciramrman. Still partly cover? .

Secretary Herrer., Still partly cover. It was not until Monday,
after the briefing had taken place before the congressional leadership
hero on the hill that the full statement was made.,

The Ciamrman. It was after that statement that the full statement
was made?

Secretary Hrrrer, That is correct.

BACKGROUND OF DEPARTMENT OF STATE SBTATEMENT OF MAY 9

The Citamrman. That full statement, if I understood it—I think
you have testified—was only after complete and thorough consulta-
tion with everyone concerned, and had the unanimous support of
State and the President ; is that correct ?

Secretary Herrer. It is, yes.

The CairmMan, Senator Gore, go ahead.

Senator Gozre. Well, when you made the final statement that the
President did a?prove, he was responsible—I am not undertaking to

y—you also made it plain that he did not approve
specific flights?

Secretary HERTER. Yes.

[Deleted. ]

BLOW TO UNITED STATES’ MORAL POSITION

Senator Gore. I will wait until Mr. Dulles’ testimony.,

Now, I wish to make my own feelings explicit. I have not intended
to suggest, nor do I believe the chairman or anyone else has intended
to suggest, that the President or any other official of the U.S, Govern-
ment tells a falsehood. I don’t know of any requirement in Anglo-
Saxon jurisprudence or any other jurisprudence stemming from
Roman law that a citizen is required to incriminate himself. 1 know
of no requirement that a nation is required to incriminate or denigrate
or defame itself. I do not claim any sense of morals or sensitivity to
moral standards greater than the average American, but I want the
record to show that I was humiliated with official falsification, and I
think millions of Americans were humiliated. I can agree with you
that our alliance stood firm. I am happy that it did, but I think we
would be deluding ourselves if we did not realize that this unfortunate

incident has dealt a severe blow to the moral position of the United

States. I think we should begin to mend it. The way to mend it is
to ferret out our errors and our mistakes, correct. them, and thereby
demonstrate to the world our will and our capacity to survive this

kind of blow—and I hope be stronger thereafter.
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WAS PRESUMMIT MEETING SUGQESTED?

Tho Cuamaan. Mr. Seeretary, there was one point that 1 over-
looked. 1 had heard that Chairman Khrushehey fmd directly or in-
directly made somo inquivy about the possibility of meeting Mr,
Eisenhower before the summit meeting. Do you know whether or
not that isso?

Seeretary Herrer, No. T know of no such effort,

The Criamman, No eflort ¢

Seeretary Hewver, Actually, Mre. Khrashehevy when he came (o
Paris, or just before he eanme to Paris, sent a note to the British and to
the Frenehy 1 think, Invgely on a procedural matter; no such note to
us. When the President nrvived in Paris, there was just as much op-
portunity for Mr. Khrushehev to seek o meeting with him as with the
others: and no sueh effort was made from any Russian source,

MILUPARY PREPAREDNESS OF THE SOVIET UNION

The Crearymax, Mr. Seeretary, have you drawn any inferences
from this wholo event relative to the military preparvedness of the
Soviet Union?

Seceretary Herrer, Of course, my judgment would not. be as good
as that of experts.  And here, again, 1 wouldn't want to give my
judgment as o considered judgment from the point of view of the
record.  There is no question but what the Russians are very active in
certain directions, and that the intelligence that has been gained with
regard to that activity has been of very great value to us. And |
Ahink that is as far as I should go.

The Cuamaran. Any further questions?

Senator Winky. Is the cold war still on or is it over?

Seceretary Herrer, It remains to be seen,

Senator Winey. Then. wo had better give primary attention to the
main issue, instead of quarreling about who 1s who and what is what
in relation to handling situations. It was your judgment; it isn't my
judgment. It isn’t the business of every little one in the Senate t¢ “«ll
you what you should do. It is your business, sir.

The Crramryan. Senator Mansfield, do you have any questions?

Senator Maxsrienp, No.

Senator Gore. Ofl the record, Mr. Chairman.

(Discussion off the record.)

[ Deleted. ]

LESSON OF THE U—2 INCIDENT

The Cramaan. Mr. Secretary, one last thing.” Do you think we
have learned—not just we, but all of us, including you and the admin-
istration—anything from the U-2 incident ?

Secretary Herrer. Not to have accidents.

The Cratryan. TIs that all we have learned ?

Senator Gore. Not what?

Mr, MicomBer. Not to have accidents.

The Criarryax. Do you think that is the only lesson we can draw
from these events ?

Secretary Herrer Mr. Chairman, I think that anyone would be
foolish to say that with hindsight one couldn’t have done better than
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when one is faced with certain events at a given time. I think obvi-
ously we should be giving serious consideration to the very best
method of the handling of anything of this kind that. might happen in
the future; and I think from that point. of view, as the President said,
we welcome this inquiry. We welcome a full disclosure as far as we
could from the point of view of responsibilities and coordination, 1
thank you for your patience here today.

The Cnamman. T want to thank you for your patience and your
frankness and candor. 1 think you and your associates—Seeretary
Dillon and Mr. Bohlen—have been most cooperative in this whole
hearing. 1 like to think that out of this one—as you know, rather pet
project. of mine—is that the State Department. itself be given greater
prestige and authority in controlling and coordinating all matters
relating to our foreign relations—as I have tried in the ease, for ex-
ample, with the recent instance of control of the black market in
Turkey. 1 think your Department, the Department of State, onght
to have more authority than we have in the past accorded it. T am
sure that some of our troubles do not relate to any fault on your part,
but to the sort of institutional practices that have grown up—and
people assuming authority to make statements without consulting you
and the Department. 1 feel at this stage of the proceedings that this
may be one of the goed things that will come out of these hearings:
that. the prestige and authority of the State Department will be
enhanced.

Seeretary Herrer. Thank you,

The Cnamrman. Thank you very much.

Senator Gorr. Could 1 join you in commending the Secretary and
his assistants for their candor and their patience and their diligence
here today.

Secretary Ierrer. Thank you.

Senator Wirey. May I also join you the third time by saying, in
my humble opinion the evidence and the statement you made and
the statement. that Dillon made and the President’s speech show con-
clusively that the breakup of the summit conference was due to Khru-
shchev and no other cause.

The Criairymaw. Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.

The committee is adjourned until next Tuesday.

(Whereupon, at 5:55 p.m., the committee recessed, to reconvene
at 10 a.m,, T'uesday, May 31, 1960.)

[As noted in the foreword, Allen W. Dulles, Director of the Central
Intelligence Agency, appeared bafore the committee on Tuesday, May
31, at 10 a.m., and testified in executive session. For security reasons.
his testimony was not released to the public. The committee recessed
on szy 31 at 5:10 p.m,, to reconvene at 10 a.m., Wednesday, June 1,
1960.
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WEDNESDAY, JUNE 1, 1960

U.S. SENATE,
Coxdrree oN ForeieN RELATIONS,
Washington, D.C.

The committee met at 10:10 a.m., pursuant to recess, Senator J. W.
Fulbright (chairman) presiding.

Present: Senators Fulbright (presiding), Mansfield, Gore,
Lausche, Wiley, Hickenlooper, Aiken, Carlson, and Capehart.

Also present: Hon. Charles E. Bohlen, Special Assistant to the
Secretary of State; Hon. William B. Macomber, Jr., Assistant Secre-
tary of State for Congressional Relations; Richard Helms, Central
Intelligence Agency ; and Cipt. L. P. Gray III, USN, Military Assist-
ant to the Chairman; Joint Chiefs of Staff, ™

The Cramaga®. The committee will come to°o

Our witn?s} this morning is l?r»};lugh Dryden, t
istrator of,fhe National Aerorautics~and Space Administration.

I remind members of”oir committee tljat today our transcript will
be censgzed and reledsed t¢ the press. Fomorrow mornipg at 10 a.m.
we w}}) meet again in thi§ room\in executive session with Secretary

der.
Deputy Admin-

Gates

Dr./Dryden, do you have
Mu. Drypen. I have
will,}]T would like to pt
e
ht

preparedstat Aent\
prggnred statgment bBut if the tommittee
ed -for 10 rhihutes orjso to give you the
background o SA’s rehlwith th —'2“airéraft.
The Crran g Alr ,““ ‘y()u;qca ;3

STATEMENT OF DR. GH 1:,: {DR N, 'DE?UTY ADMINISTRA-
C

Ny ’
TORy NATIO I:/AERO AUTICS A SPACE) ADMINISTRATION
(NASQA); ACCOMPANIED BY TAMES P. GLEASON, AS§ISTANT AD-
MINISTRATOR FOR (CONGRESS ONA WTIONS, ASA
n N

STUDY OF ATR TURBULENCE BY U—2)

Mr. Drypen."There is an extensive program on air turbulence
which was begun by. the National Advisory Co e for Aero-
nauties. (NACA). 1t isa-part-of—as-far as NAS oncerned, it
it a part of the aeronautical activities transferred ASA in ac-
cordance with the National Aeronautics and Space Act.

In this program, which began in 1956, there have been 200 weather
flights of U-2 aircraft with NASA and air weather service instru-
mentation covering flights extended over about 264,000 miles. Ninety
percent of this fli~ht time was above an altitude of 40,000 feet, and 40
percent. of it, or c.oout 100,000 miles, was above 50,000 feet; and these
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flights have been conducted in the Western United States, Western
Europe, Turkey, and Japun.

I may recall to your minds that the function of NACA was that
of an aeronautical research agency to support the Government’s pro-
gram in the development of civil aireraft and military aircraft.

RESEARCH INFORMATION PRODUCED

We produced only research information used in the design of air-
planes.

One important part of this research information which certainly
is brought to your mind by some of the recent accidents to aireratt
is that of loads on the aireraft due to atmospheric disturbances or
gusts, There are two types of problems: one illustrated by the ex-
perience of the airplane which recently got caught in thunderstorm
activity is that of the maximum load which the airplane may reach
which may tear the wings from the body.

The other and more insidious type of loading is the repeated load
due to gustiness or rough air that many of you have often encoun-
tered in flying. These repeated loads produce a type of brittle failure
which we call fatigue failure. This has, as you may recall; been
encountered in one or two types of airplanes and remedied at con-
siderable cost.

Now, it has been the function of NACA to carry on a program to
furnish the designer information on the magnitude of atmospheric
gusts encountered by airplanes, the frequency of occurrence of loads
of different magnitudes. We have been engaged in the general type
of activity since 1933 and have data on all of the civil transports from
that date.

ARRANGEMENTS TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ON AIR TURBULENCE -

That, of course, gives you a record of experience with the perform-
ance capabilities of present airplanes, but it was our responsibility
to try to get this information for airplanes yet to be built. This meant
that in practice we were always seeking tfle highest and fastest air-
planes to get information of this kind from, so as to be in advance
of the development of the commercial aircraft.

To do this we made arrangements to get information from military
airplanes.

Tfor example, at the close of World War II we installed our instru-
ments in the B-36 airplane used then by SAC; and during their
training operations these instruments continued to record gusts and
the data were sent to us for analysis.

Now the pattern of operation with the commercial airlines and with
the military has been the same throughout. We meet with the owners
and operators of the airplanes—whether an airline or the military
service—come to an agreement with them that our instruments can
be installed on their airplanes.

In the early stages we send our instrument technicians to visit and
supervise the installation of the instruments. We train employees of
the airlines or the GI's in military——

The Cuamrman, Dr. Dryden, dyoes any of this have any relevance
to the inquiry which this committee is concerned with?
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My, Drypexn. It does. We will come to this immediately. We train
our technicians to change the film and send the information to NASA
for analysis. We have no detailed knowledge of the flight plans until
after the fact; and as a matter of record, we obhtain information
neaded to analyze the data. Observations extend throughout the
world. At the present time we have instruments on Pan American
and TWA jets which, of course, go around the world. We have co-
operated with foreign governments and airlines by lending instru-
mentation,

U~2 OPERATION

Now the U-2 operation is in the same general pattern of operation.
This project was organized in 1956 when [deleted] the capabilities of
this new airplane were brought to our attention. It was able to fly at
altitudes very considerably higher than any existing airplane.

The program has been carried on entirely openly. There have been
three reports issued, unclassified: there have been press releases on
these operations from time to time.

The program was unclassified except that the data which revealed
the airplane could go higher than 55,000 feet were classified. They
will now be declassified since the potentialities of the airplane have
become known, ‘

[Deleted.]

NEED FOR DATA AT HIGHER ALTITUDES

I must take you back to the atmosphere at the time. These were
the days when the airlines had had DC-6’s and DC-7's, and Constel-
lations. At that time we knew the 707, the DC-8, and the Electra
were under design. We were told that the first of these airplanes
would be developed early in 1959. All of our previous data with air-
planes had been at altitudes generally not too much above 20,000 feet
where these airplanes operated. The new airplanes would operate at
35,000 to 40,000 feet, and the military services were interested in
supersonic airplanes which traveled at much higher altitudes, so that
there was at this time a great pressure on us to find methods of obtain-
ing data, and the presence of the capabilities of the U-2 airplane
seemed to us to give the answer. Some of our advisory committees
at the time were bringing to our attention the great need for this
information. T will simply read one extract, if I can find it quickly
for you, and this committee called our attention to the fact that we
did not have suitable airplanes available.

There are three basic regions within which data are available. below 25,000
feet, up to 30,000 feet with military vehicles, up to 55,000 where meager data

are available from balloons and rockets and inference from meteor trails. Exist-
ing research vehicles are reaching to higher altitudes—

and so on.

It is recommended that emphasis be placed on obtaining quantitative infor-
mation on air turbulence at the highest altitudes reasonably obtainable with
existing research vehicles,

[Deleted.]

_Now_this program was carried on from 1956 through the present
time. NASA was established in October, October 1, 1958, and this was
one of the programs carried over into NASA.
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I might recall to you that NACA was not extensively involved in
aeronautical activities, that NASA, at present, is engaged in inter-
national space activities, So far we have not had any adverse reac-
tions on the part of people with whom we are cooperating abroad in
space programs.

I think this gives the general background and I would be glad to
respond to questions or to continue with the NASA chronology of the
week of May 1, as you desire, Mr, Chairman,

The Cramaan. Perhaps we ought to proceed with questions.

[Deleted.]

LINE OF RESPONSIBILITY FROM NASA TO THIE PRESIDENT

Do you report directly to the President? What is your relation-
ship to the rest of the Government? .

Mr. Drypen. At that time the NACA was managed by a committee
;)f 17 persons appointed by the President who did report directly to-

rim,

I was the chief executive officer reporting to the committee at the
time this project was started,

The Crzairman. In 1956 %

Mpr. Drypen. 1956.

The Ciramryan. At that time the agency was known as the NACA?

Mr. Drypen. That is correct.

The Cratraan. When did it change its name to NASA ¢

Mr. DrypeEn. On October 1, 1958, it not only changed its name but
was collected with other parts of the Government into & completely
new agency, the NASA.

The Cuairman. Does it report to the President ?

Mpr. DrypEn. It reports directly to the President, sir.

The CHAIRMAN. ’Iqlere is a committee of 17 you say?

Mr. Drypen. There is not & committee in NASA. There is an Ad-
ministrator and Deputy Administrator appointed by the President
with the advice and consent of the Senate.

The Cirairman, Is there anyone on the staff of the White House
who is given the duty of receiving your reports?

Mr. Drypen. Doctor Glennan reports and talks very frequently
with the President himself. e does keep the Science Adviser fully
informed of our activities in space.

The Ciratraran. Who is the Science Adviser?

My, Drypen. Dr. Kistiakowsky.

The C:iamman. So if anyone has the direct responsibility within
the White House, the office of the Presidency, it is Dr.

Mr. Drypen. Kistinkowsky. Ie is the President’s adviser on
science and technology. IHe has no line responsibility. He is an ad-
viser to the President.

REPORT OF U—2’S LOSS

The Criatraan. The first that you knew of this was the loss of the
U-2 plane on Male' 1? .

Muy. Drypen. May 1 it was reported to the Administrator and my-
self that a U-2 had been lost, without further detail.

[Deleted. ]
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ANTICIPATION Ol' INQUIRIES ABOUT LOSS

The Cuamsan., Did CIA consult with you as to the precise lan-
guage of the release of May 5%

r. Drypen. What was

The Cirairman. Who drew up that language?

Mr. Drypen. It was discussed in consultation. The questions the

ress asked were: who is the pilot, where was the airplane going, what
information do you have about it ?

So that between CIA and ourselves, a list of these questions which
we had received was recorded, and the general nature of the answers
to these questions decided upon. Now, let me tell you about the so-
called release of the statement. On the morning of Thursday, May
5, was Khrushchev’s announcement that the plane was shot down.
Somewhere between 11 and 12 o’clock, I believe, the President directed
an inquiry and public report on the missing plane, and as reported
in the Herald Tribune—1I do not have any other stenographic record—
in quotes, it says:

At the White House, Mr. Hagerty announced at the direction of the President
a complete inquiry is being made. The results of these inquiries, the facts as

developed will be made public by the National Aeronautics and Space Adminis-
tration and the Department of State.

BACKGROUND OF THE MAY 5 NASA RELEASE

The reporters who had listened to Mr. IHagerty, many of them,
came immediately to our public information office to obtain further
information. We ourselves thought it was better to take the agreed-
upon answers to the questions, to write them into a statement, and
give it to them all at once, rather than engage in a general free-for-all
on this subject. I would like to emphasize that the text of that state-
ment as issued was not cleared with CIA or anyone else, although
the information in it, the answers to the questions that are contained
within it, were cleared with CIA, and I am told by them with State.

The Cuaryan. You discussed all of the substantive facts and state-
ments in that with representatives of the CIA ?

Mr., Drypen. This is correct. It was not intended to give out a
statement. We were confronted with a large group of reporters who
wanted the facts. We could either engage in a general free-for-all
discussion—we thought it preferable to take these facts, put them in
a piece of paper and give 1t to all of them at once.

CLEARANCE OF MAY 5 STATEMENT

The Cuairsan. After consulting with CIA, you prepared this state-
ment, and they knew what the statement was?

Mr. Drypen. I tried to say before that the statement itself or the
facts that were collected in a statement was not cleared with anyone.

The Crramaan. With anyone?

Mr. Drypen, With anyone but ourselves. The substance of it had
been cleared. The fact that it was written down in a statement on a
piece of paper was not cleared with anyone.

The Cuamnan. Before you issued this to the press, did you have
anyone from the Department of State look at it and approve it?
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Mr. Drypen. We had no contact with the Department of State.
Our direct contaets were solely with the CIA.

The Cuamman. Has no one ever advised you that the Department
of State should be consulted when statements affecting our foreign
policy are made?

Mr. Drypen. I was told that these statements had been cleared by
(1A with State. T did not independently check that fact.

The Cramaran. Who told you that?

Mr. Drypen. The C'IA people with whom we were dealing, sir.

REASON FOR MEN1TONING OTIER U—2 BASES IN MAY § RELEASE

The (rramryran. What was the reason for saying in your statement
that. these planes were being used in Japan and Turkey and California.
Why were you so specific about Japan and California?

Mr. DrypeN. We were asked by the press, “How many U-2 planes
does NASA have in its weather program? Where are they operat-
ing?™  Now, much of this had been published in these documents to
which T referred which had been publicly released. To take a specific
one, one released just a few months ago in June 1959, this has
been released generally, you will find in this that these operations

The Cuamman. T don’t wish you to read that memorandum, T
only want to know your thinking, You issued this without checking
it with the State Department. Why did you state that they were
operating out of Turkey ?

Mr. Deypen. This published report—-

The CriairMaN. You had already published it ?

Mr. Drypen (continuing). Had said, “These flights were made from
bases at Watertown Strip, Nevada.”

The CitairMan. T know, but those were weather flights.

[ Deleted.]

Mr. Drypen. We had mentioned Adana, Turkey, and Atsugi, Japan,
in this free and open publication.

The CiratrmMaN. Senator Mansfield ?

GROUNDING OF U-2’s

Senator MansrieLp. Dr. Dryden, have all our U-2’ been recalled
since the President’s order of Thursday, a week ago, that there would
be no further overflights of the Soviet Union ¢

Mr. Drypen. Not to my knowledge, sir. T believe at the present
time the airplanes are grounded., But I think this is a question again
that the operating people will have to answer.

INCIDENT 1IN JAPAN

Senator MansrieLp. Do you recall the incident which occurred in
Japan some months ago when a U-2, I assume, landed at Atsugi and
GI’s landed from a helicopter and ordered the Japanese civilians in
the area toleave?

Mr. Drypen. T remember the newspaper accounts of it. I have no
personal knowledge of the incident.

[Deleted.]



EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 115

We made arrangements o put instruments in U-2 airplanes, There
comes back to us flight plans of weather flights, and our instrumenta-
tion and the data from those instruments, and 1 do not have in ad-
vance knowledge even of the weather flight operations——

Senator Mansrierp. 1 am referring to a story which appeared in
Time magazine 2 or 3 weeks ago, I was seeking collaboration of that
story. But you have no personal knowledge whether it was true or
false?

Mvr. Drypen. T have no personal knowledge of it, sir.

Senator Mansererp, Your responsibility in these U-2 flights is
primarily observation and caleulation concerning weather conditions?

Mr, Drypen, That is correct, and in those flights made with U-2’s
with our instruments, for our purposes.

CIHAIN OF COMMAND T0 THE WHITE HOUSK

Senator Mansriern, What is Dr. Glennan’s position? You are
the Administrator of NASA.

Mr. Drypen. 1 am the Deputy Administrator. I appear because
I was here in 1956 through this program, from the beginning.

Senator Mansrierp. Dr. Glennan is the Administrator?

Mur. Drypen. He is the Administrator.

Senator Mansriern. And Dr. Glennan supposedly reports directly
to the President?

Mor. Drypen. To the President, yes, sir.

Senator MansrieLn. Does he or does he not report directly to Dr.
Kistiakowsky ?

Mr. Drypen. The President on the average sees him two or three
times a month.

Senator Mansrienp. Where does Dr, Kistiakowsky——

Mr. Drypex. He is @« member of the White House stafT.

Senator Mansriern. I know that he is the President's scientific
adviser,

M. Drypen. He is not in the line of command.

Senator MansrieLn. The chain of command is directly from Dr.
Glennan to the President ?

Mr. DrypeN. Yes,sir.

Senator Mansriern, That is all.

The Criamyax. Senator Wiley ?

DATE OF COVER STORY

Senator WiLey. What was the date of that cover statement ?

Mr. Drypen, The Turkish story was put out by the local commander
in Istanbul on Tuesday, May 3. The statement which we issued re-
cording the agreed-upon answers to questions was on Thursday, May
5. If I might just continue this, on Friday, May 6, a NASA U-2 air-
plane was flown at Edwards Air Force Base, exhibited to the press,
they saw the instruments that were used. They took movies of the
airplane,  On Saturday, May 7, Mr. Khrushchev reported that he
had the pilot. At 6 p.m. State issued a statement admitting the recon-
naissance flight,

At 6:30 NASA directed all further inquiries to the State Depart-
ment,
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Senator Wirey. Let’s get back to my question. What was the date
of the cover statement that the chairman has been talking about?
Mr. Drypen. The 5th,as I understand it, sir.
Deleted. ]
enator Wirey. NASA is primarily engaged in seeking weather
information.
Mr. Drypen. We have no intelligence activities either in the de-
velopment of devices, methods, instruments or operations,

CLEARANCE OF MAY 6 STATEMENT

Senator WiLey, My understanding is that this cover statement was
the result of previous interrogation by the press.

Mr. Drypen. That is correct.

Senator Wirky. When you issued it, you did not consult with Cen-
tral Intelligence?

Mr. Drypen. Not on the statement, itself but. all of the questions
had been taken up with them. We had no source of information, We
asked how shall we reply to the name of the pilot, to the flight plan
of the airplane, and the answers as given us are incorporated in the
statement, although the exact text was not read buck to CIA.

PUBLIC RELEASES ON U—-2 WEATHER FLIGHTS

Senator WiLey. You referred to some publicity that was issued, I
think you said, in 1959.

Mr, Drypen. Well, the first press release on our U-2 project was
released on May 7, 1956,

Senator WiLey. You held up a blue docket referring to 1959,

Mr. Drypen. Yes, this is some of the results.

Senator WirLry. IHas that been made public?

Mr. DrypeNn. Yes.

Senator Wirey. On what pages is the part you referred to, because
I1 want it in the record. I want to try to get this story simple and
clear.

Mr. Drypen. On page 3 of this NASA memorandum which car-
ries & number, 4-17-591,, the flights were made from bases at Water-
town Trip, Nev., Lakenheath, Iingland, Wiesbaden, Germany, Adana,
Turkey and at Atsugi, Japan. Two additional flights were made
from a base in Alaska and these data have been combined with those
from Japan in the statistical treatment,

Senator Wirey. Yes. You agree that that has been public in-
formation now for some time?

Mr. DrypEN. Yes.

Senator Wirey. Since 1959?

Mr, Drypen. And even earlier, I think in 1957—57, one of them
deals with the western part of the United States only, and I believe
that 1959 is the one which gives the list, yes, sir.

June of 1959,

[ Deleted. ]

Senator Wirey. Thatisall,

The Crramryan. Senator Gore?

[ Deleted. ]
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REASON FOR NABA STATEMENT

Senator Gore. In response to a question by me, Secretary Dillon
testified as follows:

No, it was decided when we first heard of this, this news, as I sald earlier this
morning, at this Natlonal Security Council meeting or right after it that was
held outside of Washington, that the State Department would handle the pub-
licity on this, aud that we would make any statement that would be made, and
it was known at that time that we would make a statement.

n’l‘hat leads me to wonder why NASA was making a statement at
all.

Mr. Drypven. This information, this decision of which you speak
was not, transmitted to us. I would like to remind you that this is
all within a few hours. The information we had was a statement
mado at the White House which T read to you that the reporters were
referred to NASA and the State Departinent for the facts and this was
the extent of my knowledge when the statement was issued.

NASA UNAWARE OF DECISION TO LET STATE DEPARTMENT
HANDLE PUBLICITY

Senator Gore. Then you did not know that a high level decision
had been made that the State Department would make whatever
statement was made with respect to this.

Mr. Drypen. That is correct.  'Within the 3 hours or so of this inter-
val, this was not passed to us, and I would again say that so far as
we were concerned the cover story was in eftect as the result of the
collaboration with CIA for the period from May 1 to May 7, and we
did nothing, we said nothing contrary to the agreed on facts relating
to the cover story.

Senator Gore. When did you first learn of this high level decision
that the State Department would make whatever statement was made
and would handle the publicity on this matter?

Mr. Drypen, I thin]k that after the statement was issued, there were
some calls as to—I do not know how to place the time. The only
thing I have been able to find in our records is an instruction to our
people as of Saturday to refer all inquiries to the State Department.
T believe that before that time, there had been some discussions of
why the statement had been issued by us, and I have explained the
reasons for that.

Senator Gore. I will get to that in a moment. When did you first
know that the decision had been made, to which My, Dillon referred,
that the State Department would make statements and would handle
the publicity on this matter? You say you were not informed that
the decision had been made at the time you made your statement.

Mr. Drypen. It was subsequent to the day of May 5, May 6, or
May 7. I have a record of May 7. After the State Department’s
statement. at 6 p.m., that NASA would refer all inquiries to the State
Department, I believe weo were informed, probably on Friday the 6th,
but I have no specific record.

Senator Gore. Who informed you?

Mr. Drypen. I think it was a telephone call. I just do not have
a specific recollection whether it came as a telephone call or a contact
with Dr. Glennan at lunch at the Whito House. I just do not recall,
Sir.
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Wae ean perhaps clear that up for the record after consultation, sir.
Senator Gore, 1 think it would be well if you can do so,
(The following information was subsequently furnished:)

STATEMENT BY DR, DRYDEN ON WHEN NASA was NoTIFiEp oF DECISION To HAVE
DEPARTMENT oF STATE HANDLE PusLiCciTY OoN U-2
The telephone logs of Dr. Glennan and myself show no calls to or from the
State Departwent on May 6 or 7, but it is my best recollection that we did learn
of the decision on May 6.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS PREPARED TO IHANDLE INQUIRIES

You have referred several times to questions and answers, or the
answers to questions as the ease may be, supplied to you by CIA. Do
you have a copy of that question and answer series?

Mr. DrypeN. We may have some rough notation. What we did
was record the types of questions that the press was asking us. We
then took these types of questions to the CIA and discussed them with
them as to the answers.

[ Deleted. ]

Senator Gore. Was there not a typewritten copy?

Mr. Drypex. To the best of my knowledge, no.

Senator Gork. But you do have some notes,

Mr. Drypex. The statement itself enables you to reconstruct the
questions. They are generally who was the pilot, what was the flight
plan, where was the airplane supposed to go, what was the route, how
many airplanes does NASA operate on weather missions, from what
bases have these airplanes been operating? I think you can reconstruct
the questions from the statement itself. I am not sure whether we
can find the notes that someone may have writlen down to refresh his
memory in discussing it,

INSTRUCTIONS TO NASA TO MAKE STATEMENT

Senator Gore. Who instructed your Ageney to make a statement ?

Mr. Drypex. We were instructed to answer questions.

Senator Gore, By whom?

Mr. Drypex. By the CTA, who said that this had been coordinated
with the State Department.

Senator Gore. And the CIA gave you instructions to respond to
questions?

Mr. Drypex., We asked for information. The operation was not
ours, We had no knowledge of the operation itself. We said, “TTow
shall we reply to these questions? You realize the fact that we did
not know very much about where this airplane was, whether the
Russians have the airplane, whether they have the pilot. What do
You want us to say in this interim period? Can we find out more
about it?"

Senator Gore. You felt the burden of saying something, did you?

Mr. Drypex, We felt the burden of answering questions because
for 4 years the existence of this NAS.\ weather flight program had
been known.
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WIEN WERE COUNTERMANDING INSTRUCPFIONS RECEIVED?

Senator Gore. And, meanwhile, no one informed you that the
decision had been made at the highest levels of Government that the
State Department would handle this?

M. Drypex. The discussions I referved to, the visits of the press,
were made within an hour or two of the making of that decision at a
place outside of Washington, and it was not communicated to us
within that 2-hour period.

Senator Gore. You have told us it wasn't communicated to you at
all.

Mr. Drypex. Until the following day.

Senator Gore, Until after you had made a statement ?

Mr. Drypen. A statement.  To get. the chronology again, this meet-
ing to which you refer, at which the decision was made, was on the
morning of May 5, somewhere between 11 and 12 o'clock. .\ decision
was made and Mr. Hagerty informed the press at the direction of
the President that the facts would be obtained through NASA and
State. The reporters eame immediately over to our public informa-
tion section wanting to know some of these facts.

Senator Gore. Do yon know whether either Mr. Hagerty or Presi-
dent Eisenhower had been informed of this decision reached outside
Washington?

Mr. Drypex, T think the President was outside Washington at the
time.

Senator Gore. Tt seems to me that I recall the President participated
in this conference.

Mr. Drypex. T just do not know the details of that. T think it was
given in the testimony of the Secretary of State,

Senator Gore. Wasn't that a meeting of the National Security
Council ?

Mr. Drypex. T do not know that, to my knowledge. The statement
was made that Mr. Fisenhower was at secret Civil Defense Iead-
quarters,

Senator Gorr. Will you repeat that ?

Mr. Drypexn. I say the statement says that President Tisenhower
was at his secret Civil Defense Headquarters.

REFERENCE T0O MR. DILLON’S TESTIMONY REGARDING NASA’S ROLE

Senator Gore. I will read from Mr. Dillon’s statement :

Now, Mr, Hagerty was not at the Security Council meeting, but he was at
that area out there where this exercise was taking place and so he was aware
of the fact that the State Department would be making a statement at noon
that day at our regular press conference time. Actually, the statement was
delayed 45 minutes. It was made ot 12:435 when our regular daily press con-
ference took place.

Senator Gore. Was it decided there that NASA would make a statement also?

Mr. DimroN. It was not, to my knowledge, no. It was not decided there
that NASA would make a statement.

Senator Gore. Who made that decision?

Mr. Dirron. I think that you have to ask NASA. I don't know who made any
such decision.

Soyou say you decided upon instructions of CIA ?
Mr. DrypeN. No.
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Senator Gore. Just how do you state it ¢

Mre. Dryvoen, 1 stated that wo had received word of the White
House announcement. that the fuets will bo made public by NASA
and the Department of State.  Now, this means I suppose that within
this 2- or 3-hour peviod this information was not. tennsmitted to us,
1 do not know the reasons,

Senator Gouwe. Do you know if Mre. Hagerty ealled you or Mr,
Bonney or anyone in the Depurtment. suggesting that a statement. by
nmadoe?

My, Deyoen. Not to my knowledge, sir,

Senator Gore. My time is ap,

The Ciaesan, Yes, Senntor Hickenloopor?

NASAL ACTION BARED ON PREVIOUS UNDERSTANDING WITHL O1A

Semator Therenvoorer, Dre Devdony when the newsmen cnme (o
the lufornation Depurtment of NASA, did the Information Dopart.-
nment aet. on itsownt

Mr, Drvorn. No, they did not. "They aeted in consultation,

Senntor Thexunvoover, With you?

Me Dirvoen. With moj yes, sir,

Senator ThereNtoorer, Was it in conneetion with that. consulta-
tion, based upon the information which you then had about Mr. Hag-
orty's statement, that you anthorized the issuance of the statement, by
the Information Rerviceof NASA?

Mr, Drvorx, 1t was ealled o memorandum to the press, T did not.
attvibute suflicient importance to the distinetion betweon answering
questions of veporters and giving them the samo information on
picee of paper.

Seuator hlvm:xn.mm-m. A fter you had mnde the statement, or your
Tuformation Department. issued this statement, was this statemont
sent to the CLA or the State Department ?

Mr, Drvpes. Tt was sent—1 do not. know exactly what time.

Senator ThickeNtoorer. And was the statement. which was issued
by your Information Depavtment—perhaps you have answered this
question—cleared with CTA in its context or with the State Dopart-
ment prior to the issuance by your Information Servico?

Mr. Dryorx. I have answered that. The statement, as written,.
was not cleared.

The information in the statement had been previously cleared by
CIA. with State.

Senator Hicxeztoorer. So that the statement was based, then,.
upon the understandings which had previously been had?

Mr. Drypex. This is correct,

Senator Hickexroorer. With CIA?

Mvr. Drypex. This is correct.

Senator HickexroorEr. And with the State Department?

Mr. Drypex. Nothing—no substantive information was added to it.

Senator HickexNtoorer. Just to et this cleared up a little bit, after:
vou learned of the statement of Mr. Hagerty—which I believe was
the source of vour determination to make the May 5 statement—after
vou had learned of that statement of Mr. Hagerty that NASA and
the State Department could give information on this matter, did yow.
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gol in touch with the Whits House, My, IHagerly, or any authorita-
tive porson there, or with the State Depnrtiment?

Mr. Divoen, Tdid not.  Tany 1 perhups erroneously did not, see
the differonce botween answering questions of w huge number of
roportors and putting the snme thing down on a piecs of puper, It
is the sumoe information,

Senator Hickunroover, 1 helieve that, isnll, M, Chairman,

The Coamsan, Senntor Lausche?

Soenator Thekenwoorer, T wanted 1o ask yon for o copy of that
statement,

Mo, Dryoun. Thecommittee hns it alrendy,

Sonntor Thekssioorer, T understand it s in the background docu-
monts, That is all vight,

Tho Criamsman, g in the bnekground dociments,

(Seo appendix 1, p. 180,)

NO WRIPPTEN MEMORANDUM OF QUESTIONH AND ANKWERS

Senator Gone, Alsoy 1 believe you were going (o supply to the chair-
man the question nnd nnswer series,

Mr, Drvorn. I owas going to see if there is nround, n penciled
momorandum of thequestions, 1 am not. sure that there is,

Senator Gone, 11 there is?

Mr, Drvoen, I thereis, I will supply it to the chairman,

('T'ho following information wag subsequently furnished ;)

No memorandum of questions and answers was made; the discusslon wasg
ontirvely oral,

NAKA’E LACK 0FF KNOWLEDGE OF U=2 FLIGIT

Thoe Ciamaran. Senator Lausche, the NASA statement is found on
pagoe 4 of the buckground documents.

| Deleted.]

Senator Lavsens, At the time you issued your statement you did
not. have knowledge of what the Soviet. knew about it and what actu-
ally happened ?

My, f)m'mm. Wedid not,

Senator Lavscie, Did you have knowledge of the instructions that
were given to the pilot?

Mvr. Drypen. No,sir. No knowledge about the operations.

Senator Lauvscre. And that is——

Mr. Dnrypen. We heard Khrushchev’s press announcement, of
course, that morning.

Senator Lavscue, I think that is all that T have with this witness.

Thoe Criamaman. You think that your position as an international
weather gatherer has been compromised by this U-2 incident ?

Mr. Drypen. Not so far, [Deleted.]

(From this point on all further testimony on this date was classified
by order of the committee.)

(At 12:15 p.m., the committee adjourned, to reconvene at 10 o'clock
a.m,, June 2, 1960.)
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THURSDAY, JUNE 2, 1960

U.S. SENATE,
Comptrrree oN ForeloN RELATIONS,
Washington, D.C.

The committee met at 10:10 a.an., pursuant to recess, Senator J. W.
Fulbright (chairmm? residing,

Present: Senators “ull)bl'ight,{}-Iumpllrey, Muansfield, Morse, Long,
Gore, Wiley, Hickenlooper, Aiken, Capehart, and Carlson.

Also present: Brig. Gen. George S. Brown, U.S. Air Force, and
Capt. Means Johnston, Jr.,, U.S.Navy,.military assistants to the
Secretary of Defense; Cr L L. P, Gray II1;-U.S. Navy, militar
asgistant to the Chajrthan, Joint Chiefs of Staff:-Hon. Charles T.
Bohlen, Special A/ssismnt to the Secretary of State; Ien. Willinn B.
Mzwomi)ér, Jr., {Assistzmt. Secretaryof-State for Congredgional Rela-
tions; RicharddTelms, Central Jllteliigerlce Ap;rency. \
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()"{}IR’MAN 8 OPENING S'I»’l‘/l:}MEN N \

N \

The CiARMAN. The commi ee\gll]oqme to/order.
We havp this morning the/Hondgable ‘J\‘ho as S\ Gates,

Secretaryf of Defense.
i U (krrow nbou% the regulations,

S

Mr. Sepretary, I-think
will be \takeh -down" but- nothing will be released except
that whidh has begn passeyl by the ; geuZG representing the State
i@ I nssqmv{erhapgvyou may wgnt to
\ .".Ja T

Dopartmept and the CIA,
consult with them.

I think you underitand that, - ...~
Secremry\GA'rEs. es, sir. .-

The Cuampran. I understand you have alstaterfent.
Secretary (4118, A very brief statement. \..

The CuAmMeA\xAll right,"Mr. -Secrétary, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF-THE HONORABLE THOMAS ﬁ.z ATES, JR,,
() TARY OF DEFENSE- T

annnyn P

e e

Secretary Gares. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opporfunity to
np{)ear before you.
have a short statement, if I may read it. It relates to two sub-
jects, TFirst, I am certain that you wish me to cover the role played
y the Department of Defense in the U-2 overflight program.

123
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ROLE OF 'THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE IN THE OVERFLIGUT PROURADM

Flements of the Department of Defense gave technieal advice to
the U-2 projeet.  No military airerafi were used for theso flights
nor wero the pilots military personnel.

From time to time, the Director of the C1A, after oldaining the
concurrence of the Seeretary of Dofense nnd the Seervetarvy of é‘(lllo,
recommended a sevies of programs to the President,

Move specifieally, L reviewed program ]‘wu wsals embracing sov-
oral priovity missions, one or more of which il. was proposed to
oxeente in the near future. Responsibility for the operational con-
duet of the program rested with the C1TA, .

Wo obviously were interested in the vesults of these (lights as we
are in all of our Nation's intelligence colleetion results,

FLIAITS GAVE YITAL INFORMATION

for example, from these flights we got. information on airfields,
aireraft, missiles, missile testing and teaining, specinl wenpons stor-
age, submarine production, ntomice production and uircmh. deploy-
ments, and things like these.

These were all {ypes of vital information, These results were con-
sidered in formulating our military programs.  We obviously were
the prime customer, and ours is the major interest.

TEST OF MILEFTARY COMMUNICATIONS

Secondly, ona separate subjeet :

Ono incident, and one over which T assuma full responsibility, is
the calling of n test of the readiness of our military communications
from Parvis. In view of the faet that my action in this matter has
been subject to some speculation, I would like to give yon the faets.

First of all, our military forees are always on some degree of alert.
So it is merely a matter of moving this degree or condition of alert
up or down the scale.  On Sunday night, May 16, we were already
aware of the sense of the statement whieh Mr. Ilhrushchev was going
to make the following morning, The conditions which he had set
for his participation in the conference made it apparent even at. the
time that he deliberately intended to wreck the conference.

This communieations alert. was not an act that was either offensive
or defensive in character. It was a sound precautionary measure.
It did not recall Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine personnel from
leave. There was no movement. of forces involved. IHowever, I want
to emphasize that it did make certain that, if subsequent developments
made necessary a higher state of readiness, such action could be taken
promptly and convineingly.

Under the circumstances it seemed most prudent to me to increase
the awareness of our unified commanders. Moreover, since the com-
mand and individuals concerned in the decision process, including
the President, the Secretary of State, and myself, were oversens, it
was important to check out our military communications, At about
midnight, Paris time, Sunday night, I requested that a quiet increase
in command readiness, particularly with respect to communications,
be instituted without public notice, if possible.
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One phase of our testing is to call no-notice exercises of our com-
mand communications.  While some commands went further in cxe-
cuting the instruetions issued by the JCS as a result of my message
than 1 had anticipated, 1 consider the order proper and absolutely
essontinl,  In similar civenmstances I would take exactly the smne
action.

Thank you, Mr. Chairvman,

Thoe Cuamman, Thank you, Mr. Secretary,

PRESUMMLUL DISCUSSION REGARDING SUSPENSION OF FLIGHTS

Mr, Secretary, did you or any of your nides purticipate in any con-
foronce prior to May 1 regarding the U-2 flights?

Seeretury Gares, Yes, Mr. Chairman, 1 was some weeks before
May 1 briefed on the preliminary results of the April 9 flight. At
that, time, 1 was informed of n program of possible flights, one of
which would be selected to be flown, and I gave my approval of that
program.,

The Criiamman. Wasanything said at that time about a moratorinm
in view of the summit. con ference ?

Sceretary Gares, No, sir,

The Coamsran, Who participated in that conference?

Seervetary Gares, That, conference was in my oflice in the Pentagon,
and was between myself and o man from CLA.

The Cuamsan., Was anyone in the State Department present?

Seeretary Gares. No, sir,

The Cnamman. Do you know whether the State Depmrtment, was
advised specifienlly of the plans for the Muy 1 flight.¢

Secretnry Gares. 1T don’t know from my own knowledge, but I am
porfectly cortain that the Seeretary of State was advised of the pro-
gramas I was,

Thoe Ciamaan. You didn’t advise him nor was he represented at
that meeting ¢

Secretary Gares. No, sir,

The Crixmaran. And no one raised the question of whether or not
there should be a suspension ?

Secretary Gares. No, siv,  In this conversation, it was a private
conversation between the CIA representative and myself, and I was
asked for my advice or approval of the program and I gave it.

The Cunamman. I understand that, but I merely meant that the
question of whether or not there should be a suspension in view of the
upcoming summnit, was not raised ; is that correct ?

Secrotary Garrs. Not raised between the two of us, no, sir.

The CirairmMan, Was it raised at any time?

Secrotary Gartes. I didn’t have any other discussions about the
flight with anyone, Scnator Fulbright.

The Criammyan. Then so far as you know, it was not raised ?

Sceretary Gares. Yes, sir.

QUESTION OI' ANY PRIOR SUSPENSION OF FLIGHTS

The CniairmMaN. To your knowledge, were any flights prior thereto
ever suspended because of political meetings, that is, other than
weather or military considerations? :

Secretary Gates. I have no knowledge of any suspension of any
flights for those purposes. '
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Tha Coamsan, Thore wis no suspension to youre knowlsdge when
the Caonp Diavid mesting (ool place

Seevetary (fares, No, sir

The Cocamestan, Nor was there nny mmpmmiml. wo (e as you know,
duving Che peviod in which Kheughehov visitod the United Stfes?

Neevetary Gaves, T don't know of any suspension, 1 don'l. know
proecisely whether during that peviod wo flow nny lightsg Me, Chnire
man,

Tha Ciaesan, Noy but B imenn you didi®t diseuss Che guestion ?

Necretary Givees, b odidn’t disenss the question of  suspengion of
Nights, noy sir,

Fhe Ciamaas, Ninee you never considered ity then you had no
position velative to the continuntion, did yout

Secvotury (Laves, 1 oapproved this program, so 1 took o position
allivmatively,

SIGNIPICANCE 'O DEFENSE DEPAREMENT OF SUNPENRION OF LIS

The Cuvrman, Wore the results of these lights imporiant, to the
Defense Departiiment

Seevotary Gates, The vesults wern very important. to the Defoense
Department.

The Cuaiesan, Very nseful to yout

Secrotary (Tarvks, Yos,siv,

The Cuamaax, Do you regid it ag an important. loss that. the
lights have now been susponded ¥

Seeretary Gaves, 1 think that, through heecoming compromised, wo
have lost an important. sonvee of intelligonee, Tt hng beon o vory
suecossful program over the past,

The Cramman, Then it is o great loss from your point. of view not
to have available any (urther lights: is that corveet ?

Secretary Gares, 1 think if wa had been able to continue them with-
out having been caught and therefore compromised the sourveo, it
wonld have been most useful,

RUSSLAN KNOWLEDGQE OV TUHE FLIGH'TR

The Cuarman, Mr. Gates, did Khrushehev, or the Russians, know
of overtlights prior to May 1¢

Secretary Gares, HHesayshe did.

The Cuarmax, Well, what do you think?

Secretary Gares. T believe that he did, Mr. Chairman, but T don’t
believe anyone could specifically prove it.  But T believe that he did.
1 believe he told the truth,

The Cuarmax. If he knew about it, why did the incidents of May
1 compromise the flights: why should they bo discontinued?

Secretary Gates, Well, T don't believe he knew the exact type and
character of the flights. e probably—all he knew was that they
were [deleted] aireraft high in his sky.

RNOWLEDGYE OF PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF STATE RE ORDER FOR ALERT

The CuarryMax. On your order on May 15, your alert, did you con-
sult the Department of State before ordering it ?

Secretary Gates. No. I advised the Secretary of State, who was
with the President when it wasissued.
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The Ciiasan, Did you ndvise him before you issued it? '
Seeretnry (ares, e was ndvised before it was released yes, wir,
The Cramsan., Was his opinion asked or was he merely ndvised
ol it
Secretury (ares, Welly 1 told him that. I was ahont to issie n com-
numientions alert, and the conmmuniention readiness exercise,
The Coamman, Heapproved of it
Secretnry C(laren, e dud nof vegister any disnpproval,
The Ciamsan, Well then he npproved it,
Secretney CGlaves, 1 Ehindoro, yes,uir,
TheCusmsan, Wasthat Me, Hepter?
Secrotnry (ares, Yo, wir,
The Cuamestan, Tn Paris,
eg Secretnry aves. Yeuwir, .
The Crivnstan, Did you ndvise the President ?
Secretney (lares, Yessir,
The Ciiatestan, Bofore it was minde?
Seerefnry Claven, Yo, sir,
The Coamesan, Wasthe NSC consulted abont the alert
Seeretury (Laren, Noysir,

]‘ MEITING OF MAY

The Chamaan. M, Gates, did yow participate in any meeting on
Muy 7 to consider the stutement. which swag Inter issued by the Secre-
tary of Stufe?
Seeretnry (aren, Noysir,
The Criiamman, Oron May 97
Secretary (Gares, Yes,sir,
. On May 9, that is Monday, I believe, I participated in a meeting in
the oflice of the Seeretury of State,

On the morning of the Oth,

The Cuamsan. Did you approve of the statement made in which
the full revelntion was made?

Seeretary Gares, I approved of the statement. that was made on
May 9, yes, sir,

The Coamestan., Who was present at. that meeting?

Seeretury Gares, Welly T know that Mr. Douglas and myself were
present. from the Department. of Defense.  Mr, Tlerter and Mr, Doug-
Tns Dillon, and My, Kohler were present, I think Mr., Bohlen wag pres-
ont. from the State Depurtment, timm may have been one or two others,

The Cuamaran, Did that meeting go on for some time?

Secrotary Gares. T would say about, an hour.

The Ctitanaran, About an hour,

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir.

PRESIDENTIAL RESPONSIBILITY DISCUSSED

The Ciamraan. Was the question of whether or not it was wise for
the President to take responsibility discussed at that meeting?
Secretary Garres. Yes, sir.
The Crtamyan, What was your position?
b Secretary Gates. My position was that he should take responsi-
ility.
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The Criamesean, Was the meeting unanimons?

Seeretary Garves, 1 helievo it was,

The Criviraan, They all agreed?

Seevetary Gaves, You, sir,

Tha Cnamaan, Tt went on about an hour.

Seerotury (Leves, Welly T would say at feast an hour, Senntor,

The Cuamstan, Well, did it go on more than an hourd

Reevetary (fares, \\’ul‘,l am talking nbout my veeolleetion, T would
think it was at least 1 hour. Perhnps it was longer,

NTATHMENT BY NASA

The Coamaan, Was the statemoent. issued by NASA on May 5
cleaved with your office?

Seevetary Gares, Noysir,

The Ciamman, You didn't know anything about. it,

Seeretavy (Lares, No, siv,

The Cuamaan. Have you had any relations with NASA ¢

Seeretary Gares, Noysivynot in this conneetion,

The Cuammax, T mean ineonneetion with the U7-€ flight.,

Seevetary (Lares, Nog =i

The Civameman, Wers these U7 2 flights under your diveet. con-
trol in the field, that is, under the Air Worea diveet. control in the field ?

Secretary (Vares. Noy sivg thoy wors under the control of the CIA,
| Deloted. ]

INFPLAL STATEMENT BY ATR FORCE IN PURKEY

The Ciamemax. How did it happen the Air Forea made the initial
statement of the missing planef

Seevetary (Lares, That was a part. of the cover story that was de-
cided upon and they issued this statement. from the base in Turkey
about. a plane being missing,

The Criiamwman, Well, does that indieate that you had arrived nhead
of time in concert with the CLA upon proper procedure to be followed
inease of a mishapt

Seevetary Gares, Twasnot familiar with the details of how a cover
story wonld be exeented. T was aware of the fact that a cover story
existed, and T imagine that when the details of it were put into
operation, the Central Intelligence Ageney went to work.

The Ciamrman. It was not your responsibility to superviso the cover
story

Seeretary Garves, No, sir,

The Cuamyax, My timeisup.  Senator Gore?

MEETING OF THE NATION AL SECURITY COUNCTIL, MAY §

Senator Gore, Mr. Seevetary, you are a member of the National
Security Conneil,

Seeretary Gares. That is right, Senator.

Senator Gore. Did you attend the meeting of the Council held on
May 51

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir,

Senator Gore. Did the President participate in that conference{

Secretary Garrs. At the meeting of the NSC?

Senator Gore. Yes.

Secrefary Gates. Yes,sir,
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Senutor Gone, Was the cover story discussed there

Seeretnry Gares, No [deleted |, Senator,

T'here was a meeting of the small group after the NSC meeting-———

Senator Gone. Did you participate?

Seeretnry Gares. Where we disceussed the Khrushehev statement, 1
participated with the President. It was not. at the NSC meeting.

Sennfor (Gone. At this conference in which Mr, Khrushehev's speech
was discussed, wag the covor story discussed ¢

STATE DEPARIMEN'TDT 'TO HANDLE RELFASES ON BUBJECT

Seceretary Gares. Welly T think it was digcussed in n general manner
but not in detnil. It was decided at that, meeting that, the responsi-
bility for all relenses pertaining to this matter would be handled by
the Department of State.

Sonator Gore, Was there any discussion at this meeting of the
advisability of telling the traih?

Seeretary Gares, I think 1 made a statement in that meeting, some-
thing (o the offect, that the prestige of the Presidency should not be
involved in an international lie particularly when it would not stand
up with respeet to the facts.  DBut that was the extent of the discussion,
T'here was no decision,

ETATE DEPARTMENT'S COVER 8TORY

Senator Gonr. After this observation on your part, the State
])(-pm'hm-n(. did issue a statement that was not {rue; 1s that the case?

Secrotary (iares, T think——

Senator (Gon. Well, the record shows-——

Secretary Gares. 1 think they issued a statement, that is right, I
think they issued a part of the cover story statement after that meet-
ing; yes, sir.

Soenator Gone. So there was no decision—although the question of
involvement of the Presidency in what yon call an international lie
was discussed, and you oxpressed your view that it would be an unwise
thing to involve the President in the cover story or in an interna-
tional, nn oflicinl falschood?

Secretary Garus, 1T it turned out that Mr. Khrushchev had all the
facts, which we subsequently found out, that he had; yes.

QUESTION OF ‘THIE PRESIDENT ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY

Senator Gore. TTow did you think his involvement. or his association
with this incident, in its ramifications conld be avoided by an assump-
tion of responsibility by the President for the program?

Secretary Gares. '}’lwlieve the President did assume responsibility,
and T believe he should have assnmed responsibility.

Senator Gore. Tet me see if T understand you correctly. I cer-
tainly do not wish to make any implication at all. I do not wish to
imputo to yon any meaning which you did not intend. Did I correctly
understand- you to say that this question was discussed at a small
meeting following the NS(* meeting on the 5th at which you partici-
pated asdid the President ¢

Secretary Gares. That is correct, sir.

Senator Gore. Who else participated ¢
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Seeretary GLavres, Me, Douglas Dillon, Mr. Allen Dulles, M, Gordon
Gray, and General Goodpaster,

Senntor Qore, A his meeting, you expressed the view that it would
bhe unwise for the President. to be involved in an international lie,
1 believe you deseribed it,

Seevetary Gares, Chat is vight,  This depended on what Mr, Kheu-
shehev knew, when he knew it and if he knew everything that he
clvimed to know, 1t turned out. lnter he did. T believe that the
President. should take the vesponsibility for the trath, for telling the
truth, That is my opinion. 1 did not know specifieally at. that time
theextent of Mr. Khrushehev's knowledge,

Senntor Gore, You have atmended your——--

Seeretnry Gares, Udidn't mean to be evasive, Senator,

Senator Goge, 1 understand, but you have now amended, and T
would like to elavify, it 1 may. 1 know you are not. trying to be
evasive and T assure you that T am only seeking to develop the faets
as they existed. 'The Government. has full leeway, so far as I am
concerned, to exercise censorship for seenrity, K

Now, when you expressed the view that the Presidency should not
bo involved in an international lie, did you at that time, on the bth,
suggoest the President should assume vesponsibility, or was this on the
Tth or the 9th that you expressed that additional view?

Seevetary Gares. It was on the -1 had no more meetings on the
subject until the 0th, Senator. That meeting was with the Seeretary
of State,

OUTCOME OF DISCUSSIONS ON MAY 5

Senator Gore. Did you express the view on the bth that the Presi-
dent should assume responsibility or did you express that view on
the 9th?

Seeretary Gares. T expressed the view on the 5th that if Mr, Khru-
shehey had the complete information and the pilot, that the President,
should assert the (rue story.

1 expressed it again on the 9th when we knew that he had the plane
and the pilot. [ Deleted. |

Senator Gore, You were informed that Mr, Khrushchev had made
the public speech with respeet to the plane, that it was shot down or
that it came down in the vicinity of Sverdlovsk ?

Secretary Gares. Yes. 1 am not sure of my timing, Senator. We
kunew some information on the Hth, but we knew a great deal more a
day later. He didn’t veport the full story until the 7th,

Senator Gore. Tunderstand. T am only trying to develop the back-
ground of information

Seeretary Gares. Yes, sir.

Senator Gork. And the decision that was made. Although you
expressed these views, and although this information was in the hands
of or was discussed in the conference

Secretary Gares. Some information was in our hands,

Senator Gore. The information which you have described ?

Secretary Gatrs. Yes.

Senator Gore. I am perfectly willing for you to describe it.

Secretary Gates. Yes, sir.

Senator Gore. I have no description of it except as you give it to
me. The decision was not reached at this meeting ¢
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Seeretary Gares, That is correet. .
Sonator Gore, A deeision to tell the truth was not reached at this
meeting on the 5th?

SPATE DEPARTMENT 10 HANDLE ALL GOVERNMENT RELEABES ON
SUBJECT

Seceretary Gares, "That is right, Senator.  The only decigion that
was reached at. that meeting was that all the statements pertnining to
the incident would be handled by the Department of State,

Senntor Gore. What, information was the State Department to give?
Wag it. specifienlly understood at. the meeting that the cover story
woutld be continued ?

Seeretary Gares. Yes; I think it was assumed that the cover story
would be continued at that time.

Senator Gone. And the cover story was untrue?

Secretary Gares, Yes, sire It turned out. to be untrue. I mean,
ros, heenuse it was untrne, We didn't. have the full facts that we
had 2 days Inter,

The Crarsan, The Senntor’s time hag expired.

The Senator from Wisconsin,

Senntor Wisy, Mr, Seeretary, I have listened to this inferroga-
tion. Now sec if you ean't tell us the story without questioning,
starting in when you first. boenme nequainted with the facts, who was
there, what. was snid, and then go on,

Ifor instanee, we have heard so many statements about something
not. heing true.  Now this relense on May 5 was the cover story,
wasn't it?

Secretary (iares, Yes, sir,

Senator Winey, When did you first get acquainted with the situa-
tion? Start in the beginning and give it consecutively so that it
will be clear.

CHRONOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT

Seeretavy Giares, 1 first got involved in the situation when the
airpline did not return fo base. I knew an airplane was down, pre-
sumably bheenuse it hadn't come back and it had taken off. "That
wason May 1.

[ had no other relationship with it until the morning of Thursday,
which was May 5 when we had a [deleted] meeting of the NSC at
a remote location under a civil defense exercise.

On that morning, there was the preliminary statements of Mr.
Khrushehey that we had been flying over his territory, and so forth.

After the NSC meeting, there was a small meeting at which I have
listed the members present, in which we discussed this matter.

Senator Winey, Who was there?

Seeretary (iares. Mr, Dillon of the State Department, Mr., Allen
Dulles, Mr, Gordon Gray, General Goodpaster, and myself and the
President.  We discussed this whole matter. We made the decision
there that the matter would be handled by the Department of State,
and we adjourned.

1 had no further participation or discussion concerning the incident
until the following Monday morning.

Senator Wiey. What date?
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Seeretary Gares. Which was the 9th. T at, that time participated
in o meeting in the oflice of (he Seeretary of State, and he issued hig
complete stdement,

Senator Wy, Have you got one of these pnmphlets in front of
yout

Secretary Gares. Yes, siv,

Senator Winky, See il we ean't gol into the record that which is on
pagro 4 for the press,  That is the cover story up at. the top ¢

Secrotary (1ares. Yes, sir,

Senntor Wiey, And that is the one that had been said was n lio?

Secrvotnry ares, "This was w cover story ; yes, sir,

Senator Wiy, This was issued when you had only part of tho
factsy isn't that it.¢

Secretary Gares, That is right.

Senator Wiy, On May 9, if you will turn to pago 6, you have
the Department. of State’s relonse,

Senator Wirky. Was there one issued on May 01

Seeretary Garrs. Yes, sir,

THE PRESIDEN'T PRESENT ONLY A'l' MAY O0'TH MEFTING

Sonntor Witky. At any of theso meetings, was the Proesident, thore?

Seeretary Gares, The only meeting the President attended was the
meeting of May 5th, after tho NSC meeting,

Senafor Wirey. 1 didn’t undorstand, ;{Vns ho there on the 6th?

Sceretary Gares, Yes,sirg after tho NSCmeeting.  That is the only
meeting at. which ho was present.

DECISION ON ALERT

Senator Wirky. When it was decided to have the alert, was that the
judgment of all that it was in the interest of tho national defense?

Seeretary Gares, Tt was my judgment and I was responsible.

Senator Wirey. You had in mind, did you, what the condition of
this country was at the time of Pearl ITarbor, how we were asleep ?

Seeretary Gartes. T certainly did.

Senator Wirky. During negotintions.

Secretary Gares. I did, indeed.

Senator Wuky. Is it your judgment from the facts that when
Khrushchev went. to Paris that he had already made up his mind to
call off the summit meeting ¢

Sceretary Gates. Yes; it is my judgment, Senator,

MEETING ON MAY 6

Senator WiLey. Something was said by yourself in the cross-exami-
nation to the effect that you claimed they should tell the truth. When
was that, on the 5th?

Secretary Gates. Isaid on the 5th, if it proved that Mr, Khrushchev
had the pilot, had the equipment, had the full and complete story, it
later turned out that he had, that I believed we should tell the truth
at that time.

Senator Wirey. Thatis all, Mr. Chairman,

The CratraraN. Senator Mansfield.
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REFORMS IN DEFENSE DEPARTMENT

Senador Mansrienp, Mr, Seeretary, since you have become Seere-
tary of Defense, you have made it o point (o sit. in_on the meetings
of the Joint, Chiefs of Stafl and if an agreement, could not be reached
youmako the final decision,

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir,

Sonntor Mansrizny, In that period you huve algo brought about, re-
formns and incrensed the efliciency of the centralized purchasing
gystem,

Seerotary Gares. Yes, gir,

Sonnfor Mansrisen, 1n that period you have also brought about a
centralization of the communications system.

Secretary Gaves, Yes, sir,

Sonator Manseisn, Ior all those you are to be most. highly com-
mondoed beenuso 1 think they were reforms long overdue and it was
ahout. time they were put. into effect.

REABONK FOR ALERT

Now, al. the time you issued your alert. of the communications system
in Paris did you have any information that, Soviet forces were massing
or mobilizing ¢

Seeretary Gares. No, sir,

Senator Manseen. Did any one person or any group ask you to
order theanlert.?

Seeretary (iares. No, sir,

Senator Maxsrienn, You did that entirely on your own respon-
sibility ¢

Secretary Gares, That is correct, Senator.

Senator MansrirLp. Did the alert order which you issued put the
forces of this country at o war readiness level ?

Secretary Garxs. No, sir.

Senator Mansrirrp, There was no call back of Reserves or cancel-
lation of leave to any extent.

Seceretary Gares. No,siv.  There were in one or two instances some
Fcop]o who interpreted the JCS order as meaning that they would
1ave o couple of more aireraft on alert, and in that case, they, on their
own, recalled, I believe some pilots who were home or off duty to have
approximately two more airplancs on an alert status. But this was
done on their own, testing their own alert procedures under the broad
order that was issued by the Joint Chiefs of Staff.

It was not the intention of this order to move forces in any way.

Senator MansrieLp. Now, that JCS order was in response to your
order?

Secretary Gares. That is right, Senator.

Senator MansrieLp, Is there any connection between this communi-
cations alert and the recent centralization of the communications
system ?

Secretary Gares. No, sir, because that will not be in effect in its
entirety for approximately 9 months,

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PRESIDENT

Senator MansrizLp, Now, during the course of your responses to
Senator Gore, you mentioned the following words, “The prestige of
the Presidency should not be involved.”
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Isn't it teug that in nlmost any andertaking, in 0 goneral way the
prestige of the Presideney is always involved under our constitutional
aystom of government ¢

Seevetary (Lavves, Cortaindy,

Senntor Mansewun, What T oam getting ol there is this: That
whether or not ha had any specifie knowledge of this paetiealnr flight,
or of this particulne ordery which you issued, that, nevertheless under
our system he is generndly responsible for actions undertnken by the
head of the CTA and Tor actions and orders issued by the Seeretary
of Defenses is that correet ¢

Secretney Gaees, Ha s the head of the exeentive braneh and he s
Commander in Chief, Senntor, 2o of course ha s responsible in that
HONSC,

Senafor Masseieen, Yo, heis generally responsible,

Neervfary (Tares, Clortainly,

Senator Maxseen, Heis Commander in Chiof mid Chief of State,

Secvotary (Lares, That i vight,

NATURE OF A COVER NTORY

Sonator Mansein, There has been something said abont. 0 cover
story and the fact that it is not teathful, \\'ulﬁ isn't a cover story
by its vory nature almost always a liot

Seeretary Gares, Yoes, Senator,

Senator Masseieen, That is the purpose; to seek proteetion in some
kind of a story under a given circumstanee so that }m‘ the time heing
at loast the situation could be taken enrve of,

Seeretary Garves, That is correet, Senator,

Senator Maxsewen, That is ally Mre. Chairman,

The Cruamman. Senator Hickenlooper?

SOVIET THRENTS

Senator Hiekexvoorer. Mre, Seeretary, 1 believe that we have had
repeated statoments from the Kvemlin in the last weoks, months, or
even years that contained threats of what the Kremlin is ready to do
to the West generally or to the United States under a variety of
conditionst isn't that corvect.?

Secretary Gares. Yes, it is

Senator Hickezroorer, 1 believe Mr. IChrushehev has been quoted
as saying that he would bury us—whether he meant. economieally or
militarily might be argued—and T believe he stated that they have
missiles on the launching pads divected at. various countries of Turope
as well as the United States?

Secvetary Gates. That is right.

Senator Hickextoorer. Those statements have been reported, have
they not?

Secretary Gates. That is right.

SOVIET AIR MANEUVERS OVER EAST GERMANY

Senator HicKENLooPER. Are the Russians still engaging in seramble
operations and massive airflight operations over Kast ael'many; do
you know?
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Seeretney Gares, 1 don’t know of any flights over East. Germany
recently, but, of conrse, they have some 20 divisions in Fast. Germnny.

Senntor Hickenvoorew, T don’t. know whether this comes within
your time or not, but 1 have heard in one way or another in Gimes

mst that they have repentedly had biege air forees in the air over

“;HHI Germany,

Seeretnry (Gares, They have Invge niv forees stationed in Kust. Ger-
many.

Semtor Thekenvtoorsr, Tenn in the air,

Secretnry Garen, They have had mnneuvers, yeos, sir,

Sentor Hickentoorer. They have had manenvers fowsrd the West,
German border which come very close to the West. Germman border
an ocension

Seeretnry Gares, They have hid them regulurly ; yos, sir,

Senntor Thegenvoorer, Sometimes these nre riatlier massive maneu-
vers in the nir?

Seeretary Gares, 1 believe that is correet 5 yos, sir,

JUNTIFICATION 1FOR ALK

Senntor Thexentoorsr. Welly now, recently we have heard n great
denl of discussion and argument ahout keeping all of our strategie
Air Foree planes or aogrent, muny of them in the air all the time.
There have heen some that have advoented that and criticized us for
not keeping our airplanes in the uir more than we have,

Seeretary Gares, T am very fumiline with this argument, with the
Armed Services Commitiee and the Approprintions Committee,

Sonator Thekenvooesr, 1 presume you do not seo anything un-
warranted about. this air nlert. which you ordered, but. I will ask you
the question anyway. Do you see any renson for eriticism because of
n demonstration by your Depurtment. of a worldwide air alert of our
forees?

Secretavy (Gamres. T stated when I got off the airplane and was
nsked the question by the press on my return, I said it was ineredible
to me that. anybody would guestion it.

Senntor Hiekextoorer. Well, T agree with that statement, but,
there seems to be some criticism nevertheless,

ADVISABILITY OF OVERFLIGHT BEFORE SUMMIT CONFERENCE A POLITICAL
QUESTION

Now, on the question of whether or not, that is from your view-
point, in your Department, the particular U-2 ﬂi{:ht should have been
cancelled on the 30th of April, or the 1st of May, or whenever it
occurred, isn’t that a political question and not a military question?

Secretary GaTes. Yes.

Senator HicreNLoorer. That is in view of the so-called summit
conference?

Secretary Gares. Yes.

Senator HickenLoorer. That hecomes exclusively a politieal ques-
tion as to whether or not it was advisable at that time from the stand-
point of the summit conference?

Secretary Gates. That is correct.
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Sontor Thenuysoorme And T otaka 6 that Teom the wtandpoint.
of privaey veaponaibility: you have nothing to my ahont, whothere it
would bo anneellod o uot asow politiend et in view of o politieal
vondurenvet

Suevetury Chaves Waollp 1, of vonesey linow of the date of the s
it nweting, and A0 T haed b wostrong convietion whout it 1 would
lave said it oven though U didn't Tmve the respomaibility for the
doction,  Uowar ine mn advizory enpueity, but E holieved (hat. there
wazt vonlly no good timae o atop the cobleetion of tmportant. inforam
o, There i nlway some internntionnd conforenes o womething,

Sunator TheweNvoor, Whnt Uam teyving (o got nd iw whether you
have any prinmey vesponsibility for umking politienl ducivion, or i
your pesponsibiticy wilitaey decisions

Secrntary Ghvees, Noy iy roaponaibility in with the Depaetinent, of
Dolonse,

VALUE 01 U BLias

Sonator thenestooeer, Now, these U2 (Hghta Tinve Deon oxtrome
Iy valablo in the secnving of intelligeney, have they not ¢

Socretary Gaves, Thoy have indoad, Senator,

Sanator Thenssvoorei, They have also boen vory valuablo in swear
gy weather information, have they not ¥

Noeretary Gaees, Yoes, sivee | Dolotod, |

ADVIRRABILEELY  OF ALBRY

Senator Therexoorri. Do you boliove that, in view of the goneral
tonsions that exist and the wather jingoist statomants, lot’s say, that.
have boen amanating from the Keemlin from time to tine, it was n
boneticial thing to have this aie alert as not only o show of strength
bt ax an asueanee o onr frionds and allios over the world that. we
had a readiness capability ¢

Secwotary Gares, Ldoo T was notan air alert, Sanantor,

Sonatar Therexioorer, SivY

Secrotary Gaees, Towas not an aie aloet, 1 think you miss tech-
nieally, you said aive alort, 1t was a commuand veadiness and com-
munications atert. U agree, however, with what you snid that it was
a goad thing to do,

Senatar Thekrztoorer, 1 shall adopt your deseription for my
question, then, on that point,

But anyway, it was a show of ability on ouwr part in connection
with our alevtness, general alertness, and onr ability to put a defensive
force into the air in a short time?

Secretary Gares. Yes, and wa could go from there to further mens-
ures if we needed to, but this was primavily a measure of checking
command and checking communieations, particularly, as I snid in
my statement, in view of the fact that the persons involved in im-
portant poliey decisions were out of the country.

Senator Hickexroorer. Would you agree that it ei*her does have,
or should have, a certain degree of comforting effect upon not. only
our own country but upon our allies that we do have these capabilities?
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NMeeretury Caves, 1owonld hope it would, Sennfor, T seems o
mo thin in one reeponsibilityy to b vendy wnd olert ander Hiese
cirammdnnecnnt ol Chmesy nnd wonlwaysnee,

This wimt mersly o mntter of degees,  FLowasn L inerease in the
degree of alertnem, - Waonre inoan alert. condition b, all times,

ANOPHER COMMUNITCATIONK ALEIC ORDERED

An of midnight. Int. night. wo wre hnving another communicentions
«Ixm'«-iuu. atneting b 11 o'cloek It nighty und it is going for severnl
dayn,

Senutor Hicwunvoorn, This fuet thnt. we mny bonlways nlort some-
i:mwt i nol fully approcinted oxeept on oceasionnl demonstrations of
(hnt,

Seeretnry Qaees, “Thatis vighty, nnd the Joint Cliefs, as o vesult of
(thin experience and eritigue of i have recormended to mae that, we
have thews nlort onneno-notice bisin more: frequently, ‘

Semdor Thexenioorse, Thanloyou, My timesup,

The Crsmaan, The Senators timeis ap,

| Daluted, |

QUERTION OF ADVYANCE PLANNING FOIL ACPION IN EVENT U2 PLANF,
DOVWNTD

Somtor Lona, Did you ndvise or conslt as to whether we were to
admit that, wo nuthorized these flights if und when the Soviets did
suecord in bringing one of our planes down §

Seeretnry Gaves, 1 washould continue them or not.%

Sonntor Lona, No,no,  What Fmeant is this: Aua matter of fore-
handedness -1 osea n navad oflicer sitting behind you~--they tnught
mo the definition of that. word ns n mitlsﬁilmmnmf am sure that you
anticipnted that sooner or lnter they weres going to bring one of our
plunes down,

Secrotnry (iares. We knew it was o dangerons oceupation; yes,
Senator,

Sonator Lona, You eould anticipnta that sooner or later one of
theso planes was going to fall into enemy hunds?

Seerotury Gares, Yed, sir,

Senafor Lona, There was a distinet. possibility at any moment,
and had you advised and consulted ns to how this matter shonld be
handled 1f and when such an event. materialized ?

Seeratary Gares, Nojg 1 had not, Senntor. I was only aware of
tho fact that o cover story existed, but. T had no part in it

Senator Lona. And you had not. been advised as to what the position
of this country was going to be in the event. that that happened?

Secretary Gares. No,sir: this was nol my responsibility.,

Senator Lona. Senator Young passed np two questions he wonld
like for me to ask. I will just ask them on my time since I have no
further questions.

He says if it were essentinl

The Cramrman. I think the Senator ought to ask in his own name.

Senator Lona. May I yield the remainder of my time to Senator
Young then?
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The Ciamman, Noy you miny not. You may ask any question you,
yourselfy but on your own responsibility.

EFFECT OF DISCONTINUANCE OF U--2 FLIGH'TS

Senator Loxa, I it were essentinl or important that the U- 2 flights
be made for years, vight up to and including May 1, is the defense of
the United States adversely effected by an abgolute discontinuanes on
May 13¢

Secretary Gares, We have lost, through compromise, nn important
souree of information. | Deleted. |

Senator Lona, In other words, we do badly need the snme informa-
tion that we were gatheving with the U-2 lights?

Seeretary Gaves, We need a continnity of this information, 1 think,
Senator,

Senator Loxa, Then if that be the ease, in your judgment. wis it
essential or advisable that the flight of May 1 should not have been
canceled {

Seeretary Gares, In my judgment, it was proper fo fly the flight
of May 1.

Senator Loxa. Thank you, 1 have no further questions,

The Cuamman, s that all?

The Senator from Vermont 4

WAS ALERT RELATED TO S8OVIET PLANS?

Senator Aikes. Mr, Seervetary, at the time you ordered the com-
munications alert on May 14, did you have any apprehension at that
time the Communists might be considering or p?mmmg surprise action
in any part of the world ¢

Secretary Garks, No, sivy 1 felt that the situation was one that was
at best, not very constructive,  We knew the sense of Mr. Khrushehev’s
remarks, but 1 did not anticipate a surprise attack.

1 didn't order that kind of an alert.

Senator AikeN. In other words, it seemed like n good thing to do
at the timef

Secretary Gares. T think it was, yes, sir,

Senator akeN. Was the response to the order fully satisfuctory?

Seeretary Gares. Yes,

Senator AikeN. Have you had any similar alerts since?

Secretary Gares. 1 testified a minute ago, 1 believe, that we started
one at 11 o'clock last night which will run for several days.

{ Deleted.]

The CrarMaN. Senator Morse.

Senator Morsk. Mr, Secretary, if this has been covered, please tell
me.

Secretary Gates. Yes, Senator.

IMPLICATIONS OF SOVIET THREAT AGAINST OVERSEAS BASES

Senator Morse. I am somewhat concerned about the implications,
propagandawise and otherwise, of the alleged threat of the marshal
of the air forces of the Soviet Union that 1f they know that another
spy plane is leaving a foreign base the instructions are to shoot. a
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missile to that base,  What is your judgment ns to the seriousness of
that threat ?

Do you think it is o bluff or do you think that. he means it ?

Seeretnry (1ares. Well, Senntory this is aw fully hared to know. e
wust. know that if he did gueh o thing that we have allied commit-
ments, it was an allied country, for exnmple, he would he starting
a very mujor problem for himself,

Senator Morse., "That. is the point. T want to raise.

Secretary Gares. And this would only be done with the assumption
that. he would take the consequences of an act. that would pml’mbl_y
start. o general war, | Deleted. |

Senntor Monrse, Doesn't it seem to imply, My, Secretary, that, if he
is not. blufling, that. they thereby mean to start. a general war over
espionage activity on the part of the United States or any other for-
cign power thit.sends a spy plane over their territory 4

Doesn’t. that seem to he-———

Secretary Gares, If 1 understand your question, Senator, I think
he must, tuke the responsibility for starting a general war or very
likkely starting a general war if he hits one of our Allied buses for any
reason,

Senutor Morse, Could it possibly imply that the Russians are of the
o'pinion that. our power of hoth defense and aggression is such that
they are willing to take it on? ‘To put my question a different
wiy-——-—

Secretary Gares, T doubt, very much that they are willing to take
it. now, 1 think they absolutely know they will commit suicide the
moment. they try it because 1 think they are fully informed in every
way possible about, practically, the exact. defense posture of the
United States,

Senator Morse., If that is true, and T think it is frue, that they ought.
to know that if they get involved in a nuclear war there can’t be any
victory for them, and T doubt. if there conld for us, but apparently
this typo of military mind in Russin possessed by their air marshal 1s
ready to start. a nuclear war. Wouldn't that be a fair dednction from
this threat unless it is o bluff?

Secretary Gares. Senator Morse, I think it is a part of a stepped-
up, cold war aggressive, {n'opugnml:l campuign. That is what I think
it. really is, beeause I don’t believe that Mr. Khrushchev wants to
start. a war which he knows will be the end of his country.

Senator Morse, 1 am inclined to think that is probably true of
Khrushehev. But the reason I am asking this line of questions is
to find out from you if the leaders in our country have reason to
believe that Khrushchev is being pushed in Russia by a preventive
war group that entertaning the point of view that sooner or later the
are going to have to fight the United States, and that they thin
probably now is a better time to do it than later.

Do we have any intelligence information that would justify our
believing that a military group in Russin is now taking over and
pushing Khrushchev to the side

Secretary Gares. We do not have. We can at this time only
speculate. It might be possible that the military group has come
into more power in Russia or that Mr. Khrushchev may have had
some of his power diluted. This is, however, just speculation, and
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it ig, 1 suppose, rnther dangerous {o speenlate, but. wo do not. have any
hard facts on the subjoct,

INFLUENCE ORy AND DANGER TN, SOVIET MILUFARY HTERARCHY

Senator Mowse, 1 understnnd they have some 250,000 military
officers, nemy and naval and nir,  Could it bo possiblo that within
the mi‘ihn-y in Russin they seo the possibility of reaching an ngreo-
moent on (otal disaemument, whieh means that. they would bo moved
ont of the very favored position in Russinn society they now oceupy,
and that we need (o e on the alert to the possibility that o great
military chango is taking placs in Russin in the form of w military
hierarchy taking over control from the Communist, leadership ¢

Seerotary Garves, Welly T eouldn’t agreo with you more, siry that
wo should certainly be on the alevt {o this possibility and continuously
g0, 1 agree that we must consider this ag ono of (he possibilities,

Nenator Morst. What coneerns mo is that as far as theiv leadership
is concorned and as far as 1 have any reason to believe, hased upon
the brielings wo have had from our own American leadors, wo are
dealing with a group of very amoral leaders in Russin,  And when
you get.amoral leaders among: the militavy establishments, such as they
have, T think wo have eauseo for concorn as to whether or not even in
desporation they might not bo willing to start o war,  And if this is
more than propaganda, if this is more than blufly if this is more than
what you suggest might be the ease of o new step-up in the cold war
to try to frighten our allics, then we have to tako a long look, it seoms
to me, ax to our vesponsibility to history in respect. to following an
ospionago course that might causo these amoral men in desperation
to start a war because there is always the hopo on our part that wo
may be able to contain them until wo ean negotiato through the
United Nations a workable and enforeeablo “total disarmament
program,

NEED FOR INFORMATION BALANCED AGAINST POTENTIAL DANGER

1 have raised this question beeause I don’t think that in terms of
history we can completely ignore our responsibility in dealing with a
group of desperadoes such as I think the Russinn military peoplo are,
and so it raises the question how far we ean justify going morally, in
connection with an espionage system such as the U-2 system, when we
know we ave dealing with a group of amoral military leaders in Russia
who might start a nuclear war because of their completo lack of approe-
ciation for the value of human life. ]

It puts us in a difficult position, it seems to me,  Wo have our own
security to protecty we have our duty to gather information, but thoe
nature of the “beast™ with whom we are dealing—in quotation marks
I put the word, of course—nevertheless puts upon us some responsi-
hility, it seems to me, to not go too far in our own espionage program
if by going a certain distance might indirectly put us in a position
where history might record that we knew we wera dealing with that
kind of a gang and knowing it we nevertheless followed an espionage
course of action that they considered so violated their sovereign rights
that they were willing then to take that last step into & nuclear war.
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Seerotury Gares, Welly the Senntor can speculnte more intelligently,
I nm sure, thun I eun on military people,

Senntor Monse, Not at all,

Secrolary (ares, But basically military people are conservative,
worldwide, nud basienlly they are woll inl'm'nu-,dlon military muntiers,
nnd therefore, the military in the Soviet, Union should know betfer
than the political leaders that they will be lost, and slaughtered and
devastided in n nuelenr war,

On tho other question, it secems to me agein as o lay person that, our
survival ig al stake, T ho threntens uy, ,fluw(e repetedly testified in
Congress, that I didn’t. think he intended to make any significant
concessions nl, nny meoting, that, we have not, prepared our defense pro-
gram on thet basis, that we had to keep it under continuous review, at
all times, and with o completely closed country, and our survival
threatoned, if ho builds up n enpubility for o surprise attack, it seems
o me nbsoiulcly vitnl that we ()'bl,nin all the information we can from
OVOry Hollres,

Senator Morse., Thank you very much.

Tho Ciamsan, The Senator from Indiana.

Senator Carenawe, I have no questions except I will say I think
you did the right thing by ordering the alert.

I hope that, you will continue to be on alert. T hope you will con-
tinue to get intelligenco on Russin in every mmmivume wiy we ean,

Tho Criamisman. Ts that all?

The Senator from Ohio.

BECRETARY GATES’ SLRVICE IN DEFENSE DEPARTMENT

Senator Lavscie. Mr, Gates, how long have you been the Secretary
of Dofenso?

Secretary Gares. Only since last December, gir.

Senator Lauscis, Were you in the Department prior to that time?

Secrotuery Gares. Yes, sir; I have been there gince 1953, in the De-
partment.

Senator Lavuscne. In what capaeity ?

Secretary Gares. I wag Under Secretary of the Navy, then Secre-
tary of the Navy, then Deputy Secretary of Defense.

SOVIET KNOWLEDGE, OF OVERFLIGHTS

Senator Lauscne. Based upon your knowledge, when did the Soviet
hierarchy first know of the fact that there were foreign planes flying
over the Soviet ?

Secretary Gares. T don’t think we can confirm, Senator. We just
have to take Mr. Khrushchev’s statements at face value.

I think that it is debatable how much he knew. I assume he knew
that there were planes flying. He said he knew. He says he had
known since he was here 1n the United States. But I don’t think we
can definitely confirm this.

Senator lLauscue. Testimony has been given by some twitness
that, I think on July 2, 1956, he made a protest that there was a plane
overhead in the Soviet.
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Necrotnry Garen, Yoxo 1 have the vrecord of this, 1 bolieve this
wan the time Geneeal "Pwining: visited the Soviet Union, Thay made
n public protest of overflights in July of 1964,

Senntor Laveens, And sinee that time T 2% have heen mnking mis-
sionsover the Soviet ¥

Seeretuey Gaores, ‘Uhat iscorveet, Senntor,

Senntor Lavsens, And Khrushehov, after May 1, nuude o state-
ment that he knew at the time that he was at Comp David that planes
wore Hying overhead ¢

Seeretary (Gavven, Yos,sieg hedid,

Sonator Lavsem Then the proof indieates that at the time he was
invited to the United States, at the time he went to Camp David, and
nt the time that. he aeeanged for the summit conference, he knew of
these planes being overhead ¢

Sectetary (Tarks, Yox,

Senntor Vavsenr, And he did nothing about it? - Can o stalf mem-
bor toll?

Noerotary Garves, Tean'tsay that we enn confiem this, Senator,

Senator Lavsene, Lundorstand.

Secvotary (Laves, Thix is his statement,

SOVIRTET MOTIVATION FOR A'TEENDING SUMMITE

Semator Lavsenw, That is correet. When waz Khrashehev in (he
Vhnited Statest?

Mro Marey, Septemboer 1969,

Secrotary Gares, September 1H throngh the 27th,

Senator Lavsenr, I'Io made no statement to the President at that
time about planes being overhead ¢

Secretary (Gares. He did not,

Senator Lavsene, And heagreed to meet at the summit ¢

Secvetary Gaves. That is vight.

Senator Lavseur, Then on May 1 this 72 was brought down in
the Soviet and he then nade these declarations that have been re-
ported.  That is covreet, isn't it ¢

Seeretary Gaves, Yes, siv,

Senator Lavsenr. Now, then, what, in your opinion, motivated him
in agreeing to have a summit conference, accepting our invitation to
come to the United States, meeting with the President, while he knew
that this supposed grave transgression of his rights was taking place?

Secretary Gares. 1 ean only hazard again a personal opinion, Sen-
ator. My opinion is that he believed that he could not make any
progress at the summit meeting, and he made a pre-positioned, he took
a pre-position—made a brief on it and came to Paris to wreck the
summit quite apart from the U-2 incident,

U.8. AND SOVIET INTELLIGENCE-GATHERING OPPORTUNITIES

Senator Lavscnr. Based upon yvour opinion or active knowledge,
during this period was there espionage practiced by the Soviets in
our country ?

Secretary Gates. Yes: there was.

Senator Latvscue. Is that answer based upon your knowledge?

Secretary Gates. Based upon reports that I have read.
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Somutor Lavscns From the Conteal Totelligenes Agoney ?

Seervetnry Gaves, Or from (he IPBLL

Sentor Lavseitn, Tn the Soviel, all things nre hemmed in ngninst
an individanl getting into proximity of theie buses, A correet in
thatt

Seeretnry Clares, Y ou, dir,

Senfor Lavscirgs, Do (hat situntion prevail in our country

Seeretnry Gaves, 1L eerininly doss not, Senntor,

Sonator Livvwone, 'Then there isw tremendous diflicalty in the ahility
ol ohtnining intelligenes by onr ngents in the Soviel as compared Lo
their ability, throngh their agents in onre conntry

Secrolney Hares, Fhat in correel; and thers is obvionsly no resson
for him to overlly the United States,

IMPOWTANCE OF 4 2 FLIGHTH

Soenntor Lavscne, Based upon the knowledgo that. you sequired
through the U 2%, what. w«mhl bes your opinion abont our intellectunl
ability to pursue properly the development. of onr national defense?

Seeretary (laves, Il think we hnd w responsibility to tnke every
maonns we conld,

Senttor Livesene, 'That is not. my question, My question is, [f you
did not. hnve the knowledge nequived through the U -2, conld you
have intelligontly developed your nationnl defenss to cope with the
netunly potontind militnry power of the Soviet?

Seeretary Gares, Nolons well, Senntor; by no means,

Somtor Lavseni, By no means whatsoever?

Secretnry (Gares, We have other means,

Sonator Lavsene, Yes?

Seerotnry Gares, That gives ug other information, but, this was @
very importance pices of information,

Sonntor Lavscts, Hf you didn’t have that, information, do you feel
that the security of our country in all probability would have heen
wlfected beenuse of our inability to develop properly our military
strength?

Seeretary Gares, T think this wag—I want, to be careful in my an-
swor beenuso this is one soree of several sources of intelligence. Tt
is n very important one. [ think it. would have heen affecting our
ability to properly defend the United States if we didn’t have thig
information,

DEMANDS PRESENTED BY KHRUSICHEV

Sonator Lavsciie. Now, getting down to the matter of the May 16
meeting, have you formulated any opinion as to whether Khrushchey,
when he left Moscow, alrendy had prepared these four unacceptable
‘demands that he made upon the President with respect to the U-2
incident? .

Secretary Garrs. Tveryone is entitled to a personal opinion, Sena-
tor. I have an opinion, yes, sir, that he had very definitely, because
the moment. he arrived in Paris he presented these conditions to Mr.
de Gaulle along with a copy already in French.

Senator I.auscue. That is—the fact is that he was supposed to go
to Paris on May 15; Sunday? . )

Secretary GaTes. Yes; he came on Saturday night, T believe.
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Senator Lauscnre, And for some veason that has not hoon explained,
he decided to come there in ndvaneot

Secrotary Gares. That is right.

Sonator Lavscur, On Snturdny ?

Seerotnry Qares, That is vight,

Senntor Lausene. And early in the morning at. 11 o'clock on Sun-
day, heasked fora conferenco?

Seerotary (Gares. Attonded by de Gaulle.

Senator Lavsenr. Attended by Malinovsky, himsolf, and de Gaulle?

Secretary (faves. "Phat is correct,

Senator Lavscne, At that meoting, he sot. forth these unacceptablo
demands?

Seervetary Gaves, That is vight, sir,

Senntor Lauvsene, Then in the aftornoon at 4:30 he asked for a
conferenco with Maemillan?

Secretary Gares, That is correet.,

Senator Lavsens, And he again set. forth those fonr domandsf

Seevetary Gares, That is correct,

Senator Lavscur, Thisis morely asking for your opinion.

Do youn believe that in self-respect. and maintenance of thoe Presi-
dent's position he could conform to the demands made in that ultima-
tum?

Secvetary (Gaves. T certainly do not. T certainly believe he could
not, T guess, wonld be n bettor answer.,

Senator Lavsenw. T am of the opinion that when Khrushchev loft
Moscow he knew there was not. to bo a summit conferenco. Tie pre-
paved his papor,  To had his mode of operation completely outlined.

Secretary Gares. Isharethat point of view, Senator.

SITOULD U—2 FLIGHTS HAVE REEN SUSPENDED BEFORE SUMMI'T CONFERENCE?

Senator Lauscur. Now, you have stated that you did not feel that
we could, in the face of these discussions about. a summit conference,
suspend our activities with respect to the security of the country;
isthat right 2

Seeretary Gates, That is vight, sir.

Senator Lavsche, If there was to be a temporary suspension of
these U2 flights, when should they have begun$ This is speculation.
T am just trying to search it out. The discussions for a summit confer-
ence preceded by far the September visit in the United States, and
then from September to May 16 practically 9 months elapsed.  Should
we, last September, have discontinued our U-2 flights?

Secretary Gates. Not in my judgment, Senator. I think it would
have been most incorrect to have suspended them.

Senator Lausciie. Do you believe the Soviet, because of the ar-
ranged summit conference, discontinued its activities?

Secretary Gates. I am sure they didn’t, although I don’t know, but
Tam perfectly sure they didn’t.

Senator Lavscne, That isall.

SOVIET NOTE OF MAY 10

The CuamrMax. Mr. Reporter, the staff overlooked a document
which should have been included in the background information. It
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is tho Soviet note of May 10, which was sent. to our Government, a8
reprinted in the New York Times of My 11, and I ask that it be
insorted in the record so that this step in the development. from a
documentary point. of view muy he complete,

(‘'I'ho noto reforred to appenrs on p, 195 of appendix 1.)

QUESTION OF AVERNATIVES 1O MAY 0 BFATEMENT OF KTPATE DEPARTMENT

Tho Cuamman, Mr, Seereinry, referving just n moment. to a pre-
vious question, on the May the Hth meeting in which the issunnce of
the statement by the Department was considered, were there any alter-
native stutements proposed and considered to the one which was
issued ¢

Secretary Gares. Not in principle, Senator Fulbright.

The Cuamman, Notin n'incip'](s?

Seeretnry Gares, But there were, of course, various language ver-
sions considered,

The Cnamman. Did aryone at that meeting raise the point that
for the President, the Chief of State, to assume personal responsi-
bility would be n departure from the historien]l practice of thig
country?

Secretary Gares. 1 think this was understood, Senator, and T be-
lieve that we fell. the circumsinnces were different from anything
that had prevailed herotofore.

The Cuamman. But the point was raised and discussed ?

Seeretary Gares. 1 ean’t accurately sny that it was raised and dis-
cussed but it was certainly in my mind and 1 believe it was obvious
to all of us that it was a departure from precedent.

The Cuamman, It was a departure from precedent in this coun-
try. Do you know of any other country that has followed this
policy ¢ .

Secretary Gares. No; I do not.

The Cuamsan, Was anyone concerned that this might have far-
reaching implications for the future of our intelligence operations?

Secretary Gares, Well, we knew that it already had marked the
end of this particular method of collection of intelligence hecause of
its being compromised [deleted].

The Criamyan. Did T understand you to say that to your knowledge
there was no time in the last few years, in which you are familiar
with our activity, that U-2 flights were suspended for political reasons,

Secretary Gares. Not to my knowledge, Senator; that is correct,

The Cirairman. Mr. Secretary, were you ever consulted with regard
to the wisdom of holding a summit conference ¢

Secretary GaTtes. No; I wasnot, Senator.

POSSIBILITY OF AGREEMENT WITII RUSSIA ON DISARMAMENT AND NUCLEAR
TESTING

The Crarraman. Do you personally believe there is any reasonable
hope 21’01‘ any agreement with the Russians with regard to disarma-
ment

Secretary GaTes. I think it isextremely doubtful, Mr. Chairman, I
think that the Soviets are playing off-and-on-again tactics; some-
times cool, sometimes cold, sometimes hot.
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I believe that their proposal for disnrmament or total disarma-
ment. is completely unvealistie, I find it vather diflicult to believe they
will over agree to the controls and inspections that. we will of necessity
insist upon to make progress on disnrmament.

The Conamman. ]l)u you believe the same with regard to nuclear
test buns?

Seeretary Garss. T am not so definite on that, Mr, Chairman, from
a personal point of view, We seem (o huve made more progress in the
negotintions on tests than we have in the other field. But I again
worry about. the possibility of having valid control and inspection
systems for either of these efforts,

The Criamman, I understood you to say, I believe, in answer {o n
question by Senator Morse that you did not believe any significant
concessions could be expected from the Soviets nt the summit. meeting,

Neeretary Gaves, That is vight.  This has been consistent. with my
testimony before the committees of Congress all of this year,

QUESTION OF RELOCATION OF SOVIET BASES

The Crirawyran, Is it now probable that, as n result. of the revelation
of the efliciency of the U-2 photography, the Russinns will now change
the location of many of their steategic bnses?

Necretary Gares. This is quite an undertaking. You don't do the
construetion that is involved in strategic bases easily or quickly, and
they don't know precisely how much information we have about. them
and I wonld think that they would perhaps take different means of
building new bases or of dispersing bases or something of that
character, But. I don't believe that it 1s very practical to assume that
they would shift major installations beenuse of the character requived
to handle the strategic wenpons.

The Cramaman, What I meant is, do you feel that the information
you now have may become rapidly obsolete because of their knowing
you know about. them they will change them, so'that you will have a
great deal of difliculty in keeping up with theirlocation?

Secrvetary (ares. We will have to augment other methods toward
obtaining this information.

[Deleted.]

RELEASE OF SECRETARY GATES' PREPARED STATEMENT

Tue Cuamdan, Mr. Secretary, was your prepared statement re-
leased to the press?

Secretary Gares. Was what, sir?

The Craryax. Was the statement which you read initinlly released
to the press?

Secretary Gates. I didn't release it, unless the committee did.

The CirairmMax. No, the committee didn’t, as far as T know.

Captain Jonixsron, It has been released by Mr. St. Claire; I believe
that he had released it, We didn’t release it.

The Cuarryan. Was it your purpose to release it.?

Secretary Gares. It wasup to you, Mr. Chairman.

The Cratryan. Well, normally, the initial statement made by wit-
nesses is the same as their own testimony. They either censor it or re-
lease it. I was just inquiring.
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Seeretary Gares, It is all vight with me if it is all right. with you
that it be released, Mr. Chairman. I understand it has been released.

The Cuamasan. It has been released ?

Secrvetary Gares, That is what T understand.

Captain Jonnsron, Yes, siry, I was informed by someone from the
committee, 1 beliove My, St. Claire, that it had been released.

The (‘namsan. By whom?

Captain Jonnsron. By the committee, Senator,

The Cramesan, May 1 ask the stafl, did you release it ?

Mur. Marey., No, Mr. Chairman, this will just be released in the
nornal way. 1t is puton the tape here, 1t went through the censors
and, unless they took any portion of it out, it. went. to the public,

The Crameman, 1 just was wondering.

Seeretary Gares, 1 am sorry, Mr. Chairman, I considered it your
prerogative. I have no objection one way or the other,

The Ciamstan. Iousunlly follows the same procedure.  You make
the statement and then it goes through the record if the censors wish it.
Was this statement cleared with the State Department before you
mado it?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir,

Sentor Lauvscne, Mr, Chairman, may T suggest. that we find out
whether a copy got in the hands of the newspapermen other than
throngh normal sources here,

Mr. Maney, No, sir, that, did not happen, not through the commit-
tee. ILverything goes through the regular process, through the cen-
sors, and so on,

The Cramsman. Well, T asked the clerk a moment ago if you had
released it. Ife understood you had—I mean that you had given it
to the press before.

Secretary Gares, T didn’t give it to the press, Mr. Chairman.

The Cuairman. Youor one of your aides, I don’t know.

Secretary Gares. No, we did not release it.

TIMING OF KHRUSHCHEV’S DECISION TO WRECK SUMMIT

The Ciamman. You stated very positively that you believed the
Chairman of the Council of Ministers, Mr, Khrushchev, before he
cume to Paris, had already made up his mind to wreck the summit.
Can you tell us how and why you arrived at that opinion ?

Secretary Gares. Welly I felt, and again speaking personally, I
felt that the fact that he arrived on Saturday night and asked for
these appointments with President de Gaulle and Prime Minister
Macemillan, and he arrived with a position paper translated in French
in the case of de Gaulle and given orally by translation in English
to Macmillan, a position paper that he used almost verbatim as the
first part of his text the 1}0] cwing morning, was pretty good indica-
tion that he had a preconceived plan at the summit meeting and was
planning to, in my judgment again, and used the fact that there were
3,000 newspapermen in Paris and he had a platform to issue all of
these statements from. Then I believe there were indications in other
fpeeches that he made prior to the summit that he was going to adopt
ater on,

The Cirairman. What in your opinion caused him to arrive at this
conclusion to wreck the conference ¢
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Neerotary (ares, Why, 1 holiove that ho found that he had been
unsuccossful in erenting any disunity among the allies. That he was
not. goinge to get nny substantive coneessions himselfy according (o his
torig, on Berlin and other ervitieal igsues that, he might considor im-
portant, and that. he wasn't going to got. 0 blunkot disnrmament check
without. controls, and so Torth, ‘f\n(l I buliove ho folt that, ho was not
going to make any progress al the summit.,

EFEFRCT OF PHE U-2 INCIDENT ON KHRUSHCHEV'S SUMMIT ACPIONS

The Cnamsan, Do you believe the U-2 incident. contributed to
that belief?

Seevetary QGaves, 1, frankly in my judgment it did not, Senntor
Fulbright, 1 beliove it gave him, it contribnted to his public case, but
Ldon't think it contributed to his position,

The Cuamman, You don't think that was a significant element in
causing him to arvive nt this conelusion ¢

Sceretary Gares, 1 really do not; no, sir. I beliove it was a_factor
in his, anamportant. factor in helping him mako his caso, but T don’t
think it had anything to do with his poliey decision,

Tho Cramman, \t’hy do you think he would ho better off and what
veasoning leads you to this conclusiont  Why is he bettor off havin
followed the course he did, than having gone to the conference un
having it result in no concessions ¢

Seeretary Gares. Only ho can answer that, Senator,

The Cuamraan. Why do you think he left, in his initin] stalemont
what is called an “out” for'the President, by snying he thought the
Prosident. didn't know about. this?

Seevetary Gares, T don't. know what his intentions were, whether
that. was an out. or whether that, was just a statement that he believed.
1 really don’t know,

The Cuamaan, 1 it was an out, it would be inconsistent with his
determination to wreek the conference, would it not.?

Seeretary Garves, Siv?

The Cramaax. Tf it was an out as it has been alleged, it would
bo inconsistent with his determination to wreck the conference, ITo
wouldn’t want to give the President an out, would he ?

Seervetary (Gares, I never personally considered it was an out. I
just thought he was using this as part of his speech—I don’t consider
1t was an out,

The Crarman, Well, he did say that he thought the President
didn’t know about it, didn’t he, in his initial statement ¢

Seeretary Gares. Yes; he did.

The Cramryan. My time is up.

Senator Morse, do you have any further questions?

Senator Morse, Senator Wiley is next,

The Cuarraax. Senator Wiley ?

Senator Morse. T have some more questions,

Senator Winey. Mr. Seeretary, we know very well that Khrushchev
had canvassed the situation with Macemillan, de Gaulle, with Adenauer
and with our President, and they were all agreed and firm on the prop-
osition that Khrushchev wanted, to wit, to divide Germany, and so
forth and so on. Now, he was acquainted with that fact from his
conversations, was he not?

G o s N -
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Secretury Gares, 1 helieve ho was, sir, :
Smmlm-{ isiy, And, iu other words, he knew that. if he went to the
conforonco und couldi’t. get his way, which would be very apparent,
that wouldn’t sit.so well with the people of Russin? '

Secretary Gares, L think that is o good speculation,

Sonator Winey., So, it.seems to be the consensus of those people who
clnim (o know, inclm[ing yourself, that the U-2 incident, would give
him something to hang on his provious determination and that he
utilized. Do youagrestothat?

Secretary Gares, Yes, I think he used the 1J-2 as o tool rather than
as o matter of principle. I think he decidel that there was no
progroess for him at the sutmnit,

SOVIET KNOWLEDUE OF OVERFLIGILTH

Sonntor Wirey, Well, there is just this one other question. T think
ou have angwored it, but see if I can’t get it out into the open and get

it 5o there won’t. he any question : I8 it your opinion that he had known
of the U-2 incidents for o long time—I mean the U-2 flights?

Seeretary Ciares, T think I believed him when he said that he knew
wo were overflying the Soviet. Union, 1 don’t believe ho knew their
capabilities.  But T think he knew that, unidentified aiveraft were over
his territory.

Senator e',\’ iy, That igall, Mr. Chairman.

The Cuamrman, Senntor Morse?

RELATIONSIITE OF U-2 FLIGIITS TO SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Senntor Monst, Mr, Secretary, T want to pursue a bit further the
line of questioning that T was conducting when my time was up
becnuse 1 think you have got to deal also with the problem of where we
go {rom here, in view of Russian attitudes at the present time.

Wo have the air marshal’s statement now which has not been coun-
tormanded as far as we know by Khrushchey, that if an American U-2
plano flies from any base, goes over Russia, they will fire a missile
against that base,

Your testimony, I think, justifies my concluding that if they fire at
that base, that under our commitments under NAgI‘O, our obligations
to defend our allies, we will meet that force, and that that may very
well start general war,

As I understand also your testimony, you share my doubt as to
whether or not the air marshal is blufing, whether or not this is
propaganda in the cold war or whether or not this is an announcement
of a definite decision as to what they are going todo.

. So we have to discuss this hypothetically %rom this point on. Let’s
assume that he means exactly what he said, and beeause of my fear of
the type of military mind they have in Russia as contrasted with our
own, namely, the difference between amoral military leaders and moral
military leaders, I am very fearful that the group in control of the
Russian military at the present time means exactly what it says.

They will fire a missile at any base from which an American U-2
plane flies. Doesn’t that put squarely up to us then the question as
to whether or not we can justify being a party indirectly to the start-
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ing of general war by flying any U2 planes from any foreign base,
in view of that announecament by the Russinn nie mrshal ?

Seeretunry Gares, W have announced that the U 2 flights will not.
bo resumed,  The Progident. has announced this,  This 1s, of eourso,
known (o them and that. was announced prior (o this Defense Min-
istor's statement that you refer to,

Senator Morse, T'hat is what T want to elaeify for this record ha-
enuse most respeet fully, 1T don't think it is elear in the rvecord that
thix committee has made (o date,

The Prasident. aumounced at Parvis that. they wera suspending them,

Seevetary Gares, He made the statement, Senator, that he couldn’t
commit the next President, but ns far ns he was coneerned, during his
administration, the lights were stopped.,

Senntor Mogse, Then do yon \\'is'n to express the viewpoint that at
the present time the United States does not. intend o continue any
U 2 flights over Russin?

Secretary Gares, think we madaa commitment. not. to,

Senator Mogse, There has been a considernble nmount of disens-
sion in these hearings and outside of these heavings that in view of
that. situation that confronts us, it is intended to continue U7 2 flights;
that the President’s statement was n statement made tn conneetion
with the summit conference situation,

In other words, the summit. conference situation having blown up,
it does not. follow that. that statement of the President. now continues
in effeet.

It is your testimony that it is your understanding it does continne
in etfeet?

NATURE OF PRESIDENT'S COMMUPMENT NOT TO CONTINUE FLIGIHTS

Secretary Gares. Tam not a lawyer, Senator, but. T think you could
take the legal point of view that the President had no commitment
because of the blowup of the summit conference, but. from a national
point of view, Yl‘(‘siig\‘ and the standpoint. of the honorable point, of
view, T think the United States has made a commitment. regardless
of the technicality of the timing of the decision, so in my judgment
we have made a commitment not to fly U-2 during the administration
of this President. )

Senator Morsr, T don’t eare to get into any argument over seman-
tics, but only judging from what T read about the interpretation of
the President’s speech to the Nation, there are many news comments
interpreting the President’s speech to the Nation as a speech that does
not. commit this Nation to a discontinuance of U-2 flights, now that
the sunimit. conference has blown up. s

I think it is very important that we make clear our ]l))gsition. T am
not passing judgment now on what our position should be.

Secretary GaTes. Yes, sir.

INTERPRETATION OF PRESIDENT’S COMMENTS ABOUT NOT RESUMING
OVERFLIGIITS

Senator Morse. But we have problems, may I say most respectfully,.
with people in other parts of the world, even including the segments
of the population of our allies, raising the question as to whether or
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not. the Predident’s speech to the Nation the other night means that
we niy continne U-2 flights,

In view of the statement of the nir marshal of Russin ay to what,
they wre going to do if they do continie, my question is this: Should
not. our Government restate its position m regurd to (the continuation
of U-2 flights and give the world agsurnnce ut the present. time that
wo do not intend to continue U-2 (lights and thus risk the possibility
that the Russinng miny sead aomissile to the nir base from which any
U-2 flight might lenve?

Secrotary Gares, Senntor, I have in my hand the President's state-
mentin Pavis in which he said

In polnt of fuel, these flights were suspended after the recent. ineldent, and aro
not to be resumed.  Aceordingly, thig enninot. be the Issue.,

That. is n entegorienl statement, that. they are not o be resumed,
Thigis what T understand onr position is,

Senntor Monse, "Fhe President didn’t say that in hig speech to the
Nation the other night. There isn’t anything in the President’s
speech to the Nation the other night that entegorienlly and unequivo-
enlly nssures to the world that we are discontinuing, asg a matter of
espionnge poliey, the flying of any U-2 planes over any foreign
territory,

ATl Iseek to do at this point in the record, and please let me assure
you of lhis) is to raise this point so that. our Government. ean remove
any suspicion or fear in other parts of the world in view of the
Russinn air marshal’s statement, that the world doesn’t have to be
concorned about. o nuelenr war being started by us by sending o 172
plane from any foreign base over Russia,

I think the world is entitled to that assurance at this moment in
order to produce the relaxation that T think ig necessary for the con-
tinnation, through the United Nations I hope, of a good faith, this
attempt to reach some understanding with Russia,

Secretary Gares. It may well need clarification, Senator. T didn’t
think it did. T thought it was P(n'f(-,ct,ly clear to me that we had made
a commitment so long as the President. is in office, not to fly the U-2
airplane, and everyone understood it.  If they don’t, perhaps it should
be reexamined. THowever, you are now faced with making another
statement in face of a threat, and I don’t know whether this is a wise
move or not.

Senator Monse. T think it is a wise move if we honestly helieve
that this is more than a threat, that this is an announcement of mili-
tary policy that they intend to deliver on,

WORLD OPINION ON U-2 OVERFLIGATS

I don’t intend to argue the point. I think the judgment of the
world will be against us if, in view of what you call this threat, we
-should continue 1/-2 flights, because I think we have to share joint
responsibility with Russia then for starting a nuclear war, because
I seriously question whether world opinion will ever be with us on
this kind of espionage conduct.

I think that world opinion is against our sending a U-2 flight over
.any foreign territory, because I think most people in other parts of
.the world consider it a form of constructive aggression.
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That is all, Mr. Chairman,

Tho Ciameman, Senator Hickenlooper, do yon have any further
questions? T think you are next,

Senator ThokeNvoorer, Me, Seervetary, with reference to the dis-
cussion which you have just had with Senator Morse---1 think per-
haps 1 only have & comment. beeanse my comment. will go to a mat-
ter of personal opinion--as I understand the line of questioning that
has been going on here, and as 1 think it probably \\'il’ ho inferpreted,
the United States is reguived to tnke I.hoHnu'don for all the ills of the
world and take the responsibilities for all the mistakes in the world;
that. wa must. do everything, including completo submission to the
donmands and thae threats of the Weemling and that. the opinion of the
world is apt to he slanted agminst us unless we do this at this time,

1 have heavd from so many sources over the country that we huve
to do this or that or the other thing ns n gesture that we are not.
war-minded or that. we are not. warmongers, or that we really have
some interest. in our fellow man, :

RECORD OF THE UNITED 8TATES AR A PEACEFUL NATTON

Now, if the record of the United States over the lnst good many
years of humanitavian activities, of funtastic exponditures of billions
of dollars for peace, of fostering all kinds of conferences, of making
all kinds of oh‘m’s to meet. all kinds of reasonable propositions for
weace, based only upon reasonable agreements for their assurance of
{x\ing‘ carvied ont-—-if that isn't an assurance to the world, T personally
think that to humble ourselves further by yielding to this threat of
this military man in Russia. would certainly not add to our prestige:
in the leasty and it. probably would bo of little use in the eyes of the
world, at Teast. to those that we would expeet to stand by us in an
emergency,

1 can’t follow that. line of reasoning, especially in view of the past
record of the United States. '

Wo started out at the end of World War IT with the sole and
exclusive possession of the atomic bomb, the ability to blow any na-
tion off the map and anybody else if we wanted to if we were war--
minded. Nobody else had it. We offered to give it up to an inter-
national agency to get out of the atomic business, to turn over all
fissionable materials to an international ageney ; all we asked was that
reasonable inspection, reasonable assurance, would be given that
the international agency would have control and that no nation would
cheat on this obligation,

Never in the history of the world, as far as I know, has a nation,
possessing the exclusive ability and the exclusive power to destroy
any other nation in the world, have they ever given that up or-oftered
to grive it up voluntarily. '

We go from that step by step with vast amounts of money, with all
kinds of humanitarian offers, with all kinds of peaceful ofters, with
all kinds of peaceful efforts in the world and I just want to make
my position clear: we have stated we are not going to overfly Russia,
at least so far as President Eisenhower’s administration is concerned,
with U-2's—that has been stopped. If we did continue it sometime-
in the future in the interests of the security of this country, I think:
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the security of this country comes first. in our responsibility, and we
must tuko whatever reasonable means we have and whatever caleu-
lnted risks that may be involved in order to secure essentinl informa-
tion nndd in order to secure and mnintain our proper defensive posture,

I feel that very deeply and 1 un not questioning yon nbout. it.

You dow't. have to agreo or disngree. 1 merely wanted to mnke
that statement in view of the faet that 1 don’t agree that we have
continnally to hnmble ourselves in the eyes of the world, heeanse 1
think it enn do nothing but. destroy the confidence, in many cases, that,
other Nufions have in us if we continue to bow to the threats that
cemanunto periodienlly from the Kremling and we have had just as bad
threats in tho past as this one.  As 1 pointed oul, in my previous ques-
tions, where dmy said they have rockets pointed at. our bases, they
have rockets on the pads pointed al other countries in Kurope;
they know how many rockets they are going to put on Paris and
that, they are going (o bury us one way or another, and o on, and I
think there comes a time when even the world has o turn and stand
fust, ‘Thatisall T have to say.

Tho Ciamaran. TIs that all?

Senator Hickennoorsg. Yes,

Tho Cuiiairaan. Senator Gore?

[Deleted.]

T'he Senator’s time is up.

The Senator from Ohio, any questions?

Senator Lavscur, No further questions,

KHNRUSHCIEY'S CITANUING VIEWS ON A BUMMIT CONFERENCE

Tho Crramman. Mr, Secretary, I don’t want to labor this too long,
but, I am interested in your reasoning. I didn’t get to finish that ques-
tion. Let me go back. Do you think when Chairman Khrushchev
was in the United States last September that at that time he had an
intention to have a summit conference?

. Secretary Garrs, I would only be speculating, Mr. Chairman., I
think he did.

" Tho Cramman, I want to know what happened between then and
May 15, in your opinion, that caused him to take the firm decision
which you stated a moment ago you believe he had.

Secretary Gates. I really don’t know the value of my opinion, Mr.
Chairman, but my opinion is that he has tried for many years to
divide our allies from us. Ie has tried to divide the NATO member-
ship in particular. He has resented the bases that surround his coun-
try, and he has had, I think, as a No. 1 objective the division of our
security and collective alliances. I think he found during this inter-
vening period that he couldn’t make a dent in the solidarity and
ynity of these relationships, that he couldn’t get anyhody to change
their.position on Berlin.. He found the British and the French and
the United States stalwartly together on that subject, and that he
found the NATO alliance in good shape and strong, and that he was

going to run into a position where he would make no progress, and
as someone else has remarked, I believe, during this testimony, he
would probably lose some face at home if he couldn’t make any
progress. ‘ :
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U2 INCIDEM™H BEFFECE ON SUMMET CONFERENCE

*The Coamsman, Do you think he would huve refused Lo participnto
if thero had been no U- 2 incident ¢

Seeretney Garess I othink hoe would have--aguin, we must. only
speculate, Senator--1 think ho would have probably enmiployed taeties
that would have rained the summit. from within,

The Cuamsan, But you think he would have participated?

Seceretary (taves, 1 think he would have participated and found
somu of her mechanism of destroying: it,

| Deloted. |

The Conamsman, Mre. Dulles testified that the Air Foree gnve CIA
weather forecasts that were helpful to the U-2 operation; is that cor-
veet?

Secvetary Gares, That is correct,

[ Deleted. ]

SOVIET MILUPARY PREPAREDNEES

The Crameaan, What inference from Soviet military preparvedness
can properly be drawn from the U-2 incident ¢

Seeretary Gares, This, picced together and repented and associnted
with other sources of intul\ig«nco builds up, unfolds n story that defi-
nitely disgelosed a military posture,

1t builds up a story that gives you a judgment on a capability for
a surprise attack, 1t gives you a judgment on important instatlations.
It gives you some judgment. on production. It gives you some judg-
ment on logistic backup and actual military sites, so that T would say
it gave vou a very definite look-seo at. their military posture,

The Ciamraan. Is it possible for you to give us a judgment? Was
this preparation and strength very impressive? Was it greater than
you had expected?

Secretary Gares. Coming into two recent jobs 1 have had, which is
the first time T was ever involved in this, I would sny that it impressed
me, Senator.

The Cuaryan. In other words, the result of your overflights and
the information you got. has given you a better appreciation of their
military strength and that appreciation is that they are very well
armed—is that correct—better than you expected ?

Secretary Gares. In some case, yes. In some case, perhaps less well
than they advertised.

EFFECT OF SUMMIT FAILURE ON U.8. MILITARY PROGRAMS

The Crairyvan. Does this failure of the summit and all that has re-
sulted from it give you any new ideas as to the level of expenditures
of programsrelating to defense?

Secretary Gates. Not immediately, no, sir. But I believe I have
said when I started to testify in January, I repeatedly stated we didn’t
expect to have any significant or substantive concessions. We believed
there was a tactic on the part of the Soviet Union. We didn’t know
how long it would last and we are not basing our military programs on
this premise and I also said that we should keep them under continuous
review and as late as April we went back with a major revision in our
military programs to the Appropriations Committees.
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I believe now wo shonld continue this careful and continuous process,
and I have no desire right now to make any further recommendations
to tho Congress, The Sennte Approprintions Commitles are shout
to mark up the defense bill T believe next week or this week.

[l)ololu!l.]

POSKIBLI, INTERPRETATIONS OF THE ALERT

The Cnamman, One inference T wish you would comment on that
might hnve been deawn from the ordering of the test, on May 15 s, 1
believe: Would it be fair to draw tho inference that you had any
doubt. about. the rendiness of our Armed Forees.

Secretary Gares. Noy sirg but it ig o very good move and we should
do it. more frequently to have a no-nofice alert communications and
commund rendiness test, and we hope fo do this, T sny we started one
again lnst night, which has been long planned, it is going to e about,
7- or8-duay exercise,

The Ciramaan. H hasbeen long planned,

DECISTION PO ORDER  ALERT

Was the one on the 15th long planned ?

Seeretury Gares, No,sir,

The Ciramman. When did you first. think of doing that?

Seeretary Gares, There was another one planned for about that
period of time, as a matter of fact, T made the decision to do this
myself,

The Citamaran, Afier youarrived in Paris?

Seevetary Gares. Yes, sir,

Thoe Ciramyan. Do you think that that might have been construed
g:x n ]?)mvocutivo act, under the circumstances that then existed in

nris

Sccretary Gares, No, sir, it was made after midnight on Sunday
night. Tt was not. intended nor was it worded as a provocative mes-
sage. The first word in it was “Quiet,” and the last words in it were
“minimum need to know,”

It was not meant as provocative. It was not meant as either an
offensive or defensive alert,

In fact it was not issued as such. If we were going to go on that
kind of an alert we would have had a higher degree of readiness than
the Joint Chiefs of Staff issued.

The Ciamman. T didn’t mean you intended it as such. Don’t you
think reasonable people might have regarded it as a provocative act?

Secretary Gates. I think reasonable people would have regarded
it as a prudent act.

The Crrairyan. But not as a provocative act ?

Secretary Gates. That isright.

The CramryMan. My time is up. We have a member here who has
just come in. Would you care to ask any questions, Senator
Humphrey ?

Senator Huampurey. Can I follow up on two or three of yours?

The CrakmAN. You have 10 minutes to do as you please.

[Deleted.]

56412—60——11
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OVERFLIGH'TS CONSIDUERED ESSENTIAL

Senator Iumrurey. Do you think it was essentinl to have over-
flights in order to gain the kind of information that is supposed to
have been gained in recent. months?

Seeretary Gares, Yes; this was by all means our best, information,

Secretary Humenrey, Well, it might be your best information.

Secretavy Gares, Yos; Ithink it was essentinl ; yes; I do.

[ Deleted. ]

BOVIET AIRCRAFT ACFIVUNTES

Senator Husveunrey. Have we ever shot down any Soviet aiveraft
that have ever been over Amerienn territory?

Seeretary Gares. No, siv,

Senator ITusmenriey, Iave we shot. down any Soviet aireraft that
have been over aveas where we have some military responsibility 2

Secretary Games. Not to my knowledge.

Senator Hlumenrey. Not over Koreas Japan?

Secretary Gares, Youmean in peacelime?

Senator IHumeumey, Well, in the armistice period,

Seeretary Gares. No,sivynot tomy knowledge.

Senator Humenrey. We have not ? ‘

Secretary Gares. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator ITumrnrey, I had been informed once that we had, and
that is why I had asked the question.

Secretary Gares. Maybe we ought to qualify this, There has been
speculation that “volunteers” have flown aireraft that have been shot
down. These volunteers may have been Soviet, but, as far as I know,
any identified as o Soviet aireraft has not been shot down.

enator Humenrey, ITas the Soviet Union protested to the United
States because of an attack on our part on Soviet aireraft?

Secretary Garrs, I can’t answer that question, Senator, because
my knowledge is that they have not. I don’t think they have. Noj;
I t)l'on’t think so, sir.

Senator Humrirey. Do you have reason to believe that the so-called
volunteers might very well have been a little less than volunteers, pos-
sibly engaged actively in Soviet.espionage ?

Secretary Garrs. Well, there has been sort of a technique evolving
over a period of time in various places of the world where volunteers
have appeared and we have always been a little apprehensive about
them.

Senator HumrHREY. Just a little?

Secretary Gates, No,sir. [Laughter.]

Senator Husrerrey, That is all,

The Ciamrman. Senator Wiley ¢

Senator WiLey. None.

The Criamnan. Senator Morse?

Senator Morse. I have a few more, Mr. Secretary, pursuing the
same line of questioning I was pursuing before.

The Presifhmt the other night in his speech to the Nation indicated
very clearly that a nuclear war would produce devastation upon all

participants,
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POSSIBILITY OFF A GENERAL WAR

Going back to my hypothetical, assuming that we should fly a spy
plane out of some foreign base and assuming that the Russian air mar-
shal makes good on his threat and strikes that airbase with Russian
missiles and starts o general war, do you think we could win it?

Seeretary Gares, Yes, sir.

Senator Morse, You think we could destroy Russin and have enough
of the United States left. so that we could remain a power?

Secretary Gares. Yes, sir; because in this ense he would, by initiat-
ing this attack, give considerable warning to our retalintory forces
and with that warning, we would move in.

Senutor Monse, Your view then is that the United States could win
a nuelear war?

Secretary Gares. If it is started under those circumstances.

‘Deleted. ]

senator Monse. Do you think that the Russian military are aware
of the fact that we could win a nuclear war if they started that war
by simh)ly sending a missile to one air base from which a spy plane
might fly ?

Seeretary Gares. 1 think they are well aware of it.

Senator Monse. Do you think then that if he kept his threat of
sending a missile to a foreign air base from which a spy plane might
bo flown, he probably would o much further than that and send mis-
siles elsewhere and 1f he knows it is going to lead to a general war,
start a complete general war!?

Sceretary Gares, I think he would have to.

Senator Morse. In your opinion, could we win that war?

Secretary Gares. Well, we could do what we call in the military,
prevail in general war, but there would be great damage to the United
States.

Senator Monse. There would be terrific mutual destruction in a
general war?

Secretary Gares. Yes; terrific damage,

Senator Morse. Therefore—

Seeretary Gares. But everything depends, Senator, on a lot of fac-
tors. If you vary any part of the equation 1{yoq vary the answer. In
other words, time of warning, reliability of missiles, ability to fire a
salvo of missiles worldwide against deployed and U.S. forces at home
and abroad. These factors and the accuracies of these weapons—any
one piece of this equation varies the answer.

INTERPRETATION OFF PRESIDENT'S COMMENTS ON BUSPENSION OF U-2
FLIGHTS

Senator Morsk. Therefore, referring most respectfully to Senator
Ilickenlooper's observation, do you think that we would be showing a
sign of weakness, that we would be guilty of apf)easement, that we
would be surrendering to threats if we removed any doubt in the
world at the present moment by notifying the world that we have no
intention of using military aireraft espionage tacties henceforth either
by CIA, by N/ ‘é;\, by the Defense IKstablishment or by any other
agency of tfw American Government ?
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Seeretary Garese Welly T wouldn't. know quite how to answer your
(Hlll\‘a‘(iﬂll, Senator, beeanse mayho somo of us that. five so elose (o Lhese
things have a different understanding than the public has, 1 is so
clear in my mind that the President has made o commitment not. to
fly these nieplanes during his administration that 1 helieve that. the
question: becomes hypothetieal, and 1 believe if it is elear to other
people as it is to mae that (his isso, then it would be 1 helieve, stepping
up ton threat,  But if it is not elear, and T am incorreet in this, (hen
I think wo ought to take a look at. it.

Senator Mowrse, T am o anxious (o see to it that wo make it erystad
clear beeause Tam very much coneerned about: world veaction {o our
present position. T think we ave living in the moment now where we
ean stop an adverse world renction, and 1 think we arve living in a
moment where there is great danger that a substantinl segimment of
world opinion is going to go against us, unless we are willing to make
crystal elear that wo are not going to, through any ageney of our
Government, vesort. to aireraft espionnge, heeause we'nre dealing here
when we are dealing with espionnge, as you so very well, 1 think,
desevibed it yoursalf, with a form of netivity that. is n pretty ugly
business,

Secrotary Gares. Yes, siv,

Senator Morse. And we all know that it isn’t based on prineiples
of truth.  In espionage, you do what is necessary (o profeet your
country, including deception and engaging in immoral aets. [De-
loted.]

Now, Tdon't think we humble ourselves.  To the continry, 1 think
we put them on the defensive in world opinion if wo say (o the world :

Listen, we want the Russinng to understand that they are going to have to
assme full responsibility for any stavting of 8 war.  We have sald and we re-
peat to the world that we have no intention of using atveraft in espionnge work
over foreign territory.

You think it is perfeetly elear. T have just come from across the
country and 1 can give you assurance that it isn’t_in my judgment.
clear in American public opinion today, and you have really got a
segment of publie opinion in this country that wants that assurance
from the President. beeauso they take note of the fact that in his
speech the other night he wasn’t even as definite as he was at. Paris
in regard to this matter.

NEED FOR ASSURANCE OF CESSATION OF AIRCRATT ESPIONAGE

Secretary Gares. Senator, under the American tradition, I would
say that the President says he isn’t going to overfly Russia during
his administration, any circumvention of that statement would not be
in character with either the President or our country. To me, it is
completely clear, but I respect your judgment.

Senator Morse. I may be completely wrong. My only point is that
we can afford, it seems to me, as a Nation that does seek peace, to re-
assure the world as many times as that when assurance might help the
cause of peace, and in doing so I don’t think we humble ourselves.
To the contrary, I think we put Russia on the defensive. It will help
us in my judgment to win the so-called battle of propaganda for
peace and strengthen us in getting these issues into the United Nations.
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OFf cowrse 1 would say this. 1 think the President. is to be commended
for making clenr in Paris that, he is suspending U-2 flights--that is
what ho swid s U-2 flights,

I think heis (o he commended for that, and T hope that those who
seek to repluee him will give the world assurance immedintely that
when any one of them is eleetod President. that. will be their policy,
too, beeause if all this is o moratorium for a few months, it is not,
coing to strengthen Amerien’s position in world opinion.  T'hey want,
to know whether or ot this is going to he the poliey of the United
Stafes, beennse, inomy judgment, if you continue espionage work hy
way of aireraft, you are going (o lose the world opinion in southeast,
Asin, Latin Amerien, and Afrvien, the opinion of which Ameriea hag
got. to win in the deeades ahend (o survivey beeange if that part. of
the world goes agninst s, it is only 0o matier of a few deendes hefore
wo will cense, in my judgment, being a Nation,

You have got. to win to the enuse of freedom those hundreds of
millions of people, and you are not going to do il in my judgment. if
vou let Khrushehev get. by with a propanganda drive now that. we are
the ones that. are committing a form of aggression by carrying out, an
espionage program. - We don’tlike to face up to it but in my judgment,
that is going (o he the verdiet. of those people.

The Ciiamesax, The Senator'stime is up.

Senntor Gore?

SECRETARY GATES PARTIGIPATION IN ISSUANCE OF STATEMENTS

Senantor Gori Mr, Seeretary, I understood yon to say that the
decision on the 9th that the President should assume full responsibility
was a unanimous decision.  Did T correctly understand you?

Secretary Gares. The statement. that was issued was a unanimous
paper. I think I am answering you yes.

Senator Gore. T wanted to give you an opportunity to affir that,
and you so do now,

You did not participate, I believe you told me, or you told the com-
mittee, in any conference between the 5th and the 9th.

Seeretary Gares. That is correct.

Senator Gore, So you did not. participate in a conference or in a
communication between the Department of State, the President at
Gettysburg, or otherwise, with anyone regarding the issuance of the
statement. which was issued on the 7th by Mr, IHerter?

Secvetary Gares. No, I did not.

Senator Gore. Which partially acknowledged the mission of the
plane. o

Secretary Gates. That is correct. I had no participation in that
in any way. . .

Senator Goze. I believe that concludes my questions, Mr. Chairman,

The Cirairman. Senator Lausche?

KHRUSHCHEV’S ATTITUDE FOLLOWING VISIT TO THE UNITED S8TATES

Senator Lauscne. T want to explore a bit the course of conduct
taken by Khrushchev after his visit to the United States, concerning
his attitude especially on West Berlin and West Germany. Isn't it
a fact that following his visit to the United States, there was shown
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by him a conciliatory attitude for a period of about. a month or two?
Are you ublo to answer that {

Secretary Gares, My impression is about the same as yours, Sen-
ator, that there was sort of n tone of conciliation in the air,

Senator Lavscur, We have had before this committes the Ant-
arctic Treaty that has been recommonded.

Secretary (iares. Yes, sir,

Sonator Lauvscie, That was signed by the Soviet and by the United
States.

Secretary (ares. Yeos, sir,

Senator Lauscne, And that, T think, was Iast December 1. And
there was progress made for a period on the matter of banning nuclear
tests,

Secretary (Gares. Yes: there was progress made.

Sonator Lauscue, In fact, there was more progress mado during
that period than there had heen at any other time on that subject.

Secretary Gares, 1 think that would be fair to say, that it looked
more hopeful.

Senator Lavsciir. On November 14 in aspeech Khrushehev brutally
atlacked Adenauver and the Germnn Republie.

Seeretary Gares, 1 remember the speech.

Senator Lavscne. You remember that speech ?

Seeretary Gares. Yes, sir,

Senator Tavscne. And there was some speculation in the minds of
the people in our Government. as to what his purpose was in making
that attack when ostensibly there was to be a conference to rench some
agreement on West Germany and Berlin,

Now then, on December 1, he began vepeating his threats that he
would sign n separate peace treaty with Iast Germany. Ts it not a
fact that his attack upon Adenauer and upon the German Republic
and his purpose to sign a separate peace treaty, was confirmation of
the immovable position he took before he met at Camp David about
West. Berlin :m(ll Tast Germany?

Secretary Gares. Yes: T think it was. T think his position was well
advertised, and we felt in the Department of Deferse that we were
living under a threat of a separate peace treaty at that time,

Senator Lavscne. Then he has the Baku speech of April 25 in which
he gave a harsher version of what he had been saying for months
about East Berlin, West Berlin, and the German Republic. That is
in April, pretty close to May 16, and then we have those circumstances
in which you point out that he had a translated paper originally
written in Russian into French translation so that he gave it to—

Secretary Gates. De Gaulle.

Senator Lavscne. De Gaulle. How did he present his paper to
Macmillan?

Secretary Gates. My understanding, Senator, was that he didn’t
leave a paper with Macemillan. He talked from the same paper and
it was translated through an interpreter to Macmillan verbally. This
ismy understanding.

Senator Lauscne Isn't it also a fact that during all of this time and
especially in the several months preceding the conference, the sup-
posed conference, the four powers stated that there would be no yield-
me on West Berlin. and our rights in West Berlin?

Secretary Gates. That isright.
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KIHRUSHCHEY'S SUMMIT CONFERENCE AIMB

Senator Lauvscne. In your opinion, what was the primary thing that
ho was niming for in the conference? 1 am speaking of Khrushchev.,

Seeretary Gares. You mean when he agreed to go to a sunmit
conference?

Senator Lauscnie, And down totheend.

Secretary Gares, I testified that T think he thought he would have
his way and make some peace treaty in Berlin with some kind of give

_on the part of our allies and our allies refused to give.

RKASONS IFOR REVOKING INVITATION 10 PRESIDENT EISENIIOWER

Senator Lauscue. All right. Now then, have you given any
thought to why he revoked the invitation to the President to come to
the Soviet Innd ?

Secretary Gares, Well, again we speculate but in my opinion the
last thing ?1,0 wanted was for the President, to travel around his coun-
try and be accleimed and received by the Fopu]ation of Russia.

Senator Lauscur. Do you think that he had flashes in his mind
about the acclaim that Nixon got in Poland, and in other places?

Secretary Gates. 1fe probably did.

Senator Lauscne. And do yon think that he kind of thought that
there would be demonstrations for the President of the United Stateg
by the Russian people unparalleled anywhere?

Sccretary Gates. Ihelieve there would have heen.,

Senator Lavscre, That is my honest conviction, that he did not dare
have the President meet, the Ukrainian people and the normal Russian
people, excluding the Communists, in that trip to the Soviet and that
18 why the invitafion was revoked.

Senator WiLry. Will the Senator yield?

Senator Lauscue. I yield.

POSSIBLE INFLUENCE OF THE CHINESE COMMUNISTS ON KHRUSHCHEV’S
THINKING

Senator Wirey. I think there are some other facts there that fit
into the picture that you have very dramatically given us.

Do you remember after he came to America he went back and he
canvassed individually the various heads of the various states, and
then he made a trip out east and he met Mao Tse-tung?

It was after that that he made that Baku speech. He made several
other speeches, and if you remember, the papers were pretty well filled
with the thoughts that the Chinese Communists were telling him, and
that at the time that he did go to Paris, that conditions were such that
the evidence indicated the Chinese were in Russia. Now all this
bolsters the conclusion that the Secretary has made, that it wasn’t the
U-2 incident. That was just something that he got hold of as an
ostensible reason.

The other was that he couldn’t get his way and that, I understand, is
your position,

Senator Lauscur. I have nothing more to ask you. Thank you
very much, Mr. Gates,
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BERFECE O DEN1AL OF OPPORTUNITY FOR PRESIDENT T0O VISIT SOVIET UNION

Senator Gone. 11 the Senator would yield, I would like to observe
that T was in the Far Iast at the time President Eisenhower made his
visit to Indin and other countries, and there was o tremendous favor-
able reception. Tt served the eause of our country magnificontly well.

I think it is n great loss to us that, the President has been denied
the opportunity to visit in the Soviet Union. It wonld have, in my
view, beon a great. contribution.  Ho is unquestionably a great exem-
plary influence for Ameriea, and T agree with yon, Senator Lauscho
and Senator Wiley, that the deninl of the opportunity of this visit is
a great loss to us,

1 do not. know whether Mr, Khrushehev wanted it or did not want,
it. Kveryono can draw his own conelusions there.

T wish now that the exchange visit. had been arranged heforve the
stwmmi{ conference,  Perhaps wo would have had a difforent resull.

Senator Lavscne, Mr. Chairman, T would like o ask & question.

The Cirateaan. ‘Thoe witness would like to make n comment.

PRESIDENT EISENHOWER'S DIGNITY AND CHARACTER AT PARIS MERTING

Seeretary Gares. T want to make a comment T sort, of feel like mak-
ing, Mr. Chairman. T think you know about this because you were
theve, T think everyone should bo terribly proud of the dignity and
character of the President in this Paris meeting.

1 happened to be sitting next to him and it was & most. remarkable
performance of strength of character and dignity of any man I have
ever seen.

Senator Gorr. You might be interested to know that T immediatel
took the tloor and expressed such views, and I do not believe you will
find any member of this committee has criticized the President’s con-
duct while in Paris.

Secretary Gares., T am sure of that. The purpose of my remarks
was not, intended to do anything but just make a statement. T know
he has had remarkable support of not only the Congress and this coun-
try, but of all of our allies too, the NATO meeting that followed the
Paris meeting was a remarkable meeting.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The Cizamyan. Is that ally gentlemen?

Senator Wirey. I want to express what you usually do, the appre-
ciation of the committee for the fine work of the Secretary here this
morning. )

Senator Lauscue. I did want to go into this speech of Senator Dodd
where he points out how Communists took charge in the organizing
of the meeting in New York of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear
Policv. But I am not going to go into it.

The Craarryman. Mr. Secretary, I want to thank you for your very
frank and candid responses and for the patience that you have shown
in bearing with the committee in asking these questions. I think you
have made a very useful record for the benefit of the committee, and
I think we understand what has gone on much better than we did be-
fore you came up here, and I hope that the record, as censored by the
proper authorities, will not in any way embarrassyou.
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Thank you very much, Mr, Seeretary.

Seeretary (ares, 1 hope not, thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Senator Gore. Mr. Chairman, before concluding the hearing I
wonld wish to express to yon my personal apprecintion for the dig-
nity, intelligence, and discretion and the courage yon have displayed
and siatesmanship during the course of this hearing.

The Cuamsran, Thank you very much.

CHALMERS ROBERTS’ CHHRONOLOGY 01 EVENTS

Senutor Gonre, Now T ask unnnimous consent o have printed in the
record n chronology of events which I found exceedingly well done by
My, Chalimers Roberts,

The Cunamsan. Without, objection it ig so ordered.

("I'he chronology referred to follows:)

{Irrom the Washington Poxt, May 27, 1060}
Crnonoroay or U-2 INCIENT TRACED IN TANGLED WER OF SUMMIT DISPUTE
WHO WAH RESPONSIBLEY
(By Chalmers M. Roberts)

Who was responsible for the Ineredible assortment of conflicting statements
and contradlictory assertions when the Llsenhower administration was con-
fronted with the U-2 spy plane crlsisg?

This Is the most Immedinte question In the tangled web of the U-2 affalr
and the subscquent. collapse of the Summit Conference in Parvis,  What follows
is a detalled examination of the facts nhout the Administration’s handling of
the U--2 case,

It should be noted beforehand, however, that there are other fmportant parts
to the whole story: The apparent. public hardening of American policy toward
the Soviet Unlon prior lo the U--2 affair; Soviet Premfer Nikita S, Khrushehev's
reaction to that hardening; IKKhrushehev’s reactions to the Amerlean accounts of
tho U--2 c¢ase; and the internal Soviet pressures on Khrushehev, before and
after the spy plane was downed, beeause of his year-old policy of trying to do
business with President Eisenhower,

Whether or not. Khrushehev would have scuttled the Summit, had there been
no U-2 incident, is not now clear; there are divided opinions in the Adminis-
tration on that. A good many diplomats do tend to agree with what President
Bisenhower said to the congressional Jeaders yesterday—that Khrushehev
may have scuttled the conference hecause he was under “pressure by the
Stalinists,” those in Moscow suspicious of any dealing with the West, “and the
Chinese” Communists who have openly disagreed with Khrushehev's policies,

But that question is only indirectly related to the handling of the U~2 affair
by the Lisenhower Administration,

The chief figures in the U-2 drama in Washington were President Eisenhower,
Secretary of State Christian A. Herter, Under Secretary C. Douglas Dillon, Cen-
tral Intelligence Agency Chief Allen W. Dulles and White House Press Secretary
James C. IHHagerty.

It is evident from the record that much of the confusion sprang from the
fact that no one acted in supreme authority in directing the Administration’s
actions.

Ilere is the chronological record as far as it is known today :

May 1.—The U-2 flight of pilot Francis G. Powers took place on this date
because of a clear weather forecast. That forecast also indieated that such
good weather probably would not be repeated for some weeks: that is, until
after the Summit Conference, then 2 wecks off. CIA officials say the equip-
ment carried by Powers, including the tiny poison needle, is standard equipment
carried by all Strategic Air Command crews. It is designed to help a crewman
escape if downed in enemy territory. Powers never was ordered to use the
needle to avoid capture; it was for use to avoid torture, if captured, according
to CIA officials. The pistol was not for murdering Russians but for shooting
small game, it is contended.

NEPFFROTTVR ORTATNAT, COPY




164 EVEN'TS INCIDENT TO T'HUE S8UMMIT CONFERENCE

Second flight

The day of Powers' flight, there was a second U-2 flight from Turkey. This
wiad & meteorologleal fiight outsido the Soviet Unlon, the kind of flight the Na-
tional Acronnutles and Spaco Administration unwittingly thought all U-2's were
mnking. NANA was, of course, the “covor’ for the clandestine flights over the
Soviet Unlon.

These penetrations of Soviet alr spiace had been going on for four years with
rexulty highly gratifyting to Ameriean intelligence oflielals,  ‘'here had been a
great many of these flights and the Powers mission was not the flest designed to
cross the Soviet Unfon,  Others had suceceded when he faited.

So detafled were the protographs brought back by the U-2s that at one time
the State Department's Poliey Planning Staff consldered a proposal to show them
to Kheushehev,  The tden was to use them in an effort to brenk down his reslst-
ance to ingpection and control for various disarmament schemes,

The proposal was rejeeted, however, partially on the grounds that Khrushehev
already knew of the flights and that such a move might lead him to make such n
public row that they would have to be discontinued.

Cutoff planned

ClA offleials contend that there was to be a cutoff of U-2 flights before the
Summit, that the question was how much time constituted n margin of sufety.
Neverthelesy, the Powers mission was permitted to tnke place two weeks hefore
the Summit.  In his speech on Wednesday the President implied he fully ap-
proved of that.

Mr, Bisenhower said that, as to complaints over the timing of the flights so
close to the Summit, “there is no time when vigilance can be relaxed.,” By imn-
plication, he meant there was no reason to cancel the flight because of the im-
pending conference with the Russians,

However, this has not always been the President’s poliey.  In September, 1956,
in the midst of the Suez crisis negotintions with the Russians as well as the
Egyptians—the Prostdent did order a halt to the U-2 flights. Then he apparently
wanted to avold an incldent which would make negotiation more difficult.

There is no evidence, however, that the President was aware beforchand of
this particular flight or that elther the State Department or the CIA thought his
specitic approval necessary. e had delegated authority for the flights, once hav-
ing approved the entire U-2 scheme following Soviet rejection of his “open skies”
plan at the 1055 Geneva Sumiit conference.

May I-4—During this period the CTA and the State Department knew that
Powers was missing: they hoped he had erashed and that pitot and plane had
left no tell-tale evidence. 'The initial confusion over the missing plane, as to
whether it was PPowers or the legitimate meteorological flight tn ‘I'urkey the same
day. was soon eleared up. There is no evidence that the Administration laid
ont any plan of how to handle the possible disclosures lnter made by Khrushehev,

May have been misled

The Administration may have been misled into thinking Khrushchev would
remain silent beeause of Soviet action over the expected visit to the United States
of the boss of the Soviet Air Foree, Air Marshal K. A, Vershinin,

On May 2 the Soviets asked for a -48-hour postponement. of the announcement
« & the visit. But on May 4 they agreed to a joint United States-Soviet announce-
ment and it was made that day. The visit was canceled on May 13 after Khru-
shehev's U-2 diselosure,

On May 3 it was announced from Istanbul, Turke; that a single-engine Afr
Force plane was missing near Lake Van, not far from the Soviet border. It was
deseribed as a high altitude research plane belonging to NAKA,

The report said the plane was one of {wo which had taken off from the United
States base at Incrilik near Adana, Turkey, on a weather reconnaissance mission.
The other plane returned safely but the pilot of the missing craft was said to
have reported his oxygen equipment was out of order.

Standard s&tory

This was the standard sort of “cover” story for the missing U-2, issued in the
hopes that it would suffice. It was not known here whether Powers' U-2 went
down or why. To this date, in fact, there is only Khrushchev’s word that it was
downed near Sverdlovsk, deep inside the Soviet Union.

May 5—Khrushchev announced to the Supreme Soviet in Moscow the bare de-
tails of the U-2 flight, deliberately (he said later) withholding information
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which would have let Washington know that Powers was alive and thal much
of hiy cquipment had been captured intact. He set a trap into which the Kisen-
hower Administration fell,

In his Wednesday speceh, Mr. Eisenhower contended that the “covering state-
ment,” as he ealled it, was tmperative “to proteet tho pllot, his mission, and our
intelligenuce processes at a time when the tfrue facts were still undetermmined.”

On May b Seeretary Ierter was in Athens, en route home from a NAT'O for-
elgn ministers conference in Turkey. In charge of tho State Department was

Under Secretary Dillon,

Dillon's responsibility

Under the P'resident’s delegation of authority, it was Dillon's responsibility
for what next occurred until Herter's return late on May 6. It was on May 0
and ¢ that the adminlstration allowed itself to be entangled in a serles of lles
about the U-2,

When newsmen went to Press Seeretary Hagerty for comment on Khrushchev's
speech, Hagerty was careful to sny only that the President did not know of the
news story about the speech.

News of the specch arrived hero just after the President had left by helicopter
for & Natlonal Security Council meeting at a secret hideout, part of a civil de-
fenso exerclse,  There 18 no evidence on whether the President at that meeting
digeussed what to do about the Khrushehev disclosure. The subsequent record
indieates that ho left it to Dillon and the State Department.

Statoe Department spokesman Lincoln White, who received his instructions
personally from Ditton, sald that “it may be” that the plane Khrushehev referred
to was the missing so-called NASA afreraft. It was also announced that the
President had ordered an immediate inquiry into Khrushchev's accusation.

Trouble compounded

This semi-lie was aggravated by NASA's press chlef, Walter T. Bonney. Un-
aware that NASA was belng used as a “cover” for the spy flights, Bonney safd
at a press conference that the plane was on a wholly peaceful mission. He gave
details of the plane's Adana take-off, Its route within Turkey and the pilot’s
alleged report of hig oxygen trouble. The Administration’s story thus was that
a peaceful flight outside Soviet horders might have by accldent transgressed the
Soviet-Turkish border,

There 18 no evidence that the President or Dillon, or anyone else in suthority
in the Administration, took charge of the whole aftair and told NASA to say
nothing. There have heen subsequent hints from the White House, however,
that some such order went out to NASA but was overlooked or disregarded. The
record here is not elear,

May 6.—In Moscow it was clnimed the U-2 was shot down by a rocket on
Khrushchev’s personal order, but other details still were withheld. However,
‘E:lovlet For,eign Minister Andrei Gromyko termed the Amerfcan explanation

‘nonsense.

“Full fucts” asked

The State Department said it was asking the “full facts” in Moscow. White,
still acting under Dillon’s orders, declared that “there was absolutely no—n-o—
deliberate attempt. to violate the Soviet airspace.” The lie thus was compounded.

Around dinner time Herter arrived home from Greece to take charge of the
State Department,

Tho strongest evidence that the handling of the U-2 affair was left by the
President to the State Department—Afirst to Dillon, then to Herter—comes from
Vice Prestdent Richard M. Nixon. On a May 15 television show Nixon gave this
explanation, putting part of the blame for the fumbling on the insistent demand
of newsmen for the facts:

“Now, let’s look at the problem with which our people in the State Department
were confronted when this information developed. They did not know at the
outset what the Soviet Union knew. T’ ey did not know that the pilot had been
recovered and that they had obtained information from him or otherwise which
made it imperative we acknowledge that these flights had taken place,

Alternative question
“Now, some would say then, ‘well, why then didn't we keep our months shut
an‘(‘l say nothing and wait until we found out what they knew ?’ P
And here again we have the problem of the open society. We have newsmen
in Washington. The newsmen descended upon the State Department and other
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sofffelnts in geent: pumbors,  Mhey hnd a vight. (o, And they asked for the in-
formntion.  What nbout thin?  And, 8o under the cleeamstances, Howar felt that
the best thing 1o do wax to engiage I effeel in what. usunlly Ix engaged in where
ro-ciliod eaplonage aetivition aee undertaken, evastve aetlons  evaslve netions,
RO 1N to profect the pilot in the eveat. that he hnd been eapiured and also evaslve
aetions =0 ng to give the Soviet Unlon, Mre, Kheusheliov, for example, nn oppor-
tandty to nceopt the consequonces of this Aight without. admitting a8 he has had
to ndmit that it had boen conduceted for esplonage purposes.”

Later in the stime progeam Nixon added that “they had to make 1 sannp doe-
olston nt the aoment and 1 proved that i taened ot that thnt deelslon waxs
wrong and in these kinds of activities, we, of conrse, want {o fey to avold mis-

takos 10 wo enn”

Neferenees missing

Nowhere tn the theee-and-a-half-hour television program did Nixon vofor to nny
prasidentinl diveetton in the U 2 eplsis, othior than his approval of the fllghts
some yoars onviter. Nor was thelr any reforence to s own part tn the affale,
Nixon, of course, sits tn the National Reeurtty Counetl,

Nixon did sny that he was “privy® (o the U 2 veconnnlssnnes poliey “and 1 do
endorse 10" Roealso sndd thnt ©1 know ahout thix flight + « +"

On Felday afternoon, May ¢, the Presbdent. weat to his Qettysbarg, Pa., tarm
for a weekemd of vest and goif,  Hoe did not vetuen (o Washington undil Sudny,
May R but he was in (elephone communtention with Herter during the woeekend,
Hagerty, who accompanied the President to dottyshirg, niso tatked hy phone to
Horfor,

Map 7. Khvashehey, in o second Moseow speoch on the U2, diseloged the
pilor was alive and talking and that. much of his equipment had been enplured
intaect. Whrnshehev showed the Supreme Roviet photos taken from the U 2 of
Roviet military installations il he detalted (the plane's equlpment,

Qennine information

Ameviean offelals, who recelved the speech in the morning, Washlngton time,
Knew Kheashehev was usime intorintion that wos genuiue and (hat some of it
could have come ondy from Powers himsoelf,

Rhrushehev quoted Hagerty ax saying that, “the President, in Wis opinfon,
Knew nothing about the incldent involving the Ameriean plane, 1 fully admit
(=aid Rhrushehev) that the President. did not. know that a plane was sent be-
youd the Soviet frontier and did not return,”

The Khrashehev speech resulted ina sevies of all.day confevences in whieh the
chief flgures woere Hevter, Dillon, Allen Dulles and a number of lessor State
Department officials, including Herter's adviser on Soviet affates, Charles 1,
Rohlen,

Ont of this eame a unanimous deelston o tell the trath—-but not all the truth,
The divner-hour State Departinent stafement sald that the flight veferred to by
Khrushehey “was probably wndertaken by an nnarmed elvilinn U 2 plane > »"

Flight justificd

The tlight was fustitied on the grounds of the need “to obtatn information now
concealed hehind the Tran Cuvtain® (o lessen the dangers of a surprise attack
on the free world in general and the United States in particnlar,

On the critieal issue of who was respousible for the flight, however, the state-
ment led, 1 osaid (hat “as a vesult of the inquiry ordered by the President it
has been established that insofar as the authorities in Washington are con-
cerned there was no authorization for any such flight as described by Mr.
Mr. Khrushchev.”

In muking this statement, chiefly the decision of Secretary Herter, those in-
volved were guided by a number of considerations. They felt that Khrushchev
had the evidence and therefore an admission was essentinl despite the earlier
lies.  But they were teopped in ¢ dilemma on the issue of responsibility., They
decided it was best to avold admitting any responsibility by President Fisen-
hower even at the cost of accepting the resultant fmpression that Washington's
control was so lax that American pilots around the world could go off on thelr
own on a mission that might provoke a war,

Dullcg willing
During the State Department deliberations Allen Dulles made it clear that he,
as head of CIA, was prepared to take full responsibility for the flight, that if the
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Adminlsteatton wanted to pin the Mlamo on him to avold blaming the President,
he would agree, But this ldea was not accepted as belng practical In view of
Khrushehev's disclosures,

Hortor read the dreaft statement on tho phone to the P'resfdent in Gettysburg,
e approved it without changing n word,

In puart, nt lenst, Herter's decislon to tell the He that no one in Washington
anthorized tho flight niko was based In the slim hope that somehow Khrushehev
waould accept It, 1'he Sceretary and his aldes had noted Khrushehev's ncceptance
of what he had taken au Hagerty's disclnimer of any Bisenhower responsibility.

May 8 -While the world assersed the seemingly ineredible American admission
thnt the U-2 had indesd been on an esplonnge flight, Presldent Elsenbower re-
turned to Washington and met with Herter at the White House,

Notes to Britain, France

I'he snme day Khrushehov sent notes to Britain and France about the forth-
coming rummit. conference,  In them he complulned about the U -2 but guve no
indication It would be used o wreek the conference as was to be the ease,

By now lagerty was alarined at the lmplcatlons of the admlssion statement,
huplleations that the Prestdent. did not know what was golng on. o was
Inststent. to Herter that thig should somchow be ellminated. It 1s not clear
whoether the President, sald the sume thing to Herter directly but if he did there
wotlld seem to hitve been no reason for Hagerty to do o,

May 9—After anothor State Departiment conference, Herter put out a state-
ment. in hiv nwme sayiug that “penctration” by the U-2¢ of the Soviet Unlon had
been golng on for four years, that this had been done by presidential orders
“sinee the heglnning of his Administeation” fn order to gather Infelligence.  But
Herter added that "specifie missglons of these unnrmed celvilian aireraft have not
been subjecet to presidential avthorization” ‘Thls, at last, appeared to be the

truth,

Unarware of tmplication

This was the statement, which left. the hnplieation that sueh U-2 flights wonld
be continued over the Soviet Unlon,  But there is reason to belleve that none of
those Involved at State Department was consclous of any such Implication when
they drafted tho statement. They took the view, shired by the CIA, that the
-2 setup now wasg “a blown agent” to be disearded, that other intelligence
gnthering methods would continue, however.

Nonetheless the implication was there and nelther State nor the White House
did nuytbing to correct. it until the President himself told Khrushchev in Paris
a full week Inter that “these flights were suspended after the recent incident
and nre not to be resumel,”

The President sald Wednesday he wanted no public announcement until he
met Khrushehev in Parls,  American officials also elalmed the flight snspension
wasg ordered the previous Thursday, May 12, which 1s at cross-purposes with the
clalm that no implication of further flights was contalned in Herter's May 9

statement,

Ntron unaware

Indeed, Nixon in his May 15 television appearance seemed unaware that the
ftights had been cancelled.  1le then said :

“The first responsibility of the President of the United States * * * iy to
protect the security of this country and of free peoples everywhere from the
devastation that would result from a surprise attack. Now, that ig why these
flights were made in the first place. That is why an indication has been made
that such activities may have to continue in the future * * *"

Herter and Dulles appeared on May 9 before a specially arranged closed-door
Congressional leadership meeting. To at least some of those present Herter
left the clear implication that the flights would continue.

May 10.~The Soviet news agency, Tass, described Herter's statement as “a
frank attempt to legalize and justify violation of the state frontiers of other
nations for espionage purposes.” A Soviet note to the United States avoided
blaming President Eisenhower personally but, in referring to the May 7 state-
ment by State, said it did “not correspond to reality.” It charged that the U-2
flights “are carried on with the sanction of the Government of the United States

of America.”
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Wolcome doubted

May 11.—At an exhibition in Moscow of the U-2 wreckage and eqtiipment,
Khrushchev said Herter's May 9 statement made him doubt “Our earlier conclu-
slon” that the I'resident himself did not know of the flights. He sald he doubted
the Prestdent would be welcome in Russia during his geheduled June visit there.

When asked whether the U-2 ineldent would come up at the Summit Confer-
ohice, Khrushchev replled: “It ig alrendy the subject of worldwlde discussion,
I'herefore 1 believe there Is no need ta put it on the discussion schedule at the
Summit Conference.”

The same day at his press conference heve President Iisenhower took full
responsibility for the U-2 flights, said nothing to counter the fmplieation that
they would continue, remarked that “no one wants another Pearl Huarbor,”

May 12-14.—During this period Khrushehev went to Parvis a day early, arriv-
ing on Saturday, May 14. Herter arvived on May 13 but there was no United
States-Soviet contact.  On the 13th the Soviet Union sent protest notes to Nor-
way, Pakistan and Turkey warning against further use of their territory for
such missions as those of the U-2 which Khrushehev had elaimed took off from
Pakistan with the expectation of lnnding in Norway.

On the 12th the United States sent a note to Moscow which said the United
States had “fully stated its position” about the U~2 incldent in the May 9 Herter
statement,

By now President isenhower's responsibility for the U-2 flights, £ not. for the
specitle Powers misston, had been firmly established on the publie record,

Alay 15.—The President arvived in Paris just before Khrushcehev's call on
French President de Gaulle. The President considered two possible moves in
this final day before the Summit Conference was to open: I'o ask for a bilateral
mecting with Khrushehevy and to announce publicly that no more flights would
be made,

But the President declded against either step,  He did so chiefly on the basis
of de Gaulle’s report. of the hard stand taken by Khrushchev {n their talk that
morning. His atdes told him they deduced from Khrushehev’s words with de
QGaulle that the Soviet lender had come to Paris bound by a prior Moscow deci-
sion by the ruling Presidium, that he therefore could not be swayed by either

suggested Kisenhower move.

Allen statcment

On this same day in Washington George V. Allen, chief of the U. S. Informa-
tion Agency, said on a television show that Herter “has not said that we are
going to continue to fly” U-2 missions, that “he hasn’t said one way or another.”
This statement surprised State Department officinls who now say Allen was talk-
ing entirely on his own, that he had consulted nobody in advance.

May 16.—At the only Paris confrontation between President Kisenhower and
Khrushchev, the Soviet leader sald the United States had “torpedoed” the con-
ference. He demanded that the President apologize for the flights, call off
further flights and punish those responsible for Powers’ mission. These were
the same demands of which he had informed de Gaulle the day before. He
charged the President with making “treachery” the basis of his policy toward
the Soviet Union.

To this the President responded by terming Khrushchev’s demands an “ulti-
matum” which “would never be acceptable to the United States.” He also told
Khrushchev that U-2 flights had been suspended and would not be resumed.
The two men parted in anger. The Summit had collapsed before it had begun,

SPEECII OF BENATOR DODD

Senator Lauscue. I would like to put into the record a 00};{3' of
Senator Dodd’s speech describing how this meeting in New York, on
the phase sponsored by the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy but
organized by Communists, was conducted. ,

he CrHarRMAN. Without objection, so ordered.
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('T'he speech referred to follows:)

[I'rom the Congressional i..cord, May 26, 1060, pp. 10234-10237]
THr COMMUNIST INFILTRATION IN THE NucLEAR TES8T BAN MOVEMENT

Mr. Dobpn. Mr. President, in his statement of January 22, J. Edgar Hoover
warned that Nikita Khrushchev's visit to this country had resulted in the
reinvigoration of the Amerlean Communist movement and that the FBI was
receiving increasing evidence of atepped-up Communist activities at many polints,

Among other things, Mr. Hoover warned that non-Connnunist organizations
dedicated to causes that command popular support could expeet Communist
efforts to Inflitrate their ranks,

Ividence that has come into the hands of the Subcommittee on Internal
Security indleates that the Communist Party has made the nuclear test ban
movement the chief target of its infiltration operations. 1 think it hportant
that this evidence be pliaced before Congress and before the public so that we
may have a bhetter understanding of the methods by which the Communists
operate and of the goals they seck to achieve. I should like to detafl to you
some of the evidence of this inflitration, and to suggest the outline of a self-
defense program for all organizations whose purposes make them particularly
vuinerable to Communist inflitration.

I do not aceept the thesis that if one happens to hold a position that enjoys
the support of the Communist Party on any issue, one ig, ipso faeto, either a
pro-Communist or a fellow traveler. The Connnunists are opposed to the poll
tax: does that make all pcople who oppose the poll tax Communists? ‘T'he
Communists support the Forand bill. Does that make the many millions of
Amerleans who have endorsed the bill Communist sympathizers?  Ohviously not,
But on a forelgn policy issue of overriding importance like the test ban, if a
legitimate organization adheres to a policy which coineldes with Communist
policy, then it must be prepared to expeet a concerted effort at infiltration hy the
Communist termites. ‘I'he more wrgent the issue, the more respectable the
organization, the more illustrions the names on its letterhead, the greater the
temptation from the Communist standpoint.

The Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy is headed by a group of nationally
prominent citizens about whose integrity and good faith there is no question.
Among them are people like Norman Cousing, of the Saturday Review, Mr.
Clarence Pickett of the Americnn Friends Service Committee, Mr. Norman
Thomas, and so forth. They advocate a point of view which some of us consider
unrealistic or utopian, but it 1s, nevertheless, a significant point of view on an
issue of life and death importance. IKor the personnl motivations of most of
those associated with the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy I have the most
sincere respect. The point of view they represent deserves a hearing—indeed,
it must he heard.

Last Thursday evening, May 19, the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy held
a rally at Madison Square Garden in New York City. Many eminent persons
attended this rally. The speakers included Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt, Mr. Alfred
Landon, Mr, Walter Reuther, Gov. G. Mennen Williams, of Michigan, and Dr.
Harold Taylor, former President of Sarah Lawrence College. At this meeting,
the speakers urged that another summit meeting he convened for the purpose
of attempting to arrive at an agreement banning nuclear tests.

Because I esteenr the sincerity of the original founders of the Committee for
a Sane Nuclear Policy and the sincerity of the speakers I have named, it was
for me an unpleasant du‘y tc have to notify them that the unpublicized chief
organizer of the Madison Square Garden rally, Henry Alroms, was a veteran
member of the Communist Party; tha! there was also evidence of serious
Communist infiltration at chapter level throughout the Committee for a Sane
Nuclear Policy ; that the Communist Parcy and its front organizations had done
their utmost to promote the meeting; that the Communists provided much of
the organizing machinery for the meeting becnuse they planned to use it as
a pressure instrument in support of Soviet nuclear diplomacy.

This information was confirmed by the Subcommittee on Internal Security
only several days before the Madison Square Garden meeting was scheduled to
take place. Because I wished to be fair to all the decent and prominent people
who were associated with the meeting as sponsors or as speakers, I had some
doubt about the advisability of rushing into print with my information only
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48 hours in advance of the rally.  Instead, I declded to comunieate the informa-
tion, or at least cortain essentinl portions of it, to Mr. Norman Cousing, the
chalrman of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Polley.  Mr. Cousins eame (o
Washington to see me and we had a long and frank discussion about the problem.

The divectors of the Committee for a Sune Nuclear Poliey, it furned out, had
some fnkling of the existence of a Communist fnfliteation and were extremely
unhappy about it. When the Communist. afilintions of the chief orgnnizer of
the Madison Square Garden meeting were brought to My, Cousing’ attention,
he fmmediately suspended the organizer in question,  'This was 2 days hefore
the meeting, It is my understanding that the nntional committee of the organ-
fzation intends to take zome further measurves against Communist inflitrators,

It 1 have any crvitlefsm to make, it I8 that the directors of (he organization
have moved so slowly to confront the problem and that the measures they
have taken have been inndequate. 1T was, for example, surprised to discover
that one of the offfeers of the committee, Me, Norman ‘Thomns, ind, a8 enrly as
Inst Janunry, expressed serious suspicion about the individual who lnter beeame
organizer of the Madison Square Garden meeting—but that no actlon had bheen
(aken on Mr. Thomas' warning,

To me it is appalting that the Communisis should be able (o infilteate and
manipulate a movement founded on sineere humanitariun and pneifist motiva-
tiong, and headed by o many reputable eltizens,  Perhaps this is a situation in
which vemedial legislation is fndicated, a situation in which private eitizens
must have the assistanee of Government. to cope effeetively with a movement that
operittes by stealth and by seereey.

In accordance with the subcommiftee’s mandate from the Sennte, It wan
clear that our duty requived that we do everything in our power to get at the
facts.  In presenting the information we have gleaned to the Senate, it 18 my
hope that 1 will be able to do so in a manner that will avold injmy to the
fhinocent and will point the way to o construetive course of aetion by Govern-
ment and private organizations,

The test. ban has for several years now been the chief objective of the (om-
munist propaganda apparvatus,  Of this there ts ample documentary evidence,

In his speeeh before the congress of the Soviet. Communist Party on January
27, Nikita Kbhrushehev, in his most militant rhetorle, ealled for a permanent

~ly &
han on nuclenr tests,

The main potitieal resolution adopted by (he 17th congress of the Communist
Pavty of the U.S.A,, in February 1960 said @

*The demand that the admintstration end nuelear testing and ban the II-bomb
has found a widening response in community meetings, peace talks, petitions,
and sermons from the pulpit.”

On February 16, 1960, seven Communists foreign language newspapers took
a full-page advertisoment in the New York Times and ealled on the President—

“1. To proclaim the achievement of total, universal, and controlled disnrma-
ment as the goal of National ULS, policy.

2, To restore the moratorium on the testing of nuclear weapons and to do
everything in your power to insure early agrecment on the banning of all nuclear
{osts,

“3. To oppose the sharing of nuelear warheads with NATO allies.”

The Commitiee for a Sane Nuclear Policy has not solicited the praise of the
Communist movement, and most of its leaders, I am certain, would be much
happier if they received no plaudits from Communist sources. The fact, never-
theless, remains that the committee in recent years has been the recipient of
consistent and generous praise from the Communist press. The Communist
organ, New World Review, for April of this year, for example, carried these
paragraphs under the caption “Peace Groups in the United States”:

“No amount of conspiratorial silence can wipe out the forces for disarma-
ment and peace; but it can leave them isolated from each other and ignorant
of the efforts their fellows are making.

“1t is our purpose to bring to our readers’ attention the main groups in our
country working toward these ends, beginning in this issue * * * with a descrip-
tion of the main nonsectarian national organization.

“NATIONAL COMMITTEE FOR A BANE NUCLEAR POLICY

“RANE offers a wide cholce of channels for expression of the American peo-
ple’s desire for a world without war. Under the co-chairmanship of Norman
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Couslng, editor of the Saturday Review, and Clurenco Plekett, executlve seere-
tary emeritus of the Amerienn Friends Service Commitee, and with the sponsor-
ship and support of many noted Amerienns, SANE provides an celastle organiza-
tion and comprehenslve program through which ordinary people can he effective,

“Loeal committees of SANE exist In many elties, towns, counties, and small
communities throughout the United Stutes.  Their membership policy 18 flexible
and they genorally weleome ndditlons to thelr forees, whether for one particulnr
campiign or on a long-terim hnsis”

My, President, to anyone who is familinr with the language of communism,
the pnragraphs | have just guoted constitute n elear directive to members of the
Communlst Party to enter hito the ranks of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear
'olley.  I'hese paragraphs, 1 might polnt out, were not the haphazard produact. of
n noviee or Intelleetual dilettante. They were written by the editor of the
magnzine, Jessiea Smith, a harvdened oldthme Communist.

As for the Madison Sgunre Garden meeting, the Communist organ, the
Worker, in a series of s own advertisements, called upon all the Communists
faithful (o turn out in strength. T'he masthend of the Worker for May 15
carried a banner headline “FFor Sanity in Foreign Polley-- Al Out to Madison
Square Garden, Thursday, 7:10 p.m.”

Given this haekground, it was only natural to antielpate that the Communists
would attempt to find thelr way into the organizing mechanism of the meeting.

The e of the Communist Party member who served as chief organizer
of the Madison Square Garden meeting is Henry H Abrams.  As 1 have polnted
out, Mr. Norman Cousins suspended Mr. Abrams several days before the meeting,
when | brought the matter to his attention.  Unth the date of his suspension,
however, Mr. Abrams devoted vietaally full time to the organization of the
moeeting for many weeks,  He did so, moreover, without remuneration,

O Mareh 16, 1960, M. Abrams attended n meeting of the executive committee
of the Greater New York committee of the Nationul Committee for a Sane
Nucelear Potiey.  Let me read just two sentences from the minutes of that meet-
ing, which elenrty illustentes the central role this Communist agent has played :

D, Lear reported that Gov, G, Mennen Willlnms has acceepted our invitation
to speak at Madison Square Garden. Henry Abrams then gave the rest of the
Madison Square Garden report.”

Ienry Abrams’ restdence at 11 Riverside Drive, New York City, and his tele-
phone munber of Trafalgar 4-7769, is the address and telephone number used
by the headquarters of the Upper Manhattan S8ane Nuclenr PPolicy Committee.
Abrams has served as an accountant for both the Upper Manhattan Committee
and the Greater New York Committee of the Natlonal Committee for a Sane
Nuclear Policy. IFrom these facts it cmerges that his assoclation with the
Sommittee for a Sane Nuclear Policy was a long and fairly prominent one.

Now let us look at. IHenry Abrams’ Communist record,

In 1939, he resided at 972 East 14th Street, Brooklyn, N.Y. 1In that year he
slgned n Communist Party nominating j.etitlon from that address which ap-
peared on page 4081 of the election records,

IIe was a member of the 11th Assembly Distriet Clab of the Communist Party
which met at 2744 Broadwny, New York City.  On Tuesday, February 15, 1944,
it was announced at a meeting of this Communist ¢lub that Henry Abrams
would give a class for Communists on the preparation of income tax forms.

Henry Abrams was a member of the Young Communist League and later of
the upper West Side section of the Communist Party of New York City. IHe has
heen n consistent finaneial contributor to the Communist Party, U.S.A.

As recently as September 28, 1038, the oflicial Communist Party newspaper, the
Worker, printed n letter from IHenry Abrams endorsing the eandidacy of Ben-
jamin Davis for State senator in the 21st senatorial district of New York City.
Benjamin Davis is natiomtl seeretary of the Communist Party, and is, in fact, one
of the most notorious of native Communists, a fact which is well known to most
Americans. e was oneo of the leading members of the party convicied in the
famous Foley Square Smith Act trinls of a dozen years ago. He spent several
years in jall for advocating the overthrow of the U.S. Government by force
and violence,

Mr. Abrams has served as an accountant for the American Communist Party,
for the Emergeney Civil Liberties Conmmittee, and for the late Congressman
Vito Marcantonio,

Abrams has carried out Communist policles in many ostensibly non-Commn-
nist organizations which have, in fact, served as fronts for the Communist
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Party. Awong the organizations promoted by the Communists in which he
has played an active role are the Fmergency Civil Liberties Committee, the
Ametlean Commlittee for the Protection of the Forelgn Born, the Hiroshlma Com-
memorative Committee, the Natfonal Committee of the Amerlean Forum for
Socinlist Eduention, the Amertean Labor Party, the United Independent Soctalist
Conference Committee.

I state all these things as facts, Mr. President.  On Friday, May 13, Henrvy
Abrams was given the opportunity to deny them in a hearing of the Senate
Subcommittee on Internal Security.  He lnvoked the fifth amendment in reply to
all questions regarding his years' long record of service to the Communist con-
spiracy.

l'l‘lle obvious and deelared purpose of the Madison Square Garden meeting
was to influence Amertean policy on the nuclear test ban, It is one thing when
Amerlean citizens come together, in accordunce with their vights, for the pur-
pose of urging a specifle poliey on thelr Government. It Is an altogether differ-
ent thing when such a meeting iy infiitrated by the Communists and when the
chief organizing role falls into the hands of a member of the Communist. P'arty,
which, as we all know, is a quisling instrument. of Soviet policy. Such a sit-
wntion has an important bepring on Amevienn security, because it Is nxilo-
matic that all actions of the Zommunist arty are planned to subserve the ends
of Soviet diplomacey.

Lot me say here, pnrentletically, that thig is by no means the only ocension of
Communist machinations m the fleld of nuclear policy. At a previous henring,
weo established that Avreahm G, Mezerik, a man with a long Communist vee-
ord, actually manased a go-called Amerviean Nobel Anniversary Forum and Din-
ner, held at the Waldorf-Astorin Hotel in New York City on Janunry 11, 1938,
which concentraied on the theme of an Amerlean ban on nuclear testing. It was
brought out ir thisx heaving that this gathering while managed by a Commu-
nist, was finnneed by a prominent Amevican eapititlist, who was unaware of
Mezerik's Con munist. record,

With all tLis interest in the subjeet, the Internal Securllty Subcommittee
summoned Mr., Abrams to appear and testify. Through his attorney, Leonard
Boudin, of Now York, Mr. Abrams pleaded luess, and asked to be excused from
coming to Washingien to testify,  We then arranged to hear him in New York
City. o showed up with a doctor's certiticate that he was suftering from hearvt
disease, and moved a further continuance on the ground that his coundition
was so serious that being questioned might cause him serious harm,  Since the
commitiee was awars that Mr. Abrams had continued right up to that day to
carry o heavy lond as the man in active charge of arrangements for the May 1%
meeting at Madison Square Garden, we were not impressed by these claims.

We had a New York City DPublie Health Service doctor present, and asked
Mr. Abrams if he would consent to be examined then and there. Ile refused,
so we denied the request for a continuance and went ahead with the hearing,
which was in executive session.

As I have indicated the hearing had been called in the hope that we conld
learn from Mi. Abrams the full story of Communist infiltration of and partici-
pation in this movement for a nuclear test ban, as a basis for determining what,
if any, legislation may be indicated in this area.

The subcommittee has received evidence, much of it still of a classified na-
ture, that Henry Abrams is not a lone inflitrator, that there exists in fact a
seriour Communist infittration in the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy,

What, specifically, are the Communists attempting to achieve by their In-
filtration of the test ban movement, including their recent all-out support of
the Madison Square Garden meeting? The answer to this is, I believe, obvious.

The Communist purpose in supporting the test ban agitation and in going all
out to make the Madison Square Garden meeting a suceess is to exert pressure on
the administration to iake still further concessions to the Soviet viewpoint in
order to arrive at a test ban agreement; to create & climate of public opinion
which will make it impossible for the administration to resume small under-
ground tests, even though there may be every reason to believe thay the Kremlin
is conducting such tests; to enervate the free world so that it becomes incapable
of ’reisponding with appropriate measures to challenges at Berlin and at other
points.

In the test ban negotiations that are now going on there are major differ-
ences between the Soviet position and our own. These differences ainge around
the quextion of lnspection. In my own opinion, we have already conceded too
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much, especially by agreelng In principle to a further voluntary moratorinm on
nndetectable underground tests.  But for those tests that are subject to detec-
tion, wo still tako the stand that here should be an inspection system based on
an adequate number of fixed stations, with at least 20 or 80 onsite inspections
per annum. The Kremlin wants a minimum of inspection. It wants as few
atatlony ag possible, and its spokesmen have indicated that they would not be
willing to accept more than a few onsite inspections per annum.

'he Kremlin apparently attached major Importance to the Madison Square
Garden meeting as a pressure operation in support of its nuclear objectives.
This, I believe, I8 conclusively demonstrated by the generous and sympathetic
coverage of the meeting in tho Soviet press. 1 think this is interesting. Ac-
cording to an AP dispatch of May 21st, Pravda headlined its account of the
meeting with the words “We Want To Live in Friendship With the Soviet
Union,” while the Tzvestin headline read “Rebuff to Advoeates of War.”

I believe that the hends of the Committee for a Sane Nuclear PPolicy have a
gerlouns contribution to make to the great debate on national policy. But they
ean only mako thiy contribution effectively if they purge thelr ranks rathlessly
of Communist infiltration and if they clearly demarcate their own position from
that of the Communists, first, by stressing the need for adequate inspection, sec-
ond, by relterating at every opportunity their opposition to the tyranny of
communism

On tho basig of the evidence that has come to me, I do not believe that the
Committee for a Sana Nuclear Policy has taken the necessary measures to cre-
ate n climate that is inhospitable to Communist infiltratlon. At the Madison
Square Garden rally, for example, there was much divect and inferential criti-
clsm of Amerlean policy, but, according to the press accounts and reports from
private sources—nersons who were present at the meeting—there was almost no
eritizlsin of Kheoushehev or of his arrogant, insulting, gutter-level behavior in
Paris.  On tie contrary, the speakers called for an immedlate effort to renew
the summit corference,

Let me digress briefly for a comment on this last proposal, which has, un-
fortunately, not “een confined to the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy.
Perhaps 1 am old-fashioned, but to me it seems that after the President of the
United States has had to endure a barrage of the crudest insults ever leveled
at a head of state, a petition to Khrushehev for another summit meeting would
constitute a total abandonment of national dignity. The only conceivable politi-
cal consequences of so craven an action would be to encourage Khrushchev to
further arrogance and further demands.

As I have said, 1 have found no serious evidence that the Madison Square
wrden meeting was organized and conducted in a manner which would have
discouraged Communist participation, It was not surprising, therefore, that
the Communists and tueir sympathizers turned out in force. Although no
Gallup poll or breakdown was possible, I am convinced from reports that the
Communists were responsibie for a very substantial percentage of the overflow
turnout. A number of well-known Communists, including Alexander Trachten-
berg, a top party member, were observed in the audience. Outside the meeting,
the C.nmunists brazenly distributed literature in their own name.

If decent organizations like the Committee for a Sane Nuclear Policy wish to
protect themselves ngainst the danger of Communist infiltration, I cannot em-
phasize too strongly the need for an organizational climate that is openly
inhospitable to Communists. This is a situation where a tepid declaration of
devotion to democracy simply will not suflice, while a neutral silence is an open
invitation to dinzaster.

I can think of other things that can and should be done by the directors of
the Committee for a Saue Nuclear Policy and of other non-Communist organi-
zuntions which must contend with the problem of Communist infiltration. At
top level, control is relatively easy. One can more or less assume that the
people who are elected to » board of directors or to a national committee have
enjoyed public visibility over a period of years so that their records are known.
At the local level, not even the FBI with all of its resources could offer a 100
pereent guarantee against infiltration. However, I think it is possible for

organizations to exercise a good deal of control by carefully examining the
personal records and bona fides, first, of all those who volunteer to help estab-
lish loeal organizations; second, of those who are elected to office in loeal
organizations; thivl, of all those assigned to organizing activities.
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If any effort had been made to do these things, the Madison Square Garden
situation might have been avoided. But for 25 years, Henry Abrams has been
a Communist. Without looking up his record, the Committee for a Sane Nuclear
Policy allowed him to become the chief organizer of the rally in New York City.
That was not taking the necessary precautionary measures.

I think it is not too much to ask that all such committees, which are headed
by good people and made up of thousands of good people, ought to give considera-
tion to the question whether Communists like Abrams are taking a part in the
running of their meetings. Many of these committees have been doing good
work. But it is little wonder that they become infiltrated by Communists if
they do not take the pains and the time to ascertain who some of their people
are, before they allow them to become officers or chief organizers of mass rallies.

I believe it is not too much to ask our fellow citizens who are organizing
committees for the purpose of exerting influence on Congress—as they have
every right to do—to make a preliminary, cursory check of the persons who are
working in their organizations, especially before they hold such meetings.

This would not be an easy task. But there is much that can be done. It will
not always be possible to obtain accurate personal information, because many
Communists operate underground as secret party members. But in the case of
a man like Abrams, who has a public record of membership, the facts should
be available without too much effort.

Perhaps this is a situation in which private organizations can in some way be
assisted by Government, This is a problem that the Subcommittee on Internal
Security is at present exploring.

Mr, President, in closing my remarks, I wish to pay my personal tribute to
Mr. Norman Cousinsg, the chairman of the Committee for a 8ane Nuclear Policy,
for the manner in which he has reacted to the revelations of the subcommittee.
Mr. Cousins has heen a neighbor and a friend of mine for many years. I have
the highest regard for him. That is why I called him up and told him what I
knew about Abrams. He was good enough to come to Washington to see me.

I said, “I don’t want to release this material 24 hours before your meeting.
You have your plans all made. But many innocent people will be present, and
a number of them will be prominent people. Why haven’t you checked on peo-
ple like Abrams? Norman Thomas said in January that he was doubtful about
the man’s background. Here it is the middle of May, on the eve of your meet-
ing, and you have not yet done anything.”

Mr. Cousins was upset about the matter. He immediately suspended Abrams.
Not only did he do this, but he told me he was glad we had informed him about
Abrams. He offered to open the books of his organization to the subcommittee
and to cooperate in every way to rid his organization of Communists.

I assure Mr. Cousins and other persons connected with his committee that the
Subcommittee on Internal Security is ready to cooperate with them to help to
prevent a repetition of the Madison Square Garden situation.

I think it is not too much to say that the subcommittee is desirous and willing
to help any other organization to avoid inflitration by subterranean elements
who are not there for any good purpose, and who are certainly not interested,
as are the good people who make up the bulk of their membership, in the welfare
of the United States.

I yield the floor.

(Whereupon, at 1:10 p.m., the committee adjourned.)
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BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS ON EVENTS
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1. PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S REMARKS ON U.S. PLANE
[From the New York Times, May 6, 1960]

Lonpox, May & (Reuters)wl’ollmmng, in translation, are excerpts
from the section of Promier-IiTrushehev’s address today referring to
Itl}}e shooting clowguoy‘ a United States plarie Swnday, as broadcast from

oscow:

On instry c(;)ns of the Soviet Government, 1 am duty bound to
report to y6u on aggressive act§ directed in the lastfew weels by the
United States of imeriéq, against the-Soviet Unio

What' form di these figgretsive act take? The\United States
sent ifs planes,,Which il}(}}lafed Qur st dte floutlex and Xtruded into

the ajrspace of tixe Soviet Union:~-<7
Itg last but one a gle ife-aet, Wwadperpe ratefl by the
of America on April9 f

United States ple mLL ded into the au%pace of dur country
the A hﬁh;sgq e. JOf cour e no magm in his night senses
can| think anil assun Xﬂthab th1$ Ié:dla on was done by Afghanistan,

ited States

a country whith is friendly withi

o are convinced th ﬂ%hls E ane Belonged to the United States of
Ameyica and ‘obvi6usly “was <bay omewhére_on the territory of
, Iran or” akistan, ‘whieh are |linked with the U&S.A. by obli-
gation under the aggressive CRNTO hloc.

[Mr. X hrushchev said the Soviet Govern wf/nt decidgd against mak-
ing a prosest but ordered mlhtm commanders to act1f another plane
intruded.] -7

American
pened on Apri

ilitary men apparently liked thisimpunity as it hap-

, and they emdeciW the agglessxve act.

INCEIDENT"O'N MAY DAY

Selected for this was the most festive day for our people and the
workers of the world—the day of May the First—the international
holiday of fraternal solidarity of the working class.

That day, early in the morning, at 0536 hours, Moscow time, an
American plane flew over our frontier and continued its flight into the
interior of the Soviet land. A report on this aggressive act was im-
mediately given to the Government by the Minister of Defense.
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The Government had stated this: Since he realizes what he comes
up against when intruding into a foreign territory, if he gets away
with 1t he will attempt fresh provocations. Therefore, the plane must
be shot down.

This task was fulfilled and the plane was shot down,

According to first information, it has transpired that the plane
belongs to the United States of America although it bears no identifi-
cation signs.

Now an expert commission is studying data that fell in our hands.
It has been established that this plane that crossed the state frontier
of the Soviet Union was coming either from Turkey, Iran or Pakistan.

After the study of all materials that are now at our disposal, the
Soviet Government will lodge with the United States of America a
strong protest and will warn it that if similar aggressive acts against
our country continue, we reserve the right to respond to them with
measures we shall find necessary in order to insure the safety of our
country.

We shall also give the most serious warning to those countries that
ut their territories at the disposal of the United States of America
or aggressive acts directed against our country.

The following conclusion comes to mind: Aggressive imperialist
forces in the United States in recent times have been taking the most
active measures to undermine the summit or at least to hinder any
agreement that might be reached.

“WHO SBENT THIS AIRCRAFT?”

The question then arises: Who sent this aircraft across the Soviet
frontier? Was it the man who is Commander in Chief of the American
armed forces who, as everyone knows, is the President? Or was this
aggressive act carried out by Pentagon militarists? If such actions
are taken by American military men on their own account, it must
be of especial concern to world opinion.

Perhaps it was a result of the friendship that is now forming be-
tween the United States and Franco that the American militarists
decided to act independently, as did the Spanish military junta, which
rose up against the legal Spanish Government.

Thus, in the so-called free world, military dictators not seldom set
up their regimes using the methods of Franco. But the peoples are
beginning to understand where true freedom is and where there is
tyranny.

Take, for instance, the events in South Korea. The head of the
puppet Syngman Rhee regime, the best friend of the United States
and the father of his country as someone or other called him in Amer-
ica, has now been overthrown by the people and is now a political
corpse. And it was not the Communists who were behind these events;
even American politicial leaders have had to admit.

The sufferings of the Korean people led them to rise up against the
bestial yoke, and the peoples understand that it was not only a question
of Syngman Rhee himself who was to blame but all those who sup-
ported him and hung him round the necks of the South IXoreans.

It is no coincidence that the free world sees so many popular demon-
strations demanding freedom. '
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Comrade Deputies, the impression is being formed that the aggres-
sive actions newly undertaken by the United States against the Soviet
Union are a foretaste of the summit meeting.

Are they taken in order to exert pressure on us and to attempt to
frighten us with their military superiority in order to undermine our
determination to work for easing tension, to eliminate the cold war
and to put an end to the arms race%

All these missions are sent in order to prevent any agreement on
vexing questions, for we cannot say that this aircraft was a harbinger
of peace, that it was on a goodwill mission. No, it was a real bandit
ﬂi%‘;t with aggressive intentions.

e can say to those gentlemen who sent the aircraft that if they
think they can bend our knees and our backs by means of such pres-
sure, this will have no effect on us. The Soviet Union has every means
to give a rebuff to those who want to exert pressure in order to achieve
a solution convenient to aggressors.

In the name of the Soviet Government let me express thanks to the
men of the military units who carried out with honor the task laid on
them in defending the frontiers of our motherland.

Comrades, the Soviet people and Government have always expressed
their peaceful intentions and friendly feelings toward the United
States, but in answer to this we have black ingratitude.

“FEELINGS OF INDIGNATION”

It is understood that this has aroused feelings of indignation against
the activities of the American military men. %ut we must control this
feeling and must be ruled not by our emotions, but by reason.

Government leaders interested in preserving peace must soberly con-
Tidgr the consequences of such actions and think what they might
ead to.

Hitler’s aircraft before the war used to intrude into our airspace.
The Soviet Government would protest, but Hitler refused to pay at-
tention and then attacked us. Xnd where did that all end?

How do we assess the incursion of American aircraft—as a precursor
of war or a foreshadow of attack, of the repetition of what Hitler
did? The Soviet Government thinks that all the same there is no
reason to draw such conclusions.

There is another relationship of power in the world, and in this the
people’s will to peace plays a great part and this is why we do not con-
clude that this is a prewar trial of strength or a reconnaissance made
to try our nerves, preserve the atmosphere of the cold war so that the
imperialists can continue to bind their people with taxation, to carry
on the arms race, and to keep their peop}e in a state of fear of war and
to continue to impose their will,

The Soviet Union has no aggressive intentions, we do not want the
cold war, we want disarmament and our proposals made to the United
Nations on this subject remain in force still. Once again, we repeat
that disarmament is the right way to preserve peace and in such condi-
tions no country would be able unilaterally to arm and attack another.
The Soviet Government once again calls on the Government of the
United States to end the cold war., All states must act peaceably so
that calm, peace and happiness can prevail,
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2. DEFENSE DEPARTMENT NEWS RELEASE, MAY 5, 1960

[No. 509-60]
For the Press:

The U.S. Air Force confirmed on May 3, 1960, that a NASA U-2
aireraft is missing in Turkey. It wason a weather mission originating
at Adana, Turkey. Purpose was a study of clear air turbulence. Dur-
ing the flight in SE Turkey the pilot reported oxygen difficulty. Tast
word heard at 9 a.m. 1st of May, Turkish time (8 a.m. 1 May e.d.t.)
over emergency frequency. U-2 airceraft did not land at Adana as

Ianned and could only be assumed down. A search effort is underway
in Lake Van area.

The missing U-2 is a National Aeronautics and Space Administra-
tion aireraft. The pilot is an employee of Lockheed Aireraft Corp.,
under contract to NASA.

The U-2 program was initiated in 1955 to perform high altitude
weather research.

The flight was a joint NASA/AT Air Weather Service Mission.

3. EXCERPTS FROM TRANSCRIPT OF DEPARTMENT OF
STATE PRESS AND RADIO NEWS BRIEFING, MAY 5,
1960

= * * * *® * -

Mr. Wurre. Now, the Department has been informed by NASA
that as announced May 3 an unarmed plane, a1 U-2 weather research
plane based at Adana, Turkey, piloted by a civilian has been missing
sinco May 1. During the flight of this plane, the pilot reported
difficulty with his oxygen equipment. Mv, Khrushehev has an-
nounced that a U.S. plane has been shot. down over the U.S.S.R. on
that date. Tt may be that this was the missing plane. It is entirely
possible that having a failure in the oxygen equipment, which could
result in the pilot losing consciousness, the plane continued on auto-
matic pilot. for a considerable distance and aceidentally violated Soviet
airspace. The United States is taking this matter up with the Soviet
Government, with particular reference to the fate of the pilot.

That is the end of the statement,

Q. What. was the plane doing, weather reconnaissance?

A. NASA isbriefing reporters on the full details of that.

Q. When you say you are taking this matter up with the Soviet
Government, do you mean you are asking for information on the
pilot, or making a protest about the plane?

A. This matter is being taken up with the Soviet Government,
John (Hightower), through our Ambassador in Moscow.,

Q. Yes, but it is a protest or an inquiry ?

A. T can’t say just what form it will take at this stage, I would
think, initially, an inquiry.

Q. Is this the report which the White House announced would be
made?

A. That is correct.

Q. Yousay it may be that this was the missing plane?

A. Yes.
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Q. There are other planes missing or——

A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. Unaccounted for?

A. No,not that I am aware of.

Q. You say this plane was frrom Adana, Turkey. Is that the U.S.
Air Force Base down there?

A, As I say, you better get this information from NASA. (See
NASA Press Release No. 60-193.)

Q. Khrushchev also said an American plane violated the Soviet
frontier by flying over the Afghan border on April 9. Do you have
anything on tf;ut%

A. Wo have absolutely no—N-O-—information on that at all.

Q. Wasn’t this plane accompanied by another plane of the same
type when it started out on the reconnaissance flight?

A. 1 am not aware of that, if that is a fact, but I assume NASA
can give you that information, Paul (Ward). I have nothing on it.

Q. Link, the area where this plane disappeared is the same as the
other plane

A. This is the Lake Van area.

Q.?Is that the same area where the earlier plane disappeared in
1958

A. In the neighborhood of it.

Q. Link, how do you know the plane was having difliculty ?

A. He reported it.

Q. Ilo reported it by radio?

A. That is right.

Q. At the time did he give his position?

A. In the Lake Van arvea,

Q. Was his course such at that time that if continued it might have
taken him over the Soviet Union?

A. John (Hightower), I don’t have those details.

Q. Was that the last communication from him, Link?

A. So faras I know.

Q. What was the question ?

A. The question was, was that the last communication from the
pilot, and to my knowledge it was.

Q. Is the the name of this pilot being released by somebody ¢

A. Here I would like to go off the record. * * *

Q. Link, has any protest been received from the Soviet Govern-
ment?

A. No,sir, it has not.

Q. Link, do you have any comment on the rest of IXhrushchev’s
speech, his statement that the Summit looks gloomy now hecause of
his a%glzressive Aierican action?

. No.

Q. Is this the first indication we had in Khrushchev’s speech that
the plane had been shot down? There was no previous communica-
tion from the Soviets?

A. Nothing prior to this.

Q. Thank you, very much.

A. Yes,sir.
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4. NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRA-
TION NEWS RELEASE, MAY 5, 1960

[NASA Release No. 60-193]

Memo to the Press:

One of NASA’s U-2 research airplanes, in use since 1956 in a
continuing program to study gust-meteorological conditions found
at high altitude, has been missing since about 9 o’clock Sunday morn-
ing (local time), when its pilot reported he was having oxygen diffi-
culties over the Lake Van, Turkey, area.

The airplane had taken off from Incirlik Air Base, Turkey. The
flight plan called for the first check point to be at 37 degrees, 25
minutes, North: 41 degrees, 23 minutes, East, and for a left turn to be
made to the Lake Van beacon, thence to the Trabazon beacon, thence
to Antalya, and return to Adana. The flight scheduled was estimated
at 3 hours, 45 minutes, for a total of 1,400 nautical miles. Takeoff
was at 8 a.m. local time.

(The above-given times are the equivalent of 83 am. Sunday, and
2 n.m,, eastern daylight time.%

About 1 hour after takeoff, the pilot reported difficulties with his
oxygen equipment. Using emergency radio frequency, he reported he
was heading for the Lake Van Peacon to get his bearings, and that
he would return to Adana.

As indicated above, his flight plan called for him to make a left turn
at the Lake Van beacon. His last report indicated he was attempting
to receive that beacon. It is believed he probably was on a north-
easterly course, but there was no further word.

An nerinl senrch was begun soon after receipt of the last communi-
cation. The Lake Van area is mountainous and very rugged. No
evidenco has been sighted of the aireraft having crashed.

If the pilot continued to suffer lack of oxygen, the path of the air-
plane from the last reported position would be impossible to de-
termine. If the airplane was on automatic pilot, it is likely it would
have continued along its northeasterly course.

The pilot, as are all pilots used on NASA’s program of upper at-
mosphere research with the U-2 airplane, is a civilian employed by
the Lockheed Aircraft Corp., builders of the airplane.

When the research program was begun in 1956 by the National
Advisory Committee gor Aeronautics (predecessor to NASA), the
Federal agency did not have a sufficient number of pilots to operate
t]he ptl'ogram, and so a contract was made with Lockheed to provide
the pilots, .

()‘verscas logistic support for NASA's continuing use of the U-2 is
provided by Air Weather Service units of the USAF.

NASA has procured & total of 10 U-2 airplanes. The airplane
was originally built as a private venture by Lockheed to serve as a
“flying test bed.” It is powered by a single Pratt & Whitney J-57
turbojet engine, and can maintain flight for as long as 4 hours at
altitudes of up to 55,000 feet.

Since inception of the research program in 1956, the U-2 flying
wenther laboratories have operated from bases in California, New
York, Alaska, England, Germany, Turkey, Pakistan, Japan, Okinawa,
and the Philippines.
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The U-2 airplanes are presently being used in California (Ed-
wards AFB, one), Japan (Atsugi, three) and Turkey (Adana, four).

The instrumentation carried ‘i)y the U-2 permits obtaining more
precise information about clear air turbulence, convective clouds,
wind shear, the jet stream, and such widespread weather patterns as
typhoons. The airplane also has been used by NASA to obtain
in?ormabion about cosmic rays, and the concentration of certain ele-
ments in the atmosphere, including ozone and water vapor.

Instrumentation carried includes: Angular velocity recorder, to
measure the airplane’s rate of pitch; modified VGH recorder, to
measure and record head-on gust components in flight; flight recorder
Model BB, continuous recorder of indicated airspee(i, pressure alti-
tude and normal acceleration; airspeed and altitude transducer to
measure pressure altitude and indicated airspeed; temperature and
humidity measuring set AN/AMQ 7, to measure indicated free air
temperature and indicated relative humidity ; and vortex thermometer
system, to measure true free-air temperature within one-half degree
centigrade at high speeds.

5. DEPARTMENT OF STATE PRESS RELEASE, MAY 6, 1960
[No. 249]

The following is the temt of a note delivered today by the American
Embassy at Moscow to the Soviet Ministry of Foreign Affairs:

The ¥imbassy of the United States of America by instruction of its
Government has the honor to state the following :

The United States Government has noted the statement of the Chair-
man of the Council of Ministers of the Union of Soviet Socialist Re-
publics, N. S. Khrushchev, in his speech before the Supreme Soviet
on May b5 that a foreign aircraft crossed the border of the Soviet Union
on May 1 and that on orders of the Soviet Government, this aireraft
was shot down. In this same statement it was said that investigation
showed that it was a United States plane.

As already announced on May 3, a United States National Aeronau-
ticnl Space Agency unarmed weather research plane based at Adana,
Turkey, and piloted by a civilian American has been missing since May
1. The name of the American civilian pilot is Francis Gary Powers,
born on August 17, 1929, at Jenkins, Kentucky.

In the light of the above the United States Government requests the
Soviet Government to provide it with full facts of the Soviet investi-
gation of this incident and to inform it of the fate of the pilot.

6. EXCERPTS FROM PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S REMARKS
ON U.S. PLANE INCIDENT, MAY 7, 1960

[From the New York Times, May 8, 1960]

Following are excerpts from the concluding speech to the meeting
of the Supreme Soviet in Moscow yesterday by Premier IChrushchev,
as provided in English in New York by T'ass, the official Soviet press
agency:

The aggressive act committed by the American Air Force against
the Soviet Union has justifiably incensed the Deputies and all the
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Soviet people. Numerous inquiries and appeals are being received
by the session and the Soviet g‘vovemment. In view of this permit me
to dwell on this question once again and to furnish certain new data.

After my report to the Supreme Soviet, in which I dwelt on this
fact, the United States Department of State claimed in an official
gress statement, that the point in question was a violation of the Soviet

tate Frontier by an American aircraft of the “Lockheed U-2” type,
which allegedly was studying weather conditions in the upper luyers
of the atmosphere in the area of the Turkish-Soviet frontier.

This plane had allegedly strayed off its course because the pilot had
oxygen trouble. The State Department asserts that the pilot lost
consciousnes.; and, steered by its automatic pilot, the plane flew into
Soviet territory. According to the Department of State, the pilot
only had time to report back about the failure of his oxygen equip-
ment to the Turkish airdrome in Adana, whence it flew, an airdrome
which allegedly does not belong to the military but to the Nuational
Aeronautics and Space Research Administration.

Soon after that, the National Aeronautics and Space Research
Administration issued a statement with a view to confirming the State
Department’s version.

“MANY SILLY THINGS”

Comrades, I must tell you a secret. When I was making my report
I deliberately did not say that the pilot was alive and in good health
and that we have got parts of the plane. We did so deliﬁerate\y be-
cause had we told everything at once, the Americans would have
invented another version.

And now, just look how many silly things they have said—Van
Lake, scientific research and so on and so fort%\. Now that they know
th:lmlt 3]19 pilot is alive they will have to invent something else and they
will do it.

[Mr. Khrushchev read from the United States statement. issued
after his first announcement; it was printed in the New York Times
last Friday.]

These are the official versions put into circulation by American
officials to mislead the public opinion of their country and the world.

I must declare, comrade Deputies, that these versions are completely
untrue and calculated for gullible people.

The authors of these versions supposed that if the plane was shot
down, the pilot most probably peris’hed too. So there will be nobody
to ask how everything actually happened, there will be no way to
check what sort of plane it was and what instruments it carried.

“ALIVE AND IN GOOD HEALTH”

First of all, I wish to announce that the pilot of the shot-down
American plane is alive and in good health. He is now in Moscow.
Brought here also are the remains of this plane and its special instru-
mentation, discovered during the investigation.

The name of this pilot is Francis Gary Powers. He is 80 years old.
He says he is a first lientenant of the United States Air Force, where
he served till 1956, that is, to the day when he went over to the Central
Intelligence Agency.
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Francis Powers reported, incidentally, thut while serving with the
American Air Force he used to get $700 a month, but when he went
ovor to the intelligence service and started carrying out sp%mg as-
signments to glean secret information, he began getting $2,600 a
month. That 1s how capital buys lives, buys people. The flier testi-
fied that he had no dizziness, nor had his oxygen apparatus failed.
He was flying along the assigned course, accurately executing his
chief’s orders, switching on and off the equipment over the pre-
selected targets for gleaning intelligence on the Soviet Union’s mili-
tary and industrial establishments, and flew on until the very mo-
ment his piratical flight into this country’s interior was cut short.

I want to tell something about the results of the examination
of the plane that has been shot down and its equipment, as well as of
the questioning of the pilot. The inquiry still continues, but the pic-
ture is fairly clear already.

PLANE TYPE CONFIRMED

To start with, this was, indeed, a high-altitude, low-speed “Lock-
heed UJ-2.” They banked on its high altitude and believed that this
lane cannot be brought down by any fighter or antiaireraft artil-
ery. 'Thatis why they thought it could fly over Soviet territory with
immunity. In fact, the plane flew at a great altitude and it was hit
by the rocket at an altitude of 20,000 meters [65,000 feet]. And if
(:Key fly higher, we will also hit them! The plane was in no way
equipped for “upper atmosphere research” or for taking “air samn-
ples,” as official American spokesmen assert.

Not at all. This was a real military reconnaissance aireraft fitted
with various instruments for collecting intelligence and, among other
things, for aerial photography.

The competent commission of experts, which examined the wrecked
plane, has established from the documentary evidence that this Amer-
1can plane is a specinlly prepared reconnaissance airveraft. The task
of the plane was to cross the entire territory of the Soviet Union from
the Pamirs to the Kola Peninsula to get information on our coun-
try’s military and industrial establishments by means of aerial photog-
raphy. Besides aerial cameras the plane carried other reconnaissance
equipment for spotting radar networks, identifying the location and
frequencies of operating radio stations and other special radio en-
gineering equipment.

Not only do we have the equipment of that plane, but we also have
the developed film showing a number of areas of our territory. Here
are some of these photos. Here are photos of these airfields. Here
are two white lines. They are lines of our fighters. Here is another
airfield and also planes on it. All these films we developed ourselves.

CAMERA 18 PRAISED

Here are photos of Eetrol stores. It must be said that the camera
is not a bad one and the photo is very accurate.

But T must say that our cameras take better pictures, are more
accurate, so that we gained little in this respect.

These photos here show industrial enterprises.
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There is also o tape recording of the signals of w number of our
ground radar stations. ‘These are incontestible evidencs of the spying
done by the Amerienn plane shot. down in the vicinity of Sverdlovsk.
That is what “air smnp\us" Ameriean reconnaissnnee took, and it took
them not ovor Van Lake in Turkey but quite elsewhere,

The only thing that is true is that this plane was stationed at the
Awmerican-Turkish wir base at. Incirlik east of Adana, As Powors, the
fliow, tostified, he was sevving with the 10-10 unit, which, for the suke
of disguise, is under control of the Nutional Aeronautics und Space
Administration, but in veality, conducts high-nltitude military recon-
naissance.

In his depositions, Powers mentioned the names of several oflicers
he had served with at the American military base in Turkey. Ac-
cording to Powers’ testimony, the commander of the Ameriean 10-10
it is Col. Willinm Shelton and his deputy is Liout. Col. Carol IFunk.

Bofore his flight, Powers had long (rained himself for flying into
tho depth of this country and, as he snid himself, he had flown along
the Soviet frontior many times in order to study the radar system
of the Soviet. Union,

SPOWERS, THE scoUT”

On _April 27, Powers, the scont, flew over from the Turkish city
of Adann to the Peshawar airvfield in Pakistan on orders from his
superiors.  And it was, therefore, from Pakistan’s terrvitory, that is,
from the Peshawar airfield—and not from the Turkish airfield outside
Adana, as stated in the United States State Dopartment’s vorsion—
that Powers took off on May 1 with instruction to fly along the course
indicated on his map ovor the Aral Sea, Sverdlovsk and other points
and reach Archangel and Murmansk, before landing at the Bude air-
field in Norway.

Now we can say where he was flying to. I must admit that we knew
it already when I was reporting this fact. We did not say anything
at that time in order to see what the Americans would invent.” Now
;lmt theylhuve made their invention, we report how everything actually
wppened.

This is what Powers said when questioned about the task of his flight
over Soviet territory.

“I was to take off from the Peshawar airfield in Pakistan, cross the
national frontier of the U.S.S.R. and fly across Soviet territory to
Norway. I was to fly over certain points of the U.S.S.R., of which I
remember Murmansk and Archangel. During my flight over Soviet
territory I was to switch on and off the equipment over certain points
indicated on the map. I believe my flight over Soviet territory was
n:ea.nt fc,)’r collecting information on Soviet guided missiles and radar-
stations,

I want to ask the gentlemen from the State Department: Is it such
“air snmples over Lake Van” that the spy flier Powers was to take?

IRAQI REVOLT RECALLED

I say nothing of the fact that by flying along this course, the Ameri-
can scout plane grossly violated the national sovereignty of Afghan-
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istun by having flown across that. country’s territory without permis-
sion.  But there is, perhaps, nothing extrnordinary in this for the
morals of American militarists. Such actions of theirs have long heen
known.,

Suflice it to reeall the flight of American military aiveraft over the
territory of Austrin, when the aggression was being prepared against
Iraq, where a revolution had just taken place.  The Austrian Govern-
ment protested againgt the treacherous violation of Austrin’s sover-
oignty by Ameriean militnry aivernft and against that blatant act of
disrespoet. for her nentrality sealed by the signatures of the United
States, nmong others,

If one believes the version that. the pilot lost conscionsness owing to
oxygen trouble and that the aiveraft. wag subsequently controlled by
the automutic pilot, one must also believe that. the aireraft controlled
by an automatic pilot. flew from Turkey to Pakistan, tonched down at
Peshewnr Airport, stayed there three days, took off early in the
morning of May 1, flew over the territory of Afghanistan, erossed the
Soviet frontier, flew more than 2,000 kilometers over our territory for
a total of some four hours.

All the time of the flight over our territory the aireraft was under
observation and was brought. down as soon as the order was received.

When our anti-aireraft rocket battery intercepted and brought down
thoe plane, the pilot, it must. be believed, soon regained his conscious-
ness because he bailed out by parachute; you just note he was not
ejected by the automatic device but left through the upper canopy
designed for emplaning. The question arises why did he do this if
there are devices for rapid ejection ?

e did this possibly becnuse there was an explosive charge in the
aireraft which was to {ave blown up the plane as soon as the pilot. was
cjected. The pilot knew this and possibly was afraid that he would be
killed in the explosion. Clever enough!

“NOT TIIE ONLY PRECAUTION”

But the installation of the infernal machine was not the only pre-
caution taken. To cover up the tracks of the ecrime the pilot was told
that he must not. fall alive in the hands of the Soviet authorities. For
this reagon he was supplied with a special pin. He was to have pricked
himself with this poisoned pin, resulting in instantaneous death.

What a barbarism! Here is this instrument-—the latest achievement
of American technology for the killing of their own people (a photo-
graph is produced).

But everything alive wants to live and when the plane was brought
down the pilot bailed out by parachute. And when he landed he did
not follow the advice of those who sent him on his anti-Soviet preda-
tory assignment but remained alive,

1t is alleged that the flight was made for scientific purposes to in-
vestigate the uyl)per layers of the atmosphere. The question arises why
the pilot then had to be armed with a noiseless pistol. He was given
it for some emergency, not to take air samples but to blow people’s
brains out. All this we shall present to the public as material evidence.
This is what, so to say, such Christians are like.



186 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

Ho was given this pistol after making low bows as they do in
churches, And yeot they enll us godless ntheists. Yot we have never
committed such crimes agninst humanity and never will.  1f the pilot
was given o pistol to defend himself agninst wild beasts in case of a
forced landing, the question arises, why w pistol with a siloncor? This
also shows what so-called scientilic purposes were pursued by the
plane.

The pilot who was supposed to exl)lom the ntmosphere was given
7,500 rubles in Soviet currency. The question arises, when and
where was he to have spent them and for what purposes, for he did
not. {ly to exchange old rubles for new ¢

QOLD FRANCS, GOLD RINGS

Thae pilot. was also given I'rench gold franes. 1 have seen these gold
franes with my own eyes.  And you ean seo them heve in the photo-
reaph.  They are covered with collophane on both sides of the coins,
Jone in a cultured, Amoriean way.  But what did the pilot need these
francs for? o also had West German, Haliang and other currency.
Besides his own wateh he was also given for his (vip another two gold
watches and seven gold rings for ladies.  Why was all this necessary
in the upper layers of the atmosphere?  Ory maybe, the pilot was to
have flown still higher to Mars and was going (o lead ustray Martinn
ladies?

You seo how thoroughly American pilots aveequipped before softing
off on a {light to take samples of air in the upper lnyers of the atmos-
phere.  Thus, no concocted version can save the reputation of those
who bear the responsibility for this perfidious net,

Thus, no concocted version can save the reputation of those who bear
the responsibility for this perfidious action. They were caught red-
handed as organizers of the incursion in the airspace of the Soviet
Union not long before the meoting of the heads of government in
Paris, not long before the visit to the Soviet Union of the PPresident of
the United States. I believe that this is a bad preparation for serious
talks on easing international tension,

I am now reading in the Western press comments on these events
and there are some people who accuse us, Khrushchev, of wanting o
undermine the summit meeting because otherwise he would not have
presented this fact at the session of the Supreme Soviet but raised it
through some other channels but what did you expect, gentlemen ?
You are accustomed to make mischief and some people regard this as
all but a good thing and keep silent. No, we are not such kind of
people: if you made mischief bear the responsibility for this openly.

WHY SUCH A “RECKLESS STEP”

They live according to the law; if one is rich, one will not be impris-
oned. This is true for the capitalist because he always can buy him-
self off. But there is another country, the country of socialism, where
law protects the state, protects society, protects everyone living in this
state,
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What, could bo the reason for such a reckless step?  This was evi-
dontly done beeanse someone in the United States was obsessed by the
iden of intelligence.  'The United States proposal on the “open sky” is
well known.  We rejected this proposal and the American military
then decided to “open” the Soviet sky by themselves,

But there are l'lll]OB of international laws, there are national frontiers
and no one hag tho right to disregard these lnws and to cross the
frontiors of other countries,

From the lofty rostrum of the Supreme Soviel, we warn onco agnin
thosa countries that make their territory available for the take-off of
planes with anti-Soviet intentions—do not. play with fire, gentlemen !

The governments of the three countries--Turkey, Pakistan and
Norway—must bo clearly aware that they were accomplices of this
flight. beeause they permitted the use of their airficlds against the
Soviet. Union,

7. STATEMENT BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
MAY 17, 1960

[From The New York Times, May 8, 1060]

WasniNnaroN, May 7—Following is the statement on the U-2
olane incident wssued by the State Department today after clearance
y President Iisenhower:

The Department has received the text of Mr. Khrushchev’s further
romarks ulbout the unarmed plane which is reported to have been shot
down in the Soviet Union. As previously announced, it was known
that a U-2 plane was missing. Xs a resul{ of the inquiry ordered by
the President, it has been established that insofar as the authorities
are concerned, there was no authorization for any such flights as de-
seribed by Mr. Khrushchev.

Nevertheless, it appears that in endeavoring to obtain information
now concealed behind the Iron Curtain a flight over Soviet, territory
was probably undertaken by an unarmed civilian U-2 plane.

It is certainly no secret that, given the state of the world today,
intelligence collection activities are practiced by all countries and

ostwar history certainly reveals that the Soviet Union has not been

agging behind in the field. The necessity for such activities as
measures for legitimate national defense is enhanced by the excessive
secrecy practiced by the Soviet Union in contrast to the free world.

One of the things creating tension in the world today is apprehen-
sion over surprise attack with weapons of mass destruction. To re-
duce mutual suspicion and to get a measure of protection against
surprise attack, the United States in 1955 offered its “open skies”

roposal-—a proposal which was rejected out of hand by the Soviet
nion. It is in relation to the danger of surprise attack that planes
of the type of the unarmed civilian U-2 aircraft have made flights
along the frontiers of the free world for the past four years.
56412—60—13
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8. TEXT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’'S SPEECH WARN-
ING NATIONS WITH BASES USED BY U.S. PLANES

[From the New York T'imes, May 10, 1000}

Following is the tewt of remarks by Premier IChrushchev at a re-
ception in the Czechosloval IFmbassy in Moscow yesterday, ag pro-
vided in English in New York by 1'ass, the official press agency:

Dear Comrade Dvornk, Ambassador of friendly, fraternal Czecho-
slovakin !

Dear friends, comrades, gentlemen! ‘

Wo are very pleased to attend the reception held on the occasion of
the fifteconth anniversary of the liberation of the Czechoslovak Repub-
lic, the celebration of Victory Day, which indeed is a holiday for all the
pooples. The Soviet. people, at. one with all other peoples, sincerely
want that there should be no more war, that this war should be the last,
that it should be remembered by the peoples and should go down in
history as the last war,

Wo are doing our utmost to achieve this indeed. That is precisely
why the Soviet Union submitted at the United Nations its proposals
for general and complete disarmament. We not only insist on the
necessity of reducing armed forces but alveady now, without waiting
for such decisions by the Western countries, we unilaterally cut the
armed forces of the Soviet Union by one-third.

When wa have reduced our armed forces to 2,400,000, some time will
pass, and we shall think it over and evidently we shall further reduce
our Army. Comrade Zhadov [Gen. Aleksandr A. Zhadov, deputy
commander of Soviet ground forces] over there scratched the bacIl){ of
his head—another reduction.

No, this will not be done now, Comrade General, but later.

Wao shall do this if the situation favors such measures. Of course,
we shall not cut our armed forces to such a level which would prej-
udice the secrrity of the Soviet Union. You should bear in mind that
we do not reduce our armed forces for financial reasons, No, the
financial situation of our state is splendid and, if need be, could not
only forbear from reducing the army and navy, but increase them, I
repeat, if this were necessary we could do this without tense efforts.
But(,i s?xs good masters we say : Why have bigger armed forces than we
nee

CONTROLS NOT FEARED

If our partners agree we are willing to accept total disarmament
and we shall effect it honestly. We are not afraid of control. If you
please, gentlemen, then you could fly over our territory, check, take
pictures, do what you please,

Such an issue as now could not arise then. The Department of
State explains the incident with the downed reconnaissance plane
more or less as follows: One cannot, they say, admit, nor can one
deny. It turns out, as in the well-known joke, that here is a maiden
who is also not a maiden for she has a child! The marriage was not
registered, therefore one can regard her as a maiden in a way. But
she gave birth, to a child. Can one regard her as a maiden or not.%

This does not happen in real life. We tell the Americans: Your
plane flew over our country on an intelligence mission. We tracked its
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flight and it flew to the Sverdlovsk area, where it was brought down.
That is how you got into & mess and you are in a mess. Pluck up
your courage and sny: Yes, there was such a disgraceful fact. And
this is a big disgrace for America since everyone sces now how dis-
graced in the eyes of the world are those who committeed such a
shocking act of ‘nggression. The whole world wants peace, a relaxa-
tion of international tension while coertain quarters in the United
States stage such a provocation. . o

What were the purposes of this flight? A provocation! This is
bad, very bad indeed !

TIMING FOR SUMMI'T BEEN

I have already said, comrades, and now I repeat, that this was done
deliberately and deliberately timed for the summit meeting in Paris,
It is said that it was the work of the militavy. Only the military ¢
What kind of state is this if the military do what the Government op-
poses? 1low can the Government tolerate this? If anyone of our
military allowed himself to do such a thing, we would pull him up im-
mediately. The Government and the country are strong when the en-
tire machinery functions smoothly, when everything is subordinated to
the Government. ‘Therein lies real strength.  Understand me rightly :
When everyone pulls in a diflerent direction what kind of state is this
and what confidence can one have in the policy of such a state ?

There can be no confidence in the policy of such a state! The state-
ment that the aggressive flight was made without the will and instrue-
tions of the Government, that nothing was known of it in the State
Department, does not give credit to the Department of State of the
United States. And what about Allen Dulles?

For he knew about all this and he also is a member of the United
States Government! Tor this is Allen Dulles’ aviation! It turns out
that the State Department’s reply is, as the saying has it, too thin.

It is possible, I do not know this for certain, but I do not preclude
the possibility that the Government of the United States of America
knew of this flight. But I, so to speak, confide it to you !

STATEMENT HELD ALARMING

In diplomatic language it would be better to say: It knew, but it
stopped its ears and closed its eyes and now depicts the matter as if the
devil led astray some official. However, let 1t be, with this Govern-
ment and with its way of issuing statements on all this.

One thing is alarming in this statement. It is vague. More, this
statement blames us for not allowing to fly over or travel across our
country those who want to study our defenses, to discover secrets.
And that is why they, that means the American Government, had been
impelled to send planes on intelligence missions. This is a very dan-
gerous explanation. It is dangerous because it does not denounce but
tries to justify such a flight and seems to say that such flights are pos-
sible in the future, too, because the Soviet Union does not thinlr() to
reveal its secrets to countries that pursue unfriendly policy toward us.

Using this as the only justification, some gentlemen intend to gain:
the right in the eyes of public opinion to fly over our territory in the.
future, too, gleaning important military secrets.
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I vepeat. onco again this is very dangerous, lot. nlone that it is wrong
in principlo and not. in keeping with the spirvit of international ponco-
ful relations.  If someono intends to fly over our tervitory, recon-
noitering objectives and gleaning stato seerets, wo shall bring down
such planes, just bring them down |

Move, if such flights are repeated, wo shall take appropriate countor-
measures,

OTHER COUNTRIES WARNED

1 should say this: Those countries that have bases on their territories
should note most. carefully the following: I they allow others to fly
from their bases (o our territory we shall hit at. those bases.  Beeause
wo assess such actions as provoeations against our country !

Wao tell the Governments of those countries, il you leased your ter-
ritory to others and are not the masters of your land, of your country,
honee, wo shall have to understand it in our way. Those who lease
your territory, operate against ns from your tervitory. Their lands
are far from us while your land is near. That is why as a warning
to vemote targets, we shall find the range to the near ones. 1ot them
draw the appropriate conelusions.

I should not. like to heat up passions beeausa even in wartime l'mnplu
long for peace, await an end to the war and dream of peance. 'There
is no war now. Our strength is being tested.  Therefore, let us not
draw conclusions aggravating velations between countries, such con-
clusions as would hamper us in the future, I should like to say, even
in building good relations with the United States of America. Today
I declare onco again that we want to live not only in peace but also in
friendship with the American people. The American people want no
war. Iamsureof this.

On the eve of the Paris meeting the ageressive circles wanted to
bring strong pressure to bear upon us. We say: Let us conclude a
peace treaty with Germany. Some of our former wartime allies are
against this,

WEST BERLIN STAND DECRIED

But why? DPlainly speaking, why need the United States of Amer-
ica, France and the United Kingdom West Berlin? 'They need it
as o dog needs a fifth leg. West Berlin does not give them anything.
By the way, no one encroaches on West Berlin, It is said, freedom
is at stake, but. who encroaches on freedom?

Let the West Berliners continue to live as they do now and let them
have the regime they like. The Soviet Government has long since
declared that to select a regime is o matter for each people and that
everyone should live as he prefers to. If the Western powers do not
want to sign a German peace treaty we shall have to sign a peace
treaty with the German Democratic Republic.

The point is that even after we conclude such a treaty with the
German Democratic Republic they would like to exercise tKose rights
which flow from Germany’s surrender, to exercise them in defiance
of the peace treaty we would havesigned. But if we sign a peace treaty
with the German Democratic Republie, the terms of war will be ended
and, hence, the terms of surrender will also be ended. They will
cease to operate. If after the signing of a peace treaty some one would
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like to force his way into West Berlin which we would like to see
a freo city, our force will resist this force,

Aware of this,some leaders in the United States of America decided
to tench Khrushehev a lesson. Sinee it is snid that force will resist
force, we shall teach a lesson to the Soviet Union, we shall fly over
your territory and we already flew over it and returned home.

el et

EARLIER FLYOVER NOTED

POR DI

This happened, for instance, on April 9. T have already spoken of
this. 1éven now this flight is denied in the United States. In this
caso the ethies is: 1f the thief is not cnught, he is no thief. But this
tite we caught the thief and now the whole world knows of it. )

The reconnaissance plane should have been brought down on April
9, too. But our military, to put it mildly, let a chance slip by. And
we, 48 one suys, took them to task for it. On May 1 the reconnaissance
plane was shot. down, The military splendidly coped with the task
when the opponent grew bold. IFor tllnc American military thought
like this: If the April 9 flight passed off with impunity, that means
they cannot hit it at such an altitude, and the agtf,zresqivo military
wanted to demonstrate their strength once again fifteen days before
the swuunmit meeting,

Well, KXhrushchev, what are you boasting of? We fly over your
country and you can do nothing about it. They expected to fly over
ovor Soviet, territory this time, too, to fly over Sverdlovsk and to show
that we can do nothing about it. Indeed, an unpleasant situation!
And now when he hit the air pirate with a rocket, as the saying has
it, it is time to dismount from the horse!

S. M. Budenny : One must slash down to the saddle, and everything
will go to pieces,

Ni ciltu IChrushehev : I believe that this cavalry rule is quite appro-
priate!

Attempts are still made to frighten us because in the West bombers
are {lying on round-the-clock vigil * * *

g

ROCKETS ON VIGIL

I should like to tell those people: Listen, gentlemen, we also have
bombers, but they are not on vigil, in our country rockets are on vigil |

It is common knowledge that V bombers, as a rule, fly at an altitude
ranging from 12,000 to 17,000 meters, they cannot rise higher because
designers still cannot. overcome technical difficulties. The plane which
committed the diversion on May 1 flew at an altitude of 20,000 meters.
They say it was an unarmed V plane. It was because it was unarmed
that it could fly at such an altitude. They expected that such a plane
will be invulnerable for a long time to go. They even expected that
this will be almost for all time.

I shall say further, when Twining, the then Chief of Staff of the
United States Air Force, arrived here we welcomed him as guest and
entertained him. He left our country by air and next day sent a
plane flying at great altitude to our country. This plane flew as far as
Kiev. The (lluestion arose: Should we protest? I proposed that no
protest should be lodged. Only an animal might act fike Twining
which, eating at one place, might do its unpleasant business there.
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From such behavior we drow the conelusion: 'T'o improve rockets, to
improve fighters,  Our fighters onn fly as high ag 28,000 meters, fhll.
the diflioultivs of a fightor are that though it ean rise high, it is not.
8o easy and simplo to find the tavget in the airy o plane in the air is
like n neodle in the ccoan.

But. the vocket {inds its tavgots itsolf. 'T'hig is the advantage of the
roockot and we use of it. Wo have both fighters and vockets, 'I'hat is
why [ say: If there ave still politicians who would like to rely on
bombers, they are doomed to failure,  With the up-to-date military
techniques bombers will bo shot. down even before they appronch the
targot,  Wo also have good aviation, T flow to Amorien in a 'T'U-114,
This plane is a modifleation of a bomber with a flying range of 17,000
kilomotors, I mentioned this to the Presidont of the United States.
Howaever, the ceiling of the bombor is within the sphere of operation
of fightors, Tt is now not so diflicult to bring down n bombar,

The Amoricans ean do this, but. wa ean do it even bottor,

That is why one should abandon this exchange of threats, Tt would
bo bettor to speak of peace and friondship, how mutunlly advantageous
it is to trade, how good velations ean bo established botween peoples
how cultural contacts and touvist travel ean bo doveloped.  ‘T'his woulc
bo a far morve nseful and lofty job and all the peoples of tha world
would weleome this, This is precisoly what our stand is, comrades!
The peoples demand tranquillity, thoy ave against wars and military
conflicts. Lot us try and meot theso just. demands of the people.

SOVIET QOALS CUTRD

When we were preparing the rvecont session of the Supreme Soviet
we did not envisage the discussion of any military questions, We
drafted a law on the abolition of taxes paid by factory and oflies
workers and a law on the completion of the transition to n sevon and
six-hour working day. Wo prepared for discussion at the session
the question of mecreasing by 25,000,000,000 to 30,000,000,000 rubles
expanditures for the expansion of industry manufacturing consumer
oods €0 as to emergs to first place in Kurope during this seven-year-
dlan period and to cateh up with the United States five years Inter,
Vhat lofty aims from the attainment. of which not. a single people, not
a single individual in the world, would suffer!

And here, as one says, to “cheer us up,” they timed such an ag-
gressive act. for the great proletarian May Day holiday! But the ag-
gressors themselves did not. expeet. that they would indeed cheer
us up.  When Marshal Malinovsky mounted the mausoleum on May
Day to make his speech, I could already congratulate him on the shoot-
ing down of the plane. 1Te replied that he had learned this just be-
fore motoring to Red Square. 'This was good news before the min-
ister’s speech at the May Day parade, . )

Comvrades, today we are celebrating the day of victory in the war
in which we lost more people and wealth than any other country.
We mourn over the dead but. at the same time we celebrate and rejoice
in our victory.

HAILS WAR VICTORY

We rejoice because our people not only rehabilitated the devastated
economy but far surpassed the pre-war level of development. This
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victory is also boing colobrated in countries that. were our allies
in the Ingt. war,  The Ambassadors of those countries nro nlso here,
Wao have just clinkod glusses with the American Ambassador, Mr,
Thompson,  But, after onr “clinking” in the niry nre ringing of our
glasses in the Czochoslovak Iombassy-—is alrendy not the proper
ringing,

I vespeet. the Ambassador of the United States and T am convineed
that he had nothing to do with this ineursion, that. he could not. have
anything to do oven if he wished to,

I am convinesd of the ethienl qualities of this man,  Sinee T know
him I think that he is not (mpu\)]u of such o thing, Kvidently he
fools this incidont ns o big annoyanes for his country and for himsel £
us the rapresentative of the United States in the Soviet Union, This
must botakon into considoration,

Comrades! I propode  tonst. to the victory, Lo the nations and peo-
plos who fought ngninst. Nazi Germany and with us won a great
victory |

I propose n tonst, to friendly Czechoslovakin, to the remarkable
poo )‘u of Czechoslovaking to the hosts of this house, the Ambagsador
of tho Czechoslovak Republic, Comrado Dvornk, and his wife, to all
who ropresent, the fraternal Czechoslovak Republic in the Soviet
Union!

1 raiso my glasg to the end of wars, to the end of provoeations, to
peaco and friendship bot.ween the peoples,

9. STATEMENT BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE
MAY 9, 1960

{Department of State press releaso No, 2064

On May 7 the Department of State spokesman made a statement
with respect. to the alleged shooting down of an unarmed Ameriean
civilian aireraft of the U-2 type over the Soviet. Union.  The follow-
ing supplements and clarifies this siatement as respeets the position
of tho Unilml States Government,

Fiver since Marshal Stalin shifted the policy of the Soviet. Union
from wartime cooperation to postwar mnﬂlict in 1946 and particularly
sinco the Berlin Lluvkmlo, (.lm forceful tukeover of Czechoslovakia
and the Communist. aggressions in oren and Vietnam the world has
lived in astate of apprehension with respect to Soviet intentions,  The
Soviet lenders have alimost complete aceess to the open societies of
the free world and supplement this with vast espionage networks.
IHowever, they keep their own society tightly closed and rigorously
controlled.  With the development. of modern weapons earrying tre-
mendously destructive nuclear warheads, the threat of surprise attack
and aggression presents a constant danger. 'This menace 1s enhanced
by the threats of mass destruction frequently voiced by the Soviet
leadership.

For many years the United States in company with its allies has
sought to lessen or even to eliminate this threat from the life of man so
that ho can go about his peaceful business without fear. Many pro-
posals to this end have been put up to the Soviet Union.  The Presi-
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dent’s “open skics” proposal of 1955 was followed in 1967 by the
offor of an exchango ull ground observors botweon agroed militnry
installations in the U.S,, the USSR and other nations (hat might,
wish fo participate,  For several yenrs wo have beon sooking the
mutual abolition of the restrictions on travel imposed by the Soviet
Union and those which the United States felt. obliged to institute on
a reciprocal basis.  Morve vecently at. the Geneva disnrmument. con-
forencoe the United States has proposed far-ronching now measures of
controlled disnrnnment, It is possible that. the Soviet lenders hnvo
a ditferont. version and that, howoever unjustifiedly, they fear attnck
from the West.  But this is havd to reconeile with their continunl
nojection of our repeated proposals for offcetive monsures ngainst,
surprise nttack and for effective inspection of disnrmument. measures,

L will say feankly that it is unaceeptable that the Soviet. palitienl
system should bo given an opportunity to make seevet. prepurations to
face the free world with ({u\ choico of abject surrender or nuclear
destruction, The Government. of the United States would be derelict
to its vesponsibility not only to the Amorican people but. to free peoples
overywhere if it did not, In the absence of Soviet. cooperntion, {nke
such measures as ave possiblo unilatorally to lesson and to overcome thiy
danger of surprise attack. In fact the United States has not. and
does not shivk this responsibility,

I accordance with the National Seeurity Act.of 19047, the President
has put into effect sinee the beginning of las Administration directives
to gather by every possible means the information required to protect,
the United States and the Freo World against surpriso attack and to
enable them to make effective preparations for their defense,  Under
theso diveetives programs have been developed and put into operation
which have included extensive aerinl surveillanes by unarmed civilian
aiveraft, normally of a peripheral character but on occasion by pene-
tration.  Speeific missions of these unarmed civilinn aireraft have not
been subject to Presidential authorvization, The fact that such sur-
veillance was taking place has apparently not been a seeret to the
Soviet leadership and the question indeed avises as to why at this
particular juncture they should seek to exploit the present incident
as a propaganda battle in the cold war,

This government had sincerely hoped and continues to hope that in
the coming meeting of the Heads of Government in Pavis E‘,huirman
Khrushehev would be prepared to cooperate in agreeing to effective
measures which would remove this fear of sudden mass destruetion
from the minds of peoples everywhere.  Iar from being damaging to
the forthcoming meeting in Parvis, this incident should serve to under-
line the importance to the world of an earnest attempt there to nchieve
agreed and effective safegaards aganinst surprise attack and aggression.

At my request and with *he authority of the President, the Director
of the Central Intelligence Agency, the ITonorable Allen W, Dulles, is
f_oday briefing Members of the Congress fully along the foregoing
ines.
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10, 'TEXT OIF SOVIET UNION NOTE TO THE UNITED
STATES GOVERNMEN'T, MAY 10, 1960

[1¥rom the New York Mines, May 11, 1660)

Mosoow, May 10 (ALY ollowing ix the lewt of @ Soviet note to-
duay to the United States on the downing of an Amerioun plane, a8
translated by the United States I'mbaasy,

The Government. of the Union of Soviet. Socialist, Republies eon-
sidors it necessnry (o sinte the following to the Government. of the
Unitad States of Amoriea:

On Mauy | of this year at 5 honrs 36 minutes (5:36 A.M.), Mogcow
time, 0 military niveraft. violated the boundaries of the U.S.8.R, and
intruded neross the borders of the Soviet. Union for o distance of
more than 2,000 kilometers (1,240 miles), The Government. of the
USSR, nntuenlly conld not, leave unpunished such a flagrant viola-
tion of the Soviet state houndaries, When the intentions of the violat-
ing aireraft. becume apparent, it was shot down by Soviet rockoet
troops in the nren of Sverdlovsk,

Upon _examination by experts of all data at. the disposal of the
Soviet, side, it wag incontrovertibly egtublished that the intruder air-
ernft holonged to the United States of America, was permanently
based in Turkey and was sent through Pakistan into the Soviet Union
with hostile purposes,

SOVIET CITES EVIDENCE

As the Chairman of the U.S.S.R. Council of Ministers, N, S.
Khrushehov, made public on May 7 at. the final session of the U.S.S.R.
Supreme Soviet, data from the investigation leave no doubt with
respect, to the purposes of the flight of the American aireraft which
violnted the U.S.S.R.s border on May 1. This aireraft wag especially
equipped for a reconnaissance and diversionary flight over the ter-
ritory of the Soviet Union. It had on board apparatus for aerial
photography, for detecting the Soviet radar network and other spe-
cial radio-technical equipment which formed part of the U.S.S.R.
anti-nircraft defenses. At the disposal of the Soviet expert commis-
sion, which carried out the investigation, there is undisputable proof
of the espionage reconnaissance mission of the American aircraft;
films of Soviet defense and industrial establishments, a tape recording
of the signals of Soviet radar stations and other data.

The pilot [Francis G.] Powers, about whose fate the Embassy of
the U.S.A. inquired in its note of May 6, is alive and, as indieated in
the afore-mentioned speech of the Chairman of the U.S.S.R. Council
of Ministers, N. S, Khrushchev, will be brought to account under the
laws of the Soviet state. The pilot has indicated that he did every-
thing in full accordance with the assignment given him. On the
flight map taken from him there was clearly and accurately marked
the entire route he was assigned after take-off from Adana [Turkey];
Peshawar [Pakistan]-Aral-Sverdlovsk-Archangel-Murmansk, fol-
lowed by a landing at the Norwegian airfield at Bodo.
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The pilot has also stated that he served in sub-unit. No. 10-10,
which under cover of the National Aeronnuties and Space Adminis-
tration is engaged in high-altitude military reconnaissaneo,

This and other information revealed in the speeches of the head
of the Soviet Government. completely refuted the United States Stato
Department’s concocted and hueriedly fubrieated version, relensed
May b in an oflicinl announcement. for the press, to the effect that. the
aiveraft was allegedly eareying ouwl meteorological obsorvations in
the upper strata of the Mnmsphum along the Turkish-Soviet border,

After the complete absurdity of the afore mentioned version had
been shown and it had been incontrovertibly proved that the Ameri-
can airveraft intraded across the borders of the Soviet. Union for ag-
YICSSIVG TeCONNAissanes purposes, & new announcement was made by
the United States Stato ll)opn.r(nwnt, on May 8 [ Moscow time] which
contained the forced admission that the nireraft was sent into the
Soviet. Union for military reconmuissauce purposes and, by that very
fact, it was admitted that the flight was pursuing aggressive pur-
poses,

In this way after threo days the State Department alveady had
denied the version which obviously had been intended to mislead
world public opinion as well as the public opinion of America itself.

“oPEN SKIES" 18SUR NOTED

The State Department. considered it appropriante to refer in this
announcement. to the “open skies” proposal made by the Government
of the U, S. A. in 1955 and to the refusal of the Soviet. Government.
to accept. this proposal.  Yet, the Soviet Government, like the govern-
ments of many other states, refused to accept this proposal which
was intended to throw open the doors of other nations to American
reconnaissance. The activities of American aviation only confirn the
correctness of the evaluation given to this proposal at the time by the
Soviet Government,

Does all this mean that, with the refusal of a number of states to
accept this proposal for “open skies” the U. S. A. is attempting arbi-
tranly to h\‘m upon itself the right to “open” a foreign sky ¢

It is enough to put the question this way, for the complete ground-
lessness of the afore-mentioned reference to the U. S. A, “open sky”
proposal to become clear.

It follows from the aforementioned May 8 announcement. from the
United States State Department that. hostile acts by American avia-
tion, which have taken place numerous times in relation to the Soviet
Union, are not simply a result of the activity of the military com-
mands of the U. S, A. in various areas but are an expression of a
calculated U. S. A. policy. What the Soviet Government has re-
peatedly declared in its representations to the Government of the

1. S. A. in connection with the violations of the U. S. S. R. national
boundaries by American airplanes has been confirmed, namely, that
these violations are premeditated.
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U, B, POLICY DIBCUBSED

All this testifies that the Government of the U, 8. A,, instead of
taking measures to stop such action by American aviation, the danger
of which has more than once been pointed out. by the Soviet Govern-
ment, oflicinlly announces such actions ag it national policy. :

"Thus, the Government of the U.S.A., in the first place, testifies to
the fact that its answers to representations of the Soviet Government
were only for the sake of form, hehind which was o concenled effort
to avoid the substance of the issue, and that all violations by American
aireralt of national houndaries of the U.S.S.R. represented actions
conforming to U.S.A. policy.

In the second placo, and this is the main point, by sanctioning such
actions of Ameriean aviation, the Government of the U.S.A. aggra-
vates the situation even more,

One must ask, how is it possible to reconcile this with declarations
on the purt of lending figures of the U.S.A. that the Government of
the U.8.A., like the Soviet, Government, is also striving for improve-
mont of relntions between the U.S.S.1R. and the U.S.A,, for a relaxa-
tion of international tension, and the strengthening of trust between
states.

Military intelligence activities by one nation by means of intrusion
of its aireraft into the aren of another country can hardly be called
a method for improving relations and strengthening trust.

It is self-evident that the Soviet Government is compelled under
such circumstances to give strict instructions to its armed forces to
tako all necessary measures against the violation of Soviet boundaries
by foreign aviation.

VIEWS SAID TO DIFFER

The Government of the U.S.S.R, regretfully states that, while it
undertakes everything possible for the normalization and improve-
ment of the international situation, the Government of the U.S.A.
follows a different path.

It is impossible to exclude the thought that, apparently, the two
governments view differently the necessity of improving relations be-
tween our countries and for the creation of favorable ground for the
forthcoming summit meeting,

The Soviet Government, as well as all the Soviet peoples, considers
that personal meeting and discussions of the President of the U.S.A.
and other oflicial figures with the Chairman of the Council of Minis-
ters of the U.S.S.R. during his visit in the U.S.A, made a good be-
ginning in the cause of normalizing Soviet- American relations and
therefore an improvement of the entire international situation as well.

ITowever, the latest actions of the American authorities apparently
seck to return the state of American-Soviet relations to the worst time
of the “cold war” and to poison the international situation before the
summit meeting.

The Government of the U.S.S.R. cannot avoid pointing out that
the State Department’s statement which is unprecedented in its cyni-
cism, not only justifies provocative flights of the armed forces of the
U.S.A. but also acknowledges that such actions are a “normal phe-
nomenon” and this in fact states that in future the United States
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intonds fo continue provoeative invasions into the confines of the air
spuce of the Soviet Union for the purpose of intelligence.

U.8, CONTRADICTION SBEEN

Thus the Government of the U.S.S.R. concludes that the announce-
ment that the flight was enrried out without the knowledge and por-
mission of the Government of the U.S.A. does not correspond to
reality because in the very same announcement the necessity for
carrying on intelligence activities agninst the Soviet Union is justi-
fied. This means that espionage aclivities of American nivernit ave
carried on with the sanction of the Government of the U.S.A.

The Government of the Soviet Union makes an emphatic protest
to the Government of the U.S.A. in connection with the aggressive
acts of American aviation and warns that, if similar provoeations
are repeated, it will be obliged to take retalintory measures, the re-
sponsibility for the consequences of which will rest on the Government
of the state committing aggression against other countries,

The Soviet Government would sincerely like to hope that the Gov-
ernment of the U.S.A. recognized in the final analysis that the inter-
ests of preserving and strengthening peace among people, including
the interest of tho American people itself, whose starving for peace
was well demonstrated during the visit of the head of the Soviet
Government, N. S. Khrushchev, to the U.S.A., will be served by the
cessation of the aforementioned dangerous provoeative aectivities
against the U.S.S.R., by cessation of the “cold war,” and by research
throngh joint efforts with the Soviet Union and other interested
states for a solution of unsettled international problems on a mutually
acceptable basis, which is awaited by all people.

11. TRANSCRIPT OF PRESIDENT EISENHOWER’S NEWS
CONFERENCE, MAY 1}, 1960 [EXCERPTS]

[From the New York Times, May 12, 1960]

Washington, May 11 (UPI)—Following s the transcript of Presi-
dent Eisenhower’s news conference today:

Presipent EtseExtower. Good morning. Please sit down.

I have made some notes from which I want to talk to you about
this U-2 incident.

A full statement about this matter has been made by the State De-
partment and there have been several statesmanlike remarks by lead-
ers of both parties.

For my part, I supplement what the Secretary of State has had
to say, with the following four main points. After that I shall have
nothing further to say—for the simple reason I can think of nothing
to add that might be useful at this time.

The first point is this: The need for intelligence-gathering activities.
No one wants another Pearl Harbor. This means that we must have
knowledge of military forces and preparations around the world, es-
pecially those capable of massive surprise attack.
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Secrecy in the Soviet Union makes this essentinl. In most of the
world no large-seale attack could be prepared in secret, but in the
Soviet. Union there is a fetish of secrecy and concenlment. This is a
major cause of international tension and uneasiness today. Our de-
terrent, must never be pluced in jeopardy. The safety of the whole
free world demands this,

As the Secretary of State pointed out in his recent statement, ever
since the beginning of my Administration I have issued directives to

ather, in every feasible way, the information required to protect the
%Jnite( States and the free world against surprise attack and to enable
them to make effective preparations for defense.

My second point: The nature of intelligence-gathering activities,

“BELOW THE SURFACE”

Theso have a special and secret character. They are, so to speak,
“below the surface” activities. They are secret because timy must cir-
cumvent mensures designed by other countries to protect secrecy of
military preparations,

They are divorced from the regular visible agencies of government
which stay clear of operational involvement in specific detailed
activities.

These elements operate under broad directives to seek and gather
intelligence short of the use of force—with operations supervised by
responsible oflicinls within this area of secret activities,

Wae do not use our Army, Navy or Air Force for this purpose, first
to avoid any possibility of the use of force in connection with these
activities, and second, because our military forces, for obvious reasons,
cannot be given latitude under broad directives, but must be kept under
strict control in every detail.

These activities have their own rules and methods of concealment
which seek to mislead and obscure—just as in the Soviet allegations
there are many discrepancies. For example, there is some reason to
believe that the plane in question was not shot down at high altitude.
The normal agencies of our Government are unaware of these specific
activities or of the special efforts to conceal them.

Third point: How should we view all of this activity?

DISTASTEFUL BUT VITAL

It is a distasteful but vital necessity.

We prefer and work for a different kind of world—and a different
way of obtaining the information essential to confidence and effective
deterrents. Open societies, in the day of present weapons, are the only
answer.

This was the reason for my “open skies” proposal in 1955, which
I was ready instantly to put into effect—to permit aerial observation
over the United States and the Soviet Union which would assure that
no surprise attack was being prepared against anyone. I shall brin
up the “open skies” proposal again at Paris—since it is a means o
ending concealment and suspicion.

My final point is that we must not be distracted from the real issues
ofdthe day by what is an incident or a symptom of the world situation
today.



200 EVENTS INCIDENT T0 THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

. 'This incident has been given great propaganda exploitation. The
emphasis given to a flight of an unarmed nonmilitary plane can only
refloct n fotish of seereey.

"I'ho real issues aro the ones we will be working on at the summit—
disnrmament, sonrch for solutions aflecting Germany and Berlin and
the whole range of Iast-West relations, including the reduction of
secrecy and suspicion.

Trankly, I am hopeful that we may make progress on these great
issues. T'his is what we mean when wo speak of “working for peace.”

And as I remind yoeu, 1 will have nothing further to sny about this
matter.

1. Ronerr J. Donovan of The New York Herald Tribune. Mr.
President, sinco our last visit, or conference, Prime Minister Khru-
shehov hns made some protty vigorous statements about your plans
for bringing Mr. Nixon to the summit in case you had to come home.
Do his comments in any way change your intention ¢

A. No, indesd. And, I should clarify something, there seems to be
somo misundoerstanding; because a friend from Congress, a friend
indeed of the other party, told me the other day that he had never
heard of the latter part of my press conference on this point where I
snid if my—if my absence from the conference had to be more than
two or three days, I would be right back there, and I believe I re-
lllar[(l()alci, I am not sure, that the jet plane made this kind of a trip

ossible.
b Now, as far as Mr. Khrushchev’s statement, this, I can just say this:
He has never asked me my opinion of some of his eople. [Laughter.]

2. Cuarves H. Mour of Time magazine. Mr. President, in case, Mr.
President, that the Soviet Union should reject your A)roposul for sur-
prise attack conference, or open skies arrangements, do you think that
the development of satellites like Samos and Midas will possibly in
the next few years erase our worries on the score of surveillance and
also are you doing anything now to speed up those scientific projects?

A. Well, I know of nothing—no, I keep in touch with my gcientiﬁc
Advisory Committee and operators, and I know of nothing we could
do to speed these up. They are research items and as such no one can
predict exactly what would be their degree of efficiency. So I couldn’t
maéiee a real prediction of what is going—how useful they are going
to be.

Q. Sir, do you think that their development will ease our worries
on thev%nestion of secrecy ?

A. Well, I say, I just can’t predict what the final results will be.
Now, we do know this, right now., I believe, it’s either Tiros that is
sending back constantly pictures on the cloud cover all around the
earth, and that is admittedly a rather rough example of what might
be done in photography. But this is being done constantly, an§ I
don’t know how many thousands of photographs have been taken, and
they send them back on command.

3. Laurence H. Burp of The Chicago Tribune. Mr. President, last
week you used the word “if” in connection with Iy;our trip to Russia.
Have you changed any plans about that, or think you might?

- A. No, not at all. I have no idea, but you can never tell from one
day to the other what is happening in this world, it seems, so I just
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said—*“if”—and I put it in the positive sense, I think, Iexpect to go;
put it that way. .
. . . * . . .

6. Iipwarp T, Forriarp of the Washington Post and Times Herald.,
Mr. President, do you think the outlook for the summit conference
has changed, or has been changed in the last week or so?

A. Not decisively at all, no,

. . » . * . .

11, Merriman Sarrra of United Press International. Mr, President,
quite aside from your comment about the U-2 plane episode, sir, 1
wonder if you could give us your reaction to a rather denunciatory
gpeech made this morning, right ahead of the summit meeting, by the
Russian Foreign Minister, lﬁr. Gromyko attributes to this count:
deeds and efforts which he said amount to dangerous ways of bal-
ancing on the brink of war. IHe says that the United States has de-
Rb{;mte]y engaged in provocative acts in conjunction with some of our

Ilies.

Now, with statements like this, do you still maintain a hopeful
attitude toward the summit ?

A. Well, I'd say yes. I have some hope, because these things have
been said for many years, ever since World War II, and there is no
real change in this matter.

Now, if we—I wonder how many of you people have read the full
text of the Abel trial, the record of the trial of Mr. Abel [Rudolph
Abel, convicted Soviet spy.] Well, I think he was sentenced to thirty
years. Now, this business of saying that you’re doing things that are
provocative, why, they had better look at their own record.  And I'll
tell you this: the United States and none of its Allies that I know of
has engaged in nothing that would be considered honestly as provoca-
tive, We are looking to our own security and our defense and we
have no idea of promoting any kind of conflict or war. This is just,
it’s absolutely ri(l)iculous and they know it is.

12. Henry N. Tavior of the Scripps-Howard Newspapers. Mr.
President, sir, would it be trespassing on your request about the U-2
to ask if you could tell us something about any possible Soviet recon-
naissance flights over the Western part of the world, and our response
to them, if any ?

A. Well, I could just say this: as far as I know, there has never
been any over the United States.

. * * * * * *

15. -CuarLes W. Roserts of Newsweek, Sir, in connection with the
Abel trial which you mentioned—the Soviet Government in that case
made no effort to defend Colonel Abel. I wonder if an American
citizen were arrested by a foreign government and brought to trial
as a spy, what the policy of this Government would be so far as his
defense was concerned ¢

A. Well, we would certainly offer the good offices of our embassy,
and see whether there was anything we could do. Of course, we
would have to do it, it would be an internal matter there and we
would have to do it with the permission of the other country. So
far as I—I think that if there is anything wrong diplomatically with
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my answer, you had better ask the State Dopartment, but I think that

would be the result.
» " » » w » "

17, Manvin L. Angowsarrenn of the Associnted Pross, Mr, President,
you have said many times that you wouldn’t go to the summit under
any threats or ultimatums,  Yestorday, as you know, the Soviets in
their noto threatened retalintion against ng if we continued to fly these
planes over their territory. Do you regard that kind of threat as
within tho category you were spenking of¢ A, No. I think that you
have to set that aside in a special category. I don’t believe it’s the
kind of thing that you call an ultimatum at all,

18. Lnwarb P, Moraan of American Broadeasting Co. Mr. Presi-
dent, a point of clavifieation, Mr. Presidont : Do we infer correctly that
your prepared statement this morning is the final, complete and ulti-
mate answer to your crities, friendly and hostile, on the subject ¢

A, T said that at this time 1 could see nothing useful more that I
could say, so that’s where I stand at this moment.

* * L] L »* * “

20. Joun Scaut of the Associnted Press, Mr, President, you said
in your initial statoment that the Soviet account of the downing of
this plane contained many discrepancies, and that there was renson
to doubt that the plane was downed at n high altitude, as Mr, Xhru-
shehev celaims.

Can you tell us, sir, whether the Administration at some future time
intends to expose these discrepancies, and can you at this time without
violating what you have said, give us any more details about how we
believe this plane actually eame down in the Soviet Union?

A. Well, I don’t think 1 am—you raise a question that is really an
auxiliary to the main issue, and so I don’t mind saying this: That,
take the pictures themselves, we know that they were not, or we believe
we know that they are not pictures of the plane that was downed,
and there are other things in their statements.

Now, I don’t know what’s going to happen in the future, but these
things you can be sure will be cavefully looked into. And, as again
I say, I do not foreclose any kind of statement that in the future may
be necessary. I am saying that now I can sce nothing more useful
tosay.

N . * . * " *

23. Rayyoxn P, Braxor of the St. Louis Post-Dispatch. In view
of your emphasis on the—you might go back to the summit if you had
to come back here, have you any idea how long the Paris meeting will

on, how long do you think it will take you to get to some agreement ¢
~A. Well, I don’t know. ‘But I just want to point this out: I hear
that some. and I don’t know whether this is all of the others or not,
but they do not like the simultaneous translations. Now, let us assume
vou have called an hour's conference, and one of you, for example,
wants to make a, let’s say, a ten-minute exposition. When you take
seriatum translations, here is already a half hour of an hour’s con-
ference gone, and you have had only ten minutes.

Now, these are very slow and laborious things, and consequently
the possibility of prophesying how long this thing is going to be is
really remote. Now, for my part, I am perfectly ready to work as
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many hours as an individual human can to get this thing along the
line, but I am prepared to go to this thing ag long as there is any
usofulness whatsoover yromised, and even il? I am ealled back, and 1
know I have one date for one twenty-four hours, I nm still ready and
propared to go back,  And that is what I have been trying to imsist,
that I ain not making my own convenience and my own duties here the
decisive thing as to how long this conference will lnst.

24. Litnian Levy of the National Jewish Post and Opinion.—Mr.,
President, are any changes in the present borders of West (GGerman
part of the German question to he discussed at the summit? 1 as
this, sir, because this issue has been reised by a responsible West, Gier-
man leader and member of Adenauer’s Cabinet who recently suggested
that Germans be allowed to return to Sudetenland.

A. 1 didn’t get the very first clause of your question,

Q. Well, what 1 asked—were boundaries going to be part of the
German question to bo raised ?

A. Well, at this time we wouldn’t raise it. As a matter of fact
they’ve been living with these boundaries for a long time, and T would
see at this moment no possibility of changing them except. in methods
that would be unacceptable, so, it might be raised by someone but
I haveno plan to do it.

Mr, Arrowsmrris. Thank you, Mr. President.

e

12, ACCOUNT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S INFFORMAL
NEWS CONFERENCE, MAY 11, 1960

[From the New York Times, May 13, 1960]

London, May 18 (Reuters) —Following is an account, issued today
by T'ass, Soviet press agency, of the z'nfgmnal news conference held
yesterday in Moscow by Premicr Khrushehev, incorporating a tran-
seript of the questions and his replies:

Following the press conference given by Foreign Minister Andrei
Gromyko, Soviet and foreign correspondents were invited to examine
the exhibition of the fragments of the downed American plane.

During their visit to the exhibition, the correspondents met Nikita
Khrushchev, who, having examined the wreckage of the plane and
talked to experts, was preparing to leave. The correspondents sur-
rounded Nikita Khrushchev and a conversation ensued.

The correspondents expressed satisfaction with having been given
an opportunity of examining the fragments of the plane and the
equipment and special apparatuses it carried.

I see that you are satisfied with the press conference, Nikita Khru-
shchev said.  You must have got the answers to all your questions.
I have already said that we intend to take to the Security Council the
question of the aggressive intrusion of an American plane within the
confines of our country.

If the Security Council—on which, apparently, pressure will be
exerted by the United States—does not take the right decision, we
shall raise the matter in the United Nations General Assembly.

Snch aggressive actions by the United States of America are ﬂigh]y
dangerous things.

56412—60——14
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This danger is enhanced by the fact that in his statemoent of May
9, tho United States Secvetary of State, Mr. Hertor, not. only sought to
justify this nct. of aggression, but said also that the U.S. Government,
tended to continuoe such flights,

COPEN THREAT 'TO PRACE"

This is an open threat to peace.  We will shoot. down such planes,
and wo will strike at the bases from which these planes will he seat. to
our country.  You understand that if such aggressive actions con-
tinno, this might lead to war.

Question. May 1 ask you a question? ono of the correspondents
asked Nikita Whrushehev.,

Me. Kunvsucnrv, Iiven twoif you like.

Q. You have probably noticed n placard among the fragments of
the plane urging assistance to the pilot. What do you think its
authors meant.?

AL Wae assisted the pilot when ha {lew into our territory and gave
him due welcome, If theve are other such invited guests, we shall
recoiva them just. as hospitably as this one. We shall try him, try
him severely as nospy.

Q. How could all this affect. the summit meeting

A. Lot those who sent this spy plane think over this question.
Though they should have thought about. the consequences beforehand.
After all, an aggression has been committed against our country.
And we shall continue annihilating all the aggressors who dare raise
a hand against us.  You see how accurately our rocketeers shot down
the plane without setting it on fire! 'The pilot is alive, the instru-
mentation intact, in other words the material evidence is here for
averyono to see. These are very skillful actions of our rocketeers.
We are very grateful to therm for this,

EFFECT ON SOVIET PUBLIC

Q. Will this plane incident influence Soviet public opinion when
Mr. Eisenhower comes to Moscow ¢

A. I would not like to be in Mr. Eisenhower’s place. I would not
like to be asked the questions which might be put to him when he comes
to the Soviet Union. I can only say: The Soviet people and our public
are very polite, so there will be no excesses, but questions will be asked
of course.

I would put it this way: one person, namely, Mr. Herter, has helped
the President particularly in this respect.

At his press conference Herter made an outrageous statement! Far
from feeling guilty and ashamed of aggressive actions, he justifies
them and says that this will continue in the future. Only countries
which are in a state of war can act in this way.

We are not in a state of war with America. These aggressive actions
and Herter’s statement are impudence, sheer impudence%

Herter's statement has made us doubt the correctness of our earlier
conclusions that the President, the American Government, did not
know about the flights. Herter’s statement says that this intelligence
plan wasendorsed by the Government.



et |

EVENTS INCIDENT 10 THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 2056

'I'he Americans, obviously, were compelled to say this because other-
wiso they would have had to bring Allen Dulles to account.  Dulles, in
turn, would have exposed the Government by saying that he earried
out a plan approved by it and, consequently, endorsed by the head of
the Government. 1 proceed from the statement that was made by
Horter,

There was o time—I remember it from my young days—when many
eriminals and other suspicious clements ronmed the world, These peo-
ple resorted to o following trick : )

A bandit with a small boy would hide under a bridge and wait for
someone to cross it. T'hen the bandit would send the boy to the passer-
I)y and the boy would say: IHello, Mister, give me back my watch.
"The natural answer would be: “What’s that? Now run along!” Then
tho boy would insist : But look, Mister, this watch is mine. ﬁ’hy don’t
you give me back my watch? Then the armed bandit would appear, as
though attracted by the noise of the argument, and tell the passer-by :
Why do you bully the boy? Give him back his watch and pass over
your coat, Loo!

Tho United States wants to live according to this law. But we are
not defenseless passers-by. Our country is a strong and mighty state
which can try its strength with it. If the United States has not experi-
enced yet a real war on its territory, has not experienced air raids,
and if it wishes to unleash a war, we shall be compelled to fire rockets
which will explode on the aggressor’s territory in the very first
minutes of war.

I suy this because T have read ITerter’s statement saying: “We are
compelled to fly; it is the fault of the Soviet Union itself, because it
does not give us access to its secrets, which we simply must know.
This is why, if you please, we undertake such flights. After all, the
President. fl’us said t]mb the skies should be open—this is why we fly
and shall go on flying, shall go on opening the skies.”

How can an official representative of a state speak in this way about
another nation !

‘We do not live according to the laws of the United States. We have
our own laws and this is why we shall make everyone on our territory
respect these laws—and the violators will be thrashed !

T liked the article in the British newspaper Daily Worker, whose
meaning was as follows: If we accept the philosophy which some
people in the United States want to instill in the public, it will be some-
thing like this—it is not the burglar that is guilty, but the owner of
the house he broke into, because he locked it, thereby compelling the
burglar to break in.

But this is a philosophy of thieves and bandits!

T think that if wor](i public opinion correctly realizes all the gravity
of the situation and approaches this aggressive act of the United States
policy with due responsibility, if everyone unanimously condemns this
act, and if the United States Government no longer uses such methods
with regard to other states, this will be a good refreshing, so to say
ozonizing, tendency in international relations.

Reading American press reports these days, I see that excepting a
few gangsters of the pen who are whitewashing this action, the abso-
Iute majority of people writing in the American press, including those
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who are notorious for their past. unobjeetiveness, arve indignant. nbout,
this incident, regard it as perlidy with vegard to the Soviet Union,
It isa good sign, 1 you, newsmen, inform the publie correetly, this
incident, as very other incident, will finally be digested. A fter all,
gentlemen, we must live in peace, and not only in peace but also in
friendship.
“INcorriamLe orrnst”

Q. Can one remain optimistic abont the United States policy ¢

A. 1 hold mysell to be an incorrigible optimist. 1 vegard the
provoeative llight of the Ameriean iuluni;:(\ncu lnne over our country
not as a prepavation for war, but as probing,  They have now probed
us and we boxed the nose of the “probers.”

Some United States ofticials ave making a big noise now,  Let them!
The Soviet Union is not Guatemala,  They eannol send froops hero,

We have means to cool down bandits, should they wish to use their
brazen methods against us. 16 they behave in this way, they will
get thisealmative,

Q. Mv. Khrushehey, has your estimate of President. Kisenhower,
which vou gave upon your return from the United States, changed ?

A, Welly the statement issued by the United States Department,
of State in connection with the intelligence plane naturally alters
my belief that the United States President had nothing to do with
this affair. T did not know that such an intelligence plan existed in
the United States and that it included a program of reconnoitering
flights over the Soviet tervitory.

It follows from the statement of the Department of State, which
was approved by the President, that flights of Ameriean infelligence
{\Ianus over our country are not a whim of some irvesponsible oflicer,
it realization of a plany prepared by Allen Dulles, leader of the
Central Intelligence Ageney, a department. within the jurisdietion
of the United States President.

Mr. Hervter admitted that the United States President had issned
direetives to colleet various intelligence information by all possible
means,  On the basis of these directives, programs have been worked
out and implemented, which, as Herter said, included large-sealo
observations from the air with the aid of aireraft and by means of
penetrations,

I want vou to pay attention to this—hy means of penetrations,
that is by means of reconnoitering, spying flights over the territory
of a state with whom normal relations exist.

And this plan was approved by the President. An unheard of
action. And after all this T am expected to say: “What nice people
you are.” That would mean lacking in self-respect.

I would say that Mr, Herter has removed all wrappers. ITe has
removed all the paint with which, as it were, they camouflaged, made
up and applied cosmetical treatment to the policy of the imperialists
of the United States.

Now, through his statement, he has revealed the bestial, fear-inspir-
ing face of imperialism,

So what? Tt turns out that this face inspires no fear any longer.
Such actions of the UT.S. A, militavists ave not inspired by the heroism
of these masterminds, but by cowardice.
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Danger comes not. from one who hag command of one’s nerves and
counts on one’s powers and possibilities, but. from a coward who fears
overything,

I often read something like this: “Khrushehev claims that. eapi-
talism will die.  Isn’t this the reason why reconnaissance flights over
the Soviet. Union are made?”  But it was not. I who said it. It is
Marx who explained this a hundred yenrs ngo.  1f Messrs, Capitalists
consider that Marx is wrong, then this should console them, then
there is nothing fo lose one’s head over or show the white fenther?

Q. Did the Turkish, Pakistani and Norweginn authorities know
about. the provocative flight. of the American plane?

A, Tt is difticult. for me to speak in the name of these countries,
but I do grant. that they did not know- -the Americans are not ac-
countable to them. I do not think that even the Prime Ministers
of the countries on whose territory Ameriean military bases are situ-
ated are let inside those bases.

Tho fault of such nations as Turkey or Pakistan is that they have
joined aggressive bloes, The peoples saying on this score ig “one sells
one’s soul to the devil; before one has done so, one ean be one’s own
master, but. after it is the devil that is the master.” That is how mat-
ters are at present with ‘I'nrkey, Pakistan and Norway.

I warn you, Messrs., Toreign Journalists, don’t. sell your souls to
the devily keep them (o yourselves,  You would do better by applying
your energies to promoting the progress of society. The Communist
idens shape the most progressive and the most correct trend in the
development of society.

The best. of Amerienns, such as John Reed, the author of “Ten Days
That Shook the World,” grasped the great meaning of these ideas,
John Reed was a very clever man,  Yet he was not hborn Communist.
but came to accept, it during the October Revolution, and he died
Communist,

Some of you seribble stories against. communism ot of Iack of wis-
dom and understanding, May God forgive you for this.

When T read the bourgeois journalists’ stories slandering Soviet
realitics and communism [ get angry sometimes, but, on second
thought, T say to myself: Not all the jonrnalists ave John Reeds. In-
deed, they are ordinary men, hired by such publishers as Hearst, who,
like spiders, seize @ man and enmesh him in their web,

And if such a jowrnalist fails to supply slanders against commu-
nism, what then, will Hearst, or any other publishing concern, need
for him? Hearst will not keep such a correspondent. for a single day.

HEARST ARTICLE CRITICIZED

I talked with Hearst twice. During our second conversation I told
him: “ITow is it that you told me one thing and wrote another?” And
horeplied: “Did T sum up the interview wrongly 7%

I must do him justice: ITe summed up the essence of the talk more
or less accurately, but his commentary to it misrepresented the whole
meaning of it,

I told him this, but he rveplied: But I am a capitalist, it is my own
commentary that I give. Indeed, he is a capitalist, but most of you are
not capitalists, nor will you ever be. So why have you got to serve
capitalism?
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My convietion is that all the vronds lead to communism,  Whore alse
can thay lead tod

Thisis just what the Ameviean imperialists fenr. This is why thoy
ot norvous, and ling themselves into reckless adventures, This shows
they arve notsure of theirown system,

The State Depurtment. of the United States snys that. all countries
angenae in spying, Bat the Soviel Union nover sent its planes into the
United States or any other conntries for reconnnissanes purposes, nor
does it doso, E theve have been any individunl instanees of our plines
inndvertently violating the nirspace of other countries -this has hap-
pened on owr frontier with 'l‘m"lwy and Tran- wo have apologized (o
those countrivs and punished those responsible for such violdions,

Wo want (o warn those who may try o send their spies into this
country to think eavefully of the consequences,

Q. Do you still want. President. Fisenhower (o come to the Soviet
Uniont

AL What shall Tsay? ‘Take my placo and say it for me,

You seo for yourselves what diflieulties are cropping up. 1 am
Tfrank with you. You know my attitude to the l‘l'usi({vn(.uf the United
States, 1 have often spoken about. it, But. my hopes have heen some-
what. dis:\}»puinlod. I am a man and have human feelings. 1 an re-
sponsiblae tor the diveetion of the Soviet Government,

You must understand that. we Russinns, we Soviet people, always
o the wholo hog: When we play, we play, and when we fight, we
fight. %o how ean 1T now call on our people to turn out and weleome
the dear guest that is coming to us.  The people will sny: Are you
nuts?  What kind of a dear guest is ho who allows a plane to fly {o us
to spy{ Thoe Ameviean militarists who sent. the aireraft. on a spying
mission over this country have put me, as one responsible for the ar-
rangements for the United States President’s arrival in the U.S.S.R.,
in a very diflicult position,

Frankly speaking, I think the United States President, understands
this himself,

Supposing, before my visit to the United States, we had sent. such
a plane over there and they had shot it down. One ean imagine the
kind of welcome 1 would have got. from Americans. They would have
n]\ot. mo according to my desserts. I think everybody understands
that.

Ona can guarantee, however, that during the President’s visit there
will be no excesses,  Our people are courteous; they let off steam in
words, and will leave it to the Government to act. They will not
indulge in any insulting actions,

I think that American journalists and tourists feel now the con-
straint and discipline of Soviet people.

I have not heard of a single case of one of our people insulting an
American. This is commendable. This speaks of the strong spirit of
our people.

Q. Will the flight of this plane come up at. the summit?

A. It already is the subject of discussion all over the world. That
is why I do not regard it at present as necessary to put this matter on
the agenda of the summit conference,

We are allowing for the fact that I alone will represent the Socialist
countries at the conference while the Western powers will have thres
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ropresentatives there. . Bul I do not think that two of these thres
npprove of this nggrressive, dungerons nel of Amerienn brass hats,

ppurontly you would like to know when [ intend to fly to Paris,
I intond to arvive in Parig, on May 14, 0 day or oven two bofors the
conferenco sturts in order (o get acelimatized a little, 1 like Parig, it’s
w nico city. Well, and if others do not.come 1 mention this beeanse
somao are Chreatening that. the conferenes mny not. take pliee -then it
will b elenr that it ig not our fault that the conference did not take
phiee, So we shall go to Parvis!  And if the conference does not. take
plaee?  Wally we have lived without it for many years and will live
for another hundred,

It is not our country wlone that is inferested in the conference,  All
the world ig interested init. The peoples of all the world want. inter-
nutionnl fensions to relux, want. o normulization of infernational rela-
tions. I helieve our partners in the negotintions nre as interested
in the conference us the Soviel. Union,  ‘Therefore the conference will
depond nupon our partners.

Vo are rendy. T intend to emplane for Paris on Saturday, May 14,

Somo diplomats tuke offense and say that, Khrushehev, if you please,
is indulging in too harsh expregsions. 1 should like to have heard their
ronctions hnd a similur aggressive invasion been commitied agninst
their country. '

What do you expeet of me, after ally that, I shonld take off my hat
and welcome this invasion?  No, we shall meet gangsters the way they
deserve. And this was a gangster, bandit. raid,

ITave you seen here the “air sampling instruments??  How ean
tho authors of the fib look into our eyes after it was exposed? ‘True,
wo know the kind of eyes imperialists have. As the saying goes:
“Spit in their eyes and they would keep saying: God’s dew.”

Now you see that T did not. tell the w‘mle story deliberately at the
Supreme Soviet session beeause we knew whom we were dealing with.
We did not. sny at, first, that, the pilot was alive, that the instruments
were intaet, that the plane did not, explode.

They believed that the pilot committed suicide, and now that he is
alive the American press seriously reprimands the pilot for a breach
of his instruections, for failure to commit suicide and surrendering
instead,

Some in the United States say that the pilot, must be brought to
trial for breaking the instructions and failing to destroy himself.
Well, this is bestial talk., This is the ideology of imperiahism. You,
gentlemen, American journalists, you read newspapers, don’t you?
This is a horrible thing.

NOTE RECEIVED FROM TU.S.

Q. Did not the American Chargé d’Affaires ask for an interview
with Powers?

A. The Americans have sent us a note on this question and asked
to be allowed to have an interview with him. But they themselves
understand that this is too much. The pilot is now under investigation,
he is a spy, isn’t he? So how can one speak about an interview with
him? He must answer before our Soviet court.

Q. Does this mean that neither the Ambassador nor the Chargé
d’Affaires will be allowed to see Powers?
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A. T did not sny that. Maybe they will, maybe they will not. We
shall seo later. I cannot reply to this question now because the in-
vestigation is in progress,

Q. Will you regard ns aggressive actions flights of aireraft of West-
ern powers to Berlin after the signing of a peace treaty with Eastern
Germany ¢

A. We have already mado a statement in this connection, I re-
seat.: After the signing of a peace treaty with the German Democratic
1%0})11!)“0, the status determined by the terms flowing from the mili-
tary surrender for this territory will change.

Sinco that moment the occupation of West, Berlin will be over, all
access to Berlin which was based upon the surrender of Germany will
cease from that moment. Then the German Democratic Republic
will exercise full control of its territory and will also control access to
Waest Berling which is situated on its territory.

If the German Democratic Republic comes to terms with the coun-
tries concerned and will allow them to use the airspace, the waterways,
the rail and highways, this will no longer bo our business. That will
be the business of the German Democratic Republic. That’s her
sovereign right.

Somo say that the Western powers will force their way into vest
Berlin.

I want to make it clear. If anyone tries to force his way, our mili-
tary units stationed in the G. D. R. to safeguard peace will counter the
force of violators of peace with their own force, and let some hotheads
in the West ponder what would come of that for them.

DELAY IN VISIT SUGGQESTED

Q. Considering this airveraft incident and your attitude toward
President Eisenhower, wouldn’t you prefer Eisenhower’s visit to be
put of ?

A. Wa shall exchango views with the President on this question
when we meet in Paris.  We still want to find ways to improve re-
Intions with America, we want to have normal relations with the
United States. And we believe that with time Soviet-American re-
lations must. grow into friendly relations between the peoples of our
countries.

That. would be normal and that is what all normal people are striv-
ing and will continue to strive for.

Any more questions? In conclusion I have this to say, we deal
harshly with those who invade the borders of our homeland, who vio-
late our sovercignty. But we want to live in peace and friendship
with all nations. T hope you will understand our attitude when we
angrily condemn such aggressive actions. But we take a sober view of
things and realize that even the sharpest polemics are better than war.,

This is why we shall do everything to have this strain relieved, shall
do everyihing to normalize the international situation and to restore
good relations with the United States if, of course, the United States
also contributes to this.

I should ask you to take this into account and not to write any-
thing that could increase tension still further. What do you need it
for? Afterall, you will be in for trouble if a war breaks out. A war
does not bring happiness to anyone.
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During the past few days I have read many statements by Ameri-
can Senators, Congressmen, businessmen, and I believe it is a good
sign that many of them deplore this action of their Government,

I believe it is a good sign that people do not lose their heads, that
not everyone explains the matter as Herter has done,

VISIT 10 FRANCE HAILED

Q. What would you like to wish the French people in connection
with your trip to Paris?

A. 'The I'rench people have given me a good welcome, just as the
American people, but, of course, I do not want to set one people off
against the other. Ilowever, my visit to France was undertaken later
and the impressions ave therefore fresher,

1 am very much pleased not only with the welecome given to me by the
Trench people but also with the talks I had with President de Gaulle.
As to the people, well, all the peoples want peace.  Wars are started b
the governments, while the people’s lot is to spill their blood. This is
why thcy all want peace.

The French people also want peace. We fought against militarist
Germany together with France. If war breaks out, and it can be
unleashed by West Germany, Frenchmen will remember that they had
a good ally in the past—the Soviet Union. This ally may come in
handy again. But it is best we prevent war and be allies in the strug-
gle for peace.

I think it is time to end this impromptu press conference.

Let me thank you, dear comrades and gentlemen, let me wish you
suceess.

Unfold the truth, the noble cause of peace, and you will earn the
respect of your people.

13. TEXT OF UNITED STATES NOTE TO THE SOVIET
GOVERNMENT, MAY 12, 1960

[Department of State press release No. 262}

T'here follows the text of the note delivered on May 12, 1960, to the
Government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, in reply to
the Sovict note of May 10,1960

The Embassy of the United States of America refers to the Soviet
Government’s note of May 10 concerning the shooting down of an
American unarmed civilian aireraft on May 1, and under instruction
from its Government, has the honor to state the following.

The United States Government, in the statement issued by the
Department of State on May 9, has fully stated its position with
respect to this incident.

In its note the Soviet Government has stated that the collection of
intelligence about the Soviet Union by American aireraft is a “eal-
culateg policy” of the United States. The United States Govern-
ment does not deny that it has Fm-sued such a policy for purely de-
fensive purposes. What it emphatically does deny is that this policy
has any aggressive intent, or that the unarmed U-2 flight of May 1
was undertaken in an effort to prejudice the success of the forthcoming
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meeting of the Ilends of Government in Paris or to “return the
state of American-Soviet relations to the worst times of the cold wur.”
Indeed, it is the Soviet Government’s treatment, of this case which, if
anything, may raise questions about its intentions in respeet to these
matters,

For its part, the United States Government will participate in the
Paris meeting on May 16 prepaved to cooperate to the fullest extent
in seeking agreements designed o redues tensions, including ef-
feetive salegunrds against surprise atinek which would make unneces-
sary issues of this kind,

P ]

14, TRANSCRIPT OIF “ABC’S COLLEGE NEWS CONFER-
ENCE,” WITH GEORGE V. ALLEN, DIRECTOR, UNITED
STATES INFORMATION AGENCY, MAY 15, 1960

The ANNouncer. Ilere comes the future, IFrom Washington, .C.,
wo present the Peabody Award-winning College News Conference,
wheroe the leaders of tomorrow meet the leaders of today.

Here today to meet. our panel of university reporters is the 1Ton-
orable George V. Allen, Director of the United States Information
Agency. Now here is our founder and moderator, Ruth 1lagy.

fiss ITagy. Good afternoon and welcomo to another weekly edi-
tion of College Nows Conference.

Mr. Allen, it is a great pleasuve as always to have yon back in
our campus newsroom,

Mrv. Arten, Thank you.

Miss Iaoy. I would like you to meet the students who are going
to interview you at this time. From George Washington Law Schoo{,
Chuck Manatt, who is the president of the National Federation of
Young Democrats.  From Trinity College, Martha Dodd, who is the
daughter of the distinguished Senator from Connecticut, Senator
Dodd. From Howard University, Timothy Jenkins, the president of
the Student Council. Krom the University of Maryland, Sybil Rap-
yoport, the seeretary of the student body. TFrom Tufts University,

avid Jackson, who is a Sears, Roebuck Scholar who comes to us
under the National Merit Scholarship program. 1le enjoys one of
the fine scholarships given by many corporations in this country to
enable many of our talented young people to continue with their
education.

Now, students, as you know Mr. Allen is a very distinguished diplo-
mat and it is a good thing for us that he is because he is in a very
hot seat today. This is the day before the beginning of the summit
conference and Russia goes into this international poT(er game with a
full house of cards. The advantage that they have gained from the
downing of the U-2 plane and our subsequent admission that the plane
was on a spying mission, and then the launching of a four-and-a-half-
ton space satellite, today, five times larger than anything we have
put into the air and more than three times larger than any of their
previous launchings, ecarrying a dummy—not a man—and inciden-
tally, this feat was predicted on this very program two weeks ago by
Senator Henry Jackson who anticipated that on the eve of the sum-
mit there would be another great space achievement by the Russians.
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And so you see, Mr, Allen, as our Number One public relations offi-
cer and his agency who have the job of interpreting us to the rest of
the world, find that on the ove of the summit they have indeed—
they find us in a very precarious and a very delicate position with the
Russians having scored these two coups. 1lowever, he hag had o great
deal of experienco in handling all sorts of matters. He has been our
Ambassador to Iran, to India and Nepal, to Yugoslavia and to Greece.
ITe has been Asgistant Seeretary of State for both Public Affairs and
for Near Kastern Affuirs. 1 am sure that he will be able to handle
this one.

Who has the first question for him?

Mr. Jenwins. Mr. Allen, given that your agency has the unique
resPonsibilit.y of interpreting our foreign policy in its most favorable
light abroad, I wonder how you intend to vindicate the U.S. position
on this i{)y incident.?

Mr. Anen, Let me say right off, that the responsibility of my
agency is to try to represent the United States as honestly and as
fairly as we can. Your implication that we try to put as gnvorab]e
an aspect on the United States carries more of the connotation that
we are merely trying to present the good side and hide the bad side.
That is not the philosophy of the U.S. Information Agency. I must
emphasize and say in n]Y enuineness that we try to present the United
States as honestly and as fairly as we can.

Insofar as the recent events are concerned, we have played them
right straight down the middle just as straight as we know how to
play them.

Miss Rarrororr. Well, Mr. Allen, what have the reactions been
abrorlul ?? How has our explanation been accepted by the foreign

coples
P r. AtLeN. You refer to the U-2 incident, of course ?

Miss Rarrororr. Yes.

Mr. Arnren. Reactions abroad—again I am going to be just as
honest and frank as I possibly can—have mainly centered around
three things: One of them is somewhat favorable; two of them are
somewhat unfavorable. The rather favorable side has been a very
considerable amount of comment abroad, of understanding of the
necessity of the United States and the free world in general, to try
its hest to find out what is going on behind the Iron Curtain,

There is a very general concern about getting more information
and an understanding of efforts on the part of the United States to
try to do it. TFurthermore in that same line there has been a rather
considerable amount of appreciation for the fact that the United
States was capable of carrying out activities of this kind.

The two unfavorable aspects: First, the confusion, shall I say,
of the announcements that came out of Washington on the subject
and not only the original announcement saying that the plane was
on a weather mission, but subsequent announcements which need some
clarification here today, I thirn{, concerning our right to carry out
activities of this kind which have caused dismay in various foreign
circles.

But the other unfavorable aspect is the wide concern on the part of
people in many countries abroad lest this affect adversely the chances
of the success of the summit. Most of them around the world are
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hoping very much that the summit will find some measure of success,
and this has caused dismay.

Mr. Manarr, Mr., Allen, who is the person in authority who au-
thorized the original statement that this was a weather plane?

Mr. ArreNn, That was a spontaneous reply, as a mattor of fact.
It was already preparved, nccording to circumstances which were fore-
seen and it was just almost a, I think, a pushbutton reply. As far
as the actual reply made, it was mado by the spokesman for the
State Department, Mr. Lincoln White. I spoke to Iiincoln White
resterday and he said he gave out exactly the honest information he
had in his hand from his reports from the field.

Mr. Ma~narr. Don’t you believe, sir, this will prove very unfortunate
to involve NASA in something like this when our complete intentions
were to divorce it from the military area and to bring the civilian areas
into space much more ?

Mr. ArLen, That is an unfortunate aspect of it, yes.

Miss Hagy. May I clarify one point that I think has people con-
fused. The officinls of NASA who gave out this information were
acting in good faith, were they not? They were under the impression
that this was a weather plane, that this was a weather mission, this
reconnaisance mission? Or were they in on the deception?

Mr. AnLen. That is getting into more details with regard to inside
operations than I think I ought to try to comment on in all frankness.
At the snme time I will say this, that I know that the spokesman of the
State Department who gave out the information was acting in entirely
good faith when he said that it was a weather plane.

Now your immediate question is, Doesn’t this embarrass us by
getting NASA involved in military operations? Tt does, I think. On
the other hand let me remind you that the United States has been in the
forefront from the beginning on the whole question of space, of trying
our level best in every international conference that we have had, in
the United Nations and in our talks with the Russians, and so forth, to
make outer space an international operation, with cooperation—we
have gone very far in offering to have internal space supervised—outer
spaco supervised by multilateral operation. We are perfectly ready
to go in with the Russians and anybody else in an international opera-
tion on space, just as we have been ready to go in with the Russians on
an open-skies proposal for over-flights by airplanes. We have been
pressing for this kind of agreement since—well, since the United
Nations started.

Miss Dobp, Mr., Allen, as a propaganda specialist, what do you think
Mr. Khrushchev will do with the pilot of the plane?

Mr. Arren. That is hard to predict. I have seen some suggestion
that he may present him at the summit meeting as a sort of a gesture.
I don’t know. I would doubt that, Judging by the background, I
would guess that he would probably hold him as a card close to his
chest for a while,

Miss Dobp. Well, if he does put him up for trial, how far do you
think the United States should baclk the pilot?

Mr. ArureN. We should do everything possible to see that he gets a
fair and honest trial. That means, of course, through diplomatic pro-
cedures. I want to emphasize this: A lot has been said about the fact
that this man was a spy and caught spying and so forth. There are a
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lot of different definitions of “spying” and T don’t want to try to
quibble, but I do think I ought to point this out and that more people
ought to recall it: When he went down he told exactly what his mis-
sion was and exactly what he was expected to do, and he was under
instruction to do that, Ile wasn’t wearing a false mustache and a
cloak and dagger and that sort of business that you usually think of
as o spy pretending that he is somebody that he isn’t. Ile gave an
honest, report of what his mission is and I think that ought to be re-
called by everybody concerned.

Mr, Jackson. Premier Khrushehev last week sent formal protests
to the countries that based the U-2's in Kurope and in Asia. Presi-
dent ISisenhower also stated that in event of Russian intervention
wo would go to the aid of our allies. Already Norway has lodged
a formal protest with the United States for using Norwegian bases
for these flights. IHow can our allies give much credence to such a
pronouncement. from the President when they see our continual back-
mg ofl in the Israeli-Tigypt dispute over the use of the Suez Canal
when wo stated that we would go to Israel’s aid to got free use of
the Suez Canal and we have continually backed off on that ?

Mr. ArLeN. Wenever said we would use Marines or the Navy or the
Army to help Israel get through the Suez Canal. We have every
time the question has come up in the United Nations or anywhere
olse, we have expressed our views very forcibly and very strongly
that the Suez Canal ought to be open to the peaceful shipping of all
nations.

Mur. Jackson. But don’t we have a moral commitment to Isracl to
mako sure that it is?

Mr. ArLeN. When you say “make sure” does that mean go to war?
That is the usual point of what you are talking about. When you
are saying: “You can’t believe in us because we say that we have a
moral commitment to see that Israel gets through the Suez Canal,”
weo have never said that we would go to war to assure that Israel would
get through the Suez Canal.

Miss Rarpororr, I would like to get back to the unfavorable re-
action of which you spoke before about the U.S. right.

The United States has maintained that this spying was sort of a
necessary evil. Yet Mr. Allen, as a member per‘mps of the younger
generation I would like to know your opinion of the example of
morality that is being set by the United States Government in justi-
fying this breaking of international law.

Mr. ArLen. The international law being the encouragement of an
airplane over the Soviet territory or the spying ¢

Miss Rarrorort. Espionage.

Mr. Arren. The espionage part of it.

Are you suggesting for reasons of morality that the United States
ought to get completely out of any espionage business? .

fMiss Rarrorort. I would like to know your opinion on the morality
of it.

Mr. ArLeN. That is a very fair question. I wish very much, Sybil,
that we could. Nothing would please me better. If we had a world
which would permit that. I think, as a matter of fact, that we have
gone o far way towards an open society in proposals which we have
made, such as those which President Fisenhower made in 1955 in
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which he not. only offered to the Soviet Union but wrged the Soviet
Union to get rid of this closed society, this suspicion and these Iron
Curtains that are going to prevent people from finding out. Let the
planes fly ()Yening. The United States has been in the forefront in
urging that kind of a result.

Miss Ravrororr. If you say therofore because of this tightness of
tho iron curtain there is a need for these reconnaissance flights in or-
der to penetrate it, then why did the Government admit it, thus jeop-
ardizing future security of the United States!?

Mr. Aneen. That is a very important question and I have been very
much interested and I may say quizzical about a great many com-
ments that I have seen on’ thai very subject. Damning the United
States for having admitted that the plane was flying over Soviet ter-
ritory for the purpose of obtaining information about the Soviet
Union. T must say right here that I think that that was one of the
most important things that has been done in this whole field of trying
to build an open society. The frank admission on the part of the
United States that we did it.

Now a lot of people will sny: “You didn’t do it until your hand was
forced,” and all that kind of matter, but I must emphasize that I think
this admission—yes, we were trying to get information to guard this
nation against surprise attack. We have gone through Pearl Harbor,
we have submitted to surprise attack and where there is a great area
of the world where there is no other means of finding out what is
going on, the United States has said: “Yes, we are going to try—we
have a vight to try to get information as best we can.”

Let me say just one more thing—I know you want to ask questions;
I don’t want to take too much time on my own, but there has been a
great misunderstanding that I would like to correct, today : Mr. Her-
ter, the Secretary of State, has not said that we are going to continue
to fly. He has said that there is an obligation and a responsibility on
the part of the government of the United States and of the free world
to try to obtain information to guard against surprise attack. But he
has not said that we are going to continue to fly. He hasn’t said one
way or another.

Mr. Jexkins. Mr. Allen, you seem to express confidence in the vir-
tue of our admission, on moral grounds, but now the consideration
of this admission in terms of jeopardizing the position of our allies.
Given that the Russian statement, is that there is a possibility of mis-
sile retaliation, do you recognize that this is a thing which might com-
promise the virtue of our open admission ?

Mr. Arien. Timothy, I didn’t justify our admission on moral
grounds, no. I said that in my opinion, this is one step towards the
general concept of an open society—open skies. I am not saying
whether it is moral or immoral. I am just saying that in my opinion
is a step in that general direction.

Mr, Jexkins., But considering the practicality of our allies being
very much involved in our making such an admission, namely that
the planes took off probably from their territories, doesn’t this seri-
ously jeopardize their position, in juxtaposition to the Soviet Union ?

Mr. ALLeN, Yes, that is one of the very diflicult problems of this
whole situation of the U-2, is this situation of our allies. There again
I am quite frank to say here that it is perfectly obvious—I am not



R
)

AT R E———— —— -

T R TR TN Srem e ey SRS ety ST e

T TR e R T

EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 217

telling any secrets when I say that our allies are naturally going to
be much more concerned from now on. It is quite natural that they
would he, about the actions taken from airbases in their territory.

On the other hand, in keeping with the same idea of trying to
develop open skies, I believe that we will have the support of the
general free world in the direction, in the trend in which the United
States is trying to go.

Miss ITaey. Mr. Allen, you have used the term “open societies”
now, twice. I wonder if you would perhaps elaborate on this. We
have heard about President ISisenhower’s open skies plan which he
presented before the United Nations and which presumably he is
taking to the summit. conference in a revised form. Could you tell
us_something aboui how the open society differs from open skies?

Mr. Arten. Well, the open society is & new and enlarged phrase
but it grows out of the idea that we are going to get away from the
seclusion and secrecy of every military action and allow—when we
offer opportunity for Soviet planes to fly over the United States, take
photographs, see anything they want to, that is open skies. All we
ask is that we be able to do the same,

If you can take that step, then perhaps you might get towards
the idea of societies being open. That is laboratories, combined tests
for atomic explosions, things of that sort. We are trying to build.
We want to encourage the Russians to come in with us, to investigate
the explosion of atomic energy underground, in tests to see how the
seismographic implements can detect 1t. All those sorts of things.

Mr. ManaTr. Mr. Allen, in preparation for the summit meeting
we have had in a few short weeks the announcement that Vice Presi-
dent Nixon may go to the summit, we have had the announcement
of the reconvening of underground nuclear testing and also the U-2
plane incident.

I am wondering, do any members of our government in reference to
the people in preparing for the summit consult with you in relation
to, for example, the nuclear testing statement, and what effect this
will have on the rest of the world and what effect it will have on the
summit meeting ?

Mr. ALren. I must say that I was not consulted with regard to the
nuclear testing statement, but I want to emphasize here again that
oftentimes these statements are—the impression in the public mind is
what they see in a headline. We haven’t said we are going to start
resuming nuclear weapons testing at all. We have offered to the
Russians an_opportunity to participate with us in examining how
nuclear testing, nuclear explosions underground, can be detected
through improved seismographic instrumentation.

Now that is quite a different thing from the general idea that we
have suddenly said we are going to start resuming——

Miss Haay. That is perfectly true, Mr. Allen. It took a whole week
for the true picture of this resumption of tests to become clear.

Now isn’t 1t a part of the obligation to make sure that the original
statements are presented with such accuracy that there is not a chance
of this harm being done to us in a propaganda and public opinion
way? Shouldn’t they consult with you in the method of presentation
so that it doesn’t take a whole week for a refutation to penetrate?
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Mr. Avren. I think perhaps I will have to agree with you although
I must say no amount of consulting with me will determine how
American newspapers are going to write their headlines.

Mr. Jackson. 1 would like to get back to the “open society” for a
moment. Don’t you agree that before any meaningful open society
may be attained there must be a government by law and not of force
implemented by men ?

Mr. AvLen. Ineach nation, do you mean, or in the world ?

Mr. Jackson. In the world.

Mr. ALLEN. In the world.

Yes. That opens up a very much larger question. We have to
achieve a government of laws in the world, a rule of law in the world ;
yes, very definitely.

Mr. JacksoN. Then don’t you think that we are slightly hypocritical
in our outlook towards international law? We will take the decisions
of the World Court when they are favorable to us or we will accept
their decisions. If we don’t accept their decisions, we won’t abide by
them. We will break international law when it can be justified for our
mutual security. _

Mr. ALten. You have it almost right. 'What our position is under
the Connally Amendment, we will not accept the jurisdiction of the
World Court if we consider that it is & part of our internal matters
and therefore we keep the decision as to whether we will allow a case
to go to the World Court or not. I couldn’t agree with you more. I
think that we ought to build up the international court in every way
we })ossibly can, That is the smallest little step we can take. We
ought, in my opinion—I don’t have any hesitation in stating it right
here as strongly as I can—that the first and smallest step is to accept
the jurisdiction of the international court.

Mr. Jenkins. Don’t we in effeci, then, b positinE such a rule of
expediency undercut the real significance of any such meeting at the
summit, where four men are going to sit down in the center of Europe
and decide the world’s problems with absolute criteria by which they
shall operate in making their decisions? ‘'We have no common accept-
ance on a legal theory, which should be operative between nations.
And at the last summit conference it was the policy of the USIA to
present this as a very favorable meeting which had accomplished
many significant gains.

Now when we view this in the light of the summit conference comin,
on, haven’t we actually by the mere admission that this is not the rea
means for arriving at settlements, undercut the significance of such
o meeting ¢

Mr, ALLEN. I am not quite certain, Timothy-—let me try to say
what I think you mean,

Mr, Jenrins. Or will there be any attempt of USIA to bring out
of this meeting things which are significant? Would those things
which are significant really be pertinent to the solutions of peace
for our society ¢

Mr. AuLeN. Well, I think the summit meeting has possibilities of
finding things that would add towards the peace of the world ; yes.

Miss Haey. Are you optimistic about it ? :

Mr. ALLEN. Unfortuna%?-l wish I were. I think it is possible
that the summit meeting—I am just guessing, now, but it seems to
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me it has the most likely chance of accomplishment in the field of
new instructions to the disarmament negotiators. I wish I could be
optimistic.

Your point, I think, Timothy, is why do we have summit meetings
if we agree that a rule of law in the world is what is needed. The
rule of law in the world is what we are heading towards, but we
have to take an awful lot of steps in between time in every direction
possible in order to achieve that rules of law.

Mr. ManarT. Mr. Allen, you have said, I believe, in the past that
executive initiative and positive programs make the best propaganda
in themselves, new ideas, new things we are doing.

What new programs or new ideas is President Eisenhower taking to
the summit with him other than the warmed-over version of the open
skies announcement of five years ago?

Mr, ALLeN, President Eisenhower will announce that tomorrow at
the meeting. It certainly wouldn’t be proper for me to tell you today
what he is going to sny tomorrow.

Miss Rarrororr. I would like to ask something about this morning’s
news story about the satellite being launched yesterday by the Soviets.
You recently said that.we-had ¢aught-up, with the propaganda gains
of the Russians in-sPace. Doesn’t this noiw~put them out once more
ahead of usin prépaganda, and how does your aency counteract this?

¢ Putting earth satellites up is alway3.going to be a kind
of a seesaw/Ahing. The Russians have a big jump todgy in putting up
a four-top satellite. It-4§ Dy fan\the largast that has &' r been put up
and it is'an impovtan® step towards evenitally putting a’yan in space.

I am/the first £6 recognize thati. Although 1, will remind you, and

our ligteners, thht until t sjﬁ‘di‘nixﬁg the ((Zﬂy -ilarth sate]lites going

arouryd the earth were ¢am  There wére five of them\ The only

ones today that are sendi 'om outeri space are

Amefican. TFjve of the t}]l radidinng back.| The amdunt of in-

formation we ﬁmv ive, ﬂle:yﬁ)l-g{b n space, on the dimgnsions of
g

'métion

spacg and what goes o}out‘fhéi' en, I’d say, almost ten to one

Ametican against Russipy. .
Haav. Nevertheless, ift eS' s c{d inrp 1ttipgi a maij into space

Mi
beforé, we do—and it looks'now as-thoyigh they might wigh this trial
test th N %a

certainly give themA great propa-
wouldn’t pro-

they havejust launched-this moyning—will that not give them
il
sure that we can

a great fropagandn advantage?
Mr. Atyen, Yes, it Q;fol‘ tw
ganda advhptage, i)ut. wouldn’t—}as a propagandis
pose that we\put up a man there until we are pret
get him back—| solutell]y sure.
L Alle

Mr. JENKINS. n, it is a conceded fget'that we are now fourth
with respect to over\sgmbr.z,qadcasting.ww”} @

Mr. ALren. In factor of time on the air, yes.

Mr. Jenkins. Yes. It is also a surprising fact that many of the
major auto manufacturers invest more in public relations than we do
as & whole country. I wonder then what you have to say about the
probabilities of an increase in the budget out of this year’s Congress?

Mr. Avuren. We are asking for a small increase this year. I hope
and believe we will get it.

56412—60—15
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Miss ITaay. Thank you very much. We ave going to have to con-
clude on that note, sir, beenuse our time has just run out. It is all too
short when we have so many interesting things to talk about with you.

Thank you, students, for your interesting questions. 'We would like
to invite all of you at home to join us again next week when our guest
will bo Governor . Mennen {Villimns, of Michigan, and until then,
goodby and a good week trom Ruth TIngy and the college news
correspondents of College News Conference.

Thoe ANNOUNCER. (‘/ochgo News Conference is ereated and produced
by Ruth Hagy. Assistant producer, Johanne Curran, This ‘)mgmm
was directed by Richard Armstrong and originated in Washington,

.'l‘ll.\is has been o presentation of ABBC Public Affairs,

15. TEXT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S STATEMENT AT
PARIS SUMMIT CONFERENCE, MAY 16, 1960

[From the New York Times, May 17, 1060]

Paris, May 16 (Reuters)—IFollowing are the tewt, in unofficial
translation, of a statement made by Premier IChinshehev of today’s
session of the summit conference and muade public by the Soviet
Union.

President de Ganllo.

Prime Minister Maemillan,

President Eisenhower.

Permit me to address you with the following stateinent:

A provocative act is known to have been committed recently with
regard to the Soviet Union by the American Air Force. 1t consisted
in the fact that on May 1 a United States military reconnaissance air-
craft invaded the Soviet Union while executing a specific espionage
mission to obtain information on military and industrial installations
on the territory of the U.S.S.R. After the aggressive purpose of its
flight beeame known, the aircraft was shot down by units of the Soviet
rocket troops.  Unfortunately, this was not the only case of aggressive
and espionage nctions by the United States Air Force against the
Soviet Union. A

Naturally, the Soviet Government was compelled to give appro-
priate qualification to these acts and show up their treacherous nature,
which is incompatible with the elementary requirements of the main-
tenance of normal relations between states in time of peace, not to
speak of its being in gross contradiction to the task of lessening inter-
national tension and creating the necessary conditions for the fruitful
work of the summit conference. 'This was done both in my speeches at
the session of the Supreme Soviet of the U.S.S.R. and in a special note
of Krotest sent to the United States Government, '

t first, the United States State Department launched the ridiculous
version that the American plane had violated the borders of the
U.S.S.R. by accident and had no espionage or sabotage assignments.
When irrefutable facts clearly proved the falsity of this version, the
United States State Department on May 7, and then the Secretary of
State on May 9, stated on behalf of the United States Government that
American aireraft made incursions into the Soviet Union with mili-
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tary espionage aims in accordance with a program endorsed by the
United States Government and by the President personally.

Two days later, President Eisenhower himself confirmed that exe-
cution of {lights of American aircraft over the territory of the Soviet
Union had Deen and remained the calculated policy of the United
States. The samo was declared by the United States Government in
o noto to the Soviet Government on May 12. Thereby the United
States Government is erudely flouting the universally accepted stand-
ards of international law and the lofty principles of the United Nations
Charter, under which stands the signature of the United States of
America also.

INDIGNATION WAS VOICED

The Soviet Govornment and the entire people of the Soviet Union
met these declarations of leading statesmen of the U.S.A. with indig-
nation, as did every honest man and woman in the world who displays
concern for the destinies of peace.

Now, at a time when the leanders of the Governments of the four
powers are arriving in Paris to take part in the conference, the ques-
tion arises of how 1s it possible productively to negotiate and examine
the questions confronting the conference when the United States Gov-
ernment and the President himself have not only failed to condemn
this provocative act—the intrusion of the American military aircraft
into the Soviet Union—Dbut, on the contrary, have declared that such
actions will continue to be state policy of the U.S.A. with regard to
the Soviet Union.

How can agreement be sought, on the various issues that require
a settlement with the purpose of easing tension and removing sus-
picion and mistrust among states when the Government of one of the
great powers declares bluntly that its policy is intrusion into the
territory of another great power with espionage and sabotage pur-
poses z?md, consequently, the heightening of tension in relations among
states

It is clear that the declaration of such a policy, which can be pur-
sued only when states are in a state of war, dooms the summit confer-
ence to complete failure in advance.

We, naturally, take note of the declaration by the United States
Government of such a policy and state that in the event of a repeated
intrusion by American aircraft into the Soviet Union we shall shoot
these planes down, .

The Soviet Government reserves the right in all such cases to take
the appropriate retalintory measures against those who violate the

stato sovereignty of the U.S.S.R. and engage in such espionage and
sabotage regarding the Soviet Union. The U.S.S.R. Government re-
iterates that, with regard to those states that, by making their territory
available for American military bases, become accomplices in aggres-
sive actions against the U.S.S.R., the appropriate measures will also
be taken, not excluding a blow against these bases.

In this connection it is impossible to ignore the statement by Presi-
dent Lisenhower to the effect that under the threat of a peace treaty
with the German Democratic Republic he could not take part in the
summit conference, though what he called a threat was merely a decla-
ration by the Soviet Government of its firm resolve to do away with .
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the vestiges of war in Furope and conclude a peace, and thus to bring
the situntion—purticularly in West. Berlin—in line with the require-
ments of lifo and the interests of insuring the peace and socurity of
tho European nations.

ITow (hen ean the Soviet, Government take part in negotiations
under conditions of an elual threat emanating from the United
States Government, which declared that. it w()ul«iﬂmmtimm fo violate
tho U.S.8.R. borders and that American aireraft had flown and
would continue to (ly over the Soviet Union’s tevritory? 'The United
States Government has thereby declared its intention to continue
unheard of and unprecedented actions directed agninst the sovereignty
of the Soviet state, which constitutes a snerved and immutable prin-
ciple in international relations,

“OVERT AND NONEST POLICY”

Trom all this it follows that for the suecess of the conference it is
necessary that the Governments of all the powers represented at it
pursue an overt and honest policy and solemnly declare that they will
not undertake any actions ngainst one another which amount to viola-
tion of the state sovercignty of the powers,

This means that if the United States Government is really veady to
cooperate with the Governments of the other powers in the interests
of maintaining peaco and strengthening confidence between states it
must, firstly, condenin the inadmissible provocative actions of the
United States Air FForce with regard to the Soviet. Union and, sce-
ondly, refrain from continuing such actions and such a policy agninst
the U.S.S.R. in the future.

It goes without saying that in this case the United States Govern-
ment eannot fail to call to strict account those who ave directly guilty
of the deliberate violation by American aireraft of the state borders
of the U.S.S.R.

Until this is dono by the United States Government, the Soviet
Government sees no possibility for productive negotintions with the
United States Government at the summit conference. It cannot be
among the participants in negotiations where one of them has madeo
treachery the basis of his policy with regard to the Soviet Union.

11, under the obtaining conditions, the Soviet Government were to
articipate in negotintions clearly doomed to failure, it would therehy
recome a part to the deception of the nations, which it has no intention
of becoming,

It stands to reason that if the United States Government were to
declare that in the future the United States will not violate the
state borders of the U.S.S.R. with its aireraft, that it deplores the
provocative actions undertaken in the past and will punish those
directly guilty of such actions, which would assure the Soviet Union
equal conditions with other powers, I, as head of the Soviet Govern-
ment, would be ready to participate in the conference and exert all
efforts to contribute to its success.

As a result of the provocative flights of American military aireraft
and, above all, as a result of such provocative flights being declared
national policy of the United States of America for the future regard .
to the Socialist countries, new conditions have appeared in interna-
tional relationships.
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Naturally, under such conditions, we cannot work at. the conference;
wo cannot, beeause we seo the positions from which it is intended to
tallk with us: under the threat of aggressive reconnaissanco flights.
Tspionage flights are known to be undertaken with reconnnissunce
purposes with the objeet of sturting a war, We, therefore, reject, the
conditions the United States of Amerien is erenting for us.  We ean-
not participate in any negotiations and in the solution of even those
questions which have already matured; wo cannot because we see
that the United States has no desire to reach u settlement.

“prorITIoN’’ 18 RULED oUTr

It is considered to bo o leader in the Western countries, Therefore,
the conference would at present bo a useless waste of time and a decep-
tion of the public opinion of all countries. I repeat, we cannot under
the obtaining situation take part in the negotiations.

We want to participate in the talks only on an equal footing, with
oqual opportunities for both one and the other side.

Wo consider it necessary for the peoples of all the countries of the
world to understand us correctly. The Soviet Union is not renouncing
efforts to nchieve agreement.  And we are sure that reasonable agree-
monts are possible, but, evidently, not at this but at another time,

For this, however, it is necessary first. of all that the United States
admits that the provocative policy it has declared by a policy of “un-
restricted” flights over our couniry is to be condemned and that it
rejects it and admits that it hus committed aggression nnd admits that
it rogrets it.

Thoe Soviet. Government is deeply convinced that if not this Govern-
ment of the United States then another, if not another then the next
ono would understand that there is no other way out but peaceful
cooxistencoe of two systems, eapitalist and Socialist.  ISither peaceful
coexistence or war, which will result in a disaster for those who are
pursuing aggressive policy.

PEACEFUL LINKS STRESSED

Therefore, we think that some time should be allowed to elapse
so that the questions that have arisen should settle and so that those
responsible for the determining of the policies of a country would
analyze what kind of responsibility they placed upon themselves,
having declared an aggressive course in their relutions with the Soviet
Union and other Socialist countries. Therefore, we would think that
there is no better way out than to postpone the conference of the heads
of government for approximately six to eight months,

The Soviet Union on its part, will not lessen its effort to reach an
agreement. I think that puLlic opinion will correctly understand our
position, will understand that we were deprived of the possibility to
participate in these negotintions.

Howaever, we firmly believe in the necessity of peaceful coexistence
because to lose faith in peaceful coexistence wonld mean to doom man-
kind to war, would mean to agree with the inevitability of wars, and
under the circumstances it is known what disasters would be brought
by a war to all nations on our planet.
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T wish to nddress the people of the United States of America. I was
in the U.S.A. and met there with various sections of the American
people and 1 am deeply convinced that all the strata of the American
people do not. want war,  An exception constitutes but a small frantic
rroup in the Pentagon and, supporting it, militarist quariers that

onolit from the armaments race, gaining huge profits, which disre-
gard the interests of the American people and in goneral the intorests
of the peoples of all countries, and which pursue an adventurous
policy.

Wa express gratitude to President. de Gaulle for the hospitality and
rondering us tho possibility to meet in Puris, the eapital of Ifrance.
Wo also approeciate the offorts of the Government of Great Britain and
Prime Minister Macmillan personally.

Wao regret. that, this meeting has been torpedoed by the reactionary
cireles of the United States of Amerien by provocative flights of
Amorican military planes over the Soviet. Union,

Wa rvegret. that this meeting has not brought about the results
expected by all nations of the world,

}mt. the disgrace and responsibility for this rest with those who have
proclaimed a bandit policy toward the Soviet Union,

ISSUE O FISENTOWER VISIT

As is known, President Eisenhower and 1 have agreed to exchange
visits. Last September, T made such visit to the UU.S.A. Wo were
greatly grntiﬁe(l by that visit, the meelings and talks we had in the
United States, and for all this woe expressed our appreciation,

The President of the U.S.A. was to make a return visit to our coun-
try.  Our agreement was that he would come to us on June 10, And
we were being prepared to accord a good welcome to the high guest.

Unfortunately, as a result of provocative and aggressive actions
against the U.S.S.R., there have been created now such conditions
when we have been deprived of a possibility to receive the President
with the proper cordiality with which the Soviet people receive wel-
come cuests. At present, we cannot express such cordiality to the
President of the U.S.A. since, as the result of provocative flights of
American military planes with reconnaissance purposes, there are
created conditions clearly unfavorable for this visit.

The Soviet people cannot and do not want to be sly. That is why
wo believe that at present the visit of the President of the U.S.A. to
the Soviet Union should be postponed and agreement should be
reached as to the time of the visit when the conditions for the visit
would mature. Then the Soviet people will be able to express proper
cordiality and hospitality toward the high guest representing the
gzlrp.wt power with which we sincerely want to live in peace and friend-
ship.

I believe that both President Eisenhower and the American people
will understand me correctly. ,

The Soviet Government states that on its part it will continue to do
its utmost to facilitate the relaxation of international tension, to facili-
tate the solution of problems that still divide us today. In that we
shall be guided by the interests of strengthening the great cause of
peace on the basis of peaceful coexistence of states with different social
systems.
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16. TEXT OF EISENHOWER STATEMENT FOLLOWING
THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE MEETING ON MAY 16, 1960

[Department of State press release No. 271, May 17, 1960]

Following is the text of the statement by President Eisenhower,
following the May 16 meeting of the Four IHeads of Government:

Having been informed yesterday by General de Gaulle and Prime
Minister Macmillan of the position which Mr. Khrushchev has taken
in regard to this Conference during his calls yesterday morning on
thom, I gave most careful thought as to how this matter should best be
handled. Having in mind the great importance of this Conference
and the hopes that the peoples of all the world have reposed in this
meeting, I concluded that in the circumstances it was best to see if at
today’s private meeting any possibility existed through the exercise
of reason and restraint to dispose of this matter of the overflights,
which would have permitted the Conference to go forward.

I was under no illusion ns to the probability of success of any such

approach but I felt that in view of the great responsibility resting on
me as President of the United States, this effort should be made.
- In this I received the strongest support of my colleagues, President
de Gaulle and Prime Minister Macinillan. Accordingly, at this morn-
ing’s private session, despite the violence and inaccuracy of Mr. KXhru-
shchev’s statements, I replied to him on the following terms:

I had previously been informed of the sense of the statement just
read by Premier Khrushchev.

In my statement of May 11 and in the statement of Secretary Her-
ter of May 9 the position of the United States was made clear with
respect to the distasteful necessity of espionage activities in a world
where nations distrust each other’s intentions. We pointed out that
these activities had no aggressive intent but rather were to assure the
safety of the United States and the free world against surprise attack
by a power which boasts of its ability to devastate the United States
and other countries by missiles armed with atomic warheads. As is
well known, not only the United States but most other countries are
constantly the targets of elaborate and persistent espionage of the
Soviet Union.

There is in the Soviet statement an evident misapprehension on one
key point. It alleges that the United States has, through official
statements, threatened continued overflights. The importance of this
alleged threat was emphasized and repeated by Mr, Khrushchev. The
United States has made no such threat. Neither I nor my Govern-
ment has intended any. The actual statements go no further than to
say that the United States will not shirk its responsibility to safe-
guard against surprise attack,

In point of fact, these flights were suspended after the recent in-
cident and are not to be resumed. Accordingly, this cannot be the
issue.

I have come to Paris to seek agreements with the Soviet Union
which would eliminate the necessity for all forms of espionage, in-
cluding overflights. I see no reason to use this incident to disrupt
the conference. :
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Should it prove impossible, because of the Soviet attitude, to come
to grips hero in Paris with this problem and the other vital issues
threatening world peace, I am planning in the near future to submit
to the United Nations n proposal for the creation of a United Na-
tions aerinl surveillance to detect preparations for attack. This
plan I had intended to place before this conference. This surveillanco
system would 7 erate in the territories of all nations prepared to ac-
ce[l)t, such inspretion.  Ior its part, the United States is prepared not
only to accept United Nations aerial surveillance, but to do every-
thing in its power to contribute to the rapid organization and sue-
cesstul operation of such international surveillance.

Wo of the United States are heroe to consider in good faith the
important problems beforo this Conferenco.  We are prepared either
to carry this point. no further, or to undertake bilateral conversations
between the United States and the U.S.S.R. while the main Confer-
enco proceeds,

My words weroe seconded and supported by my Western collengues,
who also urged Mr, Khrushchev (o pursue the path of reason and
commonsense, and to forget propagandan. Such an attitude would
have permitted the Conference to proceed. Mr, Khrushchev was left
in no doubt by me that his ultimatum would never be acceptablo to
the United States.

Mr. Khrushchev brushed asido all arguments of reason, and not
only insisted upon this ultimatum, but also insisted that he was going
to publish his statement. in full at the time of his own choosing. 1t
was thus made apparent. that he was determined to wreck the Paris
Conforenco.

In fact, the only conclusion that can be drawn from his behavior
this morning was that he came all the way from Moscow to Paris
with tho sole intention of sabotaging this meeting on which so much
of the hopes of the world have rested.

In spite of this serious and adverse development, I have no inten-
tion whatsoever to diminish my continuing efforts to promoto progress
toward o peaco with justice. This applies to the remainder of my
stay in Paris as well as thereafter.

17. TRANSCRIPT OF NEWS BRIEFING WITH JAMES C.
HAGERTY, ANDREW H. BERDING, AND CHARLES E.
BOHLEN, PARIS, MAY 16, 1960

['The White House press release]

Mr. Hagerry. I will try to speak as loud as I can. Can the people
in the back of the room hear me? I have a statement from President
Eisenhower, which I shall read. The statement is presently being
itencile(‘lrnnd will be distributed as soon as it is mechanically possible,

my oflice.

yMr).’ Berding and I are here. Also with us is Ambassador Bollen,
who was present at the meeting this morning and who will be
available for questions and a report on the meeting, after I finish read-
ing the statement.
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I will read it through, not at dictation speed, but I will read it
through so that you ean get the sense of ity and by the time I am
finished reading, the stencil should be availuble outside.

This is a statement by President Kisenhower.  (Mr. Hugert}' then
read the statement down to the words, “on the following terms.”)

What 1T will now read is what the President read at the mecting
[see document No. 14] (and Mr. ITagerty continued reading down to
“tho_main conference proceeds”). This is the end of the statement
the President read this morning, but hig full statement continues,
(Mr. Ingerty read through the final paragraphs.)

That is the conclusion of the President’s statement. (Most of the
questions (hat follow, due to very poor hearing in the room, were re-
peated by Mr. Hagerty for the benefit of those present, but are as
accurately as possif;]o, the nctual words of the questioner.)

Q. How long will the President stay in Paris, Mr. Hagerty ?

Mr. Tlacenrry, I think that that would depend on what would
happen tomorrow.

Q. Mvr. Hagerty, did Mr. Khrushchev reply to Mr. Eisenhower’s
statement ¢

Mr. Bomen. Mr. Khrushchev made a partial reply to the Presi-
dent’s statement, by reiterating the three points of his ultimatum. Ile
indicated that the stntement of the President that flights would not. be
resumed ; he inquired whether this meant. for the duration of the Con-
ference, and the President said, “No.” It was indefinite. ITo then
repeated, however, that unless the United States would publicly
renounce its past act and punish those which he said were immediately
responsible for it, the Soviet Union still could not attend this Con-
ference,

Q. Well, Jin, is the Conference over?

Mr. Haaerry, I think that I could sny—wait a minute—T think it
was left wide 0})011 when the meeting broke up. If I may have a
suggestion which I think would save our time and yours, it would be
that if yonu have any questions on the statement as such, if we could
get. this out of the way now and then ask Ambassador Bohlen to give
you . rundown on the meeting, and during the rundown I am sure
quite o few of these questions that you are asking me would be
answered. Would that be agreeable?

Q. Did the President. have anything to say about the attack that
Mr. Khrushehev had been making on Pakistan and other countries
where United States bases are located ?

Mr. Bomen. At the meeting this morning, he did not touch on
that part of Khrushchev’s statement. ITe did not go into the details
of IChrushehev’s statement other than those contained in his own state-
ment.

Howover, in answer to the question, I think prior to this Conference,
that the United States had made it plain that it would fulfill its obli-
gntiolns to any of its allies in the event of any attack or threatened
attaek,

Q. Did the British and IFrench delegations take a stand on the
American position ?

Mr. ITaaerTy. Did the—you mean the statement that I just read$

Q. And your statement of position——
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Mr. Hacerry. I think Yes, but I would prefer to have that come
from the British and French spokesmen, who are now giving their
special briefings.

Q. Did Khrushchev make clear that he won’t attend any bilateral
meotings such as the President mentioned, that he won’t be back to-
morrow morning at Ilysee Palace?

Mr. Bonren. I think the first answer to that question is an impor-
tant one. At today’s meoting, Mr. Khrushchev said he did not consider
this a meeting of the Paris conference, this was a preliminary meeting
to determine, in their oyes, whether the Conforence could take place or
not, He snid the snme thing in regard to any possible meeting to-
morrow or in the next days.

Mr, Hacerry. Again, if T can make a suggestion, I think it would
be helpful if you would let Ambassador Bohlen, who was at the meet-
ir_np:} as o Member of our Delegation, just run down through it. All
right.

Q. The Russians are saying that they will have a press conference
after the President replies. Now, what you just said here and what
you said at the closed meeting earlier, may we consider this the Presi-
dent’s final reply to Russia ¢

Mr. Hagerry. How can you consider anything as final? The answer
would be “No” to your direct question. Now do you mean if I am
going to have another press conference today? Who can tell?

Q. Don’t you think that Mr. Khrushchev wants to prevent a meet-
ing of President Eisenhower and the Soviet people because he is afraid
that the Russian people would welcome the President?

Mr, Hacerry., Yes, I would agree with that, but that was not the
point, Mr. Bohlen might want to answer that question directly on
what happened on the invitation.

Mr. Bonren, In further elaboration of his statement canceling the
invitation, Khrushchev said that the circumstances had changed as a
result of this matter of the plane, that it would be hypocrisy for the
President to come to the Soviet Union, the Soviet people were not
hypocrites and that they would not be able to understand how you
could invite the representative of a state whose planes had flown over
the]Soviet territory and one of which had been shot down by Soviet
rockets.

He even said that he didn’t know what he would say to his little
grandson, if his grandson asked him that question.

In regard to your answer, this is your question, of course Khru-
shchev did not go into that angle of the thing, but I think it's a
reasonnble supposition,

Q. Thank you very much,

Mr, Hacerry. And as far as the invitation or withdrawal of the
invitation was concerned, in Mr. Khrushchev’s statement this morn-
ing, the President did not answer it, but the fact that Mr. Khrushchev
withdrew it, I think—the fact that Mr, Khrushchev withdrew it, pre-
vented the President from refusing to accept. [Laughter].

Q. Will you repeat that, please?

Mr. Hagerry, I said the fact that Mr. Xhrushchev withdrew the
invitation prevented——

Mr. Bonien. (to Mr. Hagerty) : No objection of the President.
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Mr. Hagrrry. There was no objection on the President’s part and
it just meant that he did not have to refuse to accept the invitation.

Ir. Bouren, The President did not refer at all to that part of
Myr, Khrushchev’s statement, dealing with the cancellation of the
invitation,

Mr, Hagerry. I would still like to have Mr. Bohlen, who is present
[laughter]—— .

Mr. Bonren, I will try and hit, gentlemen, the highlights of this
meeting, since it went on for quite a while, as you know. And I think
the first point I have already made, that Mr. Khrushehev made it per-
fectly plain that he did not l‘egnrfi this as his attendance at the Con-
ference, this was a preliminary meeting to see whether or not, as he
put it, conditions could be established which would permit them to
stay. Ilo read his statement, which lasted at least a half hour, and
more with the translations—close on to an hour with the translation—
was followed by the President’s statement.

Mr. Macmillan, and while I think Mr. Hagerty is right, that he
would wish to brief it, but I think this was important because both
General de Gaulle and Macmillan urged Khrushchev to adopt an
attitude which would make this Conference possible. Mr, Macmillan
pointed ocut that their reference to any threat had been completely
removed by the present statement that these flights had been sus-
pended and would not be resumed. Mr, Macmillan also made the
point. that all espionage is in effect violation of sovercignty, and that
1nfortunately espionage was an unpleasant fact of life, but that he
did not see how you could make too much distinction between one
form of espionage and another since the great majority of any form
of espionage constitutes a violation of national sovereignty.

General do Gaulle, as I say, was trying to counsel moderation on
Mr. Khrushchev. He proposec’i there should be at least a day’s recess
while there might be an opportunity to see what could be done. He
urged upon Mr. Khrushchev not to make any final decision.

n reply to Mr. Khrushchev’s question, as I had already said, the
President made it clear that this suspension of flights was not just
for the duration of the Conference. Mr. Khrushchev ignored this and
put out his statement, as you all know, publicly, which contains no
reference to the fact that the President had made this important
statement.

General de Gaulle pointed out that incidents like this of the plane
wore in effect the result of the tensions that this Conference had been
called us)on to deal with., He thought that its very hzg) ening, which
was in the past, had highlighted the importance of a £‘essing them-
selves to the subject on which they had come to Paris for. He pointed
out that as a matter of commonsense, the time was not far distant when
the satellites in orbit would open the skies over all countries, and even
mentioned that there was a Soviet satellite launched yesterday, which
was crossing France eighteen times a day. .

None of this seemed to shake My, Khrushchev in his fundamental
position, and he announced that he intended to publish this state-
ment at a time of his own choice, and that he could not do otherwise,

He mado one interesting reference—interesting to me—when he said
that this was a matter that involved deeply the internal politics of
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the Soviet Union, & matter which he said was of great importance to
them.  Tle stressed the fact that, as he termed it, the United States
policy had been made public on this, ignoring the President’s state-
ment about the s <pension of the plane flights, and that. consequently
n public statemene would have to be issued by the United States
and this statement. included not only the question of suspension of
the tlights but also a denunciation of what had already happened
and un oxpression of regret that this had ocenrred.  The President’s
statement. makes plain this was not acceptable to the United States.

And also the third poeint was the punishment of those directly re-
sponsible, as stated in his own statement this morning,

The matter was left in some obseurity, Up to (ho time of Khru-
shchev's announcement of his determination to publish this thing and
publish it in fully there had been some consideration along the lines
of General do Gaulle's statement of providing—suggestion as Presid-
ing Oflicer that they should take o recess, should seo what might be
done through bilateral or other forms of discussion, that he would
stay in contact with the delegations and then later on would defermine
whether to eall a session of the Conferenco,

1t was again at this point that Khrushehev pointed out that he did
not consider this the Conference, that these were preliminary meetings
and not the Conference itself.  After he insisted upon publishing
this, both Mr. Macmillan and General de Gaunlle T think qunsl.iones
what was going to happen, whether or not a meeting would take place
tomorrow, or when, and I would say the matter was left in complete
abeyance, :

Both General do Gaullo and Macmillan pointed out. that if this
statement. was made publie, it would be the taking of a decision of
the type which General de Gaulle had urged should not be taken,
except after mature and due consideration during the recess.

Q. What is your view? Are you ready for questions?

Mur. Hacerry, Yes.

Q. Canyou tell us why——

Q. What is your view of the significance of Mr. Khrushchev’s
comments about the internal polities of the Soviet Union?

Mr. Bounen. It struck me only that I never, at any previous con-
ferences, heard any reference of this kind made. I think anybody
can draw their own conclusions from it. I don’t propose to speculate
on what might be in Mr. Xhrushchev’s mind, but only say this is
the first time I have heard a reference in exactly those terms made
in any conference with the Soviets.

Mr., Khrushehev provided a few highlights which T might mention
to you, one of which during discussion he raised both his hands—
on the subject of innocence in regard to espionage and the friendly
feelings towards all countries—he raised his arms above his head
and said: “As God is my witness, my hands are clean and my soul is
pure.” [Launghter.] .

Q. Mr. Ambassador, is there going to be a Summit Conference?

Mr. Bourexn. Well, it depends on whom you are talking to. As
far as Mr. Khrushchev is concerned, there hasn’t been any. 1 think—
and I don’t want to speak for our Western colleagues, but we would
consider this was a meeting of the Summit this morning. As to what
happens in the future, 1 just don’t know.
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Q. Mr. Bohlen, is it your feeling that Mr, Khrushchev intends to
call off the nuclear discussion, the test ban, and the disarmament
discussions, as well as the Summit Meeting ?

Mr, Bomen, 1 don’t think we can answer that yet. There have
been two conferences going on at Geneva, the ten-nation disarma-
ment conference and the nuclear testing thing which has been going
on for over o year and o half.  We have not yet heard whether the
Soviets are going to pull out. of those yet.

Q. Can you tell us anything about any further meetings the Presi-
dent will have this afternoon or thisevening?

Mor. Haacerry, Well, first, of course, when he returned to the Ameri-
can residence, after the conclusion of the Summit Meeting, he had
a meeting with all of the members of the American Delegation,
And he and they, with Ambassador Bohlen and Mr. Berding and
m{self, were working—and he was working—on this statement that
I have just read to you. 'There is n meeting, and I think it started
at four or shortly thereafter, of the Western Foreign Ministers at
the Quai D’Orsny, which is probably presently in progress, and that
is all the meetings 1 know of at the present time,

The President is at the residence, and intends to stay there, but
I do not know of any meetings scheduled for him other than those
with hisown people af this time.

Q. Jim, did Mr. Khrushchev make any other references to political
conditions in the United States beyond the remark in his prepared
statement, which we have?

Mvr. Hacerry, Well, I will ask Mr, Bohlen to answer that. Ile
was at the meeting.

Mr. Bounin, I don’t think he did. T just haven’t seen—I heard
him make it, but T can’t quite reenll whether the reference to his visit
to the United States is included in his published statement or not—

Mr. Iacerry, Yesit is—Yes.

Mvr. Bonnen, Ie did—it was, yes—about how much he enjoyed it.
Then he didn’t add anything about the United States except what is
in his statement,

Q. Mr. Bohlen, did we offer to make the statement public that the
flights would not be resumed during this period of discussion, when it
still wasn’t clear whether he was going to publish his own statement ?

Mr. BounneN. This statement uctmllfv did not come up, but I would
say it is a fair inference that the statement at the Conference could
have been made public. But I would like to emphasize in this, in
commenting on it, Mr, Khrushchev said that they had heard this with
some satisfaction. However, they noted that there was no denuncia-
tion of the past act, no expression of regret, and no indication of will-
ingness to punish, as he put it, those immediately responsible for
these overflights,

Q. Mr. Bohlen, did Mr. Khrushchev in any way indicate what is
going to happen to Captain Powers?

Mr. Bouren. No, he did not. Captain Powers’ name was not men-
tioned thismorning at all.

Q. Was there any reference, Mr. Ambassador, to the German prob-
lem and the possibiﬁty of a German peace treaty now ¢

Mr. BouLen. No, the only one is the one contained in his statement,

Q. Mr. Ambassador, what was the attitude of Mr. Khrushchev?
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Was ho fiery angry or was he noncommittal, or what was the atmos-
phere of the meeting?

Mr. Bomuen. T think he cevtainly wasn’t nonconumital, if you read
his statemont, | Laughter.}  Te seemed to me to be rather ill at ease,
not. mr(-u-ulm'lfr in his manner of expression, or excited. But I would
sy he was under some feeling of tension, f1o seemed to pay o great
deal of attention to Mr. Gromyko on one side and to Marshal Mali-
novsky on the other.  The atmosphere of the meeting was very—cor-
w":“i wasn't copdinl. 1t was not excited, but it was cold and busi-
nesshike,

Q. How did President Kisenhower take to Klhirushehev’s statement,
Mr. Ambassador?

Mr. Bonpex, I think the President’s statement in response gives
you the answer to that.

Q. I mean, physically?

Mr. Bomren. Oh, there were no signs. The President has been
around a great deal and he didn’t show any signs one way or other
on his face when he heard this.

Q. Will the DPresident go to the Palais de Chaillot tomorrow at
11 o'cloek?

My Ilacerry, The Palais de Chaillot?

Q. Tothe President’s Palace?

Mr. Hacuwry, T think the only thing I ean say on that is what we
have said two or three times, we will %mve to wait and see.

Q. Jim, will the President still go to Portugal as scheduled ¢

Mr. Haaerry. Gee—you know, we haven’t talked about that at all
today. [Laughter.] T just don’t know, Smitty.

Q. Mr. Ambassador, has the recent expulsion of the two Soviet
spies from Switzerland been mentioned ¢

Mr. Bonren. No, the only reference to espionage was the one in
the President’s statement, and the one I mentioned in Mr. Macmil-
lan’s statement, whe said it was an unpleasant fact of life that all—
most forms of espionage involved violation of national sovereignty.

Q. Does the statement by the President this morning represent any
change of attitude on the part of the United States toward flights
over the Soviet Union?

Mr, Hagenrry. T think his statement pointed out that there had been
misunderstanding on this and that both on May 11 and on May 9 1
believe the date 1s, referred to in the statement, these statements we
;:{hought. were made clear, but there had been misapprehension on one

ey point.

: {Q.l Then the right to such flights is maintained ¢

- Q. Can I ask a question? Was it not previously denied in Wash-
ington that the President had ordered a cessation of overflights, as
reported by Mr. Reston in the New York Times?

Mr. Hagerry. The story that you are referring to, I made the
remarks, the story as written was not correct.

Q. Bat the right to make the flights is maintained ¢

Mr. Hacerry. The right to make flights is maintained? I don’t
know what you mean by ﬁ\e right to make flights?

Q. The right of espionage? [Laughter.]

- Mr. Hagerty (indicating). That’s my answer.
- Q. Mr. Bohlen, could you possibly say in what order the statements
were made ?
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Mr. Bouren. Yes. Khrushchev spoke first. De Gaulle opened up
as host and said that yesterday he had received the information con-
cerning the Soviet position from one of the participants, Mr. Khru-
shehev, and he had made this known to his other two colfeugues, and
he wondered if anyone had anything to say.

My, Khrushchev jumped in and said, “I have something to say,”
and said it.

Q. Was there any informal exchange between the two men—between
Kisenhower and Khrushchev?

Mr. Bonren. No, there was not.

Q. Did they shake hands when they came in?

Mr. Bonren. No, they did not. When the President came in, Khru-
shehev was ulready seated at the table, and the President just took his
place at the table,

Q. How did the scene end up, Mr. Ambassador? Did they say
good]?y t(?) each other informally, or did they just walk out without
speaking

Mr. Bonren, They just walked out.

Q. Has the machinery been set nk, or is it being set up now to
arrange a bilateral meeting, hetween Mr. Khrushchev and Mr. Iisen-
hower, and if so, who is operating that machinery ?

Mr. Tlagerry. No, I don’t know of any at the present time. The
statement that has been made by the President at the meeting—let
me see where it is—on the last page: “We are prepared either to
carry this point no further, or to undertake bilateral conversations
between the United States and the U.S.S.R. while the main confer-
ence proceeds.” The President made the offer. 'We have heard noth-
ing from the Soviets.

. May I ask——

Q. Did Mr. Khrushchév propose to adjourn the Conference for 6
to 8 months with some kind of pledge at this time not to change the
situation in Berlin?

Mr. Bouren. There was no such pledge. ‘

Mr. Hacerry. The question was di‘é Mr. Khrushchev make any
pledge, was it ? '

lQi No, is the Ambassador considering a proposal of some kind of
pledge—

M%.GIIAGERH. Is the Ambassador considering—what proposal, sir?

Q. To adjourn the conference.

Mr. Hagerry. The proposal to adjourn the Conference, does this
change the situation on Berlin? Isthat—— ‘

Q. Nottochange?

Mr, HAGERTY. § ot to change the situation—I am sorry—it is diffi-
cult to hear here.

Q. Yes. Ibeg your pardon for my bad English.

Mr. Hagerry. No, no, I understand. ‘

Q. The question was whether President de Gaulle (%) is considering
recent proposals to adjourn the Conference for 6 or 8 months with
some kind of pledge that he during this time will not change the actual
situation in Berlin ? ' :

Mr, Hagerry. In proposing to end this Conference here and have
another one at some time in the future, 6 to 8 months, as Mr. Khru-
shchev says, does this mean that Mr. Khrushchev will change his posi-
tion—
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Q. Willnot?

Mre, Haaerry. Will not. change his position—1 am  sorry—on
Borlint

Mvr, Bomen, T don’t think it’s possible to deaw any inforence from
that statement. e made no reference to Berlin at ally except the ono
in his published statemont.  Therofore, 1 don't think that you ean
read into this one way or other, it's merely what he said, let's have an-
othor--—-thoe conference, maybe in 6 to 8§ months,  He did sny-—you asked
if thero was any veference to the internal thing-—1 think this is in his
statoment. when there would be o new American govermment,

Q. Ambassador Bohlen, did either Khrushehov orde Gouulle or Mae-
millan comment in any way on the President’s suggestion on United
Nations surveillance?

Mr. Bouwen, The only one whe did was Khrushehev, who said that,
the Soviet. Union is sovereign over its own aivspace and no one--and
he repeated no one—will bo permitted to infringe on it.  If you ever
got, ho said, complete disnrmament. when there were no arms whatso-
over, then you could have open skies, open earthy and open water,
But until that happens, no one--and he repented no one—-would bo
pormitted to {ly over the Soviet Union.

Q. Mr. Hagerty——

(3. Qli"l'—"““

Q. Jim, ean you tell us why it was, or give us the background, the
fact that these flights woere suspended and wera not to be resumed—
why that was not announced, i view of the misunderstanding you
montioned ?

My, Haaerrey., Well, T thought that. it was, by some of onr people in
our Government, in some conversations that they have been having,
but that’s the only answer 1 ean give,

Q. Mr. Ambassador, is it corvect that prior to Mr, Khrushehev’s
clean hands and pure soul statement, theve had been no detailing of
any kind as to Soviet espionage in the West or the United States?

Mr, Bonen. There was no detailing of it, but the President’s state-
mont, which has just been read by Mr. Hagerty, snid: “As is well
known, not. only the United States but most. other countries are con-
stantly the targets of elaborato and persistent espionage of the Soviet
Union.”

Q. Mr, Ilagerty, do you know whether—if the United States dele-
gation is preparved to counterattack agninst the Soviet Union on a
propaganda basis on the matter, or rather try to ealm down the situ-
ation ?

Mr. Iacerry. Well, in the first place, T think that propaganda
speaks for itself, and I refer you to the President’s statement as far
as propagandn is concerned here—at this meeting, T think what we
tried to do is—on the second part of your question, I think that this is
also handled in the statement, where the President snys that “In spite
of this serious and adverse development, I have no intention whatso-
ever to diminish my continuing efforts to promote progress toward a
peace with justice. This applies to the remainder of my stay in Paris.
as well as thereafter.”

I think those words speak clearly in answer to your statement.

Q. Mr. Hagerty—

Mr. HaoerTy. Yes, sir.
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Q. Will you tell us when the three Western chiefs of government
will get. together and decido their next movae?

Mr, Hacewry, T ean’t tell you now. 1 would think that this is one
of the reasons the Toreign Ministers are meeting this afternoon,

Q. With the Russian Foreign Minister present, or only the threo
Western——m-

Mr, Haarrry., No, T said the three Western Foreign Ministers are
meceting this afternoon,

Q. Did Mr. Khrushehov acknowledgo in any way Me. Fisenhower’s
stutement. that overflights will be discontinued ?

My, Haaerry. Fthought Mr. Bohlen had answered that.,

My, Bouren, Yes, ho did, and he snid they had some satisfaetion
on this, but. pointed out that the other points of their demands still
romained unanswered or unnccepted,

Q. Thank you.

Mur Haaerry, Okuy?

Q. ‘Thank you,

Mr, Haaerry, That statement, is mimeographed and on the tables
outside the hall,

———

18. COMMUNIQUE, MAY 17, 1960

[ White House press relense]

The President. of the United States, the President of the French
Republic and the Prime Minister of the United Kingdom take note
of the fact that. because of the attitude adopted by the Chairman of
the Council of Ministers of the Soviet. Union it has not been possible
to begin, at tho Summit Conference, the examination of the problems
which it had been agreed would be discussed between the four Chiefs
of State or Government.

They regret that these discussions, so important for world pence,
could not take place. Tor their part, they remain unshaken in their
conviction that all outstanding international questions should be
settled not by the use or threat og force but by peaceful means throngh
negotiation. They themselves remain ready to take part in such
negotintions at any suitable time in the future.

19. TRANSCRIPT OF PREMIER KHRUSHCHEV’S NEWS
CONFERENCE, PARIS, MAY 18, 1960

[From the New York Times, May 19, 1960]

Paris, May 18 (Reuters).—Following is the official English trans-
lation of the tewt of Premaer Khrushohev’s prepared statement at his
news conference here today :

Ladies and Gentlemen,

You obviously know the statement which T made on May 16 to Presi-
dent de Gaulle of France, Prime Minister Macmillan of Great Britain
and President Eisenhower of the United States,

The circumstances under which the Soviet Government deemed it
necessary to make this statement are generally known, I have in view

50412—00——16
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thoe nggresgive flights of Ameriean warplanes over the Soviet. Union,
undertaken on the eve of the summit conforence, and the publie decla-
mtﬁou of the United States Govornmont thut such flights are its officinl
poliey,

Now attompts are boing mado to lay the blame on us for the alleged
refusal of the Soviet. Union to take part in the meeting and for making
somasort of ultimatums to the United States,

But wo have declared and we doclare that we aro rendy to take part
in tho conferences if the United States Government. makes up publiely
for the insult inflicted upon our country by its aggrossive actions,
However, wo are still not sure that. the espionage flights, which are
undortaken by the United States, will not. bo l'(spmumt :

Just veeall the behavior of the United States leador, aftor they wero.
enught. vodhanded, T shall vefer to documents, and doenmonts alone,

U8, VERSION I8 RECALLED

On May 5, when all the world learned that an American warplane
was brought down over Soviet tervitory, the Department, of Stato
declarved that it was an aiveraft. which flow over Turkey to collect
meteorologieal information, 1t was elnimed also that. the pilot radioed
back that he had trouble with his oxygen equipment. As n result. of
this, the pilot allegedly lost conseiousness and the plane, steored for
quite a time by its automatic pilot, conld have aceidentally intruded
into the Soviet airspace,

It. was veported that a search was carvied on for this plane in
Turkish torvitory around Lake Van, whore the terrain is very moun-
tainous.

When wo announced that the American plane had been shot down
in tho avea of Sverdlovsk and that the captured pilot had owned up to
being a spy, the United States Secretary of Stato ITorter said on
May O that 1t was indeed o spy plane.

More, he said that such }hg its woro being made on the President’s
instruction and in accordance with a program which provided for
oxtensive aerial surveillance, including “by penetration” of the Soviet
airspace. It was a brazen statement on the part of Mr. IHoertor.

On-May 11, President Eisenhower himself confirmed Iorter’s state-
ment.

On May 12, the United States Embassy in Moscow, in its note to the
Soviet Government, again said that nggressive espionage flights were a
caleulated policy of the United States. ..

And now, in Paris, the President of the United States issues a state-
ment. to the offect that the United States has “suspended” its flights
and will not resume them, .

Some people ask, referring to this statement: What else does the
Soviet Union need? It would seem that the threat of flights by
American military planes over the Soviet Union is thus removed. '

“SERVITORS OF IMPERIALISM”

Such a statement may have satisfied the servitors of imperialism.,
The imperialists have grown accustomed to behaving like Russian
merchants did of old : they painted the lackeys’ lips with mustard, and
the latter said, “thank you” and bowed low.
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Wo will nof, tolerate insults, we huve our pride and our dignity. We
represont. o mighty Socinlist state.

tut, then Kisenhower said at. the preliminary meeting on May 16
that what he had mennt by his glatement. abont the suspension of
overflights by Amoerican military planes was that they would not. be
restmed for the remainder of s tonure as Presidont.,

o suid ho did not know, naturally, what decision the next Presi-
dent. would take. Thus, what the President of the United States
promises is not. renunciation of u‘;m'essivu policy, but merely o tem-
porary “suspension” of flights till Junuary, 1061,

1t is not, }m' n long period that Mr, President, promises us to dis-
conlinue the provocutive policy of espionage flights.  But interna-
tionnl relations cannot bo built. on the term of oflice of this or that
‘oflicinl, for what would then be the worth of any international
agreomont,

If wo followed the American President’s logie, it would be impos.
siblo to negotinte ony say, disnrmumnent,  An agreement mmy, con-
coivably, be signed today, but lose force tomorrow and be thrown
into the wastepapoer basket becnuse the person who signed it would
lonve his post,

To hear President Eisenhower, it. would seem that the question
of whether American military planes will or will not overfly the
U.S.8.R. depends on him and him alone,

Just, thin}c, what presumption! I now says they will not overfly.
What magnanimity!

Of course, it, is for President. Kisenhower to decide whether to send
or not. to send his planes, But it is another question whether they
will be able to overfly our territory. ‘This is decided by us, and ver
dofinitely for that matter—we shail shoot these planes down, we shall
administer shattering blows at the bases whence they come and at
those who have set up these bases and actually dispose of them.

The point. in question, therefore, is not some sort of “favor” to
the § viet Union on the part of President Eisenhower. We do not
ask “favorg” of the United States Government, but honest condem-
nation of the bandit flights of American intelligence planes.

However, President Eisenhower did not utter a single word of
condemnation with regard to the provocative policy against the Soviet
Union, on the strength of which the spy ﬂigﬁts were undertaken,

Can such a statement by the President satisfy anyone but the
aggressor himself?

Jisenhower’s statement that he has _suspended these provocative
flights for the term he remains in the White House is not a confes-
sion, not even a semi-confession, but an attempt to dodge confession
and consequently responsibility for his agﬁressive actions. But sub-
terfuges and even semi-confessions of political leaders have never
helped them to avoid historical responsibility. Even the children
are told: If you do something bad—own up and say you “won’t do
it again.” In government affairs, it is even more important to make
complete confessions and draw all the necessary conclusions.

PREMIER VOICES SURPRISE

The Soviet people, public opinion in our and all other peaceful
countries, would not understand us if we contented ourselves with the
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American President’s dodges and the “favor” he “graciously” did us
by stopping flights over the Soviet Union till January, 1961,

Nor could we fuil to be surprised by Eisenhower’s statement, which
looked like a threat that he planned to submit to the United Nations
a new “open skies” plan,

After the Pentagon had realized that the Soviet skies were closed
to American spy planes, the people there apparently decided to send
planes with the sume aims but under the United Nations flag, 16 is
to be hoped that the United Nations is not an American state, not
a branch of the Pentagon, and will decline this humiliating role.

Some of you say in your dispatches that flights by American air
pirates over the Soviet Union are only a “small incident.” You repre-
sent here the press of various states, and I would like to usk you
what would you think of your government if it treated with indiffer-
ence, with unconcern, the overflights of your cities by military planes
of countries of which you yourselves sometimes write as potential
opponents?

Would you respect such a government? Would your families and
you yourselves feel safe listening to the drone of an alien military
plane over your heads?

But the Soviet people have as much right to think in this way, the
more so since the peoples of our country have vivid memories of two
murderous wars imposed on us from without, two wars which took
a toll of tens of millions of lives.

NEW COURSE DISCERNED

It is indicative that the governments of the countries that have
rashly lent their territories for the preparation and carrying out of
agaressive spy flights over Soviet territory, are now compelled to-
right themselves in this or other measure before public opinion and
disavow the actions of the American military. They, apparently,
have begun to realize—and we are sure that this will soon be realized
by everybody who opened their land for the establishment of Ameri-
can war bases—that such things are not to be trifled with.

The Soviet Government regrets that it was impossible to hold the
conference now, but, as I have already said, it could not act otherwise.
We have done everything to prepare well the heads-of-government
meeting, but some hothends in the United States of America have
torpedoed it even before it could be opened.

I repeat, gentlemen. the Soviet Union is firmly for peaceful coexist-
ence, for talks, for the reaching of reasonable, mutually acceptable
agreements.

We shall work in this direction, confident that our peace-loving:
policy meets with the sympathy and understanding of all nations, an
we should like to believe that the Western leaders will also strive
toward this end, that within six or eight months we shall again meet
with our partners in a new, more favorable atmosphere, if they show
interest and agreement to have this meeting, if they create the neces-
sary political atmosphere for it, for the discussion and settlement of
urgent international problems—that is, if they do not undertake prov-
ocations against the Socialist states,




EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 239

WE CANNOT BE BENT

This can happen even sooner, but only if everybody realizes that
no one will be able to intimidate the Soviet, Union, the Socialist, states,
by any provocative actions whatsoever! We cannot be hent,!

Negotintions and agreements with us are possible only on the basis
of equality, without threats or blackmail.

1 should like to thank the President of France, General de Gaulle
for enabling the heads of government to meet in Paris, for the ef-
Torts he made so that the summit should take place, so that our meet-
ings should be held as agreed upon and conform to the aims for which
we have come here,

Todny I paid a furewell call on the President of France. We ox-
changed our views, and I am happy to say that a common strivin
was revealed to continue to exert efforts for the development anﬁ
strongthening of our relations in every way. I welcome this and I
express my satisfaction that the President and I agree on this most
irn{)ortant question.

should also like to express my gratitude to the Prime Minister of
Great Britain, Mr. Macmillan, for his understanding and the efforts
he made so that the summit meeting takes place.

And yet, I cannot fail to express some regret as well. If the
President of France and the Prime Minister of Great Britain assumed
the position of the objective appraisal of facts instead of yielding to
their Allied ties, if they displayed more will, the leaders of the United
States might perhaps have been obliged to condemn their aggressive
actions, and conditions would thereby have been created ena hng the
summit conference to take place and yield the beneficent results
hopefully awaited by all the peoples of the world.

1 thank you for your attention, gentlemen, and I am now ready to
reply to your questions.

Pants, May 18 (Beuters)—F ollowing is the transcript of Premier
Khrushchev’s news conference herve today, held after he made his pre-
pared statement, with the Premier's remarks and those of non-English-
spealking correspondents in unofficial translation:

Ladies and gentlemen, I want to ask your pardon but I want to
address myself to that little group in the hall that is booing.

I have already been informed that Chancellor Adenauer has sent
some of his riffraff that escaped the beating at Stalingrad and it is
they that are indulging in this booing, they that we did not at that
time send three meters underground,

Look to it, if you were not beaten at Stalingrad and in the Ukraine,
we will give you such a boo that you will lose any desire to come into
the hall and boo again.

Ladies and gentlemen, I want to draw your attention to the fact
i:hat they are reacting to my words without even listening to the trans-

ation,

They understand. These are the plunderers who came to the Soviet
Union to plunder and pillage and they carried away their hands—
they carried themselves away from the Soviet Union. They escaped
a beating,.
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REPRESENTS SOVINT I'EOPLE

The most. important thing here is that you are all wise people, and
you must certninly understand who is standing before you. l] repre-
sont the great Soviet people, a people that has won victory in the
Great. Octobor Revolution under the leadership of the great Tonin, o
peoplo that is now suecessfully building a Communist society, that is
sonfidently marching forward to communism,

And you, this little group, represent those people of whom the
Germans themselves will in time be ashamed. I] am speaking of this
Gorman riffraff and not. of the great German people.

Their booing heartens me, heartons and gratifies me beecause in the
words of a grent representative of the Germnan people, August Bebel,
“If your enemies are attacking you, then know it. Bebel, you are on
tho right track.”

And if you boo me then this adds confidence to me and T understand
that I, too, am on the right track.

T shall not conceal my plensure. T like coming to grips with the
enemies of the working class and it is gratifying for me to hear
frenzy of these lackeys of imperialism. Nothing they attempt to do
will gain them any good.  The Soviet Union, firm as a rock, is march-
ing forward to build communism and will continue to march forwnrd
till the complete triumph of communism in the Soviet Union,

Now thank you for your attention, Ladies and Gentlemen, I shall
do my best to answer to the full any questions that you may have to

ask me.
VIEW ON GENEVA TALKS

DaLy Skercn, London. Can Chairman Khrushchev say if the
Soviet Union will continue the talks on disarmament and on the
suspension of nuclenr testst

A. Wae shall continue our negotiations in Geneva. The American
imperialists have received some clarification of late. They received
an eye-opener in Sverdlovsk. And if they understand that, then there
is a possibility to reach agreement on the discontinuance of tests.
But if Eisenhower threatens that he will continue testing, then we, too,
will follow suit until the whole world learns who are the true guilty
parties and who is resisting agreement. We at any time are ready to
suﬁr‘l such an agreement.

he disarmament negotiations are another matter altogether. We
are almost convinced that our partners in these disarmament negotia-
tions do not want disnrmament but want simply control over arma-
ments, which is in other words the collection of espionage information.
We will not agree to this. We are for true disarmament, for true
control measures, so that no one should threaten any one else.

What is going on now at Geneva is merely procrastination. But if
this procrastination goes on, we will be compelled to approach the
United Nations and to say that our partners do not want to reach
ai;reement.nnd that we are asking the United Nations General Assem-
bly to consider the matter.

INSISTS ON ASSURANCES

Briogeport HErALD (Connecticut). If your allegations regarding
the U-2 incident are true or even worse, don’t you think that as the
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roat lendor of n great state and knowing that truth is on your side

it would bo better to have the summit conference now than in six or
eight months’ time, considorin;_g the state of tension ¢ .

A. Yes, we are in favor of holding a summit conference. That is
why we cameo to Paris. But the United States must admit its aggres-
sive intrusion, must condemn its act, give assurances that such acts
would not bo repeated and must punish the guilty party. Then, if
it had done so, we would be satisfied and we wouf’d have taken part
in the summit conference, to seek correct solutions for the questions
confronting it. But the United States refused to do this.

ITow then are we to negotiate with an aggressor, with a state that
has committed aggression, and on the contrary is saying that these
flights are U nite(ﬁ tates policy ¢

4fmdi(m and Gentlemen, weo all have mothers.  You all do, too, other-
wise you couldn’t have come into this world.

I remember during my youth 1 was born in a very poor family and
it was only very rarely that my mother could buy us some cream. But
somotimes when she did our cat would creep up and eat some of the
cream, would steal some of the cream. Then my mother usually took
the cat by the scruff of the neck and gave it a good shaking and in
the end would poke its nose into the cream to make it understand
that such stealing was not allowed.

Wouldn’t it be better, Ladies and Gentlemen, to take the Am«rican
aggressors by the scruff of the neck also and give them a little s1.vking
and mako them understand they must not commit such acts of aggres-
sion against the Soviet Union$

PEACEFUIL MEANS A¥FIRMED

Dir Werr, Hamburg.—Do you still consider that international is-
sues should be resolve, by peaceful means?

. A. Yes, Ireaflirm that our policy has always been to solve disputed
issues not by means of war but by penceful negotiations. That is the
policy we have always adhered to and continue to adhere to now.

Q. Do you still adhera to your former proposal regarding the trans-
formation of West Berlin into a free city }

A. Yes, I still adhere to this policy and we see no other reasonable

way out. West Berlin is situated in the center of the German Demo-
cratic Re})ublic, which is a Socialist republic, whereas the system in
West Berlin is a capitalist one.
_ These two systems are antagonistic and this is always fraught with
a conflict. 'Why should we have such a situation? Wouldn’t it be bet-
ter to take a better decision, that is to insure West Berlin a free city
status, withdraw all foreign troops and make it possible for the in-
habitants of West Berlin to choose the social system under which they
want to live, the one which satisfies them the most, and, of course, on
the condition that they are assured freedom of external ties with
the world. :

This recent conflict with the United States aircraft convinces us
all the more that these questions must be solved as we are approaching
the matter with ever greater resolve and urgency. By the way, tomor-
row I am flying to Berlin. We will talk with our comrades, Ulbricht
and Grotewohl, and in general with our friends in the German Dem-
ocratic Republic.
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QUESTIONED ON PEACE PACT

Der Taq, Berlin—Do you intend to conclude a se};mmfe peace treaty
in Berlin? (There were additional shouts of “and when?”)

A. Yes, we do intend to sign not a separate pesce, but n peace treaty
with the German Democratic Republic and thus to put an end finally
to World War IT. In that case, the Western powers will be deprived
of their occupation rights, the right to maintain their troops in West
Berlin. When? That is our business. When we consider the time
to be right, we will take our fountain pens from our pockets—the
necessary drafts have already been prepared and the drafts will be—
we will sit. down and sign the peace treaty and announce it to the world.

I would like to add we are simply intending to do what the United
States did with regard to Japan,

We fought in the war together with the United States against Japan.
But the United States signed a peace treaty with Japan, But we
didn’t. We are exerting all efforts to prove the necessity to sign a
peace treaty together, but we have now almost reached the limits of
our patience and of our effort to have a peace treaty signed together
and when we do reach the limit we will sign such a treaty by ourselves
just as, I repeat, the United States did with regard to Japan.

RECALLS CAMP DAVID MOOD

NarioNaL Broapcasting Co.~—Why, since you knew about theso
flights, did you not tell President Fisenhower about them and ask
him to stop them when you visited the United States?

A. I will answer that question with pleasure. When we wero talking
in Camp David with President Eisenhower I almost opened my mouth
to make that statement,

I was on the point of making it because the atmosphere there was
so convivial with President Eisenhower telling me to call him “My
friend” in English and using the same words with regard to myself
in Russian. And then, thought I, why not raise the matter with this
friend of mine,

But when I became apprehensive and I thought there was somethin
fishy about this friend of mine and I didn’t broach the subject an
it turned out that I was right, because when we caught them red-
handed they say they are not thieves, it’s just their thief-like policy.
That is all.

This recalls to my mind what we used to do in the Donbas when I was
the young boy. Whenever we caught a cat in the pigeon’s loft, we
would catch the cat by its tail and bang its head against the wall and
that was the only way it could be taught some sense.

H1S8 CHOICE FOR PRESIDENT

Corunmsia Broapcasting System.—Since, because by desire or not
you have become a factor in the American political campaign, would
You care to say which President you would prefer to deal with ?
A. T thank you for that question. It is a good question, although
rather a difficult one to reply to. Nevertheless, I will try to reply.
When I was in the United States, I talked with very many Ameri-
<ans, ordinary p.eo§)le, with people who are wealthy, with representa-

tives of the capitalist world, the statesmen, the farmers. And I re-
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tained very good and, I may even sny, pleasant memories of my con-
versations with most of these peoples.

People everywhere ae just like people and they all want peace.
Perhaps they niderstand it in their own way, but that should certainl
not be the ground for any conflict. IPerhaps they don’t agree with
my understanding and I don’t agree with their belief that the capital-
ism system is better. IBut that certainly should not be the object of
any conflict and, all the movre so, of a war.

I am sure that the majority of Americans regret the act perpetrated
by the American Air Force.

It is true there are some Americans who have been kidded into
indignation against the acts of the Soviet Union but to this I can
but reply, how would they themselves feel if we were to fly our aircraft
over thelr country.

But they would certainly come to the conelusion that such flights
are absolutely inadmissible, that this can only end in aggression, can
only bring about & war.

Regarding the question of who, in my opinion, will become the
United States President, there certainly was a person to my liking, a
person with whom I am sure we could have reached agreement.

Ho was a great American, his name was Roosevelt and he was a
worthy representative of the capitalist society, but we cooperated
with him very well indeed during World War II. When he died
his policy died with him.

But we are convinced that persons will come to power in the United
States who will pronounce themselves in favor of reaching mutually
acceptable agreecments.

We have nothing to quarrel about with the American people. They
are in favor of capitalism, that is their business and even then it is
not all the American people who are in favor of capitalism because
many of them are simply under the oppression of the capitalistic
system.

yBut let them come, why doesn’t everyone come to the Soviet Union
and see for themselves what kind of a life we are now leading.

Let even those who have been booing here come. We'll give them
visas, too, and perhaps even they will see the light if they come.

Our country is now second in the world in its industrial produc-
tion, in science and in culture. If I don’t perhaps modestly say that
we are first in the world, we certainly do occupy a worthy place in
human society.

But I do not want to interfere in the American political scene.
We should maintain an attitude of patience and not try to forecast
who will come to the fore in the United States clections. The Ameri-
can people will themselves elect their worthy representative as Presi-
dent elect someone who would not understand the necessity of reach-
ing agreement we can wait we have waited and we wait and, if the next
President doesn’t understand that, we can wait some more. We don’t
need to hurry, we have long ago chosen the correct path, Wehave long
ago determined the correct line of our development and we are con-
vinced that our choice was made correctly and we are marching con-
fidently ahead to the building of a Communist society.

You, perhaps, in time will also understand that this is the only true
road and perhaps you, too, will join this road but even then you wilk
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not even bo parallel with us, you will be lngging behind and trailing in
our wnko. But we don’t hold that against. you, we'll help you to eateh
up and share our oxperience with you,

Comuar, Pavis. M. Chairmnn, you agreed to come to Franco,
despito the facts of the U-2 incident and knowing of the entegorie po-
sition tukon by America.  Waoro you convineed that France might pos-
sibly take up u position of appeasomont ¥ Why in this easo have role-
tions not ru‘uxml despito the intentions and the actions of Goeneral de
Gaulle? Do su think, nonethieless, that theso aetions have sorved the
enuso of peacet

A. Naturally wo knew of the plane incident, in fact, 1 reported on
it in my speoch at the Supreme Soviet,  Why then did wo come hero?
Beeauso wo thought that. perhaps the United States might bo stricken
by some honesty and apologizo for its actions,

All the more so that in the vecont past the United States apologized
to Cuba when an Amervican plane was shot down over thal. country,

Then why shouldn’t they apologize to the Sovielt. Uniont  Well, that
is what. wo thonght, evidently we were mistnken, It was evidently one
thing toapologize to Cubn and another thing to apologize to a Socialist
country.

Woell, that is their business.  1t’s simply a matter of upbringing,
o matter of manners and honor.  Regarding the position taken by
General de Gaulle,  Yes, he did de il he could but nothing enme of his
offorts.

Whyt Waelly 1 ean only refer the correspondent. who asked that,
uestion to General de Gaulle beenuse it was the general who talked
tho matter over with President. Iisonhower and so he knows his renc-
tion. Tdon't.

As to the results, well, my opinion is that even after a war when the
e}ngmy has been routed the people ones again live in peace and friend-
ship.

Wo had no war. What happened was only that someone tried to
boke his nose into our affairs and we punche& that nose so that now
10 certainly knows where the border 1s.  If he comes again, he will
receive another blow as will the bases from which he takes off and
where he intends to land,

Actually, all this should be digested and the world should once again
revert to peace and even more than that to friendship. I am convinced
that that is the opinion entertained by President de Gaulle. But he,
President de Gaulle, found himself in a very awkward situation. That
is my opinion, I don’t know, he may not agree with me. On the one
hand, there was nothing he could do but condemn the action because
he is a man of lofty moral principles and there can be no two opinions
on thismatter. This wasa thief-likesally.

But on the other hand, the obstacle to this was that the thief turned
out to be France’s ally and not simply an ally but a leader in Western
quarters.

But, I don’t want to go into the details of this matter. It concerns
the relationships between the allies. But speaking honestly, if it were
an ally of ours that had acted in this way, we would say that that wasa
bad way to act and that the necessary apologies should be tendered.

Well, there you are, those are the moral principles of communism.
I cannot answer for the moral principles of a capitalist society. I am
a representative of a Socialist society.
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1 would like to ndd to that, if I understand the question to have
meant. how relntions hetweon the Soviet Union and France would
develop after this, then my opinion is that all this will have no impnet,
on the good relations that exist between France nnd the Soviet Hnion
and from the talk I had todey with General de Gaulls T gained thig
sumo impression also, beenuso 1 feel President. de (inalle nlgo wants to
continnen policy of improving relations with the Soviet. Union.

We are cortainly in fuvor of such a policy also, beenuse we hold
Franeo in very high esteem as wao do President. de Guulle, we esteem
tho 'rench nntion, the French enlture, 8o we certuinly hope that our
rolations with I'ranco, far from deferiornting, will improve,

Beriin Ramo, 16 follows from American press reports that the
Amoriean dolegnfo Gates, hus from here declared an emergency alurm
to the Ameriean forces,  How do yon evalunte that net?

A -1 have henred nothing of that report yet, but I certainly have no
renson to disheliove what the corvespondent, snid.

1f this is really so it enn be qualified ag nothing short of w provoca-
tion designed to trick the Amerieans and imposs more tuxes on themn,
Perhaps also it, can be explained by ordinary cownrdice, Sometimes o
cownrd is even more dangerous than a provocation-monger.

A provoceation-monger is trying to provoke war while « coward can
unleash war out of pure cowardice, ll don’t know this Gutes, It’s not,
for me to judge him, Tat the Americans themselves see what sort of
a person he s,

The person I ean vouch for is Marshal Malinovsky, here, a hero of
World Wars I and I, 0 man who fought valiantly against the German
militarists and against Japan during the war, o person who has been
often decorated for his ontstanding services, There is a true son of
a Socialist motherland.  And, as he says, he has not been calling any
alert nor doeshe intend to.

SOVIET POWER CITED

But if this action was designed to somehow prevail upon us, then
some other country should be chosen as the target for such acts, be-
cause we certainly have every possibility of acting with regard to such
provocations in the same way as we used to act with regard to that
thieving cat which used to creep into the pigeons’ loft. We can cer-
tainly teach it a lesson,

[A few minutes were lost here due to a power failure.]

I presume that the United States will attempt to raise the taxes in
the country over this incident to try to increase their orders for military
equipment—{irst to take more money from the pockets of the taxpayers
and thus to gain greater profits out of armaments production.

Our policy is a completely different one.  We have adopted, we have
taken, the decision to abolish all taxation of the population by 1985.
By that time no one in the Soviet Union will pay any taxes at all.

This year, we are completing the conversion of all the workers of
the Soviet Union to a seven-hour working day. By 1964, we will have
a six-hour working day for all the workers and employees of the Soviet
Unign and by that time the coal miner will have but a five-hour work-
ng day. :

%‘]mt is our policy, and no provocation will make us turn aside or
make us swerve from that correct time that we have chosen. That is
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thoe true, the convineed, policy of the Soviet UTnion, a Socialist policy,
t.lnuJ)()li('y of our Communist. party.

Neuves Drursenrano, East Berlin—Mr, Chairman, what in your
opinion is the reason for the change in the position of President. Iisen-
hower sinee your talks in Camp David? bam you explain the reasons
for the difference in the position of the United States in Camp David
and now in Paris?

A. 1 believe the best reply to that question was contained in the

weceding one, the one referring to the alarm, to the emergency alarm—
n the alarm of American troops.

This shows that in the United States the most reactionary forces
in the Pentagon arve coming to the fore, and it is they who sent their
planes on a sortie into the Soviet Union, nndurally with the knowledge
of the United States President.  And thisexplains this piratieal policy
pursued by the United States,

Jornarnpo Brasit, Three questions.  Mr. Chairman : Do you intend
to o to pay a visit to the Latin Ameriean countries in the near futuret

Second, how do you, what is your appraisal of the Latin-American
countries in the the present. world situation? and third, can the Latin-
American countries participate in the solution of outstanding world
problems?

A. Tho reply to the first question is easy regarding any possible in-
tention that 1 might have of visiting Brazil. Nobody has invited me
to come.

LATIN VISITS POSSIBLE

But 1T am not losing hope of being invited to visit the countries
of Latin America. If 1 am I shall gladly avail myself of that
invitation,

As for Latin America, we are happy to hear the pulse of Latin
America’s struggle for independence agninst. American imperialism.
The welcomo accorded to Nixon in Latin American countries was cer-
tainly an omen, a signal.  And I can but welcome the events in Cuba,
where the people proudly and courageously rose up under the banner
for the struggle for their independence. I am convinced that the
other Latin American countries will also rise up in the struggle for
their independence.  We will sympathize with tf:eir struggle and ap-
plaud their successes in this fight.

I am convinced that the peoples of Latin America are accumulating
their forces and that they will play an ever growing role in inter-
national relations, I,Tnfm'tmmte'ly thero still exist in Latin America
today countries whose governments are taking money from their peo-
ple but are serving tho interests of the American imperialists. But
the Latin American people are awakening, and we welcome this
process and sympathize with it.

It is only when the Latin American peoples have their own govern-
ments, governments that will express the will of these peoples, that
these nations will be able to truly raise their independent voices in the
international arena, including the United Nations, and this will cer-
tainly be to the benefit of all the countries of the world, to the benefit
of the cause of peace.

Ladies and gentlemen, I could certainly be ready and willing to go
on with this press conference longer, but the interpreters have inti-
mated that their working day is over and that I should respect the
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labor code. Otherwise they say, “Chairman—Chairman.” They sy,
“You better end your conference, or else we will end it without you.

I want to thank the Government of Irance, I’resident de Gaulle,
the entire Irench ])eople and the citizeng of Paris. And not only
Paris,  Ifor yesterduy, for example, we paid a visit to a village out-
side Parig that Marshall Mulinovsky visited during World War I,
whoen he was in the army,

I want to end by suying that, the Soviet, Union will continue to ad-
hero to the policy of peaceful coexistence hefween two systems, the
systems, that, woe will continue to pursue a policy of peace aimed at
solving all questions at issue by negotiations. DBut at the same time,
wo will firmly stand, woe will firmly defend, our sovercignty. Thig
policy will, I'nm sure, be understood by all the nations, for this is the
only correct policy, o Jmlic of defending one’s sovereignty without
throuts to any one. Good-by. I want to wish you all the best.

But at the same time, I want to voice the hope that you will work
for peace, that your pen will serve the cause of peace and friendship
among the nations, Thank you.

20, COMMUNIQUE OF THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL,
PARIS, MAY 19, 1960

[Depariment of State press release No, 2741

The Permanent Council of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization
met in Paris on May 19, 1960, and heard statements from the Foreign
Ministers of France, the United Kingdom, and the United States on
the events which prevented the holding of the summit conference.

In the communique published at the end of its meeting in Istanbul,
the North Atlantic Council welcomed the prospects of negotiations
with the Soviet Union and expressed the hope that the negotiations
would lead to an improvement in international relations.

It regrets that Mr. Khrushchev’s position has made negotiations
in Parisimpossible.

Reaflirming complete solidarity of the countries of the Alliance, it
fully approves the statement of the three Heads of State or Govern-
ment that “all outstanding international questions should be settled
not by the use or threat of force but by peaceful means throngh nego-
tiations” and “remains ready to take part in such negotiations at any
suitable time in the future”.

21. REMARKS OF PRESIDENT EISENHOWER ON HIS
ARRIVAL AT ANDREWS FIELD, MAY 20, 1960

{White House Press Release]

MiY good friends and fellow citizens:
After a trip of this kind you can well understand what it means
to me to have this kind of a welcome. I am deeply appreciative of
the trouble that each of you took to come out to this spot. It truly
means a lot to me.

As we planned for the Summit, the hopes of the world were not
too high. The experience of the past years had denied us any right
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to bolieve that great advances toward the purpose we seck-—pence
with justico—could be achioved in any great measure.  Yet, it sooms
that. tho identity of interest betweon ourselves and the Soviets in cer-
tain features was so obvious that logically we should have made some
progress,

Cortainly the subjects on which wo wanted to talk wera those that
seomeod so imporfant to them-—for example, disntmament.; the widen-
ing of contaets so (that we would have open sociotios, or slightly more
open societios dealing with each other; then the matter of Berlin and
a divided Germany ; and finally, as between Russia, the U. K and our-
solves somo agreemont on a plan for contiol of nuelear testing,

Therefore, it was a mystery, and remains a mystery, as to why at
this particular moment. the Soviets choso so to distort. and overplay
the U-2 incident that they obviously wanted no talks of any kind,
and, in fact, made it. impossibloe to begin them. I am not. going to
spoculate today as to the future, but it is quite clear that since they
wanted no talks whatsoever at this time that we can be watehful for
more irritations, possibly other incidents that can be more than annoy-
ing, sometimes creating real problems,

Tor oxam ey just today o half hour before T landed, it was reported
to me that tme is 0 C-47 missing in Western Germany. Thig is an
unavmed, slow plane—no possibility of being used for military pur-
poses—and, in fact, T believe it had nine passengors aboard. Thero
was some bad weather and its route took it near the Iastern German
border. Wa do not know at this moment. that any deliberate act de-
layed it, but at least it is overdue. And so, in the atmosphere in
which we now have to think and live we cannot be sure that tkm worst
has not happened.

Now, I may want to talk soon to the nation about, these mattors, and
for that part of it, I now stop. But I do want to tell all of you people
about. three or four encouraging features that T encountered. Tirst of
all, was the assurance of the support of the home folks—from friends,
and from the Joint Chiefs of Staff, from the political leaders of both
parties, from newspaper comments and editorial comment of every
kind——I was assured of the essential solidarity of the United States,
and the sincerity of our peaceful purposes.

Secoudly, was the conduct of my two principal colleagues of the
West. Mr. Macmillan and General de Gaulle were superb. They
spoke with one voice with our Delegation in support of those things
which we thought right and decent and logical.

Thirdly, was an action on the part of the NATO Council yester-
day when Secretary Herter reported to them while I was in Portugal.
The NATO Resolution unanimously supported the three Wostern
powers in what we were trying to do.

And finally, the Portugunese reception. In a way I think they
wanted to provide the United States and the West—and even me per-
sonally—with something of an antidote for some of the disappoint-
ments wo have felt. Government and citizens alike tried to outdo
themselves in the warmth and cordiality of their reception, and on
top of that, in their assurances from every side—newspapers, the ofli-
cials, common people coming in who were serving us in the Palaco—
evervwhere they said—the West in effect is right, and wa want. yon
to know it. And they used every possible way io do it. And for that
day in Portugal yesterday I am grateful.
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Finally, since most, of you will understand that by our time hero it
was one o’clock when 1 urose this morning 1 am sure you expected
nothing of eloquence, But I did want, sincerely to give you some of
my reactions, convictiony as of this moment, nnd to sny agnin to each
of you: Thank you very much indeed.

22, ADDRESS OF PRESIDENT EISENHOWER, MAY 25, 1960
[White House press release)

(As actually deltvered)

My FFellow Americans:

Tonight I want to talk with you about the remarkable events last
week in Parig, and their menning to our future.

First, I am deeply gratoful to the many thousands of you, and to
ropresentatives in Congress, who sent me messages of encouragement
and support while I was in Paris, and later upon my return to
Washington.  Your messnges clearly reveanled your abiding loyalty
to Amorien’s great purpose—that of pursuing, from a position of
spiritual, moral, undl material strength-—a lasting peace with justice.

You reeally of conrse, why 1 went to Paris ten days ago.

Last summer and fall I had many conversations with world leaders;
some of these were with Chairman IKChrushchev, here in Ameriea.
Over those months a small improvement in relations between the
Soviet. Union and the West scemed discernible, A possibility devel-
olwd that the Soviet lenders might at last be ready for serious talks
about our most persistent problems—those of disnrmament, mutunl
insructi(m, atomic control, and Germany, including Berlin.

i e <) . .

o explore that possibility, our own and the British and French
leaders met together, and Inter we ngreed, with the Soviet leaders, to
gather in Parison May 16,

Of course we had no indieation or thought, that basic Soviet policies
had turned about. But when there is even the slightest chance of
strengthening pence, there can be no higher obligation than to pursue
it.

Nor had our own policies changed. We did hope to make some
progress in a Summit meeting, unpromising though previous experi-
ences had been. But as we made preparations for this meeting, we
did not drop our guard nor relax our vigilance.

Our snfety, and that of the free world, demand, of course, effective
systems for gathering information about the military culpubilit,les of
other powm-hﬂ nations, especially those that make a fetish of secrecy.
This involves many techniques and methods, In these times of vast
milifary machines and nuclear-tipped missiles, the ferreting out of
this information is indispensable to free world security.

This has long been one of my most serious preoccupations. Tt is
part of my grave responsibility, within the overall problem of pro-
tecting the American people, to guard ourselves and our allies against
surprise attack,

During the period leading up to World War IT we learned from
bitter experience the imperative necessity of a continuous gathering
of intelligence information. the maintenance of military communica-
tions and contact, and alertness of command.
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An additionnl word seems appropriate about this matter of com-
munications and command. While the Secretary of Defense and I
were in Paris, we were, of course, away {rom our normal command
posts.  Ie recommended that under the circumstances wo test the
coutinuing readiness of our military communications, 1 personally
approved, Such tests are valuable and will be frequently repeated in
the future.

Moreover, as President, charged by the Constitution with the con-
duct of Amerien’s forcign relations, and as Commander in Chief,
charged with the direction of the operations and activities of our
Armed Forces and their supporting services, 1 take full responsibility
for approving all the various programs undertaken by our govern-
nment to seeure and evaluate military intelligence.

It was in the proseeution of one of these intelligenco programs that
the widely publicized U-2 incident occurred.

Aerial photography has been one of many methods we have used
to keep ourselves and the free world abreast of major Soviet military
developments, The usefulness of this work has been well established
tlu‘oug!h four years of effort. The Soviels were well aware of it.
Chairman Khrushehev has stated that he beenme aware of these
flights several years ago.  Only last week, in his Paris press confer-
ence, Chairman Khrushehev confirmed that he knew of these flights
when he visited the United States last September.,

Incidentally, this raises the natural question: Why all the furor
concerning one particular flight? TTe did not, when in American Inst
September charge that these flights were any threat to Soviet safety.
He did not. then see any reason to refuse to confer with American
representatives,

This he did only about the flight that unfortunately failed, on May
1, far instde Russia. .

Now, two questions have been raised about this )l)m't,icular flight;
first, as to its timing, considering the imminence of the Summit meet-
ing; second, our initial statements when we learned the flight had
failed.

As to the timing, the question was really whether to halt the pro-
gram and thus forego the gathering of important information that
was essential and that was likely to be unavailable at a later date.
The decision was that the program should not be halted.

The plain truth is this: when a nation needs intelligence activity,
there is no time when vigilance can be relaxed. Incidentally, from
Pearl Harbor we learned that even negotiation itself can be used to
conceal preparations for a surprise attack.

Next, as to our government’s initial statement about the flight,
this was issued to protect tlie pilot, his mission, and our intelligence
processes, at a time when the true facts were still undetermined,

Our first information about the failure of this mission did not
disclose whether the pilot was still alive, was trying to escape, was
avoiding interrogation, or whether both plane and pilot had been
destroyed. Protection of our intelligence system and the pilot, and
concealment of the plane’s mission, seemed imperative. It must be
remembered that over a long period, these flights had given us in-
formation of the greatest importance to the Nation’s security. In
fact, their success has been nothing short of remarkable.
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For these reasons, what is known in intelligence circles as a “cover-
ing statement” was issued. It was issued on assumptions that were
later proved incorrect. Consequently, when later the status of the
pilot was definitely established, and there was no further possibility
of avoiding exposure of the project, the factual details were set forth.

I then made two facts clear to the public: first, our program of
aerial reconnaissance had been undertaken with my approval; second,
this government is compelled to keep abreast, by one means or an-
other, of military activities of the Soviets, just as their government
has for years engaged in cspionage activities in our country and
throughout the world. Our necessity to proceed with such activities
was also asserted by our Secretary of State who, however, had been
careful-—as was I-——not to say that these pnrticuiar flights would be
continued.

In fact, before leaving Washington, I had directed that these U--2
flights be storped. Clearly their usefulness was impaired. Moreover.
continuing thig particular activity in these new circumstances could
not but complicate the relations of certain of our allies with the
Soviets, And, of course, new techniques, other than aircraft, are
constantly being developed.

Now T wanted no public announcement of this decision until I
could personally disclose it at the Summit meeting in conjunction
with certain proposals 1 had prepared for the conference,

At my first Paris meeting with Mr. Khrushchev, and before his
tirade was made publie, T informed him of this discontinuance and
the character of the constructive proposals I planned to make. These
contemplated the establishment of a system of aerial surveillance
operated by the United Nations.

The day before the first scheduled meeting, Mr. Khrushchev had
advised President de Gaulle and Prime Minister Macmillan that he
would make certain demands upon the United States as a precondition
for beginning a Summit conference.

Although the United States was the only power against which he
expressed his displeasure, he did not communicate this information
tome. I was, of course, informed by ourallies. .

._-At the four power meeting on Monday morning, he demanded. of
the United States four things: First, condemnation of U-2 flights
as a_method of espionage; second, assurance that they would not be
continued; third, a public z?)ology on behalf of the United States;
and, fourth, punishment of all those who had any responsibility
reslpecting this particular mission. - : ' .

. 1 replied by advisir&g the Soviet leader that I had, during the
previous week, stopped these flights and that they would not be
resumed. I offered also to discuss the matter with him in personal
meetings, while the regular business of the Summit might 1‘{)roceed
Obviously, I would not respond to his extreme demands. He knew,
of course, by holding to those demands the Soviet Union was scuttling
the-Summit Conference. : - ; oo

In torpedoing the conference, Mr. Khrushchev claimed that he acted
as the result of his own high moral indignation over alleged American
acts of aggression. As I said earlier, he had known of these flights
for a long time. It is apparent that the Soviets had decided even
before the Soviet delegation left Moscow that my trip to the Soviet
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Union should be canceled and that nothing constructive from their
viewpoint would come out of the Summit Conference. -

In evaluating the results, however, 1 think we must not write the
record all in red ink. There are several things to be written in the
black. Perhaps the Soviet action has turned the clock back in some
measure, but it should be noted that Mr. Khrushchev did not go
beyond invective—a time-worn Soviet device to achieve an immediate
objective. In this case, the wrecking of the Conference.

On our side, at Paris, we demonstrated once again America’s
willingness, and that of her allies, always to go to the extra mile in
behalf of peace. Once again, Soviet intransigence reminded us all
of the unpredictability of despotic rule, and the need for those who
work for freedom to stand together in determination and in strength.

The conduct of our allies was magnificent. My colleagues and
frionds—President de Gaulle and Prime Minister Macmillan—stood
sturdily with the American delegation in spite of persistent Soviet
attempts to split the Western group. The NATO meeting after the
Paris Conference showed unprecedented unity and support for the
alliance and for the position taken at the Summit meeting. I salute
our aliies for us all.

] L] * * * * ]

And now, most importantly, what about the future¢

All of us know that, whether started deliberately or accidentally,
global war would leave civilization in a shambles. This is as true
of the Soviet system as of all others. In a nuclear war there can be
no victors—only losers. Even despots understand this. Mr. Khru-
shchev stated last week that he well realizes that general nuclear
war would bring catastrophe for both sides. Recognition of this
mutual destructive capability is the basic reality of our present rela-
tions. Most assuredly, however, this does not mean that we shall ever

ive up trying to build a more sane and hopeful reality—a better
?undation for our common relations.

To do this, here are the policies we must follow, and to these I am
confident the great majority of our people, regaréless of party, give
their support: .

First, 'We must keep up our strength, and hold it steady.for the
long pull—a strength not neglected in complacency nor overbuilt in
hysteria. So doing, we can make it clear to everyone that there can
be no gain in the use of pressure tactics or aggression against us
and our Allies. . .

Second. We must continue businasslike dealings with the Soviet
leaders on outstanding issues, and improve the contacts between our
own and Soviet peoples, making clear that the path of reason and
commonsense is still open if the Soviets will but use it. .

Third. To improve world conditions in which human freedom can
flourish, we must continue.to move ahead with positive programs at
home and abroad, in collaboration with free nations everywhere. In
doing so, we shall continue to give our strong support to.the United
Nations and the great principles for which it stands. . . o

Now as to the first of these purposes—our defenses are sound. . They
are tailored to the situation confrontingws,” . . .7 ¢
, Their adequacy has been my primary ‘concern for these past'?
years—indeed throughout my adult life. S e o
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In no respect have the composition and size of our forces been
based on or affected by any Soviet blandishment. Nor will they be.
We will continue to carry forward the great improvements already
planned in these forces. They will be kept ready—and under con-
stant review.

Any changes made necessary by technological advances or world
events will be recommended at once.

This strength—by far the most potent on earth—is, I emphasize,
for deterrent, defensive and retaliatory purposes only, without threat
or aggressive intent toward anyone.

* * * * * * *

Concerning the second part of our policy—relations with the
Soviets—we and all the world realize, despite our recent disappoint-
ment, that progress toward the goal of mutual understanding, easing
the causes of tensions, and reduction of armaments is as necessary
as ever,

We shall continue these peaceful efforts, including participation in
the existing negotiations with the Soviet Union. In these negotiations
we have made some progress. We are prepared to preserve and build
on it, The Allied Paris communique and my own statement on re-
turning to the United States should have made this abundantly clear
to the Soviet Government.

We conduct these negotiations not on the basis of surface harmony
nor are we deterred by any bad deportment we meet. Rather we
approach them as a careful search for common interests between the
Western allies and the Soviet Union on specific problems.

I have in mind, particularly, the nuclear test and disarmament
negotiations, We shall not back away, on account of recent events,
from the efforts or commitments that we have undertaken.

Nor shall we relax our search for new means of reducing the risk
of war by miscalculation, and of achieving verifiable arms control.

* * * * * » *

A major American goal is a world of open societies.

Here in our country anyone can buy maps and aerial photographs
showing our cities, our dams, our plants, our highways—indeed, our
whole industrial and economic complex. We know that Soviet at-
taches regularly collect this information. Last fall Chairman Khru-
shchev’s train passed no more than a few hundred feet from an opera-
tional ICBM, in plain view from his window. Our thousands of
books and scientific journals, our magazines, newspapers and official
publications, our radio and television, all openly describe to all the
world every aspect of our society. :

~ Thisis agit should be. We are proud of our freedom.
. Soviet distrust, however, does still remain. To allay these misgiv-
ings I offered five years ago to open our skies to Soviet reconnaissance
aircraft on a reciprocal basis. e Soviets refused. That offer is still
open. At an appropriate time America will sabmit such a.program
to the United Nations, together with the recommendation that the
United Nations itself conduct this reconnaissance, Should the United
Nations accept this proposal, I am prepared to propose that America
supply part of the aircraft and equipment required. - - . = . -
'-This is a photograph of the North Island Nayal Station in’ San
Diego, Calif. It was taken from an altitude of more than 70,000 feet.
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You may not perhaps bo able to seo them on your television screens,
but the white lines in _the parking strips around the field are clearly
discornible from 13 milos up. Those lines are just 6 inches wide,

Obviously most of the details necessar for a military evaluation of
the airflold and its niveraft are clearly distinguishable.
" T show you this hoto%mph as an example of what could be accom-

lished through Unitod Nations aorial surveillance.
* Indoed, if the United Nations should undertake this policy, this
program, and the great nations of the world should accept it, I am
convinced that not only can all humanity bo assured that thoy are snfe
from any surprise attack from any quartor, but indeed the grontest
teusions of all, the fear of war, would be removed from the world. I
sincerely hopo that the United Nations may adopt such a program.

As far as we in Amoricn ave concorned, our programs for incrense
contacts between all I)ouples will continue, Despite the suddenly ox-
pressod hostility of the men in the Kromlin, I remain convinced that
tho basic longings of the Soviet people are much liko our own. I be-
liove that Soviet citizens have a sincoro friondship for the poople of
America. 1doeply beliove that above all olso they want a lasting pence
aad n chaneo for n more abundant life in place of more and more in-
struments of war.

" » w w » » "

Finally, turning to the thivd part of America’s policy-—the strongth-
oning of freedom-—we must do far more than concern ourselves with
military dofonso against, and our relations with, the Communist bloc,
lh\.‘\;muf this, wo must advance constructive programs thronghout the
world for the betterment. of peoples in the now‘xv developing nations.
Tho zigs and zags of the Kremlin cannot be allowed to disturb our
worldwide programs and purposes. In the period nhead, these pro-
grams could well be the ccisive faotor in our persistent search for
peace in freedom. o

To the peoples in the newly developing nations urgently needed
help will surely come. If it does not come from us and our. friends,
these peoples 'will be driven to seok it from the enemies of freedom.
Moreover, those joined with us in defense partnerships look to us for
ptx{‘oof ‘of our steadfastness. We must not relax our common security
efforts. . ( :

-As to this, there is something specific all of us can do, and right now.
Tt is imperative that crippling cuts not be made in the appropriations
fecommended for Mutual Security, whether economic or military.
We imust support this program wit{ all of our wisdom and all of our
girength. Woe are proud to call this a nation of the people. With the
people knowing the importance of this gmﬁmm, and making their
voices heard in its behalf throughout the land, there can be no doubt
of its continued sucoess. :

Cow N » » . . )
" Fellow Americans, long ago T pledged to you that I would journey
anywhere in the world to promote the cause of peace. I remain
ple:l.ged to pursue a peace of dignity, of friendship, of honor, of
justice, - : .
" Qperating from the firm base of our spiritual and physical strength,
&nd seeking wisdom from the Almighty, we and our allies together -
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will continue to work for the survival of mankind in freedom—and
for the goal of mutual respect, mutual understanding, and openness
ameng all nations.

Thank you, and good night.

ArreNnmx 2

1. Questions Ramsep ny SEnator LAuscne ANp ANSWERS Preranrep
BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Question One: To what extent has the Soviet Union been spying
in the United States, West. Germany, and other nations?

In recent years there has heen continued evidence of the exten-
sive nature of Soviet espionnge in the United States, West
Germany and other nations. The manner in_ which the Soviet
mpionu‘p;e gystem functions abroad has been clearly set forth in
the findings of the Royal Commissions in Canada and Australia

which were set up as a result. of the Guzenko and Petrov defec-
tiong. These commissions established that there was not one but
at lTenst three parallel Soviet intelligence networks operating in
Soviet. missions abroad: military, state security and party. To
these may also he added naval and commercial intelhigence net-
works, The activities of eleven Soviet officinls expelled from the
United States since 1953 are described in the attached document,
which wag presented to the United Nations by Ambassador
Henry Cabot Lodge on May 24, 1960,

So far as the espionage nctivities of non-official Soviet person-
nel in the United States are concerued, the case of Colonel Ru-
dolph Tvanovich Abel provides a good example of this type of
activity, Colonel Abel was convicted by a federal jury in New
York on October 25, 1957 for conspiring to steal UJnited States
defense secrets for the Soviet Union. Abel, a veteran of the
Soviet intelligence service, had entered the United States in 1948
under false documents as a United States citizen, Andrew Kay-
otis. While here he nlso used the name Emil Goldfus for which
he had false documents and also documents for a mythical Martin
Collins. During his years in the United States and before his
exposure Abel used a photographer’s studio on Fulton Street in
Brooklyn as a front. from which he operated.

Methods used by Abel and an accomplice, Reino Hayhanen,
were ingenious. In order to contact his superiors, Hayhanen
would place chalk marks at various predesignated points. To
minimize personal contacts and subsequent danger of compromise
by surveillances, a system of widely separated “dead drops” and
“banks” was established throughout the metropolitan area of
New York. Abel was also a specialist in artifacts. In his
“photographic studio” at the time of his arrest were found both
the tools and the devices he fashioned for passing messages:
hollowed-out coins, bolts, jewelrry, magnetic containers, and other
objects in which could be inserted film containing code or plain
text messages and other material for transmittal.

American citizens recruited by Soviet espionage agents include
Julius Rosenberg, Iithel Rosenberg, David Greenglass, Abraham
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Brothman, Miriam Moskowitz, Morton Sobell, Harry Gold, Kurt
P(lmder, Otto Verber, Jack Soble, Myra Soble, Jacob Albam, aund
others.

So far as Soviet espionage in West Germany is concerned, 2
spokesman of the Federal German Republic issued a statement on
May 13, 1960, briefly describing the scale on which the Soviet
Union and other Communist countries practice espionnge within
the territory of the Federal Republic and West. Berlin.  The bul-
letin of the German Federal Government of May 17, 1960, de-
scribes this announcement as follows:

“The spokesman announced that between August 30, 1951, and
December 31, 1959, more_than 18,000 agents of the Soviet Bloc
were apprehended in the Federal Republic and West Berlin,  Of-
these, 1,700 were given prison sentences; about 16,500 were ac-
quitted because of duress, genuine repentance, or vohuntary and
timely confession. All these agents confessed to having had
%1'(1(1!3'8 to carry out espionage in the Federal Republic or in West

erlin,

“Fxact information was given about the authority from which
these agents received their orders. Of the agents npprehended
in 1959, fully 2,325 admitted having worked for the espionage
service of the Soviet-occupied zone of Germany, 264 named the
Soviet. Union as the country from which they had received their
orders and 462 admitted having received orders from other last-
Bloe countries. * * * The corresponding figures for 1958 are:
Soviet zone, 366; Soviet Union, 204 ; other Communist countries,
236.

“In the first quarter of 1960 alone, 588 self-confessed agents of
the Communist Bloc have been apprehended,

“The extent of Communist espionage activities in the Federal
Republic and West Berlin alone, and the increase in these activi-
ties of late, is evident from these figures. To this must be added
that these agents, according to their own confessions, had in each
case fulfilled more than one espionage mission. The 26t agents
of the Soviet. Union apprehended in 1959 had carried out a total
of 790 single missions; the 2,325 Soviet zone agents of the same
year had completed a total of 8,23 missions.

“According to painstaking analysis by the fGerman authorities
the Communist. countries maintain about 16,000 agents on the soil
of the Federal Republic and West Berlin, in spite of an annual
loss of 2,400 to 2,800 such agents. These figures include agents
who have carried out only preparatory missions and agents who
have been hired but not put into service.”

Soviet espionage operatives have also been very active in other
nations. The recent testimony of Aleksander Y. Kaznacheev be-
fore the Senate Internal Security Subcommittee on December
14, 1959, provides extensive evidence concerning Soviet espionage
activities in Asin. Similarly, the testimony of Peter S. Deryabin
before the House Committee on Un-American Activities released
March 17, 1959, provides evidence of Soviet espionage activities
in Austria. The testimony of Yuri A. Rastvorov also before the
Senate Internal Security Subcommittee on February 8, 1956,
April 12, 1956, October 24, 1956 and October 30, 1956, provide
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evidence of Soviel espionage activities in Japan. Other cases
could be given; but it is abundantly clear from the instances ul-
ready cited that Soviet directed espionage activities are worldwide
and extremely extensive in scope.

Question T'wo: Iow many times it has breached its commitments

to other nations in the world-—especinlly the captive nations?

With regard to the number of times the Soviet Government has
breached its commitments to other countries, the Department of
State is not aware of the existence of any statistical compilation.
A mere count. of Soviet violations, whereby, for example, a vio-
lation leading directly to the subjugation and absorption of an
entire country by the U.S.S.R. would be given the same numeri-
cal weight as Soviet infringement of a trade agreement appears,
in the Department’s view, to lack real meaning. Of course, the
Department has closely followed over the years the question of
Soviet treaty violations, which hag additionally been the subject
of close congressional serutiny as in the Senate Judiciary Com-
mittee’s 1956 Staff Study “Soviet Political Agreements and Re-
sults” and in the 1950 report of the House Foreign Affairs Com-
mittee “Background Information on the Soviet Union in
International Relations.”

“Soviet Treaty Violations,” Number 233 (August 10, 1959) in
the series “Soviet Affairs Notes,” describes the principal Soviet
violations. Violations occurring before and after the beginning
of World War I1 are listed separately and appear under country-
by-country breakdowns within each of these two main categories.
A copy of “Soviet. Treaty Violations” is enclosed.

Question Three: Is there a difference between spying by foot on
land on the one hand, and by plane in the air on the other?

Considered in the light of the end purpose of espionage activi-
ties, which may be summarized as the acquisition of information
which the state, against which the activities are directed, wishes
to conceal from tﬁe knowledge of one or more foreign powers,
there would appear to be no fundamental distinction between the
various means which might be employed in securing such
information.

Question Four: Is it in the interest of our country that we abandon
the general and traditional methods of acquiring intelligence?

As indicated by the President in his report to the American
people on May 25, 1960, the security of the United States and of
the free world “demand, of course, effective systems for gather-
ing information about the military capabilities of other powerful
nations, especially those that make a fetish of secrecy. This in-
volves many techniques and methods. In these times of vast
military machines and nuclear-tipped missiles, the ferreting out
of this information is indispensable to free world security. This
has long been one of my most serious preoccupations. It is part
of my grave responsibility, to guard ourselves and our allies
against surprise attack.”

In the same speech the President reiterated his “open skies”
offer as a means of guarding against surprise attack. The Presi-
dent indicated that the United States would at an appropriate
time submit a program to the United Nations with a recommen-
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dation that the United Nations itself conduct nevinl reconnais-
sance.  The program outlined by the President offers the hest
hope for guanrding the peoples of the world agninst surprise
attack.  Unfortunately, the Soviet Government. rejected the
Presidont’s earlive “open skies” proposal. It remning to bo seen
whother the Soviets will rejoct his more recont. suggestion,

Question Five: If wo do so, what are the probabilities of the Soviet
Union following a similnr conrse?

In the Department’s opinion, aven if the United States wero to
abandon the general and traditional methods of nequiring intel-
ligoneo, there is little likelihood that the Soviet Union would
follow u similar course.

Question Six: Why did the Communists brenk their treaty with
the Poles in World War 11 and stab the Poles in the back while the
latter wore fighting the Nazis{

The Molotov-Ribbentrop agreements of August 23, 1039, pro-
viding a ten year non-nggression gunrantes, furnished n basis for
coordinated (Jorman and’ Soviet aggression in Bastern Furope.
Poland was an carly vietim, falling under Nazi attnck only eight
days after the ngreoments were signed.  On Septembor 16, 1939
the US.S.R. sent a note to the Polish Government. stating that
the Polish State was insolvent and that the Polish Government.
had “virtually ceased to operate.” 'The note elnimed that this
situation might “create n menacs to the U.S.S.R.” Using this
pretext, the US.8.R. occupied major parts of Poland on Sop-
tomber 17, 1039, Tess than two months later, Molotov boasted :
e ox x ong swift blow to Poland, first by the German and then by
the Red Avmy, and nothing was left of this ugly offspring of the
Versailles Treaty * * *%

Question Seven: What ave the details concerning the brutal mas-
sacre of Polish soldiers by the Communists in the Katyn forests?

A Select Committee of the House of Representatives made an
exhaustive study of the Katyn Forest massacre in 1952. The re-
})orts of this Committee, The Select Committee To Conduct an

nvestigation and Study of the Facts, Evidence, and Circum-
stances of the IKatyn Forest Massacre, contain more detail on this
subject than is available elsewhere in the Department’s files. The
facts developed by the Committee were brought to the attention
of the United Nations by the U.S. Delegation, and were given
wide circulation abroad through the facilities of the United States
Information Service,

Question Eight: Why, in World War II, did the Reds, while ad-
vancing westward and nearing Poland, induce the Polish eople of
Warsaw to heroically rebel against the Nazi occupiers and then aban-
don them to slaughter by the Nazis?

In various wartime agreements, the allied nations pledged
themselves to conduct the war against the enemy unrelentingly,
and to cooperate after the war in plans for recovery. The
U.S.S.R., however, had its own plans for postwar Communist
expansion in Eastern Europe, as evidenced by subsequent devel-
opments there. This political motive was an important factor
influencing Soviet military inaction during the Warsaw uprising.
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Question Nine: Why did the Soviet break its pledged word that
the people of the sntollite nations, under free and open elections, would
bo permitted to choose the type of government they wanted ?

Soviet. rofusal to grant self-determination to the peoples of the
satollite nutions of Enstern Kurope stems from the Soviet cam-
Fuign during and after World {Vm' II to gain and maintain

Jommunist. control over these nations. The United States does
not. regnrd Soviet domination over the nations of Jastern Kurope
a8 an neceptable permanent condition of affnirs, Regimes in these
countries ‘mvc been forcibly imposed and maintained, as in the
enso of Hungary, by repeated Soviet political and military inter-
vention. Thoe peoples of these countries nre denied hasic freedoms
and renl national independence,

Satisfactory solution of the Eastern Kuropean problem must
bo based, in keeping with the solemn pledges by the United
States, Soviet, and other Allied Governments during and after
World War I1, upon the right of the Kastern European peoples
freely (n) to choose the governments and institutions under
which they will live and (b) to enjoy full national independence
free from all foreign interference in their internal affairs,

Question Ten: Why did the Soviet aid and induce the Red Chinese
to use their military power against. South Koren, resulting in death
and injury to thousnn(ls of American boys?

The Soviet. Union supported Communist China in the Korean
War in order to secure the Soviet satellite government. of North
Koren for the Communist Bloc and, if possible, to expand Com-
munist power to South Koren and in Asia without insti atin;g
n world war which would have resulted from the Soviet Union’s
co-belligerency with North Korea,

Question Eleven: Why did the Soviet encourage the Red Chinese
in the bombardment and killing of innocent people at the Quemoy
and Matsu Islands?

The Soviet Union has consistently supported the claims of
Communist China to Quemoy and Matsu. During the offshore
islands crisis, in mid-1954, however, the Soviet leaders spoke of
“popular” but not Soviet “government” support of the Chinese
Communists “liberation aspirations” toward the offshore islands.
At that time they did not threaten to evoke the 1950 Sino-Soviet
“Treaty of Friendship, Alliance and Mutual Assistance”. In the
1958 offshore island crisis Khrushchev did issue the warning that
“an attack on the Peogle’s Republic of China, which is a great
friend, ally, and neighbor of our country, is an attack on the So-
viet Union” and that if Communist China fell victim to an atomic
attack the aggressor would get a rebuff by the same means. The
Chinese Communists, who have consistently followed aggressive
thcies, probably needed no encouragement to initiate the bom-

ardment of Quemoy, but it is likely that, prior to the 1958 attack,
the Red Chinese received some expression of support from the
Soviet Union,

Question Twelve: Whai is the explanation for the mass and mereci-
less murder of the freedom fighters of Hungary, Poland, and East
Germany, who were fighting for liberation 'in those respective
countries?
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Thoe Communist. regime in Hungary was foreibly imposed by
the Soviet. Union upon the Hungarvian people at the end of World
War 1L Since that time, the Hungarian regime has been and
remains, in all essentinl matters, Soviet-dominated. Because of
its origin and nature, it is dependent. in the final analysis ui)on
Soviet. power for its cnntinum‘ ability to exist and to rule. The
Hungarian uprising was so general and sweeping that it unseated
this Soviet-dominated regime, attracted large numbers of the
Hungavian armed forces to either active or passive support of
the revolutionary movement, and placed temporary control of
the country in the hands of the Freedom Fighters and of a new
coalition government. hended by Imre Nagy, which supported the
aims of the revolution. Confronted by%{\ese internal develop-
ments which clearly pointed to the renhzation by the Hungarian
people of their aspiration to live in freedom and independence,
and fearing the disintegrative effect which a successful Hungarian
revolt would have on the Soviet Bloe structure, the Soviet (Tnion
intervened ruthlessly with massive armed force to crush the re-
volt. and reimpose n Soviet-dominated regime upon the IHun-
im.rian people.  IFollowing the Soviet intervention, the new
Tungarian regime, supported by the continued presence of So-
viet troops within Hungary, undertook a campaign of systematic
and harsh reprisals agninst the leaders and participants in the
revolt aimed at. the suppression of all remaining overt dissent and
opposition, the re-establishment and consolidation of its power
and authority, and the discouragement of any future attempts at
rebellion.

In East Germany in 1953 and in Poland in 1956 unrest occurred
as o result of popular dissastisfaction with the situation in those
countries. In contrast to the 1956 events in Hungary, however,
these disturbances were short-lived and resulted in relatively
little bloodshed.
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LETTER DATED 24 MAY 1960 FROM THE PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA TO THE SECRETARY-GENERALY

Encloged herewith is a memorandum giving detailed information on the
1llustrative list of Soviet espionage agents apprehended in the United States
since the death of Marshal Stalin to which I referred in my statement in the
Security Council on 25 May.

I request that this memorandum be circulated as & Security Council document.

i (Bigned) H.C. Lodge

e it e A re
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lunited Nations Sscurity Council Documents 1325, May 2L, 1960,
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE ACTIVITIES OF THE INDIVIDUAIS
NAMED BY AMBASSADOR LODGE IN HIS STATEMENT IN THE SECURITY
COUNCIL ON 23 MAY 1960 FOLLCWS:

1. Commander Igor Aleksandrovich Amosov

Amosov entered the United States 17 February 1952 as Assistent Soviet Naval
Attache. Amosov was the Soviet principal in an intelligence operation directed
by the Soviets from their Naval attache's office. He served in this capacity
from 7 June 1952 until his departure in February 1954, Torgets assigned by
Amosov to the recruited agent included radar developments, details of the latest
cargo ships, manuals reflecting details of the latest electronic developments
and bambsight data. le paid this agent a total of $2,000 for his services.,
Amosov was declared persona non grata for these activities on 3 February 1954
and left the United States on 7 February 1954.

2, Colonel Ivan Aleksandrovich Bubchikov

Bubchikov entered the United States 1 December 1954 as an 4ssistant Soviet
Military Attache., Frem July 1955 through May 1956, Bubchikov maintained contact
with a naturalized American citizen of Russian origin who was employed as & sales
engineer. In July 1955 he appeared at the sales engineer's residence late in the
evening and sought his co-operation in securing data concerning jet fuel, atcmic
submarines, and aeronautical develorments. Bubchikov offered the engineer large
sums of money. In view of these ectivities the Department of State on 14 June 1956
declared Bubchikov persona non grata for engaging "in espionage activities
incompatible with uis continued presence in this country". He departed the
United States 24 June 1956.

3. Major Yuri PFavlovich Krylov

Krylov entered the United States 4 May 1955 as Assistant Soviet Military
Attache, Washington, D.C. 1In August of 1955, Krylov contacted an employee of
the Atcmic Energy Ccmmission and attempted to obtain frcm him information
concerning the technical aspects of nuclear power. In 1957, Krylov was declared
persona non grata for having improperly purchased quantities of electronic
equipment through American intermediaries and having attempted to purchase
classified military information. He departed the United States 26 January 1957.
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Lk, HNikolay Ivanovich Kurochkin

Kurochkin enterad the United States U April 1956 as a Third Secretary of the
Soviet Embassy, Washington, D.C. In the fall of 1956 a profegssional writer
contacted the Soviet Pmbassy seeking statistics as to hosiery production in the
Soviet Unlon., He met Kurochkin, who supplied the desired statistical data and,
after a series of meetings, informed the writer that if he would obtain military
information - including training and field manuals of the United States Army - to
be incorporated in articles Kurochkin was writing for Russian military Jjournals,
he would share with him his proceeds from the articles. The writer obtained
unclassified training and field manuals of the United States Army which he turned
over to Kurochkin, but did not deliver the classified manuals which Kurochkin had
requested. He was paid approximately $450. On 6 June 1958, Kurochkin was declared
persona non grata for engaging in activities incompatible with his diplomatic
status. He departed from the United States on 11 June 1958,

5. Vasiliy Mikhailovich Molev

Frcm August 1944 through January 1957, Molev served several tours of duty in
the United States, occupying positions of chauffeur and property custodian to the
Soviet Consulate General in New York and property custodian at the Soviet Embassy,
Washington, D.C. Boris Morros, an admitted Soviet agent co-operating with the FBI,
wag instructed by his Soviet superiors to appear in the vicinity of 56 West
58th Street, New York City, at 3 p.m. on the first Tuesday of each month for
contact by his Soviet principal. 1If the contact was not made, Morros wes
instructed by the Soviets to return the fbllow:lng Wednesdsy and Thursday. On
Wednesday, 7 January 1953, Special Agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation
observed Molev in the vicinity of 58 West 58th Street, New York City. Morros was
later instructed by his Soviet principal to meet his Soviet contact on Tuesdsy,

3 March 1953, on the corner of Central Park South and Avenue of the Americas, New
York City. On 3 March 1953, Molev was observed by Special Agents of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation meeting with Morros at Central Park South and Avenue of the
Americas. On this occasion Morros passed to Molev a report previously obtained
from Jack Soble, Morros' immediate superior, who was.subsequently convicted of
esplonage. On 25 January 1957, Jack Soble, Myra Soble, and Jacob Albam were
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arrested on charges of espionage and conspiracy. Simultaneously, Molev was
declared persona non grata because of his implication in the conspiracy. He
departed the United States 28 January 1957.

G. Aleksandr Petrovich Kovalev

Kovalev arrived in the United States 8 October 1950 as & Second Secretary of
the Soviet Delegation to the United Nations. In the course of his stay in the
United States Kovalev arranged to recelve undeveloped microfilms of materials of
intelligence significance at a drop area in New York City. The recruited agent
was told to park his car in a designated area in New York City at a designated
time and to place a package wrapped in red paper therein so that it could be seen
through the rear window in the event material was to be passed. An additional
signal by way of marking e telephone directory in a New York restaurant was
perfected to indicate to the agent that the material delivered to the dead drop
was picked up. Material of intelligence significance was left by the recruited
agent in the New York dead drop area and it was retrieved by Kovaleve The agent
was given $500 to purchase an electronic device for delivery to the Soviets an
additional $500 in payment for delivery of & microfilm reproduction of portions of
a manual dealing with an autcmatic steering device for ships. Kovalev was declared
persona non grata by the Department of State for his actions in this case on
3 February 1954 and he departed the United States 10 February 195h.

7. Colonel Maksim Grigorievich Martynov

Martynov entered the United States on 3 November 1954 &as a member of the
Soviet representation to the United Nations Military Staff Ccumittee. In
August 1954, a Soviet national met & United States Army officer in Germany. The
Soviet national, aware of the officer's plan to retire from the Army, asked him to
be of assistance in obtaining Military Manuals frcm the Army Command and General
staff School at Leavenworth, Kansas when the Soviet national came to the United
States. Meetings in New York City were arranged and a code phrase was established
for recognition purposese.

on 15 November 1954, a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,
made up to resemble the Army officer, was contacted at the agreed time and place
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in New York City by Martynov. Prearranged signals were exchanged and they tslked
for approximately thirty minutes. Martynov indicated he wac a friend of the
Soviet National who contacted the officer in Germany and he asked for the proposed
aseistance, paying him $250. A subsequent meeting was scheduled for

15 January 1955, On that date, Martynov kept the appointment and the FBI agents
accosted hims Martynov identified himself and claimed diplomatic immunity. On
21 February 1955, the Department of State expelled Martynov for the above activity
and he departed the United States 26 February 1955.

8. Vikter Iveanovich Petrov

Petrov arrived in the United States 17 February 1953 ss a trapslator employed
at the United Nations Secretariat, New York City. Petrov responded to en
advertisement placed in a New York newspaper by an aviation draftsman for part-
time work. The draftsman was an employee of one of our largest aircraft factories.
At the outset, Petrov gave the draftsman insignificant drafting work, later asking
him to send for various brochures on aviation. Petrov requested the draftsman to
obtain information concerning United Statés Military Aircraft. The information
sought was classified, it concerned the statis of United States aircraft
developuent. On 20 August 1956, information concerning Petrov's activities was
brought to the attention of the Secretary-General of the United Nations as a
result of which Petrov's employment at the United Nations was terminated. Petrov
departed the United States on 23 August 1956.

9. Captain Boris Fedorovich Gladkov

Gladkov entered the United States 15 December 1953 as Naval Advisor to the
Soviet Representation in the Military Staff Comnittee of the United Nations.
Gladkov met a sales engineer for a New York City Marine Engineering firm at a
cocktail party. He cultivated the sales engineer and held 8 number of clandestine
meetings with him. Through the engineer, Gladkov attempted to obtain information
relating to United States ievelopments and progress in the field of marine engine
design and operation and informed the American citizen that he, Gladkov, had
access to fund of money for the purchase of sensitive and classified information
on new develorments in the field of design and operation of power plants on
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various types of naval crafts. Gladkov also sought to obtain, and offered to pay
a large sum of money for, publications dealing with fleet training. During his
meetings with the sales engineer which continued on a regular basis Gladkov
furnished the engineer $1,550. On 22 June 1956, the Department of State expelled
Gladkov for engeging in activities which were inccmpatible with his status as a
member of the Soviet Delegation to the United Nations. He departed 12 July 1956,

10. Lieutenant Colonel Leonid Yegorovich Pivnev

Pivnev entered the United States on 17 March 1950 as Assistant Soviet Air
Attache. Pivnev endeavoured to utilize a Washington businessman's address as a
mail drop. He explained to the businessman that he would have mail delivered to
him at the businessman's address, which mail was to be addressed to a fictitious
person and which, upon receipt, was to be delivered by the businessman to him.

On 24 March 1954, he inquired at a Virginia aerial photographic concern as
to the possibility of purchasing aerial maps of Chicago, Illinois. He instructed
the firm to seek such maps and agreed to pay approximately $8,000 for them. On
that date he purchased thirty.three aerial photographs of Washington, D.C. and
vicinity. Pivnev, in contacting this firm, identified himself as one "George".
On 3 May 1954, he contacted a Washington, D.C. photographer, intrcducing himself
as a Mr. George Tinney, a representative of & private firm desirous of purchasing
aerial photographs of the New York City area at a scale of 1:20,000 to
1:40,C00 feet. Fhotographs of this type were not comrercially available. On
13 May 1954, ue agreed to pay the photographer $700 to obtain the photographs.

He advanced on that date the sum of $400 as partial payment. On 20 May 195k,
when meeting with the photographer for the purpose of obtaining the photographs,
he was accosted by special agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation on which
occasion he identified himself. On 29 May 1954, the Department of State declared
Pivnev persona non grata and he departed 6 June 195k,
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11. Vadim Aleksandrovich Kirilyuk

Kirilyuk arrived in the United States 11 September 1958 as a political
affairs officer employed by the Department of Trusteeship and Information for
Non-Self-Governing Territories, United Nations Secretariat. In April 1959, an
American citizen contacted a Soviet official in Mexico City concerning the
possibility of obtaining a Soviet university scholarship. The Soviet official
obtained complete background information from the American, including the facts
concerning his previous assignment in cryptographic machines and systems while
serving in the United States Army. Following his return to the United States,
the American was contected by Kirilyuk, who identified himself as one "George".
During the period from June through September 1959, Kirilyuk met with the American
in a clandestine manner on five occasions. On these occasions he requested data
concerning cryptographic machines and instructed the American to seek employment
with a vital United States Goverrnment agency. Information concerning Kirilyuk's
activities was brought to the attention of the Secretary-General of the
United Nations whereupon Kirilyuk's employment at the United Nations was
terminated. Kirilyuk and his family left the United States on 10 January 1960.
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SOVIET TREATY VIOLATIONS*
1. INTRODUCTION

The Soviet Union...from the very first days of its existence has accurately
and loyally observed the international obligations which it has assumed. The
scrupulous observance by the Soviet Union of the treaties and agreements which
its representatives have signed is recognized even by those who are unfavorably
disposed toward it.

--S. Krﬁov, Professor of International Law, Moscow State University,
(Izvestiya, May 26, 1957.)

Few nations can match the USSR in vociferous protestations of loyalty to international
obligations. However, such declarations -- which are typical of Soviet propagandists and
scholars alike « diverge widely from actual Soviet practice. In the years since the.Bolshevik
Revolution the Soviet Government, while consistently accusin% others of bad faith in inter-
national dealings, has not hesitated to violate its own treaty obligations when such action
appeared to be in its interest.

Like most totalitarian states, the Soviet Union recognizes the respect in which legal
principles are held by the vast majority of countries of the world. Soviet textbooks in
international law profess the standard principle of pacta sunt servanda (treaties must be
observed), though stressing at the same time that capitalist states violate treaties as a
normal rule. The latter claim in turn paves the way for any necessary justification of
treaty violations by the Soviet Union, since the Soviet Government habitually accuses the
other party of violation as an excuse for its own nonobservance of a given convention. A
1951 text in international law, for example, describes the "nullification" by the Soviet
Government of {ts 1932 nonaggression pact with Finland as "unquestionably correct and
fully justified," since this act was "the result of systematic and provocatory breaches of
&e obligations of the stated pact by the Finnish side."l The facts of the case were quite

e reverse.

While Soviet writers tend to be circumspect in discussing treaty obligations, their
approach to international law in general may be somewhat more revealing of the Soviet
attitude. International law, as seen by Soviet theorists, is essentially an instrument of
policy, and its institutions and practices are employed to the extent that they are useful,
The matter is put succinctly in one Soviet textbook by Professor Kozhevnikov:

Those institutions of international law which can facilitate the accomplish-
ment of the stated tasks are recognized and applied in the USSR; those which
contradict these aims in any way are rejected by it /the USSR/.2

* Soviet Affairs Notes, Yo, 233, August 10, 1959,

I.”  F¥.I. Kozhevnikov, Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Institute of Law, Mezhdunarodnoe
Pravo /International Law/, Moscow, 1951, p. 421.

2. F. I, Kozhevnikov, Sovetskoe Gosudarsb%o i Mg%d\marodnoe Pravo /The Soviet
State and Internatfonal Law/, Moscow, » P. 20,
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Although the Soviet Union does not specifically extend this principle to the observance
of treaties, in practice the mental transition is not a difficult one. The peace treaty of
Brest Litovsk, the first treaty concluded by the Soviet regime, was signed in order to
gain whatever protection it might afford, but without any intention on the Soviet side of
abiding by the treaty's provisions. "Yes, of course we are violating the treaty," de-
clared Lenin 'n March 1918, "we have already violated it 30 or 40 times," 1

Later Soviet leaders have hesitated to speak so bluntly, but the history of the last
40 years provides numerous examples of deliberate treaty viojations by the Soviet regime.
A cursory examination of the gbxbllc conventions entered into by the Soviet Union during
this period reveals well over 50 violations. The USSR has disregarded treaty provisions
inconvenient to itself, has unilaterally denounced conventions to which it was a party,

has threatened abrogation as a means of intimidation, and has on several occasions
attacked fellow signatories to treaties of friendship and non-aggression. The cases in
this study are some of the more outstanding instances of these practices.

1. PREWAR AGREEMENTS

Treaties of the Soviet Union are based on principles of equality,
sovereignty and mutual benefits of states, while treaties of bourgeois
countries are based on the principle of the strong over the weak.

--V.1. Lisovskii, Mezgdmg;%%ge Pravo /International Law/,
Kiev University Press, » P . .

Violation of the Kellogq-Briand Pact, 1929

The Soviet Union adhered to the Kellogg-Briand Pact in September 1928 upon
invitation of the original signatory powers, thereby renouncing war as an instrument of
national policy. Adherence to the pact, however, failed to deter the USSR from employ-
ing force against its eastern neighbor, China, in the following year.

Notwithstanding its self-proclaimed policy of "anti-imperialism," the Soviet
Union had retained ownership and control of the Chinese Eastern Railroad, inherited
from the Tsarist regime. Chinese resentment at this survival of Russian domination
in Manchuria, coupled with irritation at subversive activities directed from Soviet
diplomatic establishments in China, resulted, in 1929, in confiscation of the railroad
by the Chinese and the arrest of a number of Soviet employees. The Soviet Government
rebuffed attempts to settle the dispute by diplomatic means, preferring to employ its
clearly superior military power to force a return to the status gl:;? ante. In October
and November 1929 Soviet troops, supported bg aircraft and ats, invaded
Manchuria and secured the capitu'latlon of the Chinese after the latter had lost some
6,000 men in a brief and futile resistance. Efforts by the United States and other
Western powers to invoke the Kellogg-Briand Pact and to encourage a settlement
by peaceful means were brusquely rejected by the Soviet Government.

The Lityinov Aqreements

In 1933 the United States recognized the Government of the USSR following
negotiations and an exchange of letters between Soviet Foreign Minister Litvinov and
President Roosevelt in re?ard to various outstanding differences between the two
countries. In his letter of November 16, 1933, Litvinov stated:

1. ar and Peace ) or ew York, , vol. VII, p. .
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«..it will be the fixed policy of the Government of the Unjon of Soviet
Socialist Republics, ..not to permit the formation or resldence on its
territory of an?l organization or group -~ and to prevent the activity on
its territory of any group or organization -~ which has as an alm the
overthrow or the preparation for the overthrow of, or the bringing about
by force of a change in, the political or social order of the whole or
any part of the United étates, its territories or possesslons.

The Forelgn Minister's avowal produced no effect whatever upon the activities of
the Third International, or Comintern, which continued to carry out its role as the
organizer and directing center of the world communist movement from its Moscow head~
qunrters. The purpose of the Comintern, clearly defined in its statutes and theses, was
"the struggle by all available means, incfudmg armed forces, for the overthrow of the
international bourgeoisie and the creation of an international Soviet Republic."

Although the Comintern was formally dissolved in 1943, Soviet-inspired communist
activity in the United States continued unabated. Evidence of systematic violation of the
Litvinov agreements after 1946 was brought to light by convictions under the US Alien
Registration Act of 1940, which made it a criminal offense "to organize or help to organize
any soclety, grouf or assembly of persons who teach, advocate or encourage the over-
throw or destruction of any Government in the United States by force or violence." The
trial and conviction in 1949 in a US Ferleral Court in New York of 11 communist leaders
revealed that the American Communist Party, acting upon orders of the Soviet Unfon
issued by Dmitrl Manuilsky, Comintern leader ard in 1949 Foreign Minister of the
Ukrainian SSR, had returned to a policy of violent revolution.

The Litvinov agreements also contained the following provision, as stated by
Litvinov in another letter to President Roosevelt on November 16, 1933:

+«.the Government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics,
while reserving to {tself the right of refusing visas to Americans de-
siring to enter the Union of Soviet Socfalist Republics on personal
grounds, does not intend to base such refusals on the fact of such
persons having ecclesiastical status.

In March 1855 the Soviet Government expelled the Reverend Georges Bissonette,
the most recent in a succession of clergymen of the Assumptionist Order who had resided
in Moscow and ministered to the spiritual needs of American nationals of the Roman
Catholic faith in Moscow. The Soviet Government refused entry to the Reverend Louis
Dion as successor to Father Bissonette on the grounds that the Litvinov-Roosevelt
agreement provided for reciprocity in the admission of clergymen to the respective
countries. Although the 1933 agreement contained no provision to this effect -- of
which the Soviet Union's fajlure to make any such claims in the intervening years was
ftself tacit admission -~ the Soviet Government continued to bsy Father Dion for nearly
four years, He was finally admitted in January 1959, after repeated representations by
the United States to the Soviet Government.

Lnvasion of Poland, 1939

On July 25, 1932, the Soviet Union and Poland sifned a treaty of non-aggression.
The treaty was extended by the protocol of May 6, 1934, and was reaffirmed by the
statements of November 28, 1938. Article 1 of the 1932 non-aggression pact stated:

The two Contracting Parties, rewording the fact that they have
renounced war as an instrument of national policy in their mutual
relations, reciprocally undertake to refrain from aggressive
action against or invading the territory of the other Party, separately
or together with other powers.
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In September 1939, less than 12 months after having reaffirmed this treaty, the
Soviet Upion invaded Poland. The territory of the Polish state was divided with Nazi
Germany. The Soviet Government coolly explained its act of aggression in these words:
"The Polish State and {ts government have virtually ceased to exist. Treaties con-
cluded between the USSR and Poland have thereby lost their validity."

Forelgn Minister Molotov, speaking to an extraordinary session of the USSR
Surreme Soviet on October 31, 1939, gloated over the easy conquest of Poland. “"The
ruling circles of Poland; he said, "were very proud of the 'durability' of their govern-
ment and the 'might’ of their army. Nevertheless, it turned out that a qaick blow
against Poland, first by the German Army and then by the Red Army, sufficed to leave

nothing remaining of the ugly offspring of the Versallles Treaty."

The Attack on Finland

By the Treaty of Peace between the Soviet Union and Finland, concluded in October
1920, the Soviet Government recognized the independence and sovereignty of Finland,
and both parties agreed "to maintain for the future an attitude of peace and goodwill
towards one another." On January 21, 1932, the Soviet Union and Finland signed a
treaty of nonaggression, which, on April 7, 1934, was renewed for 10 years, Finland,
seemh;{qlﬁ, could also take comfort from the fact that the Soviet Unlon, by adherence
to the Kellogg-Briand Pact, had renounced war as an instrument of national policy
and had joined the League of Nations in September 1934. Article 12 of the League
Covenant re&ulred that disputes be submitted to the League for arbitration and en&ulry,
and that neither party should resort to war until three months after the award of the
arbiters or the report of the Council.

In October 1939 the Soviet Government, summoning a Finnish representative
to Moscow, presented to Finland a series of demands, including cession of territory
and disarming of zones along the Finnish-Soviet border. The Finns were disinclined
to accede to the Soviet "proposals," and negotiations reached a deadlock. On November
28, 1939, the Soviet Union announced the abrogauon of its nonaggression pact with
Finland after a "frontier incident” and rejected a Finnish proposal for a commission
of enquix%. On November 29, the Soviet Union attacked Finland without a declaration
of war. Thirty Red Army divisions crossed the frontier, towing in their wake a
"Finnish People's Government, " headed by former Comintern secretary Otto Kuusinen.
The puppet regime, which established itself at Terijoki near the Soviet border, was
recognized by the USSR on December 1 as the legitimate government of Finland. On
December 4 Molotov, responding to a communication from the League of Nations, stated:

The Soviet Union is not at war with Finland and does not threaten
the Finnish people. The Soviet Union maintains peaceful relations with
the Democratic Republic of Finland.,

Under the terms exacted from Finland by the Treaty of Peace of March 12, 1940,
the Soviet Unlon annexed the Karelian Isthmus and other Finnish territory. By the later
peace treaty of February 10, 1947, the Soviet Union secured additional Finnish territory
as a prize for its re-invasion of Finland 1n 1941,

Fate of the B States
Like Finland, the three Baltic republics had been officially assured of Soviet
friendship and peaceful intentions. As stated in the nearly identical language of the 1920
peace treaties:
...Russia unreservedly recognizes the independence and autonomy

of the State of Estonia /Latvia, Lithuania/, and renounces voluntarily
and forever all rights of sovereignty formerly held by Russia...

56412 0—60——19
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These professions of good faith were reinforced by treaties of nonaggression and
peaceful settlement signed by the Soviet Unlon with each of the three countries. The
text of the treaty with Estonia stated:

Article 1. Both High Contmctlmi Parties mutually guarantee the
inviolability of the frontiers existing between them...and undertake

to refrain from any act of aggression or any violent measures directed
against the integrity and inviolability of the territory or against the
political independence of the Other Contracting Party, whether such
act of anresslon or such violent measures are undertaken separately
or together with other powers, with or without a declaration of war...

This treaty, virtually identical to those signed with Latvia and Lithuania, was by
1939 a doubtful indicator of true Sovlet intentions toward these countries. A secret
protocol to the Nazi-Soviet Pact, signed August 23; 1939,. placed Estonia and Latvia
within the Soviet sphere of interest. A second treaty, with secret protocols, on
September 28 transferred Lithuania to the Soviet sphere in exchange for addftiona.l
Polish territory for Germany.

On September 29, 1939, the Soviet Union compelled Estonia to sign a pact of mutual
assistance. Lativa and Lithuania signed similar treaties on October b and 10, respective~
ly. The USSR received leases on military bases and port installations and the right to
maintain armed forces on the territories of the states concerned.

Its immediate object achieved, the Soviet Unfon once again gave guarantees to
its small neighbors., Clause V of the Estonlan and Latvian treaties stated:

The entry into force of this pact shall in no way infringe upon the
sovereign rights of the Contracting Parties, particularly their economic
system and social structure.

Clause VII of the Lithuanian treaty stated in more specific terms

Entry into force of this pact shall not affect to any extent the
sovereign rights of the Contracting Farties, in particular their state
organization, economic and social systems, military measures and,
in general, the principle of noninterference in internal affairs.

Further assurances were provided by Foreign Minister Molotov in a speech to the
USSR Supreme Soviet on October 31, 1939:

We stand for the scrupulous and punctilious observance of the
pacts on the basis of complete reciprocity and we declare that all
the nonsensical talk about the Sovietization of the Baltic countries
is only to the interest of our cormumon enemies.,

On June 15 and 18, 1940, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania were occupied by Soviet
troops. On July 21 the three states, foﬁowlng the forced resignation of their governments,
were incorporated into the USSR.

1. Treaty with Estonia, Mag 4, 1932, extended by the protocol of April 4, 1934; with
Latvia, February 5, 1932, extended by the proiacol of April 4, 1934; with Lithuania
on Sepfember 28, 1926, extended by the protocol of April 4, 1934.

2. Pravda, Nove' er 1, 1939.




EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 273

M. WARTIME AND POSTWAR AGREEMENTS

Unilateral, arbitrary abrogation of treaties contradicts international
law. However, despite this, arbitrary annulment of treaties is a common
occurrence in the practice of capitalist states.

--F.I, Kozhevnikov in Academy of Sciences of USSR, Institute of
Law, Mezhdunarodnoe Pravo /International Law/ Moscow, 1951, p. 421.

Sovjet Treaty Violations in Iran

Soviet obligations toward Iran were governed by wartime agreements as well as
by the Soviet-Iranian Treaty of Friendship, still in force, concluded on February 26, 1921.
Included in the Treaty of Friendship was a mutual undertaking by each party "to abstain
from any intervention in the internal affairs of the other." The stationing of British
and Soviet forces in Iran during the Second World War was regulated by the Tripartite
Treaty of Alllance concluded by the two powers with Iran on January 29, 1942, Article
V of this treaty stated:

The forces of the Allied Powers shall be withdrawn from Iranian
territory not later than six months after all hostilities between the
Allled Powers and Germany and her associates have been suspended
by the conclusion of an armistice or armistices or on the conclusion
of a peace treaty between them, whichever date is the earlier...

In Article 1V of the same treaty, Britain and the Soviet Unjon agreed "to disturb as
little as possible the administration and the security forces of Iranf e economic life
of the country, and the application of Iranfan laws and regulations.”

On December 1, 1943, during the "’ehran Conference, the Big Three Issued a
communique stating: "The Governments of the United States, the USSR, and the United
Kingdom are at one with the Government of Iran in their desire for the maintenance of
the independence, sovereignty, and territorial integrity of Iran." Later, in a letter of
September 20, 1545, Foreign Minister Molotov reaffirmed Soviet obligations under the
Tripartite Treaty: .

As regards the complete withdrawal of Soviet troops from Iran,
the Soviet Governmenl, as you are aware, takes the view that this
withdrawal of troops should be effected within the period laid down
in the Anglo-Soviet-Iranian Treaty.

Notwithstanding these varfous commitments, the Soviet Union began to promote

rebellion in the northern area of Iran occupied by Soviet troops. Disturbances broke out
in the fall of 1945 in the Soviet-controlled Iranian province of Azerbajjan. Rebels,
equipped with Soviet arms and led by the Iranian Communist Pishevari, were aided by
Soviet agents who crossed into Iran. On December 12, 1945, the retels prociaimed the
Autonomous Republic of Azerbaijan. Red Army troops provided full protection and pre-
vented Iranian troops from reaching the scene, Shortly afterwards rebels in the neighboring
Kurdish province, carrying Soviet arms and wearing Soviet uniforms, proclaimed an
independent Kurdish republic. In Azerbaijan, Pishevari broadcast his thanks to the Red
Army for its assistance. Although the Iranian Government appealed to the United Nations,
tzhelzé%%els remained in control and Soviet troops failed to leave by the agreed date of March

, .
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In April 1945 Iranfan Promier Qavam, who had gone to Moscow to attempt a
settlement, agreed under duress to the withdrawal of the Iranian complaint before
the United i\latlons, to the admission of threo Communists to his cabinet, and to the
establishment of a joint Soviet-Iranian oil company (Russia holding 61 percent of the
stock) for exploitation of oll in northern Iran. On May 9, 1046, Red Army forces were
withdrawn from Iran, more than two months after the deadline. Subsequently the
Iranian Promier, under strong pressure at home, dismissed the Communists from
the cabinet. In f\lovcmber 1946 the Iranian Government sent troops into the northern
provinces, and the rebel regimes in Azerbaijan collapsed on December 16, 1846, On

ctober Zé, 1847, the Iranian Majlis refused to ratify the Soviet-Iranian ot agreement. |

Abpogation of Treatics with Gireat Brltein and France

On May 26, 1942, the Soviet Union and the United Kingdom signed a Treaty of
Alllance and Postwar Collaboration at London, in which the signatories pledged joint
efforts during the wartime period and concluded an alliance against Germany extending
into the gostwar period. Part II of the Treaty, a military allfance directed explicitly
against Germany, boundeach party to give the other immediate support in the event of
a German attack. The alllance was to endure for 20 years and to continue thereafter in
the event that neither Yarty gave 12 months* notice of a desire to terminate the contract.
The Soviet Union concluded nn essentially similar treaty of alllance and mutual aid with
France on December 10, 1044.

The Soviet Unfon unilaterally abrogated bcth these treaties in early 1966, The
action was one aspect of a Soviet campaign to prevent the ratification of the Paris agreo~
ments, which terminated the occupation of Western Germany and brought the newly
formed Federal Republic into NATO. Soviet notes to France and Britain in December
1954 contained warnim{s that their respective alliances would be annulled if the Paris
agreements were ratifled. On May 7, 1956, having failed to prevent ratification, the
Soviet Union officially annulled its wartime alliances.

The Countrles of Eastern Europe

In February 1945 the heads of government of the United States, the United Kingdom,
and the Soviet Union, meeting at 7alta, issued a Declaration on Liberated Europe in which
they agreed to assist the liberated peoples to set up "democratic institutions of their own
choice, " in furtherance of the principles of the Atlantic Charter. Specifically, the three
governments agreed to assist the liberated people

++.to form interim governmental authorities broadly representative of
all democratic elements in the population and pledged to the earliest
possible establishment through free elections of governments responsive
to the will of the people...

These provisions were rendered meaningless by Soviet policles in those territories
liverated by the Red Army. Ignoring the Yalta commitments, the Soviet Union, in a now
familiar pattern, installed communist-dominated regimes in Hunqar&, Bulgarla, and
Rumania. In Rumania actlngethrough its own authorities and through the Rumanian
communist Parlty, the USSR liberately prevented the exercise of democratic rights by
the people. In February 1946 Deputy Foreign Minister Vyshi arrived in Bucharest to
dictate the dismissal of the Radescu Government and the Imposition of the communist-
dominated Groza regime. Direct interference by Soviet authorities -~ including the use
of troops -~ in the elections of November 1946 was only one of the many further instances
of Soviet violation of the declaration.

1. George Lenczowski, The Middle East jn World Affairs, Ithaca, New York, 1952,

pp. 173-176.
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Similar Soviet actfons occurred in Hungary and Bulgaria. In Hungarir, for example,
General Sviridov, Deputy Chairman of the Allied Control Commission, unilaterally dis-
solved Catholic youth organizations in June 1946 and in the following year forced the
resignation of Prime Minister Ferenc Nagy. Contrary to commitments made at Potsdam
on August 2, 1945 that directives of the Allfed Control Commissions would be issued by
the Soviat Chairmen "after agreement on these directives with the English and American
representatives,"l Soviet representatives on the Commissions in Rumania; Hungary,
and Bulgaria consistently issued unilateral mxtrucl‘ion,s in the name of the Comm{ssion
and thwarted the activities of the British and American representatives even to the point
of restricting their freedom of movement.

In regard to Poland, the Big Three at Yalta agreed as follows:

The Provisional Government which is now functioning in Poland should
therefore be reorganized on a broader democratic basis with the inclusion
of democratic leaders from Poland {tself and from Poles abroad....

This Polish Provisional Government of National Unity shall be pledged
to the holding of free and unfettered elections as soon as possible on the
basis of universal suffrage and secret ballot. In these elections all
democratic and anti-Nazi parties shall have the right to take part and to
put forward candidates.

That the Soviet Union had little intention of observing this agreement became evident
almost lmmedlately when, on April 21, £945 , it concluded a formal treaty of alliance
with the so~called "Lublin Government, "2 which had been organfzed in the Soviet Unfon
and moved into Poland behind Soviet troops.

Nevertheless, at Potsdam the Soviet Union once again voiced its adherence to the
principles of democracy. The Potsdam Protocol stated:

The three gl)wers note that the Polish Provisional Government, in
accordance with the decisions of the Crimea Conference, has agreed

to the holding of free and unfettered elections as soon as possible on

the basis of universal guffrage and secret ballot in which all democratic
nnddt}g;lt-Nazi parties shall have the right to take part and to put forward
can es.

The Polish Provisional Government was nominally a coalition, but in fact its k
positions were occupied by Communists, who had established themselves in the perio
of "liberation" by the Red Army. Electloéns were postponed until January 1847 in order
to terrorize and eliminate the opposition.3 Representations by the United States and
United Kingdom to the Polish Provisional Government calling attention to the obligations
of Yalta and Potsdam were rejected. The Soviet Union refused to join the two Western -
powers in their approach on this matter to the Polish Government.

1. Potsdam Protocol, XI. Revised Alljed Control Commission Procedure in Rumania,
gulqaria, and Hungary, and Annex I regarding the Allied Control Commission in
ungary.

2. Hugh Seton-Watson, The Eagt European Revolution, p. 167.

3.  Seton-Watson, op. cit., pp. 171-179; Oscar Halecki in Stephen D. Kertasz (ed.),
The Fate of East Qﬁsﬁm Emm, pp. 134-139.
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Germany

In Germany the USSR hasg distorted and violated numerous provisions of wartime
and postwur agreoments with the Wostern powers. The subject is too complox for
detalled discussion hore, but two ula{ov sois of agreemonts may bo noted: the agree-
ments reachod at Potsdam and embodied in the Potsdam Protocol, and the agreemonts
on the occupation and control of Gormany

Demo . The Protocol contained a statement of common Allied objectives
looking toward tim (ievelopxx\ent of democeracy in postwar Goermany. Among the political
principlbs agreed upon were the following:

«+++The judicial system will be reorganized {n accordance with
the principles of domocracy, of justice under law, and of cqual rights
for all citizens...

.. +local self-govoernment shall be restored throughout Germany
on democratic priciples...

...all democratlc political parties with rights of assembly and
of public discussion shall be allowed and encouraged throughout Germany. ..

+ o+ «Subject to the necessity for maintaining military sccurity,
freedom of speech, press and religion shall be perinitted, and re-
lglous institutions shall be respected. Subject likewlse to the
maintenance of military security, the formation of free trade unions
shall be permitted.

The Sovlet Union, in its administration of East Germany, has violated these
principles both in spirit and in letter, In 1040 the Soviet authorities forced the merger
of the Socialist Party of Germany with the Communist Party of Germany, forming the
SED or Socialist UnltAy Party, with the aim of 'tapturing” the Socialist voters of Berlin
and the East Zonoe. Although they did not succeed in taking control of the SPD of Berlin,
they were able to veto the election of the SPD leador Ernst Reuter as Governing Mayor
of Berlin in June 1947. In the Eastern Zone of Germany the so-called German
Democratic Republic was set up in October 1949 by Soviet order, without prior dis-
cussion or free electlons, The regime's first elections, held in the following year,
were of the single-list varlety carried on under the "bloc-party" system and the National
Front, a communist cover organization.

Individual liberties, though ostentatiously displayed in the East German Consti-
tution, have never been protected, Soviet military forces cooperated with the East
German regime in putting down the uprisings and strikes which occurred in June 1953.
The free flow of information and free expression essential to democratic life has not
;aeen p%rmmed in the East Zone, and Western radlo transmisslons have been extensively

ammod.

Ec_oan%MMp_s. The Potsdam Protocol provided both for reparations from
Germany and for measures of essential economic reconstruction. It was understood and
agreed at Potsdam that successful implementation of these measures re%\)ured coopera-
tion and "common policles" in regard to basic ecoromic functions. The Protocol

stated specifically:

.++.During the period of occupation Gormany shall be treated as
a single economic unit.

Almost from the beginning the Soviet authorities obstructed efforts to implement
this principle. In their own zone they pursued a unilateral economic policy and raised
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barrlers to the flow of trade across zonal borders. Western suggestions, such as that
to place manufactures from East Germany in a common pool in order to cover the cost
of essential imports, were defeatod by Soviet delaying tactics. Deponding traditionally
upon food from Eastorn Germany, the area under United States control was able to
aurvive by means of extensive American subsidy.

An essentlal aspect of the over-all cconomic problem was the question of
reparations. Thoe Potsdam Protocol stated:

. «+.In addition to the reparations to be taken by the USSR from its
own zone of occupation, the USSR shall receive additionally from the
Western Zones:

(a) 16 percent of such usable and complete industrial capital equipment. ..
as 18 unnecessary for the German peace economy and should be removed
from the Western Zones of Germany, in exchange for an equivalent value
of food, coal, potash, zlnc, timber, clay products, vetroleum products,
and such other commodities as may be agreed upon.

(b) 10 percent of such industrial capital equipment as is unnecessary for
the German peace economy and should be removed from the Western
Zonos, to be transferred to the Soviet Government on reparations

account without payment or exchango of any xind in roturn.

Also,

.+« s Paymert of reparations should leave enough resources to
enablo the German people to subsist without external assistance.
In working out the economic balance of Germany the necessary means
must be provided to pa¥ for imports nrpmved b{ the Control
Council in Germany. The proceeds of exports from current pro-
duction and stocks shall be available in the first place for gaymont
for such imports. /This was not to apply to equipment and products,
noted above, received as additional reparations by the USSR from
the Western zones

No effort was made by the Soviet Union to ablide by these provisions. In their
own zone Soviet authorities not only refused to account for reparations exacted but also
removed large quantities from current production, thus preventing the use of these
commodities for payment for nccessary imports. Moreover, the Soviet Union failed
to make deliveries of food, coul, potash, zinc, timbor and other raw materials from
its own zone In oxchange for shlggmnts of industrial equipment from the Western zones.
By contrast, the United States, between March 31 and Auqust 1, 1946, had made ship-
ments from its zone to the USSR of 11,100 tons of reparation equipment. After con-
tinued Soviet fajlure to meet these oblfqauons, the United States suspended reparations
d?ltl}\llm;os unull such time as the USSR would be willing to implement fully the provisions
of the Protocol.

mmd]_&mr_ﬁmm. The Potsdam Protocol provided for the "complete dis-
armament and demilitarization" of Germany. Provisions to this end included the following:

All German land, naval and air forces...and all other military
and quasi -mlmarx organizations, together with all clubs and
aspociations which serve to keep alive the military traditions in
Germany, shall bo completely and finally abolished in such manner
as permanently to prevent the revival or reorganization of Ger man
militarism and Nazism.

In 1948 Soviet authorities began building up a sizeable "police force" in the Soviet
Zone, In May 1850 the United States protested this process of remilitarization, pointin
out that some 40,000 to 60,000 members of the so-called "Police Alert Units, " equippe
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with Soviet weapons, were receiving infantry, armored and artillery training. At the
end of 1953 the Soviet Zone's "police force' numbered 100,000 men (for a population
of 17 milllon), with an additional 140, 200 military personnel, including 3 mechanized
divisions and afr units. By June 1950 East German military and paramilitary forces
totalled more than 700,000 men.1

_E}A:j_Le&n_Emmgag; ‘The conference at Potsdam also considered the question
%f u;e tulture erman -Polish boundary, and included the following statement in the
rotocol.

«.+.The three Heads of Government reaffirm their opinion that the
final delimitation of the Western frontier of Poland should await the
peace settlement,

On July 6, 1850, an a?reement was silgned between the Soviet-controlled regimes
of Poland and East Germany fixing the Oder-Neisse as the definitive frontier between
Poland and Germany.

2. O Contr Ger

On September 12, 1944, representatives of the Soviet Union, the United States
and the United Kingdom signed a Protocol on the Zones of Occupation in Germany, which
was amended subsequently to include France. The Protocol in its final form established
the four zones of occupation and the special joint occupation for the Berlin area. Para
graph 5 of the Protocol provides:

An Inter-Allied Governing authority (Komendatura) consisting
of four Commandants, appointed by their respective Commanders-in-Chief,
gml:)e 'egtabllshed to direct jointly the administration of the "Greater
erlin" Area,

The Soviet Union was also signatory to the Agreement of May 1, 1945, which stated:

Supreme authority in Germany will be exercised on instructions from
their respective governments, by the Commanders-in-Chief of the armed
forces of the United States of America, the United Kingdom and the Union
of Soviet Socialist Republics, /and/ the Provisional Government of the
French Re?ubllc each in his own zone of occupation, and also jointly, in
matters affecting Germany as a whole, in their capacity as members of
the supreme organ of control constituted under the present Agreement.

With regard to Berlin, the Agreement stated:

An Inter-Allied Governing Authority (Komendatura) consisting of
four Commandants, one from each Power, appointed by their respective
Commanders-ln-cfﬂet, will be established to direct jointly the adminis-
tration of the "Greater Berlin" urea. Each of the Commandants will
serve in rotation, in the position of Chief Commandant, as head of t:2
Inter-Allied Authority.

Almost from the beginning the Soviet representatives on the Allied Control Council
and the Komendatura carried out obstructionist tactics, as described above, and in Berlin
the communtst controlled police of the Soviet sector refused to be bound by the legal

1. On the same date the Federal Republic, nearly three times larger in population,
had 235,000 men under arms, together with 14,000 police and 12,000 frontier
g\mrds. ~-Statement by Secretary of State Herter at the Foreign Ministers'

onference, Geneva, May 25, 1059; Washington Pogt and Times Herald, May

, 1850,
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controls authorized by the Allied Komendatura. On March 20, 1948, the Soviet repre-
sentatives walked out of the Allfed Control Council and on Agrll 1 imposed rail an
road restrictions on Allied traffic to Berlin. On June 16, 1948, the Soviet represen-
tatives left the Komendatura and 10 days later imposed a total blockade of Berlin, On
July 1, 1948, the chief Soviet representative in the Komendatura announced that the
four power administration of Berlin was terminated. On November 30, 1948, the
German Communists set up their own city government in the Soviet sector of Berlin,
thus completing the division of Berlin into East and West zones,

On May 4, 1949, after the Western powers had demonstrated their determination
to retain their legal rights in Berlin by supplyix])? the city by air, the Governments of
the Soviet Unfon, the United States, the United Kingdom, and France reached an agree-
ment at New York, which was confirmed subsequently at the Council of Foreign Ministers
at Parts. Among other provisions, the New York agreement stated:

All the restrictions imposed since March 1, 1948, by the Govern-
ment of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics on communications
transportation, and trade between Berlin and the Western zones of
Germany and between the Eastern zone and the Western zones will be
removed on May 12, 1948,

In addition, the agreement reached at Paris specified:

...in order to improve and supplement this and other arrangements
and agreements as regards the movement of persons and goods and
communications between the Eastern zone and the Western zones and
between the zones and Berlir and also in regard to transit, the
occbggatlon authorities, each in his own zone, will have an obligation
to take the measures necessary to insure the normal functioning and
utilization of rafl, water, and road transport for such movement of
pelrsons }zlmd goods and such communications by post, telephone, and
telegraph.

On July 23, 1955, the heads of government of the United States, the USSR, France,
and the United Kingdom issued the following statement at Geneva:

The Heads of Government, recognizing their common responsi-
bility for the settlement of the German question and the reunification
of Germany, have agreed that the settlement of the German question
and the reunification of Germany by free elections shall be carried
out in conformity with the national interests of the German people
and in the interests of European security.

That the Soviet Union had no intention of carrying out this promise was made clear
less than four months later at the meeting of Foreign Ministers in Geneva. On November
8, 1955, Molotov stated:

.. +Such a mechanical merger of the two parts of Germany be means
of so-called "free elections”...could lead to the violation of the vital
interests of the working masses of the German Democratic Republic,
to which one cannot agree.

Since that time, the Soviet Union has consistently rejected all attempts to solve
the German problem except on its own terms, and in recent months has sought to impose
its "solution" on the Western powers by unilateral action in total disregard of its treaty
commitments. On November 27, 19568, the Soviet Government notified the Government
of the United States that it reqarded the agreements on Germany of September 12, 1944
and May 1, 1945 as "null and void, " and announced its intention of turning over its
functions within Berlin and in regard to access to the citg to the so-called German
Democratic Republic. The Western powers have refused to accept any such unilateral
action on the part ot the USSR.
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Adqreements on Prisoners of War

The terms for the surrender of Japan were defined in the Proclamation of July
26, 1945, issued by the United States, Britain, and China. The Soviet Union, in declar-
ing war upon Japan on August 8, 1945, announced that it had joined in the Allied
Proclamation of July 28. Point 9 of the Proclamation stated:

The Japanese military forces, after being completely disarmed,
shall be permitted to return to their homes with the opportunity to
lead peaceful and productive lives.

In May 1949, following a Japanese statement that 376,929 Japanese prisoners
were still being held, the official Soviet news agency admitted that 95,000 Japanese
prisoners were still in the Soviet Union. In 1957 the Japanese stated that 8,069 Japanese
citizens continued to be detained in the Soviet Union and Outer Mongolia, 2,629 in North
Korea, and 1,392 in Sakhalin and the Kurile Islands.

The release of German prisoners of war was discussed in 1947 at the Council
of Foreign Ministers, which reached agreement that:

German prisoners of war located in the territory of the Allied
Powers and in all other territories will be returned to Germany on
December 31, 1948,

The Soviet Union reaffirmed this obligation in submitting its plan for repatriation
on June 30, 1947.

On January 3,1949, the United States protested to the Soviet Union for its failure
to furnish information on its repatriation of war prisoners. The United States note stated:

....on the basis of the Soviet Government's statement at the Council
of Foreign Ministers in Moscow that 890, 632 war prisoners were still
held bg e Union of Soviet Socialist Republics at that time, only some
447,367 are officially known to have been repatriated to Germany.

In its note of January 24, 1949 to the United States, the Soviet Government
promised that "...repatriation of war prisoners will be completed during 1949."

In 1957 the United Nations Ad Hoc Commission on Prisoners of War received a
memorandum from the Federal Republic of Germany which stated:

In the course of German-Soviet negotiations in Moscow in September
1955, the Soviet Government declared itself willing to release 9,626
prisoners of war. However, the assurance was also given that any
additional persons would be released who might be traced in the Soviet
Union on the basis of relevant German lists, provided such persons
had German nationality..

According to the memorandum, only 1,772 prisoners had been returned since
September 1956, The Soviet Government had refused to repatirate more than 100,000
German war and civillan prisoners who had been forced to settle in the USSR following
the elimination of certain forced labor camps on the (%'mu.nds that thenihad acquired
Soviet nationality. The Soviet Union had supplied no information on the whereabouts of
87,353 prisoners of war and 18,480 German civilians known to have been in Soviet
captivity at one time or another; 75 German scientists, whose work contracts had ex-
pired long previously, were being detained at Sukhmi.

The Ad Hoc Commission on repatriation of war prisoners reported in September
1?5(;1 that the Soviet Government had not even replied to a request to discuss the matter
at Geneva.



TN

EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE 281

China

The Treaty of Friendship and Alliance, concluded on August 14, 1945, between
tl;elSoviet Union and the Republic of China contained, among others, the following pro-
visions.

Article V. The High Contracting Partles,having regard to the
interests and security and economic development of each of them,
agree to work together in close and friendly collaboration after
the coming of {)eace and to act according to the principles of
mutual respect for their sovereignty and territorial integrity

and of non- intervention in the internal affairs of the other Con-
tracting Party.

Article VI, The High Contracting Parties agree to afford one
another all possible economic assistance in the postwar period
in order to factlitate and expedite the rehabilitation of both
courll‘tjries and to make their contribution to the prosperity of the
world,

Article VIII. The Treaty...shall remain in force for a term of
thirty years.

In the exchange of notes accompanying the treaty, Foreign Minister Molotov stated:

... .The Government of the USSR agrees to render to China moral
support and aid in military supplies and other material resources,
such support and aid to be entirely given to the National Govern -
ment as the Central Government of China.

The Soviet Union began to disregard these provisions almost immediately.

(1) In its occupation of Manchuria, commencing in 1945, the Soviet authorities
removed from Manchuria assets valued at $858,000,000 in the form of mining equipment,
rolling stock, steel mills, electric power generators, and other equipment.

(2) The Soviet Government made available to the Chinese Communists extensive
stocks of Japanese arms and other equipment to be employed against the National Government,

The Unification of Korea

At the Conference of Foreign Ministers in Moscow in December 1945, the Soviet
Union, together with the United States and the United Kingdom, agreed to the establishment
of a free and independent Korea. The Report of the Conference, dated December 27, 1945,
stated that, "with a view to the re-establishment of Korea as an independent state, " there
should be esteblished a "provisional democratic Korean government." Further:

In order to assist the formation of a provisional government and
with a view to the rellmmhsy elaboration of the appropriate measures,
there shall be estabiiched a Joint Commission consisting of represen-
tatives of the United “‘ates command in southern Korea and the Soviet
command in northerr. Xorea. In preparing their proposals the
Commission shall consult with the Korean democratic parties and
social organtzation...

It shall be the task of the Joint Commission, with the Lﬁarticipauon
of the provisional Korean democratic government and of the Korean
democratic organization, to work out measures also for helping and
assisting (trusteeship) the political, economic and social progress of
the Korean ple, the developmenf of democratic self-government
and the establishment of the national independence of Korea.
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The Soviet Union from the start thwarted the implementation of this agreement.
Its representative on the Joint Commission refused to recognize as "democratic" any
parties and organizations not under Soviet control, It prevented UN-gponsored elections
in northern Korea, and established there its own regime, the so-called Democratic
People's Republic of Korea which claimed jurisdiction over the entire countrx. On June
2?k1950, this regime, armed and encouraged by the Soviet Union, attacked the Republic
of Korea.

Soviet Pledges in Hungary.

On October 30, 1966, the Government of the USSR made a public declaration,
printed the following day in ém, which stated:

Having in mind that the further presence of Soviet.m!litary units in
Hungr{ could serve as an excuse for further aggravation of the situation,
the Soviet Government has given its military command instructions to
withdraw the Soviet military units from the city of Budapest as soon as
this is considered necessary by the Hungarian Government.

At the same time the Soviet Government {s prepared to enter into
the afpro riate negottations with the Government of the Hungarian
People's &ubllc and other members of the Warsaw Treaty on the
question of the presence of Soviet troops on the territory of Hungary.

The Soviet Union not only broke the pledge, but deliberately used it as a cover in
order to crush the revolt in Hungary.

(1) On October 31, 1956, the Soviet Army began strengthening its forces in
Hungary.

(2) On Noyember 8, 1066, under pretext of negotiating the withdrawal of Soviet
troops, Soviet authorities arrested the Hungarian representatives, led by Colonel Pal
Maleter, who had been sent to carry on the negotiations.

(3) On November 4, 1956, Hungarian Premier Imre Nagy broadcast the following
statement:

In the early hours of this morning the Soviet troops launched an
attack against our capital city with the obvious intentton of averthrow-
ing the lawful, democratic, Hungarian Government. Our troops are
fighting. The government is in its place. I inform the people of the
country and world opinion of this. ,

(4) On June 16, 1958, the Hungarian Communist regime of Janos Kadar, who had
personally pledged the safety of Imre Nagy after the suppression of the revolt, announced
the execution of Nagy and of his associates, Pal Maleter, Jozsef Szilagyi, and Miklos Gimes.

Credit Aqregment with Yugoslavia.

On January 12, 1956, the Soviet Union and Yugoslavia concluded an agreement under
which Yugoslavia was to receive Soviet credits for economic construction and e: ion.
the agreement of August 3,1958, Yugoslavia recieved a further credit of $176 million,
to be provided jointly by the USSR and its East German satellite, for construction of an
aluminum combire.

In the spring of 1858 the Soviet Unton, which had become increasingly disgruntled
with Yugoslavia's { log::l independence, endeavored to employ its credit agreement
as a politica) weapon. vda, on May 9, 1958, noting that “ideological differences" lead
to differences on politi Ssues, " threatened in a thinly veiled fashion that economic assis-
tance might be terminated if the Yugoslav ideological line were not changed. On May 27,
1968, Foreign Minister Gromyko handed to the Yugoslav Ambassador a note anpouncing the
untlateral suspension for "five years" of Soviet and East German deliveries under the 1956
credit agreements. .
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SOVIET MANPOWER!
1960-70

FOREWORD

This report shows the changes in the population and labor force of
the USSR that are expected to take place between 1960 and 1970. For
purposes of comparison, data also are presented for earlier years.

The USSR has already taken steps to cope with the two most impor-
tant manpower problems that will be encountered during the 1960's --
the small increments to the population of workingage during 1960-65 and
the effective use of the huge labor force living on farms. By reducing
the armed forces and by controlling the rate of school enrollment among
youths during 1956-60, the USSR has succeeded in providing enough ad-
ditional labor to overfulfill its manpower and production plans in spite
of a continuous decline in the increments to the population of working
age resulting from the low birth rates of World War II. The number of
persons on farms is expected to be almost as large in 1970 as in 1960.
By promoting industrial and construction activities in rural areas, the
USSR has attempted to employ surplus agricultural workers on the farms,
thus keeping rural-to-urban migration at 2 minimum and avoiding the
necessity for providing more housing and public utilities in the already
overcrowded cities.

The estimates for the 1950's are based on statistics that have ap-
pearedinofficial Sovietpublications. The outlook for the 1960's is based
on the following assumptions:

1. That birthrates (by age of mother)will remain
at present levels but that death rates will de-
cline slowly,

2. That the goals announced for the Seven Year
Plan (1959-65) relating to manpower and ed-
ucation will be achieved and that the trends
established in the first half of the decade will
continue until 1970,

3. That the planned reduction in the armed forces
by 1. 2 millionduring 1960-61 will take place,

4. That no major war or other cataclysmic event
will occur.

1central Intelligence Agency, May 1960,



284 EVENTS INCIDENT TO THE SUMMIT CONFERENCE

THE POPULATION WILL INCREASE FROM 214 MILLION
TO 247 MILLION DURING THE 1960’s
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World War II hada catastrophic effect on the populationof the USSR.
The population (within the present boundaries of the country) fell from
195 million in 1940 to about 175 million in 1947.% The 1940 level was
not regained until 1954, "

Inaddition to the enormous military and civilian losses attributable
to the war, birth rates fell to less than half their prewar level and did
not recover that level until about 1950. The small number of children
born during the war years has already posed periodic problems for

* All population estimates in this report are midyear figures.
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Soviet leaders as the groups reached elementary ‘school, high school,
andworking age. These small groups will be marrying and having chil-
dren during the 1960's. As they replace the larger, prewar groups, the
rate of growth of the population will temporarily decline.

For the decade of the 1960's as a whole, the population will increase
atanaverage annual rateof 1.5 percent -- a little more slowly than dur-
ing the 1950's,

THE CIVILIAN LABOR FORCE WILL GROW BY ABOUT
17 MILLION, OR 16 PERCENT, DURING THE 1960’s

The civilian labor force of the USSR will increase by about 17 mil-
lion during the 1960's, only 1 million more than the increase during the
1950's. Growth will be slower in the first half of the decade than in the
second because the age groups starting to work during 1960-65 will be
the unusually small groups born during the war and the early postwar
period. The increase will be enough, however, to permit the achieve-
ment of the manpower goals set by the Seven Year Plan (1959-65).
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THE NUMBER OF PERSONS REACHING WORKING AGE
WILL BEGIN TO RISE IN 1962, FOLLOWING A SHARP

DECLINE DURING THE 1950’s

The total number of persons reaching the normal working age of 15
in the USSR will more thandouble between1960and 1970 -~ from 2. 3 mil-
lion to 4.7 million. This increase follows a rapid decline during the
1950's, particularly in the latter half of the decade. These fluctuations
result from the sharp decline in the birth rate during 1940-45 and its

subsequent rise.

The decline in the number of 15-year-olds would have resulted in a
much slower growth in the labor force thanactually occurred if the USSR
had not taken steps to increase the labor supply. By controlling school
enrollment and by reducing the armed forces, however, the USSR has
been able to keep its civilian labor force growing at a fairly even pace.
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DECLINING SCHOOL ENROLLMENT AND REDUCTIONS

; IN THE ARMED FORCES ARE ALLOWING THE CIVILIAN.
LABOR FORCE TO INCREASE STEADILY DURING THE

PERIOD OF “POPULATION SHORTAGE”

Between 1955 and 1960 the civilian labor force of the USSR increased
by 10 million, but the population of working age (15 to 69) increased by
only 7.4 million. 'At the same time, the number of persons of working
age in dayschools andcolleges declined, and the armed forces were re-

duced.
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The decrease in dayschool enrollment resulted both from a decline
in the number of persons of high school age and from a decline in the’
proportionenrolled. More young people thus became available for work.
This downward trend in school enrollment is expected to be reversed in
the early 1960's, when the number of 15-year-olds begins to rise and
when the current reorganization of education is completed.

Between 1955 and 1960 the armed forces decreased by more than
2 million persons, and the Soviet government has announced plans to cut
the armed forces by an additional 1. 2 million during 1960-61 -- years
when the additions to the population of working age will be the lowest
(fewer than 1 million each year).
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WOMEN FAR OUTNUMBER MEN IN THE POPULATION
AND IN THE KEY WORKING AGES

Women constitute 55 percent of the total population of the USSR --
one of the highest percentages in the world. In the age group 25 to 59,
there are 139 women for each 100 men. The heavy preponderance of
women in these ages is a consequence of the disproportionate losses of
menduring World War II andalso during the collectivization drive of the
1930's. By 1970, women will constitute 53 percent of the population.

The age structure of the population will not change greatly during
the 1960's. About the same proportion will be in the working ages 15 to
69 in 1970 as now, but women will be a smaller part of the total.
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MORE THAN HALF OF ALL SOVIET WORKERS ARE
WOMEN

Women now make up more than half of the civilian labor force of the
USSR, but their predominance is gradually diminishing. By 1970 the
labor force will be about equally divided between men and women.

Nearly two-thirds of the number of Soviet women 14 years of age
and over currently participate in the labor force. Women probably will
continue-to participate at this high rate during the 1960'a. The percent-
age could rise even higher, for Soviet leaders have established as an ul-
timate goal the almost universal participation of women in employment
outside the home. Soviet plans call for more kindergartens, nurseries,
boarding schools, and public dining facilities to make it possible for
more women to work.
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WOMEN ARE EMPLOYED EXTENSIVELY IN ALL
BRANCHES OF THE ECONOMY
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Some sectors of the Soviet economy, such as trade, education, and
health, are staffed largely by women. In 1959, about three-fourths of

eachers were women, Although

in 1959, the proportion has been declining steadily and will continye to
decline during the 1960's, Even in th

Predominate, suchas constructionand transportation, they nevertheless
constitute more than one-fourth of the total,
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NEARLY HALF OF THE CIVILIAN LABOR FORCE I$
EMPLOYED IN AGRICULTURE

. lso b"| .

More than 50 million people in the USSR -- nearly half of the total
labor force -- are engaged in agriculture. This figure represents the
numberof persons 14 yearsold andover who live on collective and state
farms and who participate in normal farm activities at some time dur-
ing the year. It also includes unpaid family workers who live on those
farms and who work exclusively on private plots -- still an important
source of agricultural production in the USSR,

A little more than one-fourth of the labor force is employed in in-
dustry and construction, and somewhat less than one-fourth is employed
in the service sector. Slightly more than half of all workers in the ser-
vices are employed in education, health, and trade, and about one-fourth
are employed in transportation and communications.

Agricultural employment is expected to resume its historic downward
trend during the 1960's after a temporary interruption during the mid-
1950's, when Khrushchev's ''new lands" program added several million
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people to Soviet farms. In 1970, agricultural 6mploymont will atill be
high, constituting 40 percent of the civilian labor force.

Employment in the services, which increased by 32 percent in the
1950's, will increase by 40 percent during the 1960's. By 1970, 28 per-
cent of the labor force will be working in service activities compared
with 21 percent in 1950. Nevertheless, more people will still be em-
ployed in the nonagricultural productive industries (manufacturing, min-
ing, and construction) than in the services.
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THE RURAL POPULATION WILL CONTINUE TO
DECLINE AS A PROPORTION OF THE TOTAL

The rural population of the USSR is expected to drop from 51 per-
cent of the total in 1960 to 43 percent in 1970. Early in the decade the
urban population for the first time will exceed the rural population.

Post-Stalinagricultural policies reduced the rate of rural-to-urban
migration, resulting in the same rural population in 1950 and 1960, The
rural population is expected todropslowly to about 105 million by 1970,

Although Soviet agriculture probably will achieve sizable gains in
productivity during the 1960's, the integration of surplus unskilled farm
labor into the urban labor force will present difficult problems. Khru-
shchev has talked about urbanizing the countryside by developing '"farm-
cities" at existing farm sites, thus avoiding the necessity for providing
additional housing and public utilities in already crowded urban areas.
These farm-cities would provide training for jobs in industry and ser-
vices for farm workers who become surplus through mechanization.,
Some such scheme maybe necessary to cope with the anomaly of a huge
farm labor force and a huge rural population in a country undergoing
rapid industrialization.
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i THE EDUCATIONAL LEVEL OF THE POPULATION
3 AND LABOR FORCE IS STILL LOW

PRQs .

Some idea of the educational level of the Soviet labor force may be
obtained from the data on educational attainment of the entire adult pop~
ulation given in the 1959 census. In 1959, only 2. 6 percent.of the pop~
ulation15years old and over had graduated from college, and 60.5 per-
cent had not even completed elementary school (7 years). Considerable
educational progress was achievedby the USSR during the decade of the
1950's, after the 7-year elementary school was made compulsory in
1949. Even greater progress probably will be made during the 1960's,
when an 8-year elementary education is scheduled to become compul-
sory.
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THE PACE OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRESS WILL BE
STEPPED UP SHARPLY DURING THE 1960’s — EVENING
SCHOOL ATTENDANCE IN HIGH SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES

WILL PLAY A MAJOR ROLE

High school and college enrollment in the USSR will rise rapidly
during the 1960's. The USSR is currently reorganizing its school sys-
tem to place more emphasis on vocational education in high schools and
on evening enrollment in both high schools and colleges. The 7-year
elementary schools are to become 8-year schools, and attendance will
be compulsory. The projected rise in day school enrollment during the
early 1960's will result from the increased attendance in the eighth grade
of the reorganized elementary schools as well as from the larger pro-
portionof persons of high school age in the population. During the 1960's,
3.5 million to 4 million persons will be graduating from college com-
pared with 2.5 million during the 1950's.

High school education is to be made "universally available' but not
compulsory. The USSR also is tightening the controls over school en-
rollment to provide a more effective means of manipulating school en-
rollment in accordance with the need for labor. State authorities will
decide whether graduates from the eighth grade are to go to work, to
high school, or to a trade school. Those who go directly to work will be
encouraged to attend evening classes. Enrollment in evening schools
will expand almost as rapidly as that in day schools.
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GROSS NATIONAL PRODUCT AND PRODUCTIVITY
WILL CONTINUE TO RISE RAPIDLY
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The continued rise in the level of education and skill of the Soviet
labor force, along with progress in technology, should permit produc-
tivity to rise rapidly. Gross national product (GNP) is expected to in-
crease about 6 percent annually during the 1960's, a little more slowly
than during the 1950's. GNP per capita and GNP per worker (which is
a rough measure of productivity) will each increase about 4.5 percent

annuvally,

The high rate of increase in GNP should permit consumption per
capita to increase substantially, By 1970 the standard of living of the
average Soviet worker probably will be about 40 percent higher than the

present level.
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